

Doctoral Thesis

The microbiome of medicinal plants and its potential for biocontrol and promotion of plant growth and quality

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.) an der Fakultät für Technische Chemie, Verfahrenstechnik und Biotechnologie der Technischen Universität Graz

> Martina KOEBERL, MSc geboren 1984 in Bad Ischl, Österreich

Wissenschaftliche Betreuung: Univ.-Prof. Dipl.-Biol. Dr. rer. nat. Gabriele Berg Institut für Umweltbiotechnologie

Graz, September 2013

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Zusammenfassung	2
Introductory Manuscript	3
The microbiome of medicinal plants and its potential for biocontrol and promotion of plant growth and quality	
Publication I	29
Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health	
Publication II	46
<i>Bacillus</i> and <i>Streptomyces</i> were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt	
Manuscript I	58
The high diversity and abundance of diazotrophs underline their importance for native and agricultural desert ecosystems	
Book Chapter I	94
Using ecological knowledge and molecular tools to develop effective and safe biocontrol strategies	
Book Chapter II	. 119
Biocontrol strategies and next generation sequencing: organic desert agriculture in Egypt	
Additional Publication I	. 140
Biological control agents for combating soil-borne pathogens in Egypt	
Additional Publication II	. 145
Plant-specific selection of drought-resistant biological control agents against soil- borne pathogens	
Additional Publication III	. 154
Indigenous PGPR and below-ground microbial communities of an organically managed desert agro-ecosystem	
Additional Publication IV	. 159
Host-parasite interaction and microbiome response: effects of fungal infections on the bacterial community of the Alpine lichen <i>Solorina crocea</i>	
Acknowledgements	172
Curriculum Vitae	173
Publication List	174
Statutory Declaration	. 178

Abstract

Past medicinal plant research primarily focused on bioactive phytochemicals. Currently, however, focus is shifting due to the growing recognition that a significant number of phytotherapeutic compounds are actually produced by associated microbes or through interaction with their host plant. Plant-derived medicines have been part of traditional healthcare in most parts of the world for thousands of years. These medicinal plants provide a largely untapped and enormous bioresource of potential use in modern medicine, agriculture, and pharmaceuticals, yet their microbiome is mostly unknown. Therefore, the aim of this study was to analyse the microbiome of three different species of medicinal plants (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. and Solanum distichum Schumach. and Thonn.). The plants cultivated on organically managed Egyptian desert farm were investigated and compared to surrounding field and desert soil. The soil microbiome of the desert ecosystem was comprised of a high abundance of Gram-positive, spore-forming bacteria (Firmicutes) which were ascertained to be of prime importance for pathogen suppression under arid conditions. A clearly plant-specific selection of the associated microorganisms was observed, whereas native desert antagonists with promising activity against a wide range of soil-borne phytopathogens were enriched in all investigated plant roots. The anthropogenically influenced ecosystem exhibited a higher microbial diversity and better ecosystem function for plant health in comparison to the natural desert soil. Conversely, several extremophilic bacterial groups decreased or completely disappeared from soil after agricultural use. The diazotrophic soil community was dominated by Alphaproteobacteria, and the nitrogen fixing microbiome was specific for each medicinal plant as well. While the rhizosphere inhabitants of the annual herbal Asteraceae were similar and dominated by potential root-nodulating rhizobia, the perennial S. distichum primarily formed associations with free-living nitrogen fixers. Rhizobia were ascertained in soil as well, but the free-living bacteria were most likely transmitted between plants. This high degree of plant-specificity identified plant species and their features as important drivers in functional diversity. The fungal microbiome was characterised by potential pathogens, and different desert habitats were screened for potential biological control agents adapted to the unique and arid conditions of desert farming to biologically control them. In a hierarchical evaluation including antifungal, antibacterial, and nematicidal activity, three promising drought and heat resistant biocontrol candidates were selected for field ad planta evaluation in comparison to three allochthonous Gram-negative strains already known for beneficial plant-microbe interactions in humid soils. The priming of chamomile seedlings with the autochthonous strains not only showed a stabilising effect on plant performance, but indigenous Bacillales strains were also able to elevate the plants' flavonoid production. These results demonstrate that a targeted bacterial treatment could influence the metabolic activity of the plant, and therefore represent one of many poorly understood links between the structure and metabolic profile of the plantassociated microbiome and the plant metabolome.

Zusammenfassung

Die Forschung an Arzneipflanzen konzentrierte sich bisher in erster Linie auf ihre bioaktiven Pflanzeninhaltsstoffe. Aufgrund der wachsenden Erkenntnisse, dass eine erhebliche Anzahl von phytotherapeutischen Verbindungen tatsächlich von assoziierten Mikroorganismen oder durch deren Interaktion mit ihrer Wirtspflanze produziert werden, hat sich der Fokus jedoch verlagert. Pflanzliche Arzneimittel sind in den meisten Teilen der Welt seit Tausenden von Jahren ein Teil der traditionellen Gesundheitsversorgung. Diese Arzneipflanzen bieten eine weitgehend unerschlossene und umfangreiche Bioressource mit möglicher Verwendung in der modernen Medizin. Landwirtschaft und Pharmaindustrie, ihr Mikrobiom ist aber größtenteils unbekannt. Das Ziel dieser Arbeit war es deshalb, die Mikrobiome von drei verschiedenen Arten von Arzneipflanzen (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. und Solanum distichum Schumach. und Thonn.) zu analysieren. Die Pflanzen, welche auf einer ökologisch bewirtschafteten ägyptischen Wüstenfarm angebaut wurden, wurden untersucht und mit dem umliegenden Ackerund Wüstenboden verglichen. Das Bodenmikrobiom des Wüstenökosystems beinhaltete eine große Fülle an Gram-positiven, sporenbildenden Bakterien (Firmicutes), für welche eine zentrale Bedeutung in der Unterdrückung von Pathogenen unter ariden Bedingungen festgestellt wurde. Es wurde eine deutlich pflanzenspezifische Auswahl der assoziierten Mikroorganismen beobachtet, wobei heimische Wüstenantagonisten mit einer vielversprechenden Aktivität gegen ein breites Spektrum von bodenbürtigen Phytopathogenen in allen untersuchten Pflanzenwurzeln angereichert wurden. Das anthropogen beeinflusste Ökosystem zeigte eine höhere mikrobielle Diversität und eine bessere Ökosystemfunktion für Pflanzengesundheit im Vergleich zum natürlichen Wüstenboden. Durch die landwirtschaftliche Nutzung sind jedoch mehrere extremophile bakterielle Gruppen zurückgegangen oder vollständig aus dem Boden verschwunden. Die diazotrophe Bodengemeinschaft war stark von Alphaproteobakterien dominiert; das stickstofffixierende Mikrobiom war ebenfalls für jede Arzneipflanze spezifisch. Während die Rhizosphärenbewohner der einjährigen krautigen Asteraceae ähnlich waren und von potenziell wurzelknöllchenbildenden Rhizobien dominiert waren, bildete der mehrjährige S. distichum vor allem Assoziationen mit freilebenden Stickstofffixierern. Die Rhizobien wurden auch im Boden nachgewiesen, aber die freilebendenden Bakterien werden möglicherweise zwischen Pflanzen übertragen. Dieses hohe Maß an Pflanzenspezifität identifizierte die Pflanzenspezies und ihre Eigenschaften als wichtigen Faktor der funktionellen Diversität. Das pilzliche Mikrobiom war von potenziellen Pathogenen gekennzeichnet. Um diese biologisch zu kontrollieren, wurden verschiedene Wüstenhabitate auf potenzielle biologische Kontrollstämme durchsucht, welche an die einzigartigen und ariden Bedingungen der Wüsten-Landwirtschaft angepasst sind. In einer hierarchischen Bewertungsskala, welche antimykotische, antibakterielle und nematizide Aktivität umfasste, wurden drei vielversprechende trockenheits- und hitzeresistente Biokontroll-Kandidaten für eine ad planta Beurteilung im Feld im Vergleich zu drei allochthonen Gram-negativen Stämmen, welche bereits für ihre nützlichen Pflanzen-Mikroben-Interaktionen in humiden Böden bekannt sind, ausgewählt. Die Behandlung von Kamillensetzlingen mit den autochthonen Stämmen zeigte nicht nur eine stabilisierende Wirkung auf die Pflanzenleistung, die heimischen Bacillales Stämme waren auch in der Lage, die Flavonoidproduktion der Pflanzen zu erhöhen. Diese Resultate beweisen, dass eine gezielte bakterielle Behandlung die metabolische Aktivität der Pflanze beeinflussen konnte und stellen damit eine von vielen kaum verstandenen Schnittstellen zwischen der Struktur und dem metabolischen Profil des pflanzenassoziierten Mikrobiomes und dem Metabolom der Pflanze dar.

Introductory Manuscript

Submitted as Review Article

The microbiome of medicinal plants and its potential for biocontrol and promotion of plant growth and quality

Martina Köberl & Gabriele Berg

Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

The microbiome of medicinal plants and its potential for biocontrol and promotion of plant growth and quality

Martina Köberl^{*}, Gabriele Berg

Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

*corresponding author
E-mail: martina.koeberl@tugraz.at
Telephone: +43 316 873-8423
Fax: +43 316 873-8819
Postal address: Petersgasse 12/I, A-8010 Graz

Submitted

The plant-associated microbiome: introduction into structure and function

All plant-associated microenvironments are colonised in high abundances by microorganisms, especially the nutrient-rich rhizosphere which hosts a plethora of microbes that are of central importance for plant nutrition, health and quality (Hiltner, 1904 in Hartmann et al., 2008; Berg, 2009; Mendes et al., 2011). Rhizospheres can host up to 10¹¹ microbial cells per gram root with more than 30,000 different prokaryotic species (Berendsen et al., 2012). These rhizosphere microorganisms from a highly diverse reservoir of soil microbes are attracted by the rhizosphere's plant root secretions and rhizodeposits (Compant et al., 2010), and driven via the compositional variability of these exudates (Bais et al., 2006; Doornbos et al., 2012). Each plant species harbours a specific rhizosphere microbiome dependent of the present soil community (Smalla et al., 2001). Besides plant species, the composition and diversity of microbial rhizosphere communities is shaped by soil type and pedoclimate, plant health and developmental stage, climate and season, pesticide treatments, grazers and animals, and several other biotic and abiotic factors (Berg & Smalla, 2009). Some genera are ubiquitous and can be found distributed over the entire plant, such as the wellknown plant-associated genera Bacillus and Pseudomonas (Berg et al., 2011). However, a high degree of specificity for each microenvironment was also observed via comparison of microbial colonisation patterns of different microhabitats (Berg et al., 2005b; Fürnkranz et al., 2012; Köberl et al., 2013). Certain plant-associated microorganisms including beneficials and pathogens are also passed down from previous generations via the seed (Hardoim et al., 2012; Hirsch & Mauchline, 2012), and likewise a transmission between plants through pollen grains was recently observed (Fürnkranz et al., 2012). Interestingly, the phylogenetically oldest land plants, mosses, transfer a highly diverse core microbiome of primarily potential beneficial bacteria from the sporophyte to the gametophyte and vice versa (Bragina et al., 2012).

Medicinal plants harbour a unique microbiome due to their unique and structurally divergent bioactive secondary metabolites that are most likely responsible for the high specificity of the associated microorganisms. In the past, medicinal plant research focused primarily on their ingredients, however recently the focus has shifted to include the structure and function of several medicinal plant microbiomes. Surprisingly, not only were the plants themselves able to produce substances with phytothereapeutic properties, but their associated microbes, especially endophytes, could as well (Table 1). The analyses of several Chinese medicinal plant microbiomes showed interesting results (Ainsliaea henryi Diels, Dioscorea opposite, Potentilla discolor Bge, Stellera chamaejasme L., Ophiopogon japonicus (Thunb) Ker-Gawl., Juncus effusus L. var. decipiens Buchen., Rhizoma arisaematis and others) (Li et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2011), as each of them hosted a specific actinobacterial community and showed a remarkably high and diverse rhizospheric and endophytic colonisation with Actinobacteria featuring both antimicrobial and antitumour properties (Zhao et al., 2012). These Gram-positive and often spore-forming bacteria are promising biological control agents (BCAs), such as the genus Streptomyces that is a known and unique source of novel antibiotics (Goodfellow & Fiedler, 2010; Niraula et al., 2010; Nachtigall et al., 2011; Raaijmakers & Mazzola, 2012). Similarly, a high plant-specificity of associated microbial communities was also observed for pharmaceutical plants (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. and Solanum distichum Schumach. and Thonn.) cultivated under desert farming conditions in Egypt (Köberl et al., 2013).

Medicinal plants: ingredients and applications

Plants contain numerous different biologically active compounds, and plant-derived medicines have been part of traditional healthcare in most parts of the world for thousands of

 Table 1 Examples for bioactive phytometabolites where microorganisms are involved in their

production.

Bioactive	Therapeutic		Producing			
compound	properties	Host plant	microorganism	Reference		
Munumbicins	antibacterial, antimycotic, antiplasmodial	Kennedia nigriscans	Streptomyces sp.	Castillo et al, 2002		
Kakadumycins	antibacterial, antiplasmodial	Grevillea pteridifolia	Streptomyces sp.	Castillo et al, 2003		
Coronamycins	antimycotic, antiplasmodial	Monstera sp.	Streptomyces sp.	Ezra et al., 2004		
Oocydin A	antimycotic (Oomycota)	Rhyncholacis penicillata	Serratia marcescens	Strobel et al., 1999a		
Cryptocandin	antimycotic	Tripterigeum wilfordii	Cryptosporiopsis quercina	Strobel et al., 1999b		
Colletotric acid	antibacterial, antimycotic	Artemisia mongolica	Colletotrichum gloeosporioides	Zou et al., 2000		
Artemisinin	antiplasmodial	Artemisia annua	Colletotrichum sp.	Wang et al., 2001		
Cochliodinol	antibacterial, antimycotic, anticancer	Salvia officinalis	Chaetomium sp.	Debbab et al., 2009		
Botryorhodines	antimycotic, anticancer	Bidens pilosa	Botryosphaeria rhodina	Abdou et al., 2010		
Pestacin and Isopestacin	antimycotic, antioxidant	Terminalia morobensis	Pestalotiopsis microspora	Strobel et al., 2002; Harper et al., 2003		
Phomol	antiphlogistic, antibacterial, antimycotic, anticancer	Erythrina crista-galli	Phomopsis sp.	Weber et al., 2004		
Podophyllotoxin	anticancer, antiphlogistic	Podophyllum hexandrum	Alternaria sp.	Yang et al., 2003		
		Juniperus communis	Aspergillus fumigatus	Kusari et al., 2009a		
Paclitaxel (Taxol)	anticancer	Taxus brevifolia	Taxomyces andreanae	Wani et al., 1971; Stierle et al., 1993		
		Ginkgo biloba	Alternaria sp.	Kim et al., 1999		
		Aloe vera	Phoma sp.	Immaculate et al., 2011		
Camptothecin	anticancer, antiviral (HIV)	Nothapodytes foetida	Entrophospora infrequens	Puri et al., 2005; Amna et al., 2006		
		Camptotheca acuminate	Fusarium solani	Kusari et al., 2009b		
Maytansine	anticancer	Putterlickia verrucosa	Actinosynnema pretiosum	Wings et al., 2012		
Rohitukine	antiphlogistic, anticancer, immuno- modulatory	Dysoxylum binectariferum	Fusarium proliferatum	Mohana Kumara et al., 2012		
Subglutinols	immuno- modulatory	Tripterigeum wilfordii	Fusarium subglutinans	Lee et al., 1995		

years. Traditional Chinese medicine (TCM), phytotherapeutic knowledge from the Mayans, the aboriginal medicine of Australia, and several other cultures comprise a huge spectrum of natural remedies that can be exploited as sources for new and effective therapeutic agents. Still widely practiced in the modern era, TCM supplies ethnopharmaceutical knowledge on over 5,000 plant species used for the treatment of numerous diseases and has already provided the basis for the discovery of many modern drugs, such as anticancer agents (Miller et al., 2012a, 2012b). In general, natural products play a highly considerable role in the drug discovery and development process, as about 26% of the new chemical entities introduced into the market worldwide from 1981 to 2010 were either natural products or those derived directly therefrom, reaching a high of 50% in 2010 (Newman & Cragg, 2012). Currently, research continues to show that a significant number of natural products are actually produced by microbes and/or microbial interactions with the host from whence they were isolated (Gunatilaka, 2006), and for several medicinal plants it is presumed that the plant-associated microbiome, especially the complex community of the endomicrobiome, is directly or indirectly involved in the production of bioactive phytochemicals. Presently, however, only a small subset of potential microbial strains could be definitively attributed to phytotherapeutic properties (Strobel et al., 2003, 2004; Chandra, 2012; Miller et al., 2012a, 2012b), and their relative contribution to the recognised valuable bioactivity of medicinal plants is not clear as of yet. In regards to the alarming incidence of antibiotic resistance in bacteria with medical relevancy, medicinal plants with antibacterial properties are of central importance as bioresources for novel active metabolites (Palombo & Semple, 2001). Likewise, there is an increasing need for more and better antimycotics to treat those with weakened immune systems who are more prone to developing fungal infections, such as from the AIDS epidemic, cancer therapy, or organ transplants (Strobel et al., 2003, 2004). For centuries, several phytotherapeutics have also been known for their antiphlogistic features, yet despite the progress within medical research, chronic inflammatory diseases such as asthma, arthritis, and rheumatism remain one of the world's leading health problems (Li et al., 2003). Hypertension is another critical issue for human health and is a primary risk factor for stroke, heart disease, and renal failure. Many herbal remedies as well as foods, however, are known and effective folk medicines in the prevention and/or treatment of high blood pressure (Abdel-Aziz et al., 2011). Hence, nature must still harbour plenty of currently unknown active agents that may serve as leads and scaffolds for the development of desperately needed efficacious drugs for a multitude of diseases (Newman & Cragg, 2012). Today, globalisation has also had an impact on the use of medicinal plants and has proven beneficial in allowing greater access to these medicines for people all across the globe. For example, TCM plants are very popular in Europe, whereas the traditional German chamomile is primarily produced in Egypt. Three popular species of ethnobotanical plants (Fig. 1) with promising medicinal value and their bioactive properties are illustrated below.

Matricaria chamomilla L.: The German chamomile *Matricaria chamomilla* L. (synonyms *Matricaria recutita* L. and *Chamomilla recutita* (L.) Rauschert) is well-known in folk medicine and one of the most favoured and most frequently used medicinal plants cultivated all over the world (Šalamon, 2004). It is believed to possess antiphlogistic, vulnerary, deodorant, bacteriostatic, antimicrobial, anticatarrhal, carminative, sedative, antiseptic, and spasmolytic properties (Murti et al., 2012). Sesquiterpenes (α -bisabolol, bisabolol-oxides A and B, farnesene), sesquiterpenelactones (chamazulene), acetylene-derivatives (spiroethers), as well as flavonoids (apigenin, quercetin, patuletin, luteolin) and their glucosides are some of the many compounds that are responsible for the medicinal properties (Ganzera et al., 2006; McKay & Blumberg, 2006).

Calendula officinalis L.: The pot marigold *Calendula officinalis* L. is one of the best known versatile medicinal plants and is also a popular domestic remedy as well. The phytotherapeutic plant is rich in biologically active metabolites such as sesquiterpenes, alcohol, saponins, triterpenes, flavonoids, hydroxycoumarin, carotenoids (flavoxanthin,

auroxanthin, lutein, zeaxanthin), tannin, and essential oils (Roveroni-Favaretto et al., 2009). The entire plant, but especially the flowers and leaves, is antiphlogistic, antiseptic, spasmolytic, aperient, astringent, cholagogue, diaphoretic, emmenagogue, stimulative, vulnerary, and is attributed to a particularly positive impact on skin function (Ukiya et al., 2006; Butnariu & Coradini, 2012).

Solanum distichum Schumach. and Thonn.: The semi-domesticated African nightshade *Solanum distichum* Schumach. and Thonn. (synonyms *Solanum indicum* ssp. *distichum* Schumach. and Thonn. and *Solanum anguivi* Lam.) is cultivated for culinary and medicinal purposes in many parts of Africa and the Arabian Peninsula (Bukenya-Ziraba, 2004). The edible fruits are rich in starch, calcium, vitamin A, ascorbic acid, and phosphate and contain steroid glycosides and glycol-alkaloids (Ripperger & Himmelreich, 1994; Zhu et al., 2000; Honbu et al., 2002; Abouzid et al., 2008). In traditional African folk medicine, these berries are claimed to guard against cardiovascular disorders (Abdel-Aziz et al., 2011), and their promising anti-hypertensive properties and low toxicity were validated in a rat model by Bahgat et al. (2008). Interestingly, *S. distichum* is resistant to many phytopathogens and is rarely infested by diseases and pests that affect many other *Solanum* species, such as against bacterial wilt caused by *Ralstonia solanacearum* (Bukenya-Ziraba, 2004).



Fig. 1 *Matricaria chamomilla* L. (A), *Calendula officinalis* L. (B), and *Solanum distichum* Schumach. and Thonn. (C).

Plant growth promotion and biological control by plant-associated microorganisms

Several rhizosphere microbes interact beneficially via different mechanisms with their host plant. They can have a direct plant growth promoting effect based on improved nutrient acquisition or hormonal stimulation, or indirectly affect the plant health by suppression of phytopathogens (Berg, 2009, Lugtenberg & Kamilova, 2009). Biofertilisers are microbes that supply the plant with nutrients, for example symbiotic root-nodulating rhizobia are the most prominent among the nitrogen-fixing microorganisms. Other microbial biofertilisers, such as mycorrhizal fungi and several rhizobacteria, are able to solubilise plant-available phosphate from either organic or inorganic bound phosphate (Lugtenberg et al., 2002). Microbes that hormonally promote plant growth are termed phytostimulators, and the phytohormone auxin, for instance, produced by fluorescent pseudomonads is one of the best understood examples. Some rhizobacteria, for example strains of the *Bacillus subtilis* group, stimulate plant growth using volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (Ryu et al., 2003; Kai et al., 2007). Indirectly, however, the plant growth can be promoted via biological control of phytopathogens. Pathogen growth can be inhibited by diffusible antibiotics or VOCs, toxins, biosurfactants, or extracellular cell wall-degrading enzymes, but microbial antagonism can also occur via degradation of pathogenicity factors like toxins, or simply by the competition for nutrients, minerals, or colonisation sites (Berg, 2009). Another possible way to reduce the activity of pathogenic microorganisms is the activation of the plant defence mechanisms, or the so called induced systemic resistance (ISR) triggered by certain non-pathogenic rhizobacteria. Flagella, lipopolysaccharides, siderophores, and several other bacterial components are thought to be involved in activating the non-pathogenic rhizobacteria-mediated ISR signalling pathway (van Loon et al., 1998; Lugtenberg & Kamilova, 2009).

Biological control of plant pathogens as well as plant growth promotion with microorganisms has been intensively studied over the past decades and is becoming a realistic

alternative to chemical pesticides and fertilisers in sustainable agriculture (Weller, 2007). Several microbial inoculants have already been successfully commercialised (Berg et al., 2009, 2013), but a specific biological control strategy for medicinal plants, which are increasingly affected by different soil-borne phytopathogens, has not been available until now. Traditional medicinal plants are often consumed raw, such as berries or other edible fruits, or in dried form as herbal brews or teas. Therefore, it is essential that any potentially harmful effect of the biocontrol agent on human health be avoided completely. In addition to the suppression of phytopathogens, antagonistic activity against potentially harmful human pathogens should also be considered in the biocontrol strategy (Berg et al., 2005a). The medicinal plant-associated microbiomes with their outstanding metabolic activities also provide a promising source for novel BCAs.

In conclusion, medicinal plants should be considered as meta-organisms that comprise both the plant themselves and their microbiome. As meta-organisms, they are a largely untapped and enormous bioresource for bioactive compounds and microorganisms of potential use in modern medicine, agriculture, and pharmaceutical industry. As such, more research is necessary to exploit this immense reservoir for mankind.

A case study: the microbiome of medicinal plants grown on a desert farm under organic management

In comparison to soils of humid areas, the soil microbiome of the Egyptian desert farm "Sekem" was comprised of a high abundance of Gram-positive, spore-forming bacteria primarily of the Firmicutes branch with 37% of the total bacterial soil community as revealed through a pyrosequencing-based amplicon sequencing approach (Köberl et al., 2011). However, a global soil community analysis including 32 libraries of 16S rRNA and 16S rRNA gene libraries from a variety of soils reported Firmicutes contribute a mean of only 2%

in the total bacterial soil community (Janssen, 2006). Bacillus and Paenibacillus play the key role in explaining this remarkably high abundance of Firmicutes in the investigated desert agro-ecosystem. These drought-resistant genera are of prime importance for pathogen suppression under arid conditions as nearly all isolated antagonists with activity against soilborne phytopathogenic fungi could be affiliated to this taxonomic group. This is in direct contrast to humid soils, where primarily Gram-negative bacteria like Pseudomonas are responsible for the indigenous antagonistic potential (Berg et al., 2005b; Haas & Défago, 2005, Costa et al., 2006; Zachow et al., 2008). A significantly higher proportion of Firmicutes and antifungal isolates were observed in field soil from the Egyptian farm than in the surrounding desert soil uninfluenced by human activities. In general, the total bacterial soil microbiome of the anthropogenic ecosystem exhibited a higher diversity and better ecosystem function for plant health in comparison to the natural desert soil (Fig. 2). Due to the long-term agricultural use of the desert and the associated increasing occurrence of plant-pathogens, the indigenous antagonistic potential in soil was almost twice as high as in the uncultivated desert soil. However, the diversity of antagonistic bacteria was lower and highly dominated by isolates of the Bacillus subtilis group. The most efficient antagonists from the native desert soil belonged to Streptomyces, and Bacillus and Paenibacillus species were the most frequently isolated antagonists from all investigated arid habitats including both desert and agriculturally used soil, as well as from the rhizosphere and endorhiza of three different species of medicinal plants cultivated on the desert farm (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. and Solanum distichum Schumach. and Thonn.). None of the plants are native to Egypt, and therefore were exposed to a previously unencountered microbiome. Interestingly, despite a clearly plant-specific selection of the associated bacterial microbiome, indigenous *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* strains of native desert soil with promising antagonistic properties against a wide range of soil-borne phytopathogens were enriched in all investigated plant roots. Conversely, several extremophilic bacterial groups, such as Acidimicrobium, *Rubellimicrobium*, and *Deinococcus-Thermus* decreased or completely disappeared from soil after agricultural use (Köberl et al., 2011).



Fig. 2 Community shift in the soil microbiome after long-term agricultural use of the desert under organic management.

Nitrogen is an essential macronutrient for plants and one of the most yield-limiting factors in agricultural production systems throughout the world (Bhattacharjee et al., 2008; Orr et al., 2011). To gain insight into the indigenous community of diazotrophic plant growth promoting microorganisms that inhabit desert agro-ecosystems, community profiles of the *nifH* gene encoding the nitrogenase reductase subunit were assessed. A broad diversity and high abundance of diazotrophs were detected in all investigated habitats, thus underlining their importance in native and agricultural desert ecosystems. Due to watering and cultivation of desert soil, a considerable shift towards a higher abundance and diversity was also observed for the nitrogen-fixing community. Phylogenetic analyses distinguishing between the major *nifH* gene types (Zehr et al., 2003; Gaby & Buckley, 2012) revealed that all NifH

sequences from soil libraries were affiliated with the canonical *nifH* clusters I (conventional molybdenum nitrogenases) and III (molybdenum nitrogenases from anaerobes), while no sequences of alternative nitrogenases (cluster II) and nifH paralogs (clusters IV and V) were found. In general, the diazotrophic soil microbiota was highly dominated by NifH sequences related to Alphaproteobacteria. Each investigated medicinal plant cultivated on the desert farm harboured a specific root-associated diazotrophic microbiome. The rhizosphere inhabitants of *M. chamomilla* (Fig. 3) and *C. officinalis* were similar and both dominated by potential root-nodulating rhizobia acquired mainly from soil. Conversely, the rhizosphere of S. distichum was colonised in higher abundances by free-living nitrogen fixers most likely transmitted between plants as they were undetectable in soils. Although well known for taxonomic community structure (Berg & Smalla, 2009, Bulgarelli et al., 2012), this high degree of plant-specificity identified plants as important drivers for functional diversity as well (Köberl et al., unpublished). The total bacterial and fungal communities also revealed similar colonisation patterns between the medicinal plants M. chamomilla and C. officinalis compared to S. distichum (Köberl et al., 2013). This effect may have been intensified as a result of the close relationship between M. chamomilla and C. officinalis who both belong to the Asteraceae family and therefore produce more similar bioactive metabolites. Furthermore, both *M. chamomilla* and *C. officinalis* are annual herbal medicinal plants, while *S. distichum* is a perennial plant thus providing a longer timeframe to specifically select a stable associated microbiome.

In contrast to the highly specific bacterial communities associated with cultivated medicinal plants, fungal communities were less discriminative and characterised primarily by potential pathogens. Phytopathogenic species *Fusarium*, *Verticillium*, and several others were frequently identified, and, apart from *Rhizoctonia*, were the main soil-borne pathogens on the investigated desert farm that caused high yield losses on a wide host range of economically



Fig. 3 *In situ* visualisation of the bacterial root colonisation of *Matricaria chamomilla*. Volume rendering (A) and three-dimensional reconstruction model (B) of confocal laser scanning microscopy stacks. (A) yellow = Alphaproteobacteria, pink = Betaproteobacteria, red = other eubacteria, cyan = root tissue, scale bar = 30 μ m. (B) green = Alphaproteobacteria, blue = Betaproteobacteria, red = other eubacteria, beige = root tissue, scale bar = 15 μ m.

important crops, including the medicinal plants. To biologically control these soil-borne diseases, different desert habitats were screened for potential BCAs adapted to the unique and arid conditions of desert farming. Due to this high content of potential plant pathogens in the fungal community, the selection of antagonists was focused on the indigenous bacterial microbiome. An *in vitro* screening of 1,212 bacterial isolates linked with the comprehensive ecological data resulted in an antagonist collection of 45 genotypically different antifungal strains. In a hierarchical evaluation including their antifungal properties against *Verticillium dahliae*, *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Fusarium culmorum* in addition to their antagonistic activity against the soil-borne plant pathogenic bacterium *Ralstonia solanacearum* and the nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*, three promising drought and heat resistant biocontrol candidates were selected: *Streptomyces subrutilus* Wb2n-11 isolated from desert soil in Sinai, *Bacillus subtilis* subsp. *subtilis* Co1-6 obtained from the rhizosphere of *C. officinalis*, and *Paenibacillus*

polymyxa Mc5Re-14 isolated from the endorhiza of *M. chamomilla*. Each belongs to risk group 1 and poses no risk for humans or the environment. These three potential BCAs have already shown promising *in vitro* plant growth promoting activities and stress tolerances; *B. subtilis* Co1-6 exhibited high drought and salt resistance, protease and glucanase activity, and the production of siderophores, *P. polymyxa* Mc5Re-14 had a lower tolerance to abiotic stresses in comparison to the *Bacillus* strain, but also tested positive for siderophores and glucanase activity, and the desert bacterium *S. subtrutilus* Wb2n-11 showed hydrolytic degradation of chitin and glucan. All of them produced antibiotics against the nematode *M. incognita*, however their antibacterial activities were highly specific. While *B. subtilis* and *S. subtrutilus* exhibited antagonistic suppression of the plant pathogen *R. solanacearum*, only the *Paenibacillus* isolate was active against the opportunistic human pathogen *Escherichia coli* (Köberl et al., 2013).

These three autochthonous Gram-positive strains were selected for *ad planta* evaluation in the field under desert farming conditions in comparison to three allochthonous Gram-negative strains already known for their beneficial plant-microbe interactions in humid soils: *Pseudomonas fluorescens* L13-6-12 isolated from the rhizosphere of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*), *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* P69 from oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) rhizosphere, and *Serratia plymuthia* 3Re4-18 from the endorhiza of potato (Lottmann & Berg, 2001; Wolf et al., 2002; Kai et al., 2007; Zachow et al., 2010; Alavi et al., 2013). The first results revealed that priming chamomile seedlings with the autochthonous strains not only showed a stabilising effect on plant performance, but *B. subtilis* Co1-6 and *P. polymyxa* Mc5Re-14 were also able to further elevate the plants' flavonoid production. Higher contents of the bioactive compounds apigenin-7-O-glucoside and apigenin, which belong to the major flavonoids of chamomile florets (Kato et al., 2008; Srivastava & Gupta, 2009), were measured in blossoms of plants treated with the two Bacillales strains compared to blossoms of other treatments and uninoculated control plants (Schmidt et al., 2012). These findings demonstrate

that a targeted bacterial treatment could influence the metabolic activity of the plant, and therefore represent one of the many poorly understood links between the structure and metabolic profile of the plant-associated microbiome and the plant metabolome.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund (RDI C2/S1/190) and the EC (Tempus IV JP-00241-2008). We wish to give many thanks to Ibrahim Abouleish and Elshahat M. Ramadan (Cairo), without whom the project would not have been possible. Furthermore, we would like to thank Ruth Schmidt, Massimiliano Cardinale, and Henry Müller (Graz) for their relevant practical and theoretical support, and Margaret R. Starcher (Washington/Graz) is gratefully acknowledged for critically reading the manuscript.

References

- Abdel-Aziz H, Fawzy N, Ismail AI, El-Askary H (2011) Toxicological studies on a standardized extract of *Solanum indicum* ssp. *distichum*. Food Chem Toxicol 49: 903-909.
- Abdou R, Scherlach K, Dahse HM, Sattler I, Hertweck C (2010) Botryorhodines A-D, antifungal and cytotoxic depsidones from *Botryosphaeria rhodina*, an endophyte of the medicinal plant *Bidens pilosa*. Phytochemistry 71: 110-116.
- Abouzid S, Fawzy N, Darweesh N, Orihara Y (2008) Steroidal glycoalkaloids from the berries of *Solanum distichum*. Nat Prod Res 22: 147-153.
- Alavi P, Starcher MR, Zachow C, Müller H, Berg G (2013) Root-microbe systems: the effect and mode of interaction of stress protecting agent (SPA) *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* DSM14405(T.). Front Plant Sci 4: 141.

- Amna T, Puri SC, Verma V, Sharma JP, Khajuria RK, Musarrat J, Spiteller M, Qazi GN (2006) Bioreactor studies on the endophytic fungus *Entrophospora infrequens* for the production of an anticancer alkaloid camptothecin. Can J Microbiol 52: 189-196.
- Bahgat A, Abdel-Aziz H, Raafat M, Mahdy A, El-Khatib AS, Ismail A, Khayyal MT (2008) *Solanum indicum* ssp. *distichum* extract is effective against L-NAME-induced hypertension in rats. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 22: 693-699.
- Bais HP, Weir TL, Perry LG, Gilroy S, Vivanco JM (2006) The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. Annu Rev Plant Biol 57: 233-266.
- Berendsen RL, Pieterse CM, Bakker PA (2012) The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. Trends Plant Sci 17: 478-486.
- Berg G, Eberl L, Hartmann A (2005a) The rhizosphere as a reservoir for opportunistic human pathogenic bacteria. Environ Microbiol 7: 1673-1685.
- Berg G, Krechel A, Ditz M, Sikora RA, Ulrich A, Hallmann J (2005b) Endophytic and ectophytic potato-associated bacterial communities differ in structure and antagonistic function against plant pathogenic fungi. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 51: 215-229.
- Berg G (2009) Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 84: 11-18.
- Berg G, Smalla K (2009) Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 68: 1-13.
- Berg G, Zachow C, Cardinale M, Müller H (2011) Ecology and human pathogenicity of plantassociated bacteria. In: Regulation of biological control agents. Ehlers RU, editor; Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands: 175-189.
- Berg G, Zachow C, Müller H, Philipps J, Tilcher R (2013) Next-generation bio-products sowing the seeds of success for sustainable agriculture. Agronomy: In press.

- Bhattacharjee RB, Singh A, Mukhopadhyay SN (2008) Use of nitrogen-fixing bacteria as biofertiliser for non-legumes: prospects and challenges. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 80: 199-209.
- Bragina A, Berg C, Cardinale M, Shcherbakov A, Chebotar V, Berg G (2012) Sphagnum mosses harbour highly specific bacterial diversity during their whole lifecycle. ISME J 6: 802-813.
- Bukenya-Ziraba R (2004) Solanum anguivi Lam. [Internet] Record from PROTA4U. Grubben
 GJH & Denton OA, editors; PROTA (Plant Resources of Tropical Africa),
 Wageningen, NL. http://www.prota4u.org/search.asp. Accessed 21 March 2013.
- Bulgarelli D, Rott M, Schlaeppi K, Ver Loren van Themaat E, Ahmadinejad N, Assenza F,
 Rauf P, Huettel B, Reinhardt R, Schmelzer E, Peplies J, Gloeckner FO, Amann R,
 Eickhorst T, Schulze-Lefert P (2012) Revealing structure and assembly cues for *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. Nature 488: 91-95.
- Butnariu M, Coradini CZ (2012) Evaluation of biologically active compounds from *Calendula officinalis* flowers using spectrophotometry. Chem Cent J 6: 35.
- Castillo U, Strobel GA, Ford EJ, Hess WM, Porter H, Jensen JB, Albert H, Robison R, Condron MA, Teplow DB, Stevens D, Yaver D (2002) Munumbicins, wide-spectrum antibiotics produced by *Streptomyces* NRRL 30562, endophytic on *Kennedia nigriscans*. Microbiology 148: 2675-2685.
- Castillo U, Harper JK, Strobel GA, Sears J, Alesi K, Ford E, Lin J, Hunter M, Maranta M, Ge H, Yaver D, Jensen JB, Porter H, Robison R, Millar D, Hess WM, Condron M, Teplow D (2003) Kakadumycins, novel antibiotics from *Streptomyces* sp. NRRL 30566, an endophyte of *Grevillea pteridifolia*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 224: 183-190.
- Chandra S (2012) Endophytic fungi: novel sources of anticancer lead molecules. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 95: 47-59.

- Compant S, Clément C, Sessitsch A (2010) Plant growth-promoting bacteria in the rhizo- and endosphere of plants: their role, colonization, mechanisms involved and prospects for utilization. Soil Biol Biochem 42: 669-678.
- Costa R, Gomes NC, Peixoto RS, Rumjanek N, Berg G, Mendonça-Hagler LC, Smalla K (2006) Diversity and antagonistic potential of *Pseudomonas* spp. associated to the rhizosphere of maize grown in a subtropical organic farm. Soil Biol Biochem 38: 2434-2447.
- Debbab A, Aly AH, Edrada-Ebel RA, Müller WE, Mosaddak M, Hakiki A, Ebel R, Proksch P (2009) Bioactive secondary metabolites from the endophytic fungus *Chaetomium* sp. isolated from *Salvia officinalis* growing in Morocco. Biotechnol Agron Soc Environ 13: 229-234.
- Doornbos RF, van Loon LC, Bakker PA (2012) Impact of root exudates and plant defense signaling on bacterial communities in the rhizosphere. Agron Sustain Dev 32: 227-243.
- Ezra D, Castillo UF, Strobel GA, Hess WM, Porter H, Jensen JB, Condron MA, Teplow DB, Sears J, Maranta M, Hunter M, Weber B, Yaver D (2004) Coronamycins, peptide antibiotics produced by a verticillate *Streptomyces* sp. (MSU-2110) endophytic on *Monstera* sp. Microbiology 150: 785-793.
- Fürnkranz M, Lukesch B, Müller H, Huss H, Grube M, Berg G (2012) Microbial diversity inside pumpkins: microhabitat-specific communities display a high antagonistic potential against phytopathogens. Microb Ecol 63: 418-428.
- Gaby JC, Buckley DH (2012) A comprehensive evaluation of PCR primers to amplify the *nifH* gene of nitrogenase. PLoS One 7: e42149.
- Ganzera M, Schneider P, Stuppner H (2006) Inhibitory effects of the essential oil of chamomile (*Matricaria recutita* L.) and its major constituents on human cytochrome P450 enzymes. Life Sci 78: 856-861.

- Goodfellow M, Fiedler HP (2010) A guide to successful bioprospecting: informed by actinobacterial systematics. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 98: 119-142.
- Gunatilaka AA (2006) Natural products from plant-associated microorganisms: distribution, structural diversity, bioactivity, and implications of their occurrence. J Nat Prod 69: 509-526.
- Haas D, Défago G (2005) Biological control of soil-borne pathogens by fluorescent pseudomonads. Nat Rev Microbiol 3: 307-319.
- Hardoim PR, Hardoim CC, van Overbeek LS, van Elsas JD (2012) Dynamics of seed-borne rice endophytes on early plant growth stages. PLoS One 7: e30438.
- Harper JK, Arif AM, Ford EJ, Strobel GA, Porco JA, Tomer DP, Oneill KL, Heider EM, Grant DM (2003) Pestacin: a 1,3-dihydro isobenzofuran from *Pestalotiopsis microspora* possessing antioxidant and antimycotic activities. Tetrahedron 59: 2471-2476.
- Hartmann A, Rothballer M, Schmid M (2008) Lorenz Hiltner, a pioneer in rhizosphere microbial ecology and soil bacteriology research. Plant Soil 312: 7-14.
- Hirsch PR, Mauchline TH (2012) Who's who in the plant root microbiome? Nat Biotechnol 30: 961-962.
- Honbu T, Ikeda T, Zhu XH, Yoshihara O, Okawa M, Nafady AM, Nohara T (2002) New steroidal glycosides from the fruits of *Solanum anguivi*. J Nat Prod 65: 1918-1920.
- Immaculate NR, Kumar M, Srimathi S, Muthumary J, Kalaichelvan PT (2011) Isolation of *Phoma* species from *Aloe vera*: an endophyte and screening the fungus for taxol production. World J Sci Technol 1: 23-31.
- Janssen PH (2006) Identifying the dominant soil bacterial taxa in libraries of 16S rRNA and 16S rRNA genes. Appl Environ Microbiol 72: 1719-1728.

- Kai M, Effmert U, Berg G, Piechulla B (2007) Volatiles of bacterial antagonists inhibit mycelial growth of the plant pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*. Arch Microbiol 187: 351-360.
- Kato A, Minoshima Y, Yamamoto J, Adachi I, Watson AA, Nash RJ (2008) Protective effects of dietary chamomile tea on diabetic complications. J Agric Food Chem 56: 8206-8211.
- Kim SU, Strobel GA, Ford E (1999) Screening of taxol-producing endophytic fungi from *Ginkgo biloba* and *Taxus cuspidata* in Korea. Agr Chem Biotechnol 42: 97-99.
- Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Berg G (2011) Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health. PLoS One 6: e24452.
- Köberl M, Ramadan EM, Adam M, Cardinale M, Hallmann J, Heuer H, Smalla K, Berg G (2013) *Bacillus* and *Streptomyces* were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt. FEMS Microbiol Lett 342: 168-178.
- Kusari S, Lamshöft M, Spiteller M (2009a) Aspergillus fumigatus Fresenius, an endophytic fungus from Juniperus communis L. Horstmann as a novel source of the anticancer prodrug deoxypodophyllotoxin. J Appl Microbiol 107: 1019-1030.
- Kusari S, Zühlke S, Spiteller M (2009b) An endophytic fungus from *Camptotheca acuminata* that produces camptothecin and analogues. J Nat Prod 72: 2-7.
- Lee JC, Lobkovsky E, Pliam NB, Strobel G, Clardy J (1995) Subglutinols A and B: immunosuppressive compounds from the endophytic fungus *Fusarium subglutinans*. J Org Chem 60: 7076-7077.
- Li J, Zhao GZ, Chen HH, Wang HB, Qin S, Zhu WY, Xu LH, Jiang CL, Li WJ (2008) Antitumour and antimicrobial activities of endophytic streptomycetes from pharmaceutical plants in rainforest. Lett Appl Microbiol 47: 574-580.
- Li RW, Myers SP, Leach DN, Lin GD, Leach G (2003) A cross-cultural study: antiinflammatory activity of Australian and Chinese plants. J Ethnopharmacol 85: 25-32.

- Lottmann J, Berg G (2001) Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of antagonistic bacteria associated with roots of transgenic and non-transgenic potato plants. Microbiol Res 156: 75-82.
- Lugtenberg B, Chin-A-Woeng TF, Bloemberg GV (2002) Microbe-plant interactions: principles and mechanisms. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 81: 373-383.
- Lugtenberg B, Kamilova F (2009) Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 63: 541-556.
- McKay DL, Blumberg JB (2006) A review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of chamomile tea (*Matricaria recutita* L.). Phytother Res 20: 519-530.
- Mendes R, Kruijt M, de Bruijn I, Dekkers E, van der Voort M, Schneider JH, Piceno YM, DeSantis TZ, Andersen GL, Bakker PA, Raaijmakers JM (2011) Deciphering the rhizosphere microbiome for disease-suppressive bacteria. Science 332: 1097-1100.
- Miller KI, Qing C, Sze DM, Neilan BA (2012a) Investigation of the biosynthetic potential of endophytes in traditional Chinese anticancer herbs. PLoS One 7: e35953.
- Miller KI, Qing C, Sze DM, Roufogalis BD, Neilan BA (2012b) Culturable endophytes of medicinal plants and the genetic basis for their bioactivity. Microb Ecol 64: 431-449.
- Mohana Kumara P, Zuehlke S, Priti V, Ramesha BT, Shweta S, Ravikanth G, Vasudeva R, Santhoshkumar TR, Spiteller M, Uma Shaanker R (2012) *Fusarium proliferatum*, an endophytic fungus from *Dysoxylum binectariferum* Hook.f, produces rohitukine, a chromane alkaloid possessing anti-cancer activity. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 101: 323-329.
- Murti K, Panchal MA, Gajera V, Solanki J (2012) Pharmacological properties of *Matricaria recutita*: a review. Pharmacologia 3: 348-351.
- Nachtigall J, Kulik A, Helaly S, Bull AT, Goodfellow M, Asenjo JA, Maier A, Wiese J, Imhoff JF, Süssmuth RD, Fiedler HP (2011) Atacamycins A-C, 22-membered antitumor macrolactones produced by *Streptomyces* sp. C38. J Antibiot 64: 775-780.

- Newman DJ, Cragg GM (2012) Natural products as sources of new drugs over the 30 years from 1981 to 2010. J Nat Prod 75: 311-335.
- Niraula NP, Kim SH, Sohng JK, Kim ES (2010) Biotechnological doxorubicin production: pathway and regulation engineering of strains for enhanced production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87: 1187-1194.
- Orr CH, James A, Leifert C, Cooper JM, Cummings SP (2011) Diversity and activity of freeliving nitrogen-fixing bacteria and total bacteria in organic and conventionally managed soils. Appl Environ Microbiol 77: 911-919.
- Palombo EA, Semple SJ (2001) Antibacterial activity of traditional Australian medicinal plants. J Ethnopharmacol 77: 151-157.
- Puri SC, Verma V, Amna T, Qazi GN, Spiteller M (2005) An endophytic fungus from *Nothapodytes foetida* that produces camptothecin. J Nat Prod 68: 1717-1719.
- Raaijmakers JM, Mazzola M (2012) Diversity and natural functions of antibiotics produced by beneficial and plant pathogenic bacteria. Annu Rev Phytopathol 50: 403-424.
- Ripperger H, Himmelreich U (1994) Anguivine and isoanguivine, steroid alkaloid glycosides from *Solanum anguivi*. Phytochemistry 37: 1725-1727.
- Roveroni-Favaretto LH, Lodi KB, Almeida JD (2009) Topical *Calendula officinalis* L. successfully treated exfoliative cheilitis: a case report. Cases J 2: 9077.
- Ryu CM, Farag MA, Hu CH, Reddy MS, Wei HX, Paré PW, Kloepper JW (2003) Bacterial volatiles promote growth in *Arabidopsis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100: 4927-4932.
- Šalamon I (2004) The Slovak gene pool of German chamomile (*Matricaria recutita* L.) and comparison in its parameters. Hortic Sci 31: 70-75.
- Schmidt R (2012) Application of biological control agents in the rhizosphere of *Matricaria recutita* (L.): their influence on the flavonoid production and nontarget microorganisms.
 Master thesis, Graz University of Technology, Austria.

- Smalla K, Wieland G, Buchner A, Zock A, Parzy J, Kaiser S, Roskot N, Heuer H, Berg G (2001) Bulk and rhizosphere soil bacterial communities studied by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis: plant-dependent enrichment and seasonal shifts revealed. Appl Envrion Microbiol 67: 4742-4751.
- Srivastava JK, Gupta S (2009) Extraction, characterization, stability and biological activity of flavonoids isolated from chamomile flowers. Mol Cell Pharmacol 1: 138.
- Stierle A, Strobel G, Stierle D (1993) Taxol and taxane production by *Taxomyces andreanae*, an endophytic fungus of Pacific yew. Science 260: 214-216.
- Strobel G, Li JY, Sugawara F, Koshino H, Harper J, Hess WM (1999a) Oocydin A, a chlorinated macrocyclic lactone with potent anti-oomycete activity from *Serratia marcescens*. Microbiology 145: 3557-3564.
- Strobel G, Miller RV, Martinez-Miller C, Condron MM, Teplow DB, Hess WM (1999b) Cryptocandin, a potent antimycotic from the endophytic fungus *Cryptosporiopsis* cf. *quercina*. Microbiology 145: 1919-1926.
- Strobel G, Ford E, Worapong J, Harper JK, Arif AM, Grant DM, Fung PC, Ming Wah Chau R (2002) Isopestacin, an isobenzofuranone from *Pestalotiopsis microspora*, possessing antifungal and antioxidant activities. Phytochemistry 60: 179-183.
- Strobel G, Daisy B (2003) Bioprospecting for microbial endophytes and their natural products. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 67: 491-502.
- Strobel G, Daisy B, Castillo U, Harper J (2004) Natural products from endophytic microorganisms. J Nat Prod 67: 257-268.
- Ukiya M, Akihisa T, Yasukawa K, Tokuda H, Suzuki T, Kimura Y (2006) Antiinflammatory, anti-tumor-promoting, and cytotoxic activities of constituents of marigold (*Calendula officinalis*) flowers. J Nat Prod 69: 1692-1696.
- van Loon LC, Bakker PA, Pieterse CM (1998) Systemic resistance induced by rhizosphere bacteria. Annu Rev Phytopathol 36: 453-483.

- Wang JW, Zhang Z, Tan RX (2001) Stimulation of artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* hairy roots by the elicitor from the endophytic *Colletotrichum* sp. Biotechnol Lett 23: 857-860.
- Wani MC, Taylor HL, Wall ME, Coggon P, McPhail AT (1971) Plant antitumor agents. VI. the isolation and structure of taxol, a novel antileukemic and antitumor agent from *Taxus brevifolia*. J Am Chem Soc 93: 2325-2327.
- Weber D, Sterner O, Anke T, Gorzalczancy S, Martino V, Acevedo C (2004) Phomol, a new antiinflammatory metabolite from an endophyte of the medicinal plant *Erythrina crista-galli*. J Antibiot 57: 559-563.
- Weller DM (2007) *Pseudomonas* biocontrol agents of soilborne pathogens: looking back over 30 years. Phytopathology 97: 250-256.
- Wings S, Müller H, Berg G, Lamshöft M, Leistner E (2013) A study of the bacterial community in the root system of the maytansine containing plant *Putterlickia verrucosa*. Phytochemistry 91: 158-164.
- Wolf A, Fritze A, Hagemann M, Berg G (2002) Stenotrophomonas rhizophila sp. nov., a novel plant-associated bacterium with antifungal properties. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52: 1937-1944.
- Yang X, Guo S, Zhang L, Shao H (2003) Selection of producing podophyllotoxin endophytic fungi from podophyllin plant. Nat Prod Res Dev 15: 419-422.
- Zachow C, Tilcher R, Berg G (2008) Sugar beet-associated bacterial and fungal communities show a high indigenous antagonistic potential against plant pathogens. Microb Ecol 55: 119-129.
- Zachow C, Fatehi J, Cardinale M, Tilcher R, Berg G (2010) Strain-specific colonization pattern of *Rhizoctonia* antagonists in the root system of sugar beet. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 74: 124-135.

- Zehr JP, Jenkins BD, Short SM, Steward GF (2003) Nitrogenase gene diversity and microbial community structure: a cross-system comparison. Environ Microbiol 5: 539-554.
- Zhao K, Penttinen P, Guan T, Xiao J, Chen Q, Xu J, Lindström K, Zhang L, Zhang X, Strobel GA (2011) The diversity and anti-microbial activity of endophytic actinomycetes isolated from medicinal plants in Panxi plateau, China. Curr Microbiol 62: 182-190.
- Zhao K, Penttinen P, Chen Q, Guan T, Lindström K, Ao X, Zhang L, Zhang X (2012) The rhizospheres of traditional medicinal plants in Panxi, China, host a diverse selection of actinobacteria with antimicrobial properties. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 94: 1321-1335.
- Zhu XH, Ikeda T, Nohara T (2000) Studies on the constituents of solanaceous plants. (46). Steroidal glycosides from the fruits of *Solanum anguivi*. Chem Pharm Bull 48: 568-570.
- Zou WX, Meng JC, Lu H, Chen GX, Shi GX, Zhang TY, Tan RX (2000) Metabolites of Colletotrichum gloeosporioides, an endophytic fungus in Artemisia mongolica. J Nat Prod 63: 1529-1530.

Publication I

PLoS One (2011) 6: e24452

Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health

Martina Köberl¹, Henry Müller¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan² & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria ²Faculty of Agriculture, SEKEM and Heliopolis University, Cairo, Egypt

Desert Farming Benefits from Microbial Potential in Arid Soils and Promotes Diversity and Plant Health

Martina Köberl¹, Henry Müller¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Gabriele Berg¹*

1 Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria, 2 Faculty of Agriculture, SEKEM and Heliopolis University, Cairo, Egypt

Abstract

Background: To convert deserts into arable, green landscapes is a global vision, and desert farming is a strong growing area of agriculture world-wide. However, its effect on diversity of soil microbial communities, which are responsible for important ecosystem services like plant health, is still not known.

Methodology/Principal Findings: We studied the impact of long-term agriculture on desert soil in one of the most prominent examples for organic desert farming in Sekem (Egypt). Using a polyphasic methodological approach to analyse microbial communities in soil as well as associated with cultivated plants, drastic effects caused by 30 years of agriculture were detected. Analysing bacterial fingerprints, we found statistically significant differences between agricultural and native desert soil of about 60%. A pyrosequencing-based analysis of the 16S rRNA gene regions showed higher diversity in agricultural than in desert soil (Shannon diversity indices: 11.21/7.90), and displayed structural differences. The proportion of Firmicutes in field soil was significantly higher (37%) than in the desert (11%). *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* play the key role: they represented 96% of the antagonists towards phytopathogens, and identical 16S rRNA sequences in the amplicon library and for isolates were detected. The proportion of antagonistic strains was doubled in field in comparison to desert soil (21.6%/12.4%); disease-suppressive bacteria were especially enriched in plant roots. On the opposite, several extremophilic bacterial groups, e.g., *Acidimicrobium, Rubellimicrobium* and *Deinococcus-Thermus*, disappeared from soil after agricultural use. The N-fixing *Herbaspirillum* group only occurred in desert soil. Soil bacterial communities were strongly driven by the a-biotic factors water supply and pH.

Conclusions/Significance: After long-term farming, a drastic shift in the bacterial communities in desert soil was observed. Bacterial communities in agricultural soil showed a higher diversity and a better ecosystem function for plant health but a loss of extremophilic bacteria. Interestingly, we detected that indigenous desert microorganisms promoted plant health in desert agro-ecosystems.

Citation: Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Berg G (2011) Desert Farming Benefits from Microbial Potential in Arid Soils and Promotes Diversity and Plant Health. PLoS ONE 6(9): e24452. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452

Editor: Jack Anthony Gilbert, Argonne National Laboratory, United States of America

Received May 11, 2011; Accepted August 10, 2011; Published September 2, 2011

Copyright: © 2011 Köberl et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This project was funded by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund (C2/S1/190). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: gabriele.berg@TUGraz.at

Introduction

In contrast to desertification, which is recognised as a major threat to biodiversity, to convert deserts into arable, green landscapes is a global vision as well as competent answer to world hunger and climate change [1,2]. Desert farming, which generally relies on irrigation, is one way to this vision. Agriculture systems were already developed in arid landscapes by ancient cultures, yet nowadays, there is a dramatically increasing need for large-scale desert farming to feed the population. For example, in Egypt, desert farmland is expected to grow about 40% till 2017, but this needs about five billion m³ of water a year [3]. These enormous amounts of water and the expected impact on the climate conditions are the major disadvantages of agriculture in the desert. While these problems are well-investigated, the effect on the bioresource soil was yet not assessed. Moreover, there is still a gap of knowledge about the effect of management and land uses on the bacterial diversity of soils, which new molecular tools like metagenomics can help to close [4,5].

Deserts represent extreme environments for microorganisms [6]. Although the conditions varied strongly in the different regions of the world, all of them are characterised by a combination of extreme temperatures and desiccation, high soil salinity, low nutrient levels, high summer UV radiation levels, and physical instability caused by strong winds: all factors contribute to the visual appearance of a sterile environment. While early studies supported this "sterility" by very low levels of viable/cultivable microorganisms, applications of new methods in microbial ecology led to interesting new findings and showed a contrasting picture [6,7]. For example, in their global-scale study, Fierer & Jackson [8] found that the acidic soils of tropical forests harbour fewer bacterial taxa than the neutral pH soils of deserts. In McMurdo Dry Valleys, a hyperarid polar desert, microbial soil communities were relatively depauperate but harboured a broad range of previously unreported bacteria and fungi from polar regions [9]. In different sites in the Negev Desert, archaeal and bacterial diversity analysed by fingerprints using T-RFLP of the 16S rRNA genes was not constrained by precipitation, although the taxonomic composition differed [10]. In soil of the Atacama Desert, a high diversity of microorganisms known for life in hypersaline environments was found by analysis of DGGE profiles [11]. Most of the desert microbial communities seem to be structured solely by a-biotic processes [6,7]. But, if adapted desert plants occurred, e.g. Panicum and Stipagrostis in Sinai or Reaumuria negevensis in Negev, they strongly shaped soil microbial diversity [12,13]. However, all these investigations showed a unique and extraordinary microbial diversity in desert soils. An understanding of diversity in such microbial communities can be used to assess potential effects of desert farming on soil ecosystem services like plant health [14]. Emerging problems with soil-borne pathogens limited the plant yield after several years often drastically. Due to their specific ecology soil-borne pathogens are difficult to suppress; disease-suppressive bacteria, which are able to antagonise and biologically control them, provide a promising and sustainable solution [15].

The objective of this study was to analyse the effect of desert farming on soil microbial diversity and on disease-suppressive bacteria. We studied microbial diversity in native Egyptian desert soil in comparison to the agricultural soil, which was used more than 30 years for organic agriculture in Sekem farms (www.sekem.com; Egypt). To study the role of plant-associated bacteria in the agricultural soil, we analysed microbial communities in the rhizosphere and endorhiza of cultivated medical plants. Sekem is not only one of the most prominent examples of organic farming in the desert; they were assigned for social entrepreneurship [16,17]. For this study, we used a broad set of methods including i) bacterial fingerprints using 16S rRNA PCR-SSCP (Single Strand Conformational Polymorphism) analysis to compare the communities at statistical level and identify the dominant bacterial taxa, ii) pyrosequencing-based 16S rRNA profiling to get a deeper insight into the soil communities, iii) a cultivation approach to assess the impact on disease-suppressive bacteria, and iv) a multivariate statistical analysis to identify environmental factors driving microbial communities. We demonstrate that long-term organic agriculture had a strong impact on microbial community structure and function, and identified highly specialised communities in all microenvironments.

Results

Molecular fingerprinting of microbial communities

To get a first overview about the structure of the bacterial communities, fingerprints were performed by SSCP analysis of 16S rRNA genes amplified from DNA obtained from desert and agricultural soil. In addition, we analysed bacterial communities from rhizosphere and endorhiza of the dominant plants German chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.), pot marigold (Calendula officinalis L.) and Solanum distichum Schumach. & Thonn. cultivated on farms. In comparison to the desert, in field soil an impressive diversity of bacteria was found (Fig. S1). According to cluster analyses, the composition of the bacterial community of agricultural soil differed significantly from the desert soil by approximately 60% of the bacterial strains (Fig. 1). In the bacterial community of desert soil two dominant bands could be detected, which were also abundant in all samples from the rhizosphere and endorhiza of all three investigated medical plants (Fig. S1). The two dominant bands were identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis as Ochrobactrum sp. (closest database match O. grignonense, 99% similarity to NR_028901) and Rhodococcus sp.



Figure 1. UPGMA dendrograms of total bacterial (A) and *Pseudomonas* (B) communities in soil and rhizosphere of the medical plants. The dendrograms were generated from the SSCP community profiles with GelCompar II. Following settings were used: dendrogram type: unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA); similarity coefficient: curve based: Pearson correlation; position tolerances: optimisation: 4%, position tolerance: 1%. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.g001

2

(closest database match *R. erythropolis*, 99% similarity to NR_037024). Further, *Bacillus* sp. was found nearly in all samples (closest database match *B. subtilis* subsp. *subtilis*, 99% similarity to NR_027552). For the rhizosphere as well as for the endorhiza of the medical plants a clear plant-specific effect of the bacterial communities was found (Fig. 1). They shared only 20% of the bacterial community, whereas the majority was determined by plant-specific bacteria.

Pyrosequencing-based 16S rRNA profiling of the bacterial community in soil

To deeply survey the diversity and the composition of the bacterial communities present in untreated desert soil and after 30 years of organic agriculture, a pyrosequencing-based analysis of partial 16S rRNA gene sequences (V4-V5 region) has been employed. In desert soil, we recovered 19,244 and in agricultural soil 33,384 quality sequences with a read length of \geq 150 bp. Of all quality sequences 83.0% could be classified below the domain level; this proportion is in accordance with other pyrosequencingbased studies [18-20]. To determine rarefaction curves, operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were identified at sequence divergences of 3% (species level), 5% (genus level) and 20% (phylum level). The rarefaction analysis of the bacterial community in the desert soil in comparison to the agricultural soil is shown in Fig. 2. At a dissimilarity level of 20%, both curves show a clear saturation. Thus the surveying effort covered almost the full extent of taxonomic diversity at this level of genetic distance. Additionally, a comparison of rarefaction analyses with the number of OTUs estimated by the Chaol richness estimator [20] revealed that in both soils over 90% of the estimated taxonomic richness was covered by the sequencing effort (Table 1). At the genus level (5% dissimilarity) the full extent of taxonomic diversity was not surveyed (42% and 31%). The computed Shannon indices of diversity (H') were much higher for the agricultural soil than for the desert soil, this indicates a higher bacterial diversity in soil due the agricultural use of the desert.

The 43,673 classifiable sequences obtained from both soil types together were affiliated with 18 different phyla. Proteobacteria (30.2%), Firmicutes (27.3%) and Actinobacteria (10.5%) were the dominant phyla (Fig. 3, Table S1). These dominant phyla were present in both soils. In detail, Firmicutes are highly enriched in agricultural soil (from 11.3% in desert soil to 36.6% in agricultural soil), Proteobacteria (46.0% in desert soil and 21.0% in

agricultural soil) and Actinobacteria (20.7% in desert soil and 4.6% in agricultural soil) occurred in farmland in lower concentrations than in the surrounding desert. Further, in both soils Bacteroidetes (4.6% and 5.3%) and Gemmatimonadetes (1.4% and 1.9%) were present. Considering only phyla covering more than 1% of quality sequences, Acidobacteria (7.9%) and Planctomycetes (1.1%) were only found in the agricultural soil, and Deinococcus-Thermus (1.1%) was only detectable in the desert sand. These abundances of the phyla coincided with results from previously reported meta-analysis of bacterial community composition in soils and, despite the special soil type of the desert, the composition covers rather well with studies of completely different soils [18,20-22] with exception of Firmicutes. Most of the Firmicutes sequences were classified as belonging to the genus Bacillus; in the agricultural soil also Paenibacillus was found (5% of classified Firmicutes). In desert soil Ochrobactrum was the most abundant genus within the (Alpha-)Proteobacteria (79% of classified Proteobacteria) and Rhodococcus among the Actinobacteria (90% of classified Actinobacteria). The Acidobacteria in the agricultural soil are affiliated only with subdivision 6.

Quantitative analysis of bacterial abundances

A cultivation-independent approach (total 16S rRNA gene copy numbers using quantitative PCR) was combined with cultivation, which was also the basis for isolate screening, to assess bacterial abundances in the different microhabitats. Copy numbers in agricultural soil were $9.4\pm0.5 \log_{10} g^{-1}$ compared to 8.1 ± 1.1 $\log_{10} g^{-1}$ in desert soil (Fig. S2), and were not statistically significantly different. In contrast, abundances of culturable bacteria determined on R2A resulted in statistically significant higher abundances in agricultural soil ($7.7\pm0.4 \log_{10} \text{ CFU g}^{-1}$) in comparison to desert soil ($4.6\pm0.6 \log_{10} \text{ CFU g}^{-1}$). The rhizosphere of all three investigated medical plants was highly colonised by culturable bacteria: $\log_{10} \text{ CFU ranged from } 7.8\pm0.3$ to $8.0\pm0.2 \text{ g}^{-1}$ fw. In contrast, in the endorhiza significantly lower CFUs were detected with $\log_{10} 2.0\pm0.2$ to $3.7\pm0.8 \text{ g}^{-1}$ fw.

Antagonistic potential of the bacterial community towards pathogenic fungi

A cultivation approach was used to analyse a functional aspect of the bacterial communities. To assess the indigenous antiphytopathogenic potential, the antagonistic activity against three major soil-borne phytopathogenic fungi *Verticillium dahliae*, *Rhizoc*-



Figure 2. Rarefaction analyses of the two soil types. Rarefaction curves indicate that the diversity of bacterial phylotypes is higher in the agricultural soil compared to the surrounding desert soil. OTUs are shown at genetic distance levels of 3% (A), 5% (B) and 20% (C). Data were calculated by employing tools of the RDP pyrosequencing pipeline (http://pyro.cme.msu.edu). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.g002

3

PLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

September 2011 | Volume 6 | Issue 9 | e24452

Table 1. Species richness estimates obtained at 3%, 5% and 20% genetic dissimilarity from pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA from metagenomic DNA extracted from desert soil and agricultural soil.

	Shannon index ^a (H')		H′)	Rarefaction ^b (no. of OTUs)		Chao1 ^c (no. of OTUs)			Coverage (%)			
	3%	5%	20%	3%	5%	20%	3%	5%	20%	3%	5%	20%
Desert Soil	7.90	7.04	3.02	4,465	2,967	76	13,278	7,012	77	33.6	42.3	98.8
Agricultural Soil	11.21	9.94	3.91	9,112	6,474	144	38,985	20,838	161	23.4	31.1	90.0

^aa higher number indicates more diversity;

^bthe results from the rarefaction analyses are also depicted in Fig. 2;

^cnonparametric richness estimator based on the distribution of singletons and doubletons.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.t001

tonia solani and Fusarium culmorum was determined. From each microenvironment up to 200 isolates were randomly selected and assessed regarding their anti-phytopathogenic capacity in vitro. All isolated soil bacteria (199 isolates from desert soil and 155 isolates from agricultural soil) were screened by dual testing regarding their antagonistic activity towards V. dahliae, R. solani and F. culmorum (Table 2). In general, bacterial isolates obtained from the soil of the farm exhibited a higher in vitro antagonistic potential towards soil-borne phytopathogenic fungi in comparison to the bacteria isolated from the desert soil (agricultural soil $21.6\pm0.8\%$; desert soil 12.4±0.7%). From the agricultural soil, 17.4% (27 isolates) demonstrated in vitro broad-spectrum antagonism towards all three pathogens, from the desert soil 10.6% (21 isolates) were able to suppress the growth of all fungi tested. No enrichment of antagonists in the rhizosphere and endorhiza of the investigated medical plants was detected. In general, M. chamomilla and S. distichum showed a higher antagonistic potential than C. officinalis. Especially the endorhiza from M. chamomilla harboured a high proportion of antagonists. Whereas in the soil and in the rhizosphere could be found most antagonistic bacteria towards F. culmorum, in the endorhiza of the medical plants most antagonists showed antagonism towards V. dahliae.

To assess the diversity of bacterial antagonists, isolates with an activity towards at least two of the soil-borne pathogenic fungi (162 isolates) were characterised genotypically and identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing (Fig. 4). Using restriction fragment length polymorphism, of the 16S rRNA (= amplified ribosomal RNA gene restriction analysis [ARDRA]), the antagonistic isolates could be clustered into six groups: (1) *Bacillus subtilis*, (2) *Bacillus cereus*, (3) *Bacillus endophyticus*, (4) *Paenibacillus/Brevibacillus*, (5) *Streptomyces*, and (6) *Lysobacter*. With the exception of the *Lysobacter* strain (only one isolate from the rhizosphere of *M. chamomilla*, closest database match *L. enzymogenes*), only Gram-positive antagonists were found. All antagonistic populations were dominated by Firmicutes; *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* could be isolated from all habitats. Interestingly, antagonistic isolates of the genus *Streptomyces* were found exclusively in desert soil.

To analyse the genotypic diversity within the taxonomic groups at population level, BOX PCR patterns of the whole bacterial genome were used. Especially within the large *Bacillus subtilis* cluster (123 isolates), a high genotypic diversity was found. At a cut off level of 80%, they could be divided into 37 genotypic groups. By partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing isolates were identified as *B. subtilis* subsp. *subtilis* and *spizizenii*, *B. vallismortis*, *B. mojavensis* and *B.*



Figure 3. The bacterial communities in the two different soil types. Relative clone composition of major phyla (A) and genera (B) was determined by pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA from metagenomic DNA extracted from desert and agricultural soil. The identification of the closest strain based on 16S rRNA sequence similarity was achieved using the web server SnoWMAn 1.7 (http://snowman.genome.tugraz.at). Phylogenetic groups accounting for $\leq 1\%$ of all quality sequences are summarised in the artificial group others. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.g003

4

Table 2. Proportions of bacterial isolates antagonistic

 towards the soil-borne fungal pathogens Verticillium dahliae,

 Rhizoctonia solani and Fusarium culmorum.

		Proportion of antagonists (%) ^a				
Microhabitat	Origin	V. dahliae	R. solani	F. culmorum		
Soil	Desert Soil	11.1±1.8	12.8±0.6	13.4±0.1		
	Agricultural Soil	20.0±1.6	21.9±2.2	22.6±1.4		
Rhizosphere	Matricaria chamomilla	12.5±2.9	8.3±0.7	13.0±1.8		
	Calendula officinalis	9.0±0.5	7.1±0.1	10.1±3.1		
	Solanum distichum	13.7±2.3	13.8±3.8	15.7±0.0		
Endorhiza	Matricaria chamomilla	19.9±1.8	16.4±2.3	18.8±2.6		
	Calendula officinalis	4.2±2.9	0.0 ± 0.0	1.4±1.0		
	Solanum distichum	13.5±5.1	10.4±5.8	12.5±5.8		

^aData are averages of 1st and 2nd sampling \pm confidences. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.t002

atrophaeus. The Paenibacillus/Brevibacillus isolates could be divided into eight BOX clusters and Bacillus endophyticus into two. Streptomyces was subdivided in three genotypes, the closest database matches were S. peucetius, S. scabiei and S. subrutilus. Surprisingly, among the Bacillus subtilis group, isolates with identical BOX patterns could be detected in desert soil as well as in the agricultural soil, and also in rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medical plants (Fig. 5). Based on unique genotypic patterns and antagonistic potential, 45 promising biocontrol strains were selected of which 89% belonged to the Bacillales (Table S2).

Ecological factors driving the bacterial communities in soil

Indirect correspondence analysis (CA) based on the OTUs of soil species obtained by microbial fingerprinting showed the



Figure 4. Diversity of bacterial antagonists with an activity towards pathogenic fungi. Isolates with activity against two pathogens were identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Samples from rhizosphere and endorhiza include isolates from the medical plants *Matricaria chamomilla*, *Calendula officinalis* and *Solanum distichum*. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.g004



Figure 5. BOX PCR fingerprints of genetically very similar antagonists of the *Bacillus subtilis* group isolated from different microenvironments. The similarity in the dendrogram between them was more than 80%. Isolates were encoded by abbreviations: (1) soil type or plant species (Wb = desert soil; Sb = Sekem soil, Mc = *Matricaria chamomilla*, Co = *Calendula officinalis*, Sd = *Solanum distichum*), (2) replicate (1–4), (3) microenvironment (Re = endorhiza, rhizosphere and soil have no further designation), and (4) consecutive number of the isolate per replicate. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024452.g005

coherence and similarity of the different samples indicated by crowding points at a CA biplot (data not shown). Furthermore, the influence of the environmental factors on the bacterial soil communities was examined using the multivariate statistical analysis. A significant effect was proved for water supply (precipitation + irrigation) (regression coefficient: 0.3760), pH (0.3719) and, to a lower extent for organic carbon (0.1600) and soil quality (0.1011).

Discussion

Agriculture in deserts open new ways to solve diverse problems: produce enough food for poor regions e.g. in Africa, produce renewable crops for industrial applications and to capture and restore CO_2 in soil. However, agricultural use induces a drastic shift for the whole ecosystem, and risk assessments to evaluate the function are necessary. Here we analysed differences of microbial communities in undisturbed desert soil in comparison to desert soil, which was cultivated under organic (biodynamic) conditions for 30 years. Altogether, a strong impact of long-term agriculture on microbial community structure and function was identified, which will be discussed and assessed in detail.

The composition of the bacterial communities in desert and agricultural soil differed strongly. In microbial fingerprints, both communities showed about 60% differences. Using a pyrosequencing-based approach of the 16S rRNA gene region, reasons for these differences could be identified. The relative abundance of Firmicutes in agricultural soil was significantly enhanced from 11 to 37%. Especially the proportion of 37% is remarkable because Janssen [22] reported them to contribute only a mean of 2% (range 0-8%) in the total bacterial soil community. *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* play the key role to explain this difference; they were dominant in the 16S rRNA gene amplicon library and represented 96% of the antagonists towards phytopathogens identified in the
culturable fraction. In addition, by microbial fingerprints we showed that this Gram-positive group was enriched in the rhizosphere as well as endorhiza of medical plants cultivated in Sekem. Interestingly, we found Bacillus isolates with the same BOX pattern in desert and field soil as well as in the rhizosphere and endorhiza of medical plants, which was confirmed also by our bacterial fingerprint analysis. Furthermore, identical 16S rRNA gene sequences were found for isolates as well as in the amplicon library. This is further evidence for enrichment of plant rhizosphere-specific bacteria from the soil. Moreover, it indicates that the antagonistic bacteria were enriched from desert soil and not from the compost treatment. Both, Bacillus and Paenibacillus are well-characterised plant-associated genera with antagonistic properties towards fungal plant pathogens [23]. While the proportion of Firmicutes was enhanced in field soil, several extremophilic bacterial groups, e.g. Acidimicrobium, Rubellimicrobium and Deinococcus-Thermus disappeared. Bacteria from all of these genera/phyla are either impossible or else extremely difficult to cultivate and only found in extreme environments by molecular analysis. For example, bacteria from the phylum Deinococcus-Thermus possess important adaptations such as resistance to environmental hazards, e.g., desiccation, ultraviolet radiation, high salinity, and high temperatures [24]. In general, the proportion of cultivable bacteria was lower in desert soil than in field soil, which was shown in the comparison between results obtained by cultivation and qPCR analysis. Based on our pyrosequencing data, bacterial communities in agricultural soil were characterised by a higher diversity than in desert soil (Shannon diversity indices: agricultural soil 11.21; desert 7.90). The high bacterial diversity found in the organically managed soil was shown for agriculture in the desert for the first time but was already reported for another organically managed system [14].

Additionally, for the function of the bacterial communities in desert and agricultural soil we found strong differences. The proportion of strains with antagonistic in vitro activity against soilborne phytopathogens was statistically significantly enhanced in agricultural soil in comparison to desert soil. Other current studies showed also that organic farming methods can mitigate ecological damages caused by pests and pathogens by promoting natural enemies, analysed for example in the pathosystem potato - potato beetle [25] or grape - Botrytis cineria [26]. Although the proportion of antagonistic strains was higher in agricultural soil, their diversity was much lower. All of the isolated antagonists belong to the Bacillus/Paenibacillus group. In contrast, in desert soil, diverse antagonistic Streptomyces species were identified, including Streptomyces peucetius, a species known to produce anthracycline antibiotics [27]. Another interesting fact is that members of the Herbaspirillum group, most of them known as Nfixing species, only occurred in desert soil. In most of the deserts, plants have a very short period to develop. This fact is wellknown, when shortly after a rainfall millions of seedlings occur and colour the whole desert in green. Therefore, plants need plant growth promoting rhizobacteria, and Herbaspirillum strains belong to this group. Owing to compost treatment agricultural soils are saturated with nitrogen. These facts could explain that this important functional group had a lower abundance in field soil. Another genus with an interesting occurrence is Orchrobactrum. In desert soil Ochrobactrum was the most abundant genus within Proteobacteria and also in microbial fingerprints this genus was found in high abundance in soil but also in the rhizosphere/ endorhiza of medical plants. Bacteria of this genus are known for its ambivalent interaction with eukaryotes, while they show plant growth promotion effects on plants, they can cause opportunistic infections in humans [28].

What are the reasons for the changes in structure and function of the bacterial community? The main factor, which explains the differences, is the continuous irrigation of farm land. This factor was identified by an indirect correspondence analysis. Precipitation in this arid region is general low (21-52 mm). The agriculture is completely dependent on irrigation water coming from the Nile or from local ground water. Irrigation systems were used to supply about 2,500-2,600 l m⁻³ per year. The aridity level was also one of the main factors that shaped the microbial community structure in patchy desert landscapes of Negev [29]. By the multivariate statistic, the pH of soil was identified as the second impact factor. This factor was often reported as main driver, e.g. in global studies of microbial communities in soil [8,18]. Another factor, which contributed to the shift in the bacterial community in a lower extend, is compost treatment. This was already shown for other examples in organic agriculture: due to the use of compost, studies have found that biodynamic farms have a significantly better soil quality than conventionally farmed soils but comparable to the soil quality achieved by other organic methods [14,17]. The compost treatment is responsible for nutrient and organic matter supply. On the other side, compost is known for an extremely high but also specific bacterial diversity. No evidence was found for an impact of these specifically adapted bacteria on soil communities. One factor, which could be not included in the statistical analyses, is plant-specific enrichment of bacterial communities. The extent of plant specificity was shown in a study of Verticillium host plants published by Smalla et al. [30], and later described for many other plant species [31]. In our study, we found a highly pronounced effect for each of the medical plants investigated. All three medical plants, which belong to the dominant herbs in Sekem and were included in the study, are known for their production of secondary metabolites. For example, German chamomile, for which we found the strongest effect, is used medicinally to treat sore stomach and irritable bowel syndrome. Chamomile plants produce the terpene bisabolol, and other active ingredients like farnesene, chamazulene, flavonoids and coumarin [32]. Some of them are known for their anti-microbial properties, and others, such as flavonoids often serve as signals in plant-microbe interactions [33].

In a final assessment, bacterial communities in agricultural soil showed a higher diversity and a better ecosystem function for plant health, which was measured as proportion of disease-suppressive bacteria. On the other side, there is a loss of extremophilic bacteria, which are typical inhabitants of desert soil. However, due to the fact that all farms are still surrounded by desert, we can conclude that also this specific diversity is maintained. The most interesting fact detected in our study was that indigenous desert microorganisms fulfil important functions in desert agro-ecosystems: Bacillus and Paenibacillus strains were enriched via plant roots from desert soil. This was shown at the population level using genotypic fingerprinting by BOX pattern, at community level by microbial fingerprints as well as in the metagenome.

Materials and Methods

The experimental design comprise samples from agricultural soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza samples from main medical crops cultivated in Sekem farms as well as samples from the surrounding desert soil from two different sampling times. All sampling sites are private property of the Sekem companies. The sampling was done in cooperation with Angela Hoffmann and Elshahat M. Ramadan (Sekem) with permission of Ibrahim Abouleish, the owner of Sekem, for a joint project. Therefore, no other permit was required. Samples from agricultural used soil were taken at the Sekem farm Adleya, located in the North-eastern desert region of Egypt near Bilbeis (30°22'88"N; 31°39'41"E). The agriculture was completely dependent on irrigation water (2,607 1 m⁻³ on average per year) coming from the Nile or from local ground water drillings; sprinkler and drip irrigation systems were used. The farmland soil was fertilised with compost that was produced on their own composting facility, where rice straw, water hyacinth, wood chips, organic waste, clay, chicken and cow manure was used as input materials. The compost was applied twice a year (May and September), during the preparation of the fields for the cropping season. The soil texture at the Sekem farm was classified by Luske & van der Kamp [17] as loamy sand (pH 8.4) with an organic carbon content of 0.8% and a clay content of 4%. Desert soil was collected from two sites in the surrounding desert uninfluenced by human activities (30°35'01"N; 32°25'49"E; 29°52'26"N, 31°13'1"E) and was classified as sand (pH 7.7) with an organic carbon content of <0.2% and a clay content of 1.5%. Desert soil was characterised by a low moisture level; plants were very scarce [17]. At each site, four composite samples of soil in a horizon of 10-30 cm depth were collected. Furthermore, from three different species of medical plants (German chamomile [Matricaria chamomilla L.], pot marigold [Calendula officinalis L.] and Solanum distichum Schumach. & Thonn.) planted on the Adleva farm (30°22'88"N; 31°39'41"E), roots with adhering soil were obtained. From each plant four independent composite samples consisted of 5-10 plants were taken. At the first sampling time (October 2009), Matricaria chamomilla and Calendula officinalis have been in the seedling stage, whereas the samples from the perennial Solanum distichum were taken from lignified plants. At the second sampling time (April 2010), all medical plants were in the flowering stage.

To isolate total community DNA from soil and from rhizosphere for all cultivation independent analyses, 5 g of soil/ roots with adhering soil and 45 ml of 0.85% NaCl were mixed for 5 min on the vortex. For the isolation from the endorhiza, 5 g material of roots were surface-sterilised with 4% NaOCl for 5 min, then the roots were washed three times with sterile Aqua dest. After 10 ml sterile 0.85% NaCl were added the roots were homogenised using mortar and pestle. For isolation of total DNA from soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza 4 mL of the liquid parts were centrifuged at high speed (16,000×g, 4°C) for 20 min and resulting microbial pellets were stored at -70° C. In the desert soil, a lower concentration of DNA was expected. Therefore, for the isolation of total DNA the pellets of 10 ml supernatant were used. Total community DNA was extracted using the FastDNA® SPIN Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol and used for fingerprints and the deepsequencing approach.

Fingerprinting of microbial communities by Single Strand Conformational Polymorphism Analysis (SSCP) was carried out as described by Schwieger & Tebbe [34]. Bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences were amplified by PCR using the eubacterial primer pair Unibac-II-515f (5'-GTG CCA GCA GCC GC-3') and Unibac-II-927r^P (5'-CCC GTC AAT TYM TTT GAG TT-3') [35]. The PCR was performed by using a total volume of 60 µl containing 1 × Taq&Go (MP Biomedicals, Eschwege, Germany), 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 µM of each primer and 1 µl of template DNA (95°C, 5 min; 32 cycles of 95°C, 20 s; 54°C, 15 s; 72°C, 30 s; and elongation at 72°C, 10 min). For the analysis of the Pseudomonas community a nested PCR was performed. In a first PCR Pseudomonas were selectively amplified with primers F311Ps (5'-CTG GTC TGA GAG GAT GAT CAG T-3') and 1459rPs^P (5'-AAT CAC TCC GTG GTA AAC GT-3') [36] followed by a second PCR with the primer pair Unibac-II-515f/Unibac-II-927r^P. The reaction mixture for the first PCR (20 µl) was composed of $1 \times \text{Taq}\&\text{Go}$, 2.25 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mg/ml BSA, 1.5% DMSO, 0.2 μ M of each primer and 1 μ l of template DNA (94°C, 7 min; 30 cycles of 94°C, 45 s; 56°C, 2 min; 72°C, 2 min; and elongation at 72°C, 10 min). Samples served as templates for the second PCR. The obtained amplicons were separated using the TGGE Maxi system (Biometra, Göttingen, Germany) at 400 V and 26°C. Silver staining was used for the routine detection of DNA bands in SSCP gels [37]. Dominant bands were excised from SSCP gels as described by Schwieger and Tebbe [34]. Extracted DNA fragments were re-amplified by PCR and sequences, the obtained sequences were aligned with reference gene sequences from GenBank using BLAST algorithm.

Computer-assisted comparisons of SSCP generated community profiles were performed by using the software GelCompar II (Applied Maths, Kortrijk, Belgium). The cluster analysis was performed using following settings: dendrogram type: unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA); similarity coefficient: curve based: Pearson correlation; position tolerances: optimisation: 4%, position tolerance: 1% [38]. Furthermore, correspondence analysis was used to answer the question whether a correlation exists (1) between the independently sampled microbial communities of the different sampling points and (2) between soil communities and environmental factors. The following environmental data were used: i) soil quality (sand, loam, semi-loam), ii) soil pH, iii) content of organic carbon and iv) water supply (sum of local precipitation per year [21, 52 mm] and irrigation). According to the distance of the bands, the SSCP gels were theoretically divided into operational taxonomic units (OTUs). The presence or absence of individual amplified product DNA bands in each group was scored. The obtained matrix was used to compare data statistically using the indirect correspondence analysis for unimodal data of the software package Canoco 4.5 [39].

To analyse the taxonomic composition of the soil bacterial community by a deep-sequencing approach, the hypervariable V4-V5 region of the 16S rRNA gene (Escherichia coli positions 515 to 927) was amplified in a nested PCR approach for pyrosequencing. In a first PCR the primer pair 27f/1492r [40] was used and in the second PCR V4-V5 region was amplified with the following primer set, containing the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors and sample specific tags (underlined): Unibac-II-515f_MID13 (5'-CGT ATC GCC TCC CTC GCG CCA TCA GCA TAG TAG TG GTG CCA GCA GCC GC-3') respectively Unibac-II-515f_MID14 (5'-CGT ATC GCC TCC CTC GCG CCA TCA GCG AGA GAT AC GTG CCA GCA GCC GC-3') and Unibac-II-927r_MID13-14 (5'-CTA TGC GCC TTG CCA GCC CGC TCA G CCC GTC AAT TYM TTT GAG TT-3'). The reaction mixture for the first PCR (20 μ l) contained 1 × Taq&Go, 0.25 μ M of each primer and 1 µl of template DNA (95°C, 5 min; 30 cycles of 95°C, 30 s; 57°C, 30 s; 72°C, 90 s; and elongation at 72°C, 5 min). The second PCR was performed by using 1 × Taq&Go, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.4 µM of each primer and 2 µl of template DNA (95°C, 5 min; 32 cycles of 95°C, 20 s; 54°C, 15 s; 72°C, 30 s; and elongation at 72°C, 10 min). PCR products of four independent soil samples of the same habitat were pooled in equal volumes and purified by employing the Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, USA). A total of 130 ng of amplified 16S rRNA gene product from each soil was required to construct the libraries for 454 pyrosequencing. For taxonomy-based analysis, the web server SnoWMAn 1.7 (http://snowman. genome.tugraz.at) [41] was employed. Sequences that were shorter than 150 bp in length or of low quality were removed from the pyrosequencing-derived data sets and following settings were used: analysis type: BLAT pipeline; reference database: greengenes_24-Mar-2010; rarefaction method: MOTHUR; taxonomy: RDP; confidence threshold: 80%; include taxa covering more than: 1%. For rarefaction analysis and ascertainment of diversity indices, the data were normalised considering the same number of sequences to all samples using default settings in the open source software package QIIME (http://qiime.sourceforge. net), which allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data [42]. Rarefaction curves were calculated by using the tools aligner, complete linkage clustering and rarefaction of the ribosomal database project (RDP) pyrosequencing pipeline (http://pyro.cme.msu.edu) [43]. Shannon [44] and Chao1 [45] indices were calculated based on the complete linkage clustering data.

The same region of the 16S rRNA gene was amplified by quantitative PCR to determine the total bacterial abundances in desert and agricultural soil. Reactions were conducted in a total volume of 10 μ l containing 1 × KAPATM SYBR[®] FAST qPCR MasterMix Universal (PEQLAB, Polling, Austria), 0.25 µM of each primer (Unibac-II-515f and Unibac-II-927r [35]) and 1 µl template DNA (95°C, 5 min; 35 cycles of 95°C, 20 s; 54°C, 15 s; $72^{\circ}\mathrm{C},\,30$ s; and melt from 72 to $95^{\circ}\mathrm{C}).$ Rotor-Gene $^{\mathrm{TM}}$ 6000 realtime rotary analyser (Corbett Research, Sydney, Australia) was used for quantification of fluorescence. For absolute quantification the PCR amplified 16S rRNA gene fragment was cloned into a pGEM®-T Easy Vector (Promega, Mannheim, Germany). Serial dilutions of PCR fragments generated with the primers usp (5'-GTAAAACGACGGCCAGT-3') and rsp (5'-CAGGAAACAGC-TATGACC-3'), which specifically bind to sides flanking the multi cloning side of the Vector, were used as standard for calculation of copy number. Concentrations determined by absolute quantification were calculated to copy number per g soil. Each replicate was analysed three times in two independent runs. Significances in the difference between desert and agricultural soil were calculated using the independent samples t test with PASW Statistics 18 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA).

Same cell suspensions as used for the isolation of total community DNA were used for isolation of bacteria from soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza: They were used for dilution and plating on R2A (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) in duplicates. Plates were incubated for 4 days at room temperature (RT) and colony forming units were counted to calculate the means of colonies (log10 CFU) based on fresh weight (fw). If possible, for each replicate 24 bacterial isolates were selected and subcultured on nutrient agar (NA). The isolates were purified and then stored at -70°C in nutrient broth (NB) (Sifin, Berlin, Germany) containing 15% glycerol. Isolates were encoded using a combination of letters and numbers indicating: (1) soil type or plant species (Wb = desert soil; Sb = Sekem soil, Mc = Matricaria chamomilla, Co = Calendula officinalis, Sd = Solanum distichum), (2) replicate (1-4), (3) microenvironment (Re = endorhiza, rhizosphere and soil have no further designation), and (4) consecutive number of the isolate per replicate.

Altogether, 1,212 selected bacterial isolates were screened in dual-culture *in vitro* assays on Waksman agar (WA) [46] for their antagonistic potential towards *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. V25, *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn AG4, and *Fusarium culmorum* (Wm. G. Sm.) Sacc. E1. For *R. solani* and *F. culmorum* agar disks of 5 mm diameter with mycelia were directly cut out from PDA plates (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and placed between the streaks of four bacterial isolates. *V. dahliae* was grown in liquid culture in Czapek Dox broth (Duchefa, Haarlem, Netherlands) at 20°C. 200 µl of the suspension containing hyphal fragments were plated onto the agar and after surface drying the isolates were placed on the same plate. Inhibition zones were measured after 4-7 days of incubation at RT. Each isolate was tested twice independently. From antagonistic isolates, DNA was prepared following the protocol of Berg et al. [46]. Amplified ribosomal RNA gene restriction analysis (ARDRA) using the restriction endonucleases HhaI (MP Biomedicals, Eschwege, Germany) and PstI (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, UK) was used to group isolates at genus level. Isolates displaying similar ARDRA patterns were further analysed using BOX-PCR genomic fingerprinting. BOX-PCR fingerprints were performed using the BOX_A1R primer (5'-CTA CGG CAA GGC GAC GCT GAC G-3') as described by Rademaker and de Bruijn [47]. PCR conditions were used as specified by Berg et al. [28] and PCR products were separated by gel electrophoresis on 1.5% agarose gels. Antagonists with either individual ARDRA patterns or different BOX patterns (cut-off level 80%) were identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis according to Berg et al. [46]. PCR product was sequenced with the Applied Biosystems 3130l Genetic Analyser sequencer, Data Collection v3.0, Sequencing Analysis v5.2 (Foster City, USA) at the sequencing core facility ZMF, Medical University of Graz, Austria. Obtained sequences were aligned with reference gene sequences from GenBank using BLAST algorithm. Sequences obtained were submitted to EMBL Nucleotide Sequence Database under accession numbers FR854236-FR854290.

Supporting Information

Figure S1 16S rRNA PCR-SSCP profiles of the bacterial communities in soil and endorhiza of the medical plants. Std.: 1 kb DNA ladder. The following bands were identified as: 1. *Ochrobactrum grignonense*, 99% similarity to NR_028901 and 2. *Rhodococcus erythropolis* 99% similarity to NR_037024.

(TIF)

Figure S2 Abundances of (A) total and (B) culturable bacteria in desert and agricultural soil. Data for total bacteria were ascertained by qPCR of the 16S rRNA genes and data for culturable bacteria by isolation on R2A. Averages of 16S rRNA gene copy numbers and viable counts per gram soil as log₁₀ and confidences are shown.

(TIF)

Table S1 Relative composition of bacterial phyla, classes, orders, families and genera in desert and agricultural soil.

Table S2Identification of selected bacterial antagonistsisolated from different habitats.(DOC)

Acknowledgments

This publication is dedicated to Ibrahim Abouleish, founder of SEKEM and winner of Right Livelihood Award. We would like to thank Angela Hofmann (Cairo), Kornelia Smalla (Braunschweig) and Birgit Birnstingl (Graz), for inspiring discussions and Rudolf Bauer (Graz) for advice regarding the medical plants. Furthermore, we want to thank Christin Zachow (Graz) for her helpful support in all practical questions and Christian Berg (Graz) for statistical support.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: GB HM EMR MK. Performed the experiments: MK. Analyzed the data: MK GB. Contributed reagents/ materials/analysis tools: GB. Wrote the paper: MK GB.

Desert Farming and Microbial Diversity

References

- 1. Clery D (2011) Environmental technology. Greenhouse-power plant hybrid set to make Jordan's desert bloom. Science 331: 136.
- Pereira AC, Gama VF (2010) Anthropization on the Cerrado biome in the Brazilian Uruçuí-Una Ecological Station estimated from orbital images. 2 Braz J Biol 70: 969-976.
- Reuters (2007) Egypt plan to green Sahara desert stirs controversy. Reuters website, Available: http://www.reuters.com/article/2007/10/09/us-desert-3. egypt-idUSL2651867020071009. Accessed 2011 Aug 16. Barot S, Blouin M, Fontaine S, Jouquet P, Lata JC, et al. (2007) A tale of four
- 4. stories: soil ecology, theory, evolution and the publication system. PLoS One 28: e1248.
- Acosta-Martínez V, Dowd S, Sun Y, Allen V (2008) Tag-encoded pyrose-5. quencing analysis of bacterial diversity in a single soil type as affected by
- quencing analysis of bacterial diversity in a single soft type as anected by management and land use. Soil Biol Biochem 40: 2762–2770.
 Cary SC, McDonald IR, Barrett JE, Cowan DA (2010) On the rocks: the microbiology of Antarctic Dry Valley soils. Nat Rev Microbiol 8: 129–138.
 Caruso T, Chan Y, Lacap DC, Lau MC, McKay CP, et al. (2011) Stochastic
- and deterministic processes interact in the assembly of desert microbial
- communities on a global scale. ISME J: In press.
 Fierer N, Jackson RB (2006) The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103: 626–631.
- Pointing SB, Chan Y, Lacap DC, Lau MC, Jurgens JA, et al. (2009) Highly specialised microbial diversity in hyper-arid polar desert. Proc Natl Acad Sci ÛSA 106: 19964–19969.
- 10. Angel R, Soares MI, Ungar ED, Gillor O (2010) Biogeography of soil archaea and bacteria along a steep precipitation gradient. ISME J 4: 553–563. 11. de Los Ríos A, Valea S, Ascaso C, Davila A, Kastovsky J, et al. (2010)
- Comparative analysis of the microbial communities inhabiting halite evaporites of the Atacama Desert. Int Microbiol 13: 79-89.
- 12. Othman AA, Amer WM, Fayez M, Hegazi NA (2004) Rhizosheath of Sinai desert plants is a potential repository for associative diazotrophs. Microbiol Res 159: 285-293.
- 13. Saul-Tcherkas V, Steinberger Y (2011) Soil microbial diversity in the vicinity of Negev Desert shrub - Reaumuria negevensis. Microb Ecol 61: 64-81.
- 14. Mäder P, Fliessbach A, Dubois D, Gunst L, Fried P, et al. (2002) Soil fertility and
- biodiversity in organic farming. Science 296: 1694–1697. Mendes R, Kruijt M, de Bruijn I, Dekkers E, van der Voort M, et al. (2011) Deciphering the rhizosphere microbiome for disease-suppressive bacteria. 15. Science 27: 1097–1100.
- Schieffer A, Lessem R (2009) Beyond social and private enterprise: towards the integrated enterprise. Transit Stud Rev 15: 713–725.
- 17. Luske B, van der Kamp J (2009) Carbon sequestration potential of reclaimed desert soils in Egypt. Louis Bolk Instituut & Soil and More International. Soil and More International website, Available: http://www.soilandmore.nl/ userfiles/Carbon_Sequestration_Potential_Report_Final.pdf. Accessed 2011 Mar 16.
- 18. Lauber CL, Hamady M, Knight R, Fierer N (2009) Pyrosequencing-based assessment of soil pH as a predictor of soil bacterial community structure at the continental scale. Appl Environ Microbiol 75: 5111-5120.
- Lazarevic V, Whiteson K, Huse S, Hernandez D, Farinelli L, et al. (2009) 19. Metagenomic study of the oral microbiota by Illumina high-throughput quencing. J Microbiol Methods 79: 266-271.
- Will C, Thürmer A, Wollherr A, Nacke H, Herold N, et al. (2010) Horizon-specific bacterial community composition of German grassland soils, as revealed by pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. Appl Environ Micobiol 76: 6751-6759.
- 21. Hansel CM, Fendorf S, Jardine PM, Francis CA (2008) Changes in bacterial and archaeal community structure and functional diversity along a geochemically variable soil profile. Appl Environ Microbiol 74: 1620–1633.
- 22. Janssen PH (2006) Identifying the dominant soil bacterial taxa in libraries of 16S rRNA and 16S rRNA genes. Appl Environ Microbiol 72: 1719–1728. 23. Emmert EAB, Handelsman J (1999) Biocontrol of plant diseases: a (Gram-)
- positive perspective. FEMS Microbiol Lett 171: 1-9.
- 24. Battistuzzi FU, Hedges SB (2008) A major clade of prokaryotes with ancient adaptations to life on land. Mol Biol Evol 26: 335-343.

- 25. Crowder DW, Northfield TD, Strand MR, Snyder WE (2010) Organic
- agriculture promotes evenness and natural pest control. Nature 466: 109–112. Schmid F, Moser G, Müller H, Berg G (2011) Functional and structural microbial diversity in organic and conventional viticulture: organic farming 26
- benefits natural biocontrol agents. Appl Environ Micobiol 77: 2188–2191.
 Niraula NP, Kim SH, Sohng JK, Kim ES (2010) Biotechnological doxorubicin production: pathway and regulation engineering of strains for enhanced production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87: 1187–1194. Berg G, Eberl L, Hartmann A (2005) The rhizosphere as a reservoir for
- opportunistic human pathogenic bacteria. Environ Microbiol 7: 1673-1685.
- Ben-David EA, Zaady E, Sher Y, Nejidat A (2011) Assessment of the spatial distribution of soil microbial communities in patchy arid and semi-arid landscapes of the Negev Desert using combined PLFA and DGGE analyses. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 76: 492-503.
- Smalla K, Wieland G, Buchner A, Zock A, Parzy J, et al. (2001) Bulk and 30. rhizosphere soil bacterial communities studied by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis: plant-dependent enrichment and seasonal shifts revealed. Appl Environ Microbiol 67: 4742-4751.
- 31. Berg G, Smalla K (2009) Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 68: 1–13.
- McKay DL, Blumberg JB (2006) A review of the bioactivity and potential health
- benefits of chamomile tea (*Matricaria recutita* L.). Phytother Res 20: 519–530. Shaw LJ, Morris P, Hooker JE (2006) Perception and modification of plant flavonoid signals by rhizosphere microorganisms. Environ Microbiol 8: 33. 1867-1880.
- Schwieger F, Tebbe CC (1998) A new approach to utilize PCR-single-strand-conformation polymorphism for 16S rRNA gene-based microbial community 34. analysis. Appl Environ Microbiol 64: 4870–4876. 35. Zachow C, Tilcher R, Berg G (2008) Sugar beet-associated bacterial and fungal
- communities show a high indigenous antagonistic potential against plant athogens. Microb Ecol 55: 119–129.
- Milling A, Smalla K, Maidl FX, Schloter M, Munch JC (2004) Effects of 36. transgenic potatoes with an altered starch composition on the diversity of soil and rhizosphere bacteria and fungi. Plant Soil 266: 23-39.
- 37. Bassam BJ, Caetano-Anolles G, Gresshoff PM (1991) Fast and sensitive silver Stassan 25, Sactino Finolas V, Ortssho H, Richer J, Bastan G, Shakara S, Santa S
- complex microbial community fingerprints using pairwise similarity measures.
- J Microbiol Methods 57: 187–195. Leps J, Smilauer P (2003) Multivariate analysis of ecological data using Canoco. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 282 p. 39.
- 40. Lane DJ (1991) 16S/23S rRNA sequencing. In: Stackebrandt E, Goodfellow M, eds. Nucleic acid techniques in bacterial systematics. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. pp 115–175. 41. Stocker S, Snajder R, Rainer J, Trajanoski S, Gorkiewicz G, et al. (2011)
- SnoWMAn: High-throughput phylotyping, analysis and comparison of microbial communities. Under revision.
- Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, et al. (2010) 42. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods 7: 335-336.
- Cole JR, Wang Q, Cardenas E, Fish J, Chai B, et al. (2009) The ribosomal database project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis. Nucleic Acids Res 37: D141-D145.
- 44. Shannon CE (1997) The mathematical theory of communication. 1963. MD Comput 14: 306-317.
- Chao A, Bunge J (2002) Estimating the number of species in a stochastic abundance model. Biometrics 58: 531–539. 45.
- 46. Berg G, Roskot N, Steidle A, Eberl L, Zock A, et al. (2002) Plant-dependent genotypic and phenotypic diversity of antagonistic rhizobacteria isolated from different Verticillium host plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 68: 3328-3338. 47. Rademaker JLW, de Bruijn FJ (1997) Characterization and classification of
- microbes by rep-PCR genomic fingerprinting and computer-assisted pattern analysis. In: Caetano-Anollés G, Gresshoff PM, eds. DNA markers: protocols, applications and overviews. New York: John Wiley & Sons. pp 151-171.

9



Figure S1



Figure S2

 Table S1. Relative composition of bacterial phyla, classes, orders, families and genera

 in desert and agricultural soil.

	Desert	Agricultural
	Soil ^a	Soil ^a
Phylum Level		
Firmicutes	11.3%	36.6%
Actinobacteria	20.7%	4.6%
Proteobacteria	46.0%	21.0%
Bacteroidetes	4.6%	5.3%
Gemmatimonadetes	1.4%	1.9%
Acidobacteria		7.9%
Planctomycetes		1.1%
Deinococcus-Thermus	1.1%	
Other	2.5%	2.0%
Unclassified	12.4%	19.7%
Class Level		
Bacilli	10.9%	35.4%
Actinobacteria	20.7%	4.6%
Alphaproteobacteria	34.3%	6.7%
Betaproteobacteria	8.9%	6.7%
Gammaproteobacteria	1.6%	3.1%
Deltaproteobacteria	1.2%	4.2%
Sphingobacteria	3.3%	2.9%
Flavobacteria		2.0%
Bacteroidetes	1.0%	
Gemmatimonadetes	1.4%	1.9%
Acidobacteria		7.9%
Planctomycetacia		1.1%
Deinococci	1.1%	
Other	2.9%	3.0%
Unclassified	12.8%	20.6%
Order Level		
Bacillales	10.7%	35.2%
Actinomycetales	16.2%	2.3%
Rubrobacterales	2.0%	
Acidimicrobiales	1.1%	
Rhizobiales	29.5%	4.3%

Rhodospirillales	1.3%	1.1%
Rhodobacterales	2.5%	
Burkholderiales	8.4%	3.0%
Oceanospirillales		1.0%
Myxococcales		1.1%
Sphingobacteriales	3.3%	2.9%
Flavobacteriales		2.0%
Bacteroidales	1.0%	
Acidobacteriales		7.9%
Gemmatimonadales	1.4%	1.9%
Planctomycetales		1.1%
Deinococcales	1.1%	
Other	6.8%	7.6%
Unclassified	14.8%	28.7%
Family Level		
Bacillales	10.7%	35.2%
Actinomycetales	16.2%	2.3%
Rubrobacterales	2.0%	
Acidimicrobiales	1.1%	
Rhizobiales	29.5%	4.3%
Rhodospirillales	1.3%	1.1%
Rhodobacterales	2.5%	
Burkholderiales	8.4%	3.0%
Oceanospirillales		1.0%
Myxococcales		1.1%
Sphingobacteriales	3.3%	2.9%
Flavobacteriales		2.0%
Bacteroidales	1.0%	
Acidobacteriales		7.9%
Gemmatimonadales	1.4%	1.9%
Planctomycetales		1.1%
Deinococcales	1.1%	
Other	6.8%	7.6%
Unclassified	14.8%	28.7%
Genus Level		
Bacillus	7.6%	26.6%
Paenibacillus		1.4%
Rhodococcus	9.9%	

Acidimicrobium	1.1%	
Ochrobactrum	26.4%	
Rubellimicrobium	2.1%	
Herbaspirillum	3.8%	
Massilia	1.0%	
Sphingobacterium		1.2%
Effluviibacter	1.3%	
Pontibacter	1.0%	
Gemmatimonas	1.4%	1.9%
Gp6		5.3%
Truepera	1.1%	
Other	17.2%	22.3%
Unclassified	26.0%	41.4%

^adetermined by pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA from metagenomic DNA by using SnoWMAn 1.7.

ARDRA	Isolate			Accession	Similarity
group ^a	number	Microhabitat ^b	Closest database match ^c	number	(%)
А	Wb2n-1	Desert Soil	Bacillus vallismortis	NR_024696	99%
А	Sb1-6	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Sb3-5	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Sb3-13	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus atrophaeus	NR_024689	99%
А	Sb3-21	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	99%
А	Sb3-24	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Sb4-14	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus vallismortis	NR_024696	99%
А	Sb4-23	Agricultural Soil	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Mc3-4	Mc Rhizosphere	Bacillus mojavensis	NR_024693	98%
А	Mc5-18	Mc Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Mc5-19	Mc Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Co1-6	Co Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Co2-14	Co Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	99%
А	Co7-19	Co Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	100%
А	Sd1-14	Sd Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	99%
А	Sd3-12	Sd Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	100%
А	Sd3-21	Sd Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	99%
А	Sd7-15	Sd Rhizosphere	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	100%
А	Mc1Re-3	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Mc2Re-2	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	99%
А	Mc2Re-9	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Mc2Re-18	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Mc2Re-21	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Mc3Re-13	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	98%
А	Mc5Re-2	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	100%
А	Mc5Re-15	Mc Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Sd2Re-10	Sd Endorhiza	Bacillus mojavensis	NR_024693	100%
А	Sd8Re-6	Sd Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	100%
А	Sd8Re-7	Sd Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	NR_027552	99%
А	Sd8Re-23	Sd Endorhiza	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	NR_024931	100%
С	Wb1-13	Desert Soil	Bacillus endophyticus	NR_025122	99%
С	Mc4-18	Mc Rhizosphere	Bacillus endophyticus	NR_025122	99%

 Table S2. Identification of selected bacterial antagonists isolated from different habitats.

Wb2-3	Desert Soil	Paenibacillus polymyxa	NR_037006	99%
Sb3-1	Agricultural Soil	Paenibacillus kribbensis	NR_025169	99%
Mc2-9	Mc Rhizosphere	Paenibacillus brasilensis	NR_025106	99%
Mc5-5	Mc Rhizosphere	Paenibacillus brasilensis	NR_025106	99%
Mc6-4	Mc Rhizosphere	Brevibacillus limnophilus	NR_024822	99%
Mc2Re-16	Mc Endorhiza	Paenibacillus brasilensis	NR_025106	98%
Mc5Re-14	Mc Endorhiza	Paenibacillus polymyxa	NR_037006	99%
Sd5Re-24	Sd Endorhiza	Paenibacillus brasilensis	NR_025106	99%
Wb1n-4	Desert Soil	Streptomyces scabiei	NR_025865	98%
Wb2n-2	Desert Soil	Streptomyces peucetius	NR_024763	98%
Wb2n-11	Desert Soil	Streptomyces subrutilus	NR_026203	99%
Wb2n-23	Desert Soil	Streptomyces peucetius	NR_024763	98%
Mc1-3	Mc Rhizosphere	Lysobacter enzymogenes	NR_036925	99%
	Wb2-3 Sb3-1 Mc2-9 Mc5-5 Mc6-4 Mc2Re-16 Mc5Re-14 Sd5Re-24 Wb1n-4 Wb2n-2 Wb2n-11 Wb2n-23 Mc1-3	Wb2-3Desert SoilSb3-1Agricultural SoilMc2-9Mc RhizosphereMc5-5Mc RhizosphereMc6-4Mc RhizosphereMc2Re-16Mc EndorhizaMc5Re-14Mc EndorhizaSd5Re-24Sd EndorhizaWb1n-4Desert SoilWb2n-2Desert SoilWb2n-11Desert SoilWb2n-23Desert SoilMc1-3Mc Rhizosphere	Wb2-3Desert SoilPaenibacillus polymyxaSb3-1Agricultural SoilPaenibacillus kribbensisMc2-9Mc RhizospherePaenibacillus brasilensisMc5-5Mc RhizospherePaenibacillus brasilensisMc6-4Mc RhizosphereBrevibacillus brasilensisMc2Re-16Mc EndorhizaPaenibacillus brasilensisMc5Re-14Mc EndorhizaPaenibacillus brasilensisSd5Re-24Sd EndorhizaPaenibacillus brasilensisWb1n-4Desert SoilStreptomyces scabieiWb2n-21Desert SoilStreptomyces peucetiusWb2n-23Desert SoilStreptomyces peucetiusMc1-3Mc RhizosphereLysobacter enzymogenes	Wb2-3Desert SoilPaenibacillus polymyxaNR_037006Sb3-1Agricultural SoilPaenibacillus kribbensisNR_025169Mc2-9Mc RhizospherePaenibacillus brasilensisNR_025106Mc5-5Mc RhizospherePaenibacillus brasilensisNR_025106Mc6-4Mc RhizosphereBrevibacillus brasilensisNR_024822Mc2Re-16Mc EndorhizaPaenibacillus brasilensisNR_025106Mc5Re-14Mc EndorhizaPaenibacillus brasilensisNR_025106Sd5Re-24Sd EndorhizaPaenibacillus brasilensisNR_025106Wb1n-4Desert SoilStreptomyces scabieiNR_025865Wb2n-2Desert SoilStreptomyces subrutilusNR_024763Wb2n-23Desert SoilStreptomyces peucetiusNR_024763Mc1-3Mc RhizosphereLysobacter enzymogenesNR_036925

^athe letters represent the different amplified rRNA gene restriction analysis patterns (A-F), group B (*Bacillus cereus* group) was completely excluded; ^bMc...*Matricaria chamomilla*, Co...*Calendula officinalis*, Sd...*Solanum distichum*; ^caccording to 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Publication II

FEMS Microbiology Letters (2013) 342: 168–178

Bacillus and *Streptomyces* were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Mohamed Adam³, Massimiliano Cardinale¹, Johannes Hallmann³, Holger Heuer³, Kornelia Smalla³ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria

²Faculty of Agriculture, SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

³Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics, Julius Kühn-Institut – Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Braunschweig, Germany

RESEARCH LETTER



Bacillus and *Streptomyces* were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Mohamed Adam³, Massimiliano Cardinale¹, Johannes Hallmann³, Holger Heuer³, Kornelia Smalla³ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria; ²Faculty of Agriculture, SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt; and ³Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics, Julius Kühn-Institut – Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Braunschweig, Germany

Correspondence: Gabriele Berg, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Petersgasse 12/I, A-8010 Graz, Austria. Tel.: +43 316 873 8310; fax: +43 316 873 8819; e-mail: gabriele.berg@tugraz.at

Received 7 December 2012; revised 17 January 2013; accepted 21 January 2013.

DOI: 10.1111/1574-6968.12089

Editor: Paolina Garbeva

Keywords

biological control agents; microbial communities; medicinal plants; soilborne pathogens.

Abstract

Plant protection via disease-suppressive bacteria in desert farming requires specific biological control agents (BCAs) adapted to the unique arid conditions. We performed an ecological study of below-ground communities in desert farm soil and untreated desert soil, and based on these findings, selected antagonists were hierarchically evaluated. In contrast to the highly specific 16S rRNA fingerprints of bacterial communities in soil and cultivated medicinal plants, internal transcribed spacer profiles of fungal communities were less discriminative and mainly characterised by potential pathogens. Therefore, we focused on in vitro bacterial antagonists against pathogenic fungi. Based on the antifungal potential and genomic diversity, 45 unique strains were selected and characterised in detail. Bacillus/Paenibacillus were most frequently identified from agricultural soil, but antagonists from the surrounding desert soil mainly belonged to Streptomyces. All strains produced antibiotics against the nematode Meloidogyne incognita, and one-third showed additional activity against the bacterial pathogen Ralstonia solanacearum. Altogether, 13 broad-spectrum antagonists with antibacterial, antifungal and nematicidal activity were found. They belong to seven different bacterial species of the genera Bacillus and Streptomyces. These Gram-positive, spore-forming bacteria are promising drought-resistant BCAs and a potential source for antibiotics. Their rhizosphere competence was shown by fluorescence in situ hybridisation combined with laser scanning microscopy.

Introduction

While desertification is recognised as a major threat to biodiversity, the conversion of desert soil into arable, green landscapes is a global vision (Clery, 2011; Marasco *et al.*, 2012). Desert farming, which generally relies on irrigation, is one way to potentially realise this goal. In Australia, Israel, California and Africa, desert farming areas are expanding. For example, desert farming in Egypt will have grown by 40% by 2017 (Reuters, 2007). However, emerging problems with soilborne pathogens, which can substantially limit crop yield, are often reported after several years of agricultural land use (Krikun *et al.*, 1982). These soilborne pathogens include various taxonomic groups, for example, fungi (*Fusarium culmorum, Rhizocto-nia solani, Verticillium dahliae*), bacteria (*Ralstonia solan-acearum*) and nematodes (*Meloidogyne incognita*) (Klosterman *et al.*, 2009; Messiha *et al.*, 2009; Neher, 2010). Because of its depleting effect on the ozone layer, the extensively used broad-spectrum soil fumigant methyl bromide was banned by the Montreal Protocol in 1987 and phased out in most countries by 2005. Now, there is an urgent demand for ecologically compatible and efficient strategies to suppress soilborne pathogens in both conventional and organic desert agriculture (Bashan & de-Bashan, 2010).

© 2013 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

Biological control based on naturally occurring antagonists offers sustainable solutions for plant protection (Weller, 2007; Berg, 2009; Lugtenberg & Kamilova, 2009; Raaijmakers et al., 2009). However, beneficial plantmicroorganism interactions are highly specific, and only a few broad-spectrum antagonists have been reported (Zachow et al., 2008; Hartmann et al., 2009). Gram-negative bacteria, especially those from genus Pseudomonas, were identified as the dominant members of the indigenous antagonistic communities under humid conditions (Berg et al., 2005; Haas & Défago, 2005; Costa et al., 2006; Zachow et al., 2008) and as a major group of diseasesuppressive bacteria through pyrosequencing (Mendes et al., 2011). Although there are problems with the formulation and shelf life of Pseudomonas, strains have still been developed as commercial BCAs (Weller, 2007; Berg, 2009). Gram-positive bacteria have also been widely used as BCAs and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs), even though their ability to colonise the rhizosphere has been controversial (Hong et al., 2009; Fan et al., 2011). Their ability to form durable, heat-resistant endospores allows for easy formulation (Emmert & Handelsman, 1999; Adesemove et al., 2009), but their use as BCAs in desert agroecosystems is not been established so far.

Desert soils are characterised by arid conditions, which include a combination of extreme temperatures and desiccation, high soil salinity, low nutrient levels, high UV radiation levels and physical instability caused by strong winds (Cary et al., 2010). In one of the most prominent examples of organic desert farming in Sekem (Egypt), we found a strong correlation between long-term organic agriculture and bacterial community composition in soils. Bacterial communities in agricultural soil showed a higher diversity and a better ecosystem function for plant health compared to the surrounding natural desert soil (Köberl et al., 2011). A comprehensive analysis explained these structural differences: the proportion of Firmicutes represented by antagonistic Bacillus and Paenibacillus in field soil was significantly higher (37%) than in the desert soil (11%). In contrast, Actinobacteria occurred in farmland in lower concentrations (5%) than in the desert (21%), and antagonistic isolates of Streptomyces were only isolated from native desert soil (Köberl et al., 2011). A high presence of Actinobacteria in soil of the North American Sonoran Desert was also found by 454-pyrotag analyses (Andrew et al., 2012) as well as in soil of the hyperarid Atacama Desert in north-west Chile (Neilson et al., 2012). From the latter, several so far unknown Streptomyces spp. were recently described (Santhanam et al., 2012a,b, 2013). In addition, a study examining soil bacterial communities in the Negev Desert in the south of Israel even revealed a higher abundance of Actinobacteria in barren

soils compared to soils under shrub canopies (Bachar *et al.*, 2012). However, the indigenous desert microbiome should contain BCAs that are adapted to the specific biotic and abiotic conditions of desert habitats as well as strains that produce novel bioactive compounds, because the genus *Streptomyces* is known as a unique source of novel antibiotics (Goodfellow & Fiedler, 2010; Niraula *et al.*, 2010; Nachtigall *et al.*, 2011). The potential for both has been until now poorly understood and used.

The objective of this study was to analyse microbial communities from agricultural desert habitats (e.g. from the rhizospheres and endorhiza) in comparison with the surrounding desert soil for their biocontrol potential and to specifically select and characterise broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens regarding this potential.

Materials and methods

Experimental design and sampling

Microbial diversity in organic desert farming was studied at Sekem farms (www.sekem.com) in Egypt (30°22'88"N, 31°39'41"E) in comparison with surrounding desert soil (30°35'01"N, 32°25'49"E; 35°59'0"N, 41°2'0"E). The sampling strategy is described in detail in Köberl et al. (2011). Briefly, at each site, four composite samples of soil in a horizon of 0-30 cm depth were collected. Furthermore, roots with adhering soil were obtained from three different species of medicinal plants (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. and Solanum distichum Schumach. and Thonn.) planted on a Sekem farm. From each plant species, four independent composite samples consisting of 5-10 plants were taken. Samplings were performed in October 2009 and in April 2010. Physico-chemical data of the soil are provided in Luske & van der Kamp (2009).

Microbial fingerprints from single-stranded conformational polymorphism analysis of the ITS and 16S rRNA region (PCR-SSCP)

Total community DNA was isolated from bulk soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medicinal plants according to Köberl *et al.* (2011). Fingerprinting of microbial communities by SSCP was performed as described by Schwieger & Tebbe (1998). Amplification of the fungal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) fragment was performed by a nested PCR approach with primer pairs ITS1/ITS4 and ITS1/ITS2^P (White *et al.*, 1990). Nested PCR was performed as described by Zachow *et al.* (2008). SSCP analysis of bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences is specified in Köberl *et al.* (2011). Sequences of excised and re-amplified

^{© 2013} Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

bands were submitted to EMBL Nucleotide Sequence Database under accession numbers FR854281-FR854290, FR871639-FR871646 and HE655458-HE655480.

SSCP profiles of the microbial communities generated with universal fungal and bacterial primers were further applied for multivariate analysis. According to the distance of the bands, the SSCP gels were theoretically divided into operational taxonomic units (OTUs). The presence or absence of individual amplified product DNA bands in each group was scored. OTUs served as response variables for principal component analysis (PCA) using Canoco 4.5 for Windows (Lepš & Smilauer, 2003). Matrices based on Pearson correlation were subjected to significance tests of pairwise similarities by applying permutation analyses (P < 0.05) using the permtest package of R statistics version 2.13.1 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) with 10⁵ random permutations of sample elements (Kropf et al., 2004; R Development Core Team, 2011).

Screening for *in vitro* activity against soilborne bacteria and nematodes

Forty-five promising strains with antagonistic activity against pathogenic fungi (Köberl *et al.*, 2011) were tested for antibacterial activity against *Ralstonia solanacearum* 1609 and B3B. The activity of all isolates against both *R. solanacearum* strains was identical; therefore, the data in Table 2 are presented in singular form. For the screening, yeast peptone glucose (YPG) medium was used, and Tetrazolium Violet (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, USA) was added to the medium prior to pouring as a redox indicator of bacterial growth (Adesina *et al.*, 2007; Tsukatani *et al.*, 2008).

For testing the activity of the selected antagonists towards the phytopathogenic nematode Meloidogyne incognita (Kofoid and White) Chitwood, culture supernatants from the bacteria were prepared. For this, the bacterial isolates were grown at 28 °C for 24 h on R2A agar (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). A preculture was grown over night from a single colony in 5 mL of tryptic soy broth (TSB) (Merck) with 50 mg L⁻¹ rifampicin at 28 °C with shaking at 150 r.p.m. 200 µL of the preculture were added to 100 mL sterile TSB and incubated for 24 h at 28 °C with shaking. The bacteria were then removed from the culture by centrifugation at 7500 g for 20 min, followed by sterile filtration of the supernatants through membranes with 0.22 µm pore size. The sterile culture supernatants were kept at 4 °C until application. To study the effect of extracellular bacterial products on the mortality of M. incognita juveniles (J2), 500 µL of a juvenile suspension containing approximately 100 freshly hatched J2 was mixed with 1 mL of each bacterial filtrate

in a Petri dish with 500 μ L of an antibiotic solution containing 300 mg L⁻¹ streptomycin and 300 mg L⁻¹ penicillin to suppress microbial growth. Each treatment was replicated 4 times. Controls consisted of TSB, water and a culture supernatant of the nonantagonistic strain *Escherichia coli* JM109, respectively. All dishes were kept at 25 ± 2 °C in the dark. Numbers of motile and nonmotile nematodes were counted after 6, 12, 24 and 48 h using a binocular microscope. To distinguish between nonmotile

and dead J2, the nematodes were transferred to water at the end of the exposure time. Juveniles that did not recover and become motile again were considered dead. The rate of mortality was determined using linear regression of the percentages of dead J2 after 0, 6, 12 and 24 h.

Fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation (FISH) and confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM)

Samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and stained by in-tube FISH according to the protocol of Cardinale *et al.* (2008). An equimolar mixture of Cy3-labelled EUB338, EUB338II and EUB338III probes (Amann *et al.*, 1990; Daims *et al.*, 1999) was used for the detection of all bacteria and a Cy5-labelled HGC236 probe (Erhart *et al.*, 1997) for the detection of Actinobacteria. As a negative control, nonsense FISH probes labelled with both fluorochromes (NONEUB; Wallner *et al.*, 1993) were applied. Confocal images were obtained using a Leica TCS SPE confocal laser scanning microscope (Leica Microsystems GmbH, Mannheim, Germany).

Results

Molecular fingerprinting of microbial belowground communities

All investigated SSCP fingerprints of the ITS and 16S rRNA gene fragments from both the rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medicinal plants and bulk soil showed a high diversity. According to the statistical cluster analysis, there is a clear plant-specific effect on both communities in the rhizosphere (Fig. 1, Table 1). Furthermore, microenvironment-specific SSCP patterns of the microbial communities were detected, and statistically significant differences between the rhizosphere and the endorhiza of the medicinal plants were calculated (Fig. 1, Table 1). Additionally, plant-associated microenvironments were compared with the surrounding soil. The composition of the bacterial and fungal communities in soil differed significantly from the plant-associated communities (P values: fungal communities 0.0241; bacterial communities 0.0266) and between agricultural and desert soil (P values: fungal communities 0.0291; bacterial communities 0.0289).



Fig. 1. PCA of OTUs identified by SSCP fingerprinting for fungal (a) and bacterial (b) communities. Samples were encoded using a combination of letters and numbers indicating (1) soil type or plant species (Wb = desert soil, Sb = Sekem soil, Mc = *Matricaria chamomilla*, Co = *Calendula officinalis*, Sd = *Solanum distichum*), (2) replicate (1–4) and (3) microenvironment (Re = endorhiza, rhizosphere and soil have no further designation).

 Table 1. Statistical analysis of microbial fingerprints obtained by PCR-SSCP.

	Fungal communities	Bacterial communities			
Microenvironment	P values for pairwise comparisons between medicinal plants*				
Rhizosphere [†]					
Mc-Co	0.0276	0.0281			
Co-Sd	0.0284	0.0286			
Mc-Sd	0.0296	0.0286			
Endorhiza [†]					
Mc-Co	0.0297	0.0556			
Co-Sd	0.0719	0.0283			
Mc-Sd	0.0282	0.0293			
Medicinal plant	<i>P</i> values for comparisor rhizosphere and endo	ons between rhiza*			
Matricaria chamomilla	0.0290	0.0287			
Calendula officinalis	0.0288	0.0287			
Solanum distichum	0.0287	0.0281			

*Analysed by permutation test (P < 0.05) using R statistics.

 $^{\rm t}{\rm Mc},$ Matricaria chamomilla; Co, Calendula officinalis; Sd, Solanum distichum.

The fingerprints of the fungal community represented a high diversity in all microenvironments and were similar for the first and second samplings (Fig. 2). In general, potential plant pathogens were frequently found within the fungal communities. In fingerprints from both samplings, *Alternaria* (closest database match *Alternaria tenuissima*, 100% similarity to JN620417) and *Fusarium* (closest database matches *Fusarium chlamydosporum*, 100% similarity to HQ671187 and *Fusarium solani*, 99% similarity to FJ865435) were most commonly found. Alternaria was also found in desert soil from Sinai (first sampling) as well as from Saqqara (second sampling). In addition, Cladosporium (teleomorph Davidiella) was identified in fingerprints from both samplings. In rhizosphere and soil samples from the first sampling, Epicoccum (closest database match Epicoccum nigrum, 100% similarity to JN578611) was assigned to a dominant band. In soil from the Sinai desert, the black fungus Aureobasidium (closest database match Aureobasidium proteae, 99% similarity to JN712490) was additionally identified. Similarly, Verticillium dahliae (closest database match V. dahliae var. longisporum, 100% similarity to AB585937) was identified as a dominant band found in almost all plant samples from the second sampling time, which apart from Fusarium spp. was one of the main soilborne phytopathogens on the Sekem farms. In samples from the second sampling, the obligate root-infecting pathogen Olpidium (closest database match Olpidium brassicae, 99% similarity to AB625456), belonging to the fungal phylum Chytridiomycota, and Sarocladium (closest database match Sarocladium strictum, 100% similarity to JN942832; previously recognised in Acremonium) were found. Although several other ITS fragments were not identified, due to this high content of potential phytopathogens in the fungal communities, the selection of antagonists was focused on the bacterial communities.

Detailed characterisation of selected antagonistic strains

A screening of 1212 bacterial isolates resulted in 162 antifungal antagonists against the main fungal soilborne

^{© 2013} Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

Fig. 2. ITS PCR-SSCP profiles of the fungal communities in soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medicinal plants from first (a) and second (b) sampling time. Std.: 1 kb DNA ladder. (a) From fingerprints of the first sampling (October 2009), the following bands were identified as: 1. Epicoccum nigrum, 100% similarity to JN578611; 2. Pichia jadinii, 99% similarity to FJ865435; 3. Gibellulopsis nigrescens, 100% similarity to JN187998; 4. Emericella nidulans, 99% similarity to JN676111; 5. Alternaria tenuissima, 100% similarity to JN620417; 6. Davidiella tassiana, 99% similarity to JN986782; 7. Fusarium chlamydosporum, 100% similarity to HQ671187; 8. Exserohilum rostratum, 99% similarity to JN179081; 9. Fusarium solani, 99% similarity to FJ865435: 10. Aureobasidium proteae, 99% similarity to JN712490. (b) From the second sampling (April 2010), the following bands were identified: 1. Cryptococcus carnescens, 99% similarity to GU237051; 2. Olpidium brassicae, 99% similarity to AB625456; 3. Preussia minimoides, 96% similarity to AY510422; 4. Verticillium dahliae var. longisporum, 100% similarity to AB585937; 5. Alternaria tenuissima, 100% similarity to JN620417; 6. Fusarium chlamydosporum, 99% similarity to EU556725; 7. Cladosporium cladosporioides, 100% similarity to JN986781; 8. Ulocladium oudemansii, 100% similarity to FJ266488; 9. Sarocladium strictum, 100% similarity to JN942832.

pathogens (*V. dahliae*, *R. solani* and *F. culmorum*) (Köberl *et al.*, 2011). These fungi were identified in Sekem soil by cultivation and, with the exception of *R. solani*, in the molecular fingerprinting analyses. Altogether, 45 genotypically unique antifungal strains were selected to assess their antibacterial activity against *R. solanacearum* (Table 2). Of these isolates, 33.3% were able to inhibit the growth of the soilborne bacterial pathogen *in vitro*, including most isolates of *Streptomyces* (3 of 4 isolates) and some strains of the *Bacillus subtilis* group (12 of 30 isolates).

Plant-parasitic nematodes often positively interact with soilborne fungal pathogens. Therefore, the selected bacterial isolates were additionally evaluated *in vitro* for their effects against juveniles of the root-knot nematode *M. incognita*. All bacteria accumulated inhibitory substances in the culture medium to some degree, while the medium itself and water had no effect. The percentage of dead J2 continuously increased during the incubation



period of 48 h reaching over 70% for 11 strains with a maximum of 89% for strain Mc5Re-2, while only 28% of J2 were dead in the *E. coli* control (Table 2). On average, the increase in mortality was highest within the first 12 h of exposure and declined thereafter. The ten most efficient strains caused between 47% and 63% mortality in the first 24 h, with the highest rates observed for strains Sb4-23, Mc5Re-2, Mc1Re-3 and Sb3-24 (Fig. 3). The seven most efficient antagonists were all isolates of *Bacillus subtilis* obtained from either agricultural soil or from the endorhiza of *M. chamomilla*.

In situ visualisation of Actinobacteria in the rhizosphere

FISH-CLSM analysis confirmed generally high bacterial abundances and occurrence of Actinobacteria in belowground habitats under arid conditions. Using an

© 2013 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

Table 2.	List of selected	bacterial a	antagonists	isolated f	from	different	microenvironm	ents wit	h their	antagonistic prop	erties.
----------	------------------	-------------	-------------	------------	------	-----------	---------------	----------	---------	-------------------	---------

			Antagonistic activity towards [‡]					
			-				Meloidogyr	ne incognita¶
ARDRA group*	lsolate number	Closest database match [†] (accession number), similarity (%)	Verticillium dahliae ^s	Rhizoctonia solani [§]	Fusarium culmorum [§]	Ralstonia solanacearum	Dead J2 after 48 h (%) [∥]	Mortality rate (% J2 per day)**
А	Wb2n-1	Bacillus vallismortis (NR_024696), 99%	+	++	+	+	73 ± 6	49 ± 4
А	Sb1-6	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	_	+	+	54 ± 4	32 ± 2
А	Sb3-5	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	++	+	+	46 ± 3	25 ± 3
А	Sb3-13	Bacillus atrophaeus (NR_024689),	+	++	+	+	33 ± 3	17 ± 1
А	Sb3-21	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii (NR 024931) 99%	+	++	+	_	68 ± 7	52 ± 4
А	Sb3-24	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	++	+	_	78 ± 7	57 ± 4
А	Sb4-14	Bacillus vallismortis (NR_024696),	+	+	+	_	45 ± 5	23 ± 1
А	Sb4-23	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	+	+	+	84 ± 5	63 ± 3
A	Mc3-4	Bacillus mojavensis (NR_024693), 98%	+	++	++	+	67 ± 8	30 ± 2
А	Mc5-18	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	++	++	++	_	29 ± 2	14 ± 2
А	Mc5-19	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	+	_	+	35 ± 4	17 ± 2
А	Co1-6	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	++	++	++	+	70 ± 7	37 ± 3
А	Co2-14	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	+	+	++	-	72 ± 12	40 ± 5
А	Co7-19	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	++	+	+	_	48 ± 5	26 ± 1
А	Sd1-14	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	+	++	++	-	56 ± 5	35 ± 3
А	Sd3-12	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	+	++	-	29 ± 2	17 ± 1
А	Sd3-21	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	+	++	+	_	57 ± 4	35 ± 5
А	Sd7-15	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	+	++	+	_	43 ± 4	26 ± 2
А	Mc1Re-3	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	++	++	_	80 ± 4	56 ± 7
А	Mc2Re-2	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii	+	++	+	+	83 ± 4	54 ± 4
А	Mc2Re-9	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	+	++	_	61 ± 3	38 ± 2
А	Mc2Re-18	(NR_027552), 99% Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	+	++	_	82 ± 2	50 ± 6
A	Mc2Re-21	(NR_UZ/SSZ), 99% Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	_	+	++	_	66 ± 5	46 ± 3
А	Mc3Re-13	(NR_UZ/SSZ), 99% Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis	+	+	+	+	61 ± 3	43 ± 3
A	Mc5Re-2	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii (NR_024931), 100%	+	+	+	_	89 ± 3	59 ± 3

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{}^{\circ}}$ 2013 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

FEMS Microbiol Lett ∎∎ (2013) 1–11

Table 2. Continued

			Antagonistic activity towards [‡]					
							Meloidogyn	e incognita¶
ARDRA group*	lsolate number	Closest database match [†] (accession number), similarity (%)	Verticillium dahliae [§]	Rhizoctonia solani [§]	Fusarium culmorum [§]	Ralstonia solanacearum	Dead J2 after 48 h (%) [∥]	Mortality rate (% J2 per day)**
A	Mc5Re-15	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis (NR_027552), 99%	+	+	+	+	33 ± 2	22 ± 1
А	Sd2Re-10	Bacillus mojavensis (NR_024693), 100%	++	++	++	_	52 ± 7	24 ± 2
А	Sd8Re-6	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii (NR_024931), 100%	+	+	+	+	22 ± 2	13 ± 2
А	Sd8Re-7	Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis (NR_027552), 99%	++	++	++	_	24 ± 2	12 ± 1
А	Sd8Re-23	Bacillus subtilis subsp. spizizenii (NR_024931), 100%	++	+	+	_	26 ± 2	14 ± 1
С	Wb1-13	Bacillus endophyticus (NR_025122), 99%	_	+	+	_	21 ± 2	14 ± 2
С	Mc4-18	Bacillus endophyticus (NR_025122), 99%	_	+	+	_	56 ± 5	21 ± 2
D	Wb2-3	Paenibacillus polymyxa (NR 037006), 99%	-	+	+	_	49 ± 4	34 ± 4
D	Sb3-1	Paenibacillus kribbensis (NR 025169), 99%	+++	++	+	_	44 ± 6	23 ± 1
D	Mc2-9	Paenibacillus brasilensis (NR_025106), 99%	++	++	+	_	64 ± 6	24 ± 1
D	Mc5-5	Paenibacillus brasilensis (NR 025106), 99%	++	-	++	_	58 ± 5	26 ± 1
D	Mc6-4	Brevibacillus limnophilus (NR 024822), 99%	+++	-	++	_	77 ± 4	39 ± 2
D	Mc2Re-16	Paenibacillus brasilensis (NR_025106), 98%	++	+	-	_	57 ± 9	31 ± 4
D	Mc5Re-14	Paenibacillus polymyxa (NR_037006), 99%	++	+	++	_	52 ± 3	38 ± 1
D	Sd5Re-24	Paenibacillus brasilensis (NR_025106), 99%	++	+	++	_	20 ± 2	11 ± 2
E	Wb1n-4	Streptomyces scabiei (NR_025865), 98%	+	++	+	+	70 ± 2	47 ± 4
E	Wb2n-2	Streptomyces peucetius (NR 024763), 98%	++	++	+	+	66 ± 3	40 ± 1
E	Wb2n-11	Streptomyces subrutilus (NR 026203), 99%	+++	+++	+	+	76 ± 7	48 ± 6
E	Wb2n-23	Streptomyces peucetius (NR 024763), 98%	++	+++	+	_	26 ± 3	15 ± 1
F	Mc1-3	Lysobacter enzymogenes (NR_036925), 99%	+	++	++	-	63 ± 6	23 ± 2

*The letters represent the different amplified rRNA gene restriction analysis patterns (A-F); group B (*Bacillus cereus* group) was completely excluded (Köberl *et al.*, 2011).

⁺According to 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

^{*}Dual culture assay: +...0–5 mm, ++...5–10 mm, +++...> 10 mm radius of zone of inhibition, -...no suppression.

[§]Results of a previous study performed by Köberl et al. (2011).

¹Control with *Escherichia coli* showed 28% dead J2 after 48 h, and a mortality rate of 21%, at controls with media and water both values were 0%.

 $^{\parallel}\pm$ Standard deviation.

**Determined by linear regression of the percentages of dead J2 after 0, 6, 12 and 24 h, \pm error of slope.



Fig. 3. In vitro effects of extracellular bacterial products on the mortality of *Meloidogyne incognita* juveniles. Depicted are the impacts of the four most efficient isolates in comparison with the control with *Escherichia coli* JM109.

Actinobacteria-specific probe, some of these bacterial colonies could be identified in the rhizosphere of *Matricaria chamomilla* as well when grown under organic desert farming conditions (Fig. 4).

Discussion

8

One of the major challenges of the 21st century will be to develop an environmentally sound and sustainable crop production. Desert agriculture opens up new possibilities to address diverse problems: to produce enough food for poor regions, to produce renewable crops for industrial applications, and to capture and restore CO_2 in soil. The accumulation of soilborne pathogens is another important ecological problem, which can cause dramatic yield losses. To solve this problem, we analysed associated microbial communities, which were found specific for each plant species and microhabitat. ITS profiles of fungal communities were less discriminative than bacterial fingerprints and characterised mainly by potential pathogens. Therefore, we selected bacterial antagonists against these and the well-known pathogens.

The dominance of Gram-positive bacteria in the group of antagonists in plant-associated and soil communities under arid conditions is in contrast to other studies performed under humid, temperate climate conditions. Here, mainly members of the genus Pseudomonas were found as antagonists (Berg et al., 2006; Costa et al., 2006; Weller, 2007), as it is well-studied for its beneficial plant-microorganism interaction (Haas & Défago, 2005; Lugtenberg & Kamilova, 2009). To verify our result, Pseudomonas-selective medium was used to monitor Pseudomonas isolates (King et al., 1954), but only a few colonies were detected (data not shown). This differing ecology between arid and humid environments can be explained by the extreme abiotic conditions, such as the combination of extreme temperatures and desiccation, high soil salinity, low nutrient levels and high UV radiation levels in deserts. Recently, in a farm located in the northwestern desert region of Egypt, Marasco et al. (2012) reported a predominant role of Bacillus within the plant growth-promoting microbiome associated with the drought-sensitive pepper plant, which supported this conclusion. In addition, in the rhizosphere of Antarctic vascular plants, another extreme environment, Firmicutes were also identified as the most abundant phylum using a deep-sequencing approach (Teixeira et al., 2010). However, in the microbiome of the sugar beet rhizosphere, Firmicutes represent 20% of the bacterial phyla with Proteobacteria as the dominant member (39%) (Mendes et al., 2011). Bacillus, Paenibacillus and Streptomyces are spore-forming bacteria, and spore production aids in survival under suboptimal conditions



Fig. 4. In situ visualisation of Actinobacteria in the rhizosphere of Matricaria chamomilla. Fluorescent in situ hybridisation (FISH) showed a high colonisation of chamomile roots with bacteria in general (a), of which some colonies could be identified as Actinobacteria (b). The overlay (c) of the fluorochrome signals (a and b) with the autofluorescence of the root (blue) shows examples for Actinobacteria (yellow) amidst other eubacteria (red). Scale bar = 5 μ m.

© 2013 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved FEMS Microbiol Lett **II** (2013) 1–11

(Nicholson, 2002). However, it is still unclear whether these Gram-positive bacteria were alive and active in soil. Once considered their habitat, the soil may simply just serve as a reservoir (Hong *et al.*, 2009). While rhizosphere colonisation was recently shown by the BCA *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FZB42 (Fan *et al.*, 2011), we also found Actinobacteria colonisation as well.

Bacillus/Paenibacillus and Streptomyces species are wellknown for their biocontrol potential (Schisler et al., 2004; Berg, 2009). Several strains of Bacillus subtilis are already in use as biological pesticides (Fan et al., 2011), and the antagonistic potential of Paenibacillus polymyxa towards a wide range of mycotoxin-producing fungi such as F. culmorum is well documented (Tupinambá et al., 2008). Furthermore, a broad disease-suppressive activity has been detected for strains of Lysobacter (Postma et al., 2011), the only Gram-negative genus selected. Despite this fact, we know that the biocontrol effect and mode of action are strongly strain-specific (Berg et al., 2006; Berg, 2009). In our study, we detected plant species and microhabitat-specific bacterial antagonists, but also strain specificity was confirmed. Altogether, 13 broad-spectrum antagonists with antibacterial, antifungal and nematicidal activity were found which belong to seven different bacterial species of the genera Bacillus (B. atrophaeus, B. mojavensis, B. subtilis subsp. div., B. vallismortis) and Streptomyces (S. peucetius, S. scabiei, S. subrutilus). On their basis, biocontrol products specifically for arid conditions can be developed.

In this study, we linked ecological data with the selection strategy for antagonists. Within the fungal community, mainly potential phytopathogens were identified. Therefore, we focused on the selection of bacterial antagonists. In the cultivation-independent and dependent approach, strains of Bacillus/Paenibacillus were found as the key players in bacterial communities in arid agricultural systems. Conversely, members of the genus Streptomyces were important in the natural desert ecosystem. This was also confirmed by a comparative deep-sequencing approach of desert and field soil (Köberl et al., 2011). Gram-positive, spore-forming bacteria of the genera Bacillus, Paenibacillus and Streptomyces were selected using our hierarchical procedure; all of them belong to risk group 1 (no risk for humans and the environment) and are promising drought-resistant and heat-resistant biocontrol candidates. Furthermore, they showed a remarkable antibiotic activity.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ibrahim Abouleish and his family as well as Angela Hofmann (Cairo) for their generous hospitality in Sekem, Birgit Birnstingl-Gottinger (Graz) for her inspiring discussions and Rudolf Bauer (Graz) for his advice regarding the medicinal plants. Furthermore, we want to thank Christian Berg, Christin Zachow and Henry Müller (Graz) for their relevant theoretical and practical support. Ilse-Marie Jungkurth (Braunschweig) and Meg Starcher (Graz) are gratefully acknowledged for critically reading the manuscript. This project was partly funded by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund.

References

- Adesemoye AO, Torbert HA & Kloepper JW (2009) Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria allow reduced application rates of chemical fertilizers. *Microb Ecol* **58**: 921–929.
- Adesina MF, Lembke A, Costa R, Speksnijder A & Smalla K (2007) Screening of bacterial isolates from various European soils for *in vitro* antagonistic activity towards *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Fusarium oxysporum*: site-dependent composition and diversity revealed. *Soil Biol Biochem* **39**: 2818–2828.
- Amann RI, Binder BJ, Olson RJ, Chisholm SW, Devereux R & Stahl DA (1990) Combination of 16S rRNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes with flow cytometry for analyzing mixed microbial populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **56**: 1919–1925.
- Andrew DR, Fitak RR, Munguia-Vega A, Racolta A, Martinson VG & Dontsova K (2012) Abiotic factors shape microbial diversity in Sonoran Desert soils. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 78: 7527–7537.
- Bachar A, Soares MI & Gillor O (2012) The effect of resource islands on abundance and diversity of bacteria in arid soils. *Microb Ecol* **63**: 694–700.
- Bashan Y & de-Bashan LE (2010) Microbial populations of arid lands and their potential for restoration of deserts. *Soil Biology and Agriculture in the Tropics, Soil Biology 21* (Dion P, Ed), pp. 109–137. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, DE.
- Berg G (2009) Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 84: 11–18.
- Berg G, Krechel A, Ditz M, Sikora RA, Ulrich A & Hallmann J (2005) Endophytic and ectophytic potato-associated bacterial communities differ in structure and antagonistic function against plant pathogenic fungi. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **51**: 215–229.
- Berg G, Opelt K, Zachow C, Lottmann J, Götz M, Costa R & Smalla K (2006) The rhizosphere effect on bacteria antagonistic towards the pathogenic fungus *Verticillium* differs depending on plant species and site. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **56**: 250–261.
- Cardinale M, Vieira de Castro J Jr, Müller H, Berg G & Grube M (2008) *In situ* analysis of the bacterial community associated with the reindeer lichen *Cladonia arbuscula* reveals predominance of Alphaproteobacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **66**: 63–71.
- Cary SC, McDonald IR, Barrett JE & Cowan DA (2010) On the rocks: the microbiology of Antarctic Dry Valley soils. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **8**: 129–138.

© 2013 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved Clery D (2011) Environmental technology. Greenhouse-power plant hybrid set to make Jordan's desert bloom. *Science* **331**: 136.

Costa R, Gomes NCM, Peixoto RS, Rumjanek N, Berg G, Mendonça-Hagler LCS & Smalla K (2006) Diversity and antagonistic potential of *Pseudomonas* spp. associated to the rhizosphere of maize grown in a subtropical organic farm. *Soil Biol Biochem* **38**: 2434–2447.

Daims H, Brühl A, Amann R, Schleifer KH & Wagner M (1999) The domain-specific probe EUB338 is insufficient for the detection of all bacteria: development and evaluation of a more comprehensive probe set. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **22**: 434–444.

Emmert EA & Handelsman J (1999) Biocontrol of plant diseases: a (Gram-) positive perspective. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **171**: 1–9.

Erhart RD, Bradford RJ, Seviour R, Amann RI & Blackall LL (1997) Development and use of fluorescent *in situ* hybridization probes for the detection and identification of *Microthrix parvicella* in activated sludge. *Syst Appl Microbiol* 20: 310–318.

Fan B, Chen XH, Budiharjo A, Bleiss W, Vater J & Borriss R (2011) Efficient colonization of plant roots by the plant growth promoting bacterium *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FZB42, engineered to express green fluorescent protein. *J Biotechnol* 151: 303–311.

Goodfellow M & Fiedler HP (2010) A guide to successful bioprospecting: informed by actinobacterial systematics. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* **98**: 119–142.

Haas D & Défago G (2005) Biological control of soil-borne pathogens by fluorescent pseudomonads. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 3: 307–319.

Hartmann A, Schmid M, van Tuinen D & Berg G (2009) Plant-driven selection of microbes. *Plant Soil* **321**: 235–257.

Hong HA, To E, Fakhry S, Baccigalupi L, Ricca E & Cutting SM (2009) Defining the natural habitat of *Bacillus* sporeformers. *Res Microbiol* 160: 375–379.

King EO, Ward MK & Raney DE (1954) Two simple media for the demonstration of pyocyanin and fluorescin. *J Lab Clin Med* **44**: 301–307.

Klosterman SJ, Atallah ZK, Vallad GE & Subbarao KV (2009) Diversity, pathogenicity, and management of *Verticillium* species. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* **47**: 39–62.

Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM & Berg G (2011) Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health. *PLoS ONE* **6**: e24452.

Krikun J, Orion D, Nachmias A & Reuveni R (1982) The role of soilborne pathogens under conditions of intensive agriculture. *Phytoparasitica* 10: 247–258.

Kropf S, Heuer H, Grüning M & Smalla K (2004) Significance test for comparing complex microbial community fingerprints using pairwise similarity measures. J Microbiol Methods 57: 187–195.

Lepš J & Smilauer P (2003) *Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data Using Canoco*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Lugtenberg B & Kamilova F (2009) Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 63: 541–556.

Luske B & van der Kamp J (2009) Carbon sequestration potential of reclaimed desert soils in Egypt. Louis Bolk Instituut & Soil and More International. Available at: http:// orgprints.org/16438/1/2192.pdf. (accessed on 15 January 2013)

Marasco R, Rolli E, Ettoumi B *et al.* (2012) A drought resistance-promoting microbiome is selected by root system under desert farming. *PLoS ONE* 7: e48479.

Mendes R, Kruijt M, de Bruijn I *et al.* (2011) Deciphering the rhizosphere microbiome for disease-suppressive bacteria. *Science* **332**: 1097–1100.

Messiha NAS, van Bruggen AHC, Franz E, Janse JD, Schoeman-Weerdesteijn ME, Termorshuizen AJ & van Diepeningen AD (2009) Effects of soil type, management type and soil amendments on the survival of the potato brown rot bacterium *Ralstonia solanacearum*. *Appl Soil Ecol* 43: 206–215.

Nachtigall J, Kulik A, Helaly S *et al.* (2011) Atacamycins A-C, 22-membered antitumor macrolactones produced by *Streptomyces* sp. C38. *J Antibiot* **64**: 775–780.

Neher DA (2010) Ecology of plant and free-living nematodes in natural and agricultural soil. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* **48**: 371–394.

Neilson JW, Quade J, Ortiz M *et al.* (2012) Life at the hyperarid margin: novel bacterial diversity in arid soils of the Atacama Desert, Chile. *Extremophiles* **16**: 553–566.

Nicholson WL (2002) Roles of *Bacillus* endospores in the environment. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **59**: 410–416.

Niraula NP, Kim SH, Sohng JK & Kim ES (2010) Biotechnological doxorubicin production: pathway and regulation engineering of strains for enhanced production. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **87**: 1187–1194.

Postma J, Schilder MT & van Hoof RA (2011) Indigenous populations of three closely related *Lysobacter* spp. in agricultural soils using Real-Time PCR. *Microb Ecol* 62: 948–958.

R Development Core Team (2011) *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.* R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available at: http://www.r-project.org. (accessed on 15 January 2013)

Raaijmakers JM, Paulitz TC, Steinberg C, Alabouvette C & Moënne-Loccoz Y (2009) The rhizosphere: a playground and battlefield for soilborne pathogens and beneficial microorganisms. *Plant Soil* **321**: 341–361.

Reuters (2007) Egypt plan to green Sahara desert stirs controversy. Available ay: http://www.reuters.com/article/ 2007/10/09/us-desert-egypt-idUSL2651867020071009. (accessed on 15 January 2013)

Santhanam R, Okoro CK, Rong X, Huang Y, Bull AT, Andrews BA, Asenjo JA, Weon HY & Goodfellow M (2012a) *Streptomyces deserti* sp. nov., isolated from hyper-arid Atacama Desert soil. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 101: 575–581.

Santhanam R, Okoro CK, Rong X, Huang Y, Bull AT, Weon HY, Andrews BA, Asenjo JA & Goodfellow M (2012b)

FEMS Microbiol Lett **II** (2013) 1–11

^{© 2013} Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

Streptomyces atacamensis sp. nov., isolated from an extreme hyper-arid soil of the Atacama Desert, Chile. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **62**: 2680–2684.

- Santhanam R, Rong X, Huang Y, Andrews BA, Asenjo JA & Goodfellow M (2013) Streptomyces bullii sp. nov., isolated from a hyper-arid Atacama Desert soil. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 103: 367–373.
- Schisler DA, Slininger PJ, Behle RW & Jackson MA (2004) Formulation of *Bacillus* spp. for biological control of plant diseases. *Phytopathology* **94**: 1267–1271.
- Schwieger F & Tebbe CC (1998) A new approach to utilize PCR-single-strand-conformation polymorphism for 16S rRNA gene-based microbial community analysis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **64**: 4870–4876.
- Teixeira LC, Peixoto RS, Cury JC, Sul WJ, Pellizari VH, Tiedje J & Rosado AS (2010) Bacterial diversity in rhizosphere soil from Antarctic vascular plants of Admiralty Bay, maritime Antarctica. *ISME J* **4**: 989–1001.
- Tsukatani T, Suenaga H, Higuchi T, Akao T, Ishiyama M, Ezoe K & Matsumoto K (2008) Colorimetric cell proliferation assay for microorganisms in microtiter plate using water-soluble tetrazolium salts. *J Microbiol Methods* **75**: 109–116.

- Tupinambá G, da Silva AJ, Alviano CS, Souto-Padron T, Seldin L & Alviano DS (2008) Antimicrobial activity of *Paenibacillus polymyxa* SCE2 against some mycotoxin-producing fungi. *J Appl Microbiol* 105: 1044–1053.
- Wallner G, Amann R & Beisker W (1993) Optimizing fluorescent *in situ* hybridization with rRNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes for flow cytometric identification of microorganisms. *Cytometry* 14: 136–143.
- Weller DM (2007) *Pseudomonas* biocontrol agents of soilborne pathogens: looking back over 30 years. *Phytopathology* 97: 250–256.
- White TJ, Bruns T, Lee S & Taylor JW (1990) Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. *PCR Protocols: A Guide to Methods and Applications* (Innis MA, Gelfand DH, Sninsky JJ & White TJ, eds), pp. 315–322. Academic Press, New York.
- Zachow C, Tilcher R & Berg G (2008) Sugar beet-associated bacterial and fungal communities show a high indigenous antagonistic potential against plant pathogens. *Microb Ecol* **55**: 119–129.

Manuscript I

Submitted as Journal Article

The high diversity and abundance of diazotrophs underline their importance for native and agricultural desert ecosystems

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Massimiliano Cardinale¹, Henry Müller¹, Anastasia Bragina¹ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

²SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Ain Shams University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt

The high diversity and abundance of diazotrophs underline their importance for native and agricultural desert ecosystems

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Massimiliano Cardinale¹, Henry Müller¹, Anastasia Bragina¹, Gabriele Berg^{1*}

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria ²SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Ain Shams University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt

*corresponding author
E-mail: gabriele.berg@tugraz.at
Telephone: +43 316 873-8310
Fax: +43 316 873-8819
Postal address: Petersgasse 12/I, A-8010 Graz

Running title: Diazotrophs in desert ecosystems

Submitted

Abstract

Diazotrophs provide the only biological source of fixed atmospheric nitrogen in the biosphere; they are the key for plant-available nitrogen especially in natural or organically managed agricultural ecosystems. Less is known about their diversity and function in arid ecosystems. By a methodological approach combining *nifH*-specific qPCR, fingerprints, amplicon pyrosequencing and FISH-CLSM, nitrogen-fixing underground communities in Egypt were compared. Although the diazotrophic microbiota in the desert ecosystem were characterised by a generally high abundance and diversity – the highest reported until now compared with other ecosystems, statistically significant differences were found between both soil types (native and agriculturally used), between the different microhabitats (bulk soil, rhizosphere, endorhiza), and between the three investigated medicinal plants. We observed a considerable community shift from desert to agriculturally used soil demonstrating a higher abundance as well as a higher diversity in the agro-ecosystem. In comparison to the rhizosphere, the endorhiza was characterised by lower abundances and a subset of species. Comparing root-associated communities of plants grown in desert farming, the most remarkable differences were found. While the microbiomes of Matricaria chamomilla and Calendula officinalis were similar and dominated by potential root-nodulating rhizobia mainly acquired from soil, the perennial Solanum distichum formed primarily associations with free-living nitrogen fixers most likely transmitted between plants as they are undetectable in soils. The results underline the importance of diazotrophs in desert ecosystems, identified plants as important drivers for functional diversity and can explain the underlying mechanism of the phenomenon of rapidly flowering deserts as well.

Keywords: desert farming/medicinal plants/nitrogen-fixing communities/organic agriculture

Introduction

Nitrogen is one of the most yield-limiting factors in agricultural production systems throughout the world and an essential macronutrient for plants (Orr *et al.*, 2011). Nitrogen-fixing microorganisms provide the only natural source of fixed atmospheric nitrogen in the biosphere (Gaby and Buckley, 2012). The capability for nitrogen fixation is widely dispersed among prokaryotic taxa including very divergent, distantly related bacteria and archaea (Zehr and Turner, 2001; Zehr *et al.*, 2003). Biological nitrogen fixation by diazotrophic microorganisms with the input of recycled organic wastes, such as manure or compost, is considered as sustainable alternative to chemical nitrogen fertilisers as well as possibility to reduce rates of fertiliser application (Martínez *et al.*, 2003; Yang *et al.*, 2008). The dispersal of inorganic nitrate into surface and groundwater, which often leads to eutrophication and severe environmental and health problems, can be largely avoided by biological inoculants (Orr *et al.*, 2011).

The *nifH* gene that encodes the nitrogenase reductase subunit is highly conserved over all nitrogenase types and has become the marker gene for studies of phylogeny, diversity, and abundance of diazotrophic microorganisms (Zehr and Turner, 2001). Phylogenetic analyses of *nifH* genes have revealed five primary clusters of gene homologous (Raymond *et al.*, 2004; Gaby and Buckley, 2012). Although a wide range of environments have already been investigated for *nifH* gene diversity (Orr *et al.*, 2011; López-Lozano *et al.*, 2012), the global census of diazotrophic diversity remains far from complete (Gaby and Buckley, 2011, 2012). Recently developed next generation sequencing techniques in combination with network analyses will allow deeper insight into the function of microbial communities involving nitrogen fixation. This has already been recently shown in marine habitats (Farnelid *et al.*, 2013), but not in terrestrial ecosystems.

Also in arid terrestrial ecosystems, plants play an important role for primary production as well as for microbial life (Marasco *et al.*, 2012). Plant specificity of associated bacteria as well as co-evolution of plant-microbe interactions is well-studied (rev. in Berg and Smalla, 2009; Burgarelli *et al.*, 2012; Oldroyd, 2013). Root exudates and especially bioactive metabolites are one of the most important drivers of this selecting effect from the soil microbiome (Bais *et al.*, 2006). Because we found a high specificity in the structural microbial diversity associated with medicinal plants (Köberl *et al.*, 2013), we hypothesised that this high specificity is visible in functional diversity as well. All three selected plants German chamomile (*Matricaria chamomilla*), pot marigold (*Calendula officinalis*) and African nightshade (*Solanum distichum*) are well-known for their anti-microbial effects and bioactive ingredients (McKay and Blumberg, 2006; Ukiya *et al.*, 2006; Bahgat *et al.*, 2008). Although the highly specific association between *Rhizobium* cultivars and legumes is well-investigated (Oldroyd, 2013), less is known about specific free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

The objective of this research was to study the nitrogen-fixing communities in the endorhiza, rhizosphere of medicinal plants and bulk soil of long-term organically managed agricultural soil from the Sekem farms in Egypt in comparison to unexploited native desert soil. Therefore, we used a methodological approach combining *nifH*-specific qPCR, fingerprints, amplicon pyrosequencing and FISH-CLSM. Our previous research showed a higher antagonistic potential against soil-borne pathogens, a higher overall bacterial diversity, and better ecosystem function for plant health in soil used for desert agriculture (Köberl *et al.*, 2011, 2013). Based on these results, we hypothesised that the agricultural use of desert soil, especially crop rotation with leguminous cover crops, also enhances the diversity of the nitrogen-fixing underground community. However, we expected also a high abundance of diazotrophs in desert soil, which could explain the rapid plant development and phenomenon of flowering deserts.

Materials and Methods

Experimental design and sampling

Nitrogen-fixing communities were studied at the organically managed Sekem farm Adleya (www.sekem.com) located in the North-eastern desert region of Egypt near Bilbeis (30°22'88"N, 31°39'41"E). Physico-chemical data of the soil is provided in Luske and van der Kamp (2009). The diazotrophic community of bulk agricultural soil was investigated in comparison to the community of native desert soil from Sinai (30°35'01"N, 32°25'49"E). Profiles of the *nifH* gene in communities associated with the rhizosphere and endorhiza of three different species of medicinal plants (*Matricaria chamomilla* L., *Calendula officinalis* L. and *Solanum distichum* Schumach. and Thonn.) were studied and compared. The sampling strategy and total community DNA isolation is described in detail in Köberl *et al.* (2011).

Quantification of microbial nifH genes by qPCR

To determine *nifH* gene abundances, quantitative PCRs were performed according to Hai *et al.* (2009) with some modifications. Reactions were conducted in a total volume of 10 μ l containing 1× KAPA SYBR FAST qPCR MasterMix Universal (PEQLAB, Polling, Austria), 0.6 mg ml⁻¹ BSA, 0.125 μ M of primers nifH-F and nifH-R (Rösch *et al.*, 2002) and 0.8 μ l template DNA dilutions (95 °C, 10 min; 39 cycles of 95 °C, 45 s; 55 °C, 45 s; 72 °C, 45 s; and melt from 72 to 95 °C). Rotor-Gene 6000 real-time rotary analyser (Corbett Research, Sydney, Australia) was used for quantification of fluorescence. For absolute quantification, the PCR amplified *nifH* gene fragment from *Erwinia carotovora* DSM549 was ligated into the pGEM-T Easy Vector (Promega, Mannheim, Germany) and transformed into *E. coli* DH5 α . Serial dilutions of PCR fragments generated with the vector-specific primers usp and rsp (Köberl *et al.*, 2011) were used as standard for calculation of *nifH* gene copy numbers. Concentrations determined by absolute quantification were calculated to copy number per g soil or fresh weight (fw) of plant. Each replicate sample was analysed in duplicates in three independent runs. Statistical analysis was performed with PASW Statistics 18 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) using the independent samples *t*-test for differences between desert and agricultural soil, and the Games-Howell post hoc test for plant samples.

Fingerprints from single-stranded conformational polymorphism analysis of the nifH gene (PCR-SSCP)

Fingerprinting of microbial communities using SSCP was conducted as described by Schwieger and Tebbe (1998) specifically adapted for *nifH* gene fragment separation by Bragina *et al.* (2011). Comparisons of SSCP-generated *nifH* profiles were performed using GelCompar II 5.1 (Applied Maths, Kortrijk, Belgium) and statistically assessed (Kropf *et al.*, 2004; R Development Core Team, 2011).

nifH gene profiling using 454 pyrosequencing

The nitrogenase gene *nifH* was amplified according to a nested PCR protocol with primers designed by Zani *et al.* (2000). The first PCR was performed again with the primer pair nifH4/nifH3 as described above for SSCP analysis. Amplicons served as templates for the second PCR (30 μ L) with the primer pair nifH1 and nifH2 designed by Zehr and McReynolds (1989) that contained the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors, linkers, and sample-specific tags (Supplementary Table S1). Accordingly, 3 μ L template dilutions were added to 1× Taq&Go, 1.5 mM MgCl₂ and 0.2 μ M of each primer (95 °C, 5 min; 30 cycles of 95 °C, 1 min; 65.5 °C, 1 min; 72 °C, 30 sec; and elongation at 72 °C, 5 min). Obtained PCR products were purified by employing the Wizard SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). For rhizosphere samples, PCR products of two independent PCR reactions were pooled. For soil

samples, respective PCR products from four independent replicate samples were pooled from each habitat in equal volumes. Pyrosequencing read libraries were generated by Eurofins MWG (Ebersberg, Germany) using the Roche 454 GS-FLX+ Titanium sequencing platform.

Primer sequences were cropped, reads with low quality (minimum average base quality score 20) and a read length shorter than 200 bp were removed and remaining sequences were translated into their amino acid sequence using the tool FrameBot of RDP's FunGene Pipeline (http://fungene.cme.msu.edu/FunGenePipeline). All subsequent analyses were done on amino acid sequence datasets that were normalised to the same number of sequences within a habitat (5 217 sequences per soil sample and 553 sequences per rhizosphere sample) using the in-house developed Perl script Subsetify 1.4 (10 times random re-samplings followed by subset formation) (Bragina et al., 2013). Amino acid sequences were aligned and clipped at the same alignment reference position (~ 108 amino acids) by using ClustalX 2.1 (Larkin *et al.*, 2007). OTUs were classified and rarefaction curves were constructed based on the distance matrices of amino acid sequences at 0%, 4% and 8% dissimilarity (Farnelid et al., 2011) using mcClust and rarefaction of RDP's FunGene Pipeline. Diversity indices were ascertained based on the clustering data (Shannon, 1997; Chao and Bunge, 2002). Representative sequences at 8% dissimilarity were selected for the following taxonomic and phylogenetic analysis (Farnelid et al., 2011) where clusters with less than 1% of relative abundance were not designated. Nearest relatives were retrieved using the search tool tblastn of the NCBI database.

A neighbour-joining tree with 100 bootstrap replications was created with the tools seqboot, protdist, neighbor, consense and fitch of PHYLIP 3.69 (Felsenstein, 1989). The phylogenetic tree was visualised and edited in MEGA4 (Tamura *et al.*, 2007). A heat map showing the number of sequences for each OTU was added. As an out-group root, a partial sequence of the light-independent photochlorophyllide reductase subunit L (BchL) from

Chlorobaculum tepidum (accession number AAG12203) was selected. Chlorophyllide reductases share a small, but significant degree of similarity with NifH (Zehr and Turner, 2001).

A profile clustering network analysis was performed in order to highlight single OTUs (8% dissimilarity) with considerable differences between the rhizospheres of the medicinal plants. The network analysis was carried out with OTUs exhibiting a mean read change between plants of more than 1% of the normalised data set. If the ratio of mean OTU read numbers exceeded two, the OTUs were regarded as altered and assigned to the respective profile. Visualisation of the network was carried out using Cytoscape 2.8.2 (Smoot *et al.*, 2011). Significant differences between medicinal plants were calculated with Metastats (White *et al.*, 2009). P values were computed using a combination of the nonparametric *t*-test, exact Fisher's test and the false discovery rate with 1 000 permutations.

Fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH) and confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM)

Samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and stained using in-tube FISH according to the protocol of Cardinale *et al.* (2008). For the detection of Alphaproteobacteria, the Cy5-labelled ALF968 probe (Loy *et al.*, 2007) was used. Betaproteobacteria were detected with the ATO488-labelled BET42a probe applied together with an unlabelled competitor probe to avoid unspecific hybridizations (Manz *et al.*, 1992). An equimolar mixture of Cy3-labelled EUB338, EUB338II and EUB338III probes (EUB338MIX; Amann *et al.*, 1990; Daims *et al.*, 1999) was used for the detection of all bacteria. As a negative control, non-sense FISH probes labelled with all three fluorochromes (NONEUB; Wallner *et al.*, 1993) were applied. Confocal images were obtained using a Leica TCS SPE confocal laser scanning microscope (Leica Microsystems GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). Three-dimensional models were generated with Imaris 7.0 (Bitplane, Zurich, Switzerland).

Results

Abundances of nifH genes in different underground communities

Analysis of *nifH* gene copy numbers resulted in a statistically significant higher abundance in the agriculturally used soil $(6.0 \pm 0.3 \log_{10} \text{g}^{-1})$ in comparison to the native desert soil $(4.4 \pm 0.7 \log_{10} \text{g}^{-1})$ (Figure 1). Among the medicinal plant-associated microenvironments, rhizospheres showed significantly higher *nifH* gene copy numbers than endorhiza samples. Calculated abundances in the rhizospheres ranged from 7.9 ± 0.1 to $8.3 \pm 0.1 \log_{10} \text{g}^{-1}$ fw and were not significantly different between medicinal plants. Conversely, the endorhiza of the perennial *S. distichum* was more significantly colonised by nitrogen-fixing microorganisms $(5.9 \pm 0.1 \log_{10} \text{g}^{-1} \text{ fw})$ than the endorhizas of the annual Asteraceae *M. chamomilla* $(4.7 \pm 0.3 \log_{10} \text{g}^{-1} \text{ fw})$ and *C. officinalis* $(4.9 \pm 0.2 \log_{10} \text{g}^{-1} \text{ fw})$.

Molecular fingerprinting of diazotrophic underground communities

SSCP fingerprints of *nifH* genes in microbial communities revealed a first insight into the diversity (Supplementary Figure S1). According to the statistical comparison analysis (Supplementary Figure S2), the diazotrophic community composition of field soil differed significantly from the less diverse desert soil (p = 0.0286) by approximately 70%. Rhizospheres exhibited significantly different profiles to bulk agricultural soil (p = 0.0005) as well as to the inner tissue of the root (p < 0.0001). Also, statistically significant differences in nitrogen-fixing rhizosphere communities were detected between the three different medicinal plants (p values between 0.0285 and 0.0290). Approximately half of the *nifH* gene community was shared by all three plants; *M. chamomilla* and *C. officinalis* were more similar to each other, but still nearly 40% of their communities were determined by plant-specific nitrogen fixers. Dominant bands were identified as *Rhizobium* sp., *Bradyrhizobium* sp. and *Burkholderia* sp. Furthermore,

Paenibacillus spp. were assigned to dominant endorhiza bands. Throughout all plantassociated microenvironments, several cyanobacteria from the genera *Anabaena* and *Nostoc* were found. Additionally, the *nifH* gene sequence of the methanogenic archaeon *Methanocella* was identified.

Pyrosequencing-based nifH profiling

To gain deeper insight into the diazotrophic community composition and diversity in soils and medicinal plant rhizospheres, a pyrosequencing-based analysis of the *nifH* gene was employed. Normalised NifH sequence libraries were rarefied at three cut-off levels (0%, 4% and 8% amino acid dissimilarity) (Supplementary Figure S3). Sequences from both soil types (10 434 reads) were classified into 361 OTUs with a dissimilarity cut-off of 8% (desert soil 118 OTUs; agricultural soil 290 OTUs) and rhizosphere sequences (6 636 reads) were clustered into 400 OTUs (86 to 124 OTUs per sample). At a genetic dissimilarity level of 8%, the coverage of Chao1 estimated richness reached 61.1% and 56.9% for desert and agricultural soil, respectively (Supplementary Table S2). The calculated Shannon diversity indices (H') were much lower for the desert soil than for the agricultural soil indicating higher diazotrophic diversity due the agricultural use of the desert. The coverage of the rhizosphere samples was between 78.9 and 42.0%, and Shannon indices barely showed differences; their values ranged from 3.26 to 3.92 at 8% dissimilarity.

Among quality amino acid sequences, 70.6% of soil reads and 68.1% of rhizosphere reads could be taxonomically assigned to at least class level (Figure 2). The desert soil in particular exhibited an overwhelming dominance of NifH sequences related to Alphaproteobacteria (82.4%). Field soil revealed a high proportion of unclassified sequences, yet still containing 41.0% Alphaproteobacteria. In regards to phyla with greater than 1% of quality reads: 1.9% of field soil sequences could be affiliated to Deltaproteobacteria, 10.8% to

Bacilli, 1.2% to Clostridia, 2.8% to Spirochaetes, and 1.1% to Cyanobacteria. Rhizosphere samples also revealed a high abundance of Alphaproteobacteria (58.0-15.4%). Additionally, Betaproteobacteria were found in all samples (55.7-1.3%). Higher proportions of Alphaproteobacteria were found in the rhizospheres of the Asteraceae (*M. chamomilla* 55.2-39.8% and *C. officinalis* 58.0-42.1%), in comparison to Betaproteobacteria that were more dominant in the rhizosphere of *S. distichum* (55.7-27.1%). Gammaproteobacteria were additionally found in the rhizosphere of *S. distichum* (19.7-2.4%) and of *M. chamomilla* (\leq 1.8%), yet Deltaproteobacteria were only identified in the *S. distichum* rhizosphere (\leq 2.2%). Among Firmicutes, Bacilli were found associated with *M. chamomilla* (\leq 17.2%), and Clostridia with *M. chamomilla* (\leq 1.6%) and *C. officinalis* (\leq 1.8%). Cyanobacteria were found in the rhizospheres of *M. chamomilla* (\leq 2.7%) and *C. officinalis* (\leq 1.8%).

Representative sequences of the dominant alphaproteobacterial NifH clusters in native desert soil showed 99-100% of similarity to the NifH sequences of the genus *Rhizobium* (Supplementary Table S3). Further, *Bradyrhizobium* and *Mesorhizobium* were also found. The diversity within Alphaproteobacteria was higher in the agriculturally used soil with 40.9% identified as *Rhizobium*, 12.9% as *Agrobacterium*, 38.2% as *Methylocystis*, 5.1% as *Bradyrhizobium* and 2.9% as *Methylocella*. Classifiable Bacilli in unplanted field soil were identified as *Paenibacillus*, and all cyanobacterial reads revealed the genus *Anabaena* as the closest hit. Deltaproteobacteria, Clostridia, and Spirochaetes could not be identified at the genus level (<95% of sequence similarity). In all three investigated medicinal plant rhizospheres, alphaproteobacterial sequences of the genera *Rhizobium*, *Ensifer* and *Bradyrhizobium* were found, and *Agrobacterium* was identified in the rhizospheres of the Asteraceae. *Methylocystis* was found associated with roots of *C. officinalis* and *S. distichum*, and *Azospirillum* with *M. chamomilla* and *S. distichum*. Clusters of Betaproteobacteria found in all rhizospheres were identified as *Ideonella* and *Derxia*, and *Zoogloea* was found

associated with both Asteraceae. In the rhizospheres of *C. officinalis* and *S. distichum*, nitrogen-fixing *Burkholderia* and *Azoarcus* were additionally identified. *Dechloromonas* was found in rhizospheres of *M. chamomilla* and *S. distichum*, and *Azospira* and *Azonexus* were only associated with the *S. distichum* root. Classifiable Gammaproteobacteria in the rhizospheres of *M. chamomilla* and *S. distichum* were affiliated with the genus *Azomonas*. All deltaproteobacterial reads found associated with *S. distichum* were classified in the genus *Geoalkalibacter*, and all classifiable Bacilli reads in the rhizosphere of *M. chamomilla* were identified as *Paenibacillus*.

In a phylogenetic tree distinguishing between the major *nifH* gene types, all NifH sequences from the soil sample libraries were affiliated with the canonical *nifH* clusters I and III (Figure 3). Conventional molybdenum nitrogenases (cluster I) were dominated by Alphaproteobacteria (closest related to *Rhizobium*, *Methylocella*, *Bradyrhizobium*, *Methylocystis*, *Mesorhizobium*, *Skermanella* and *Agrobacterium*), but also contained sequences from Cyanobacteria (*Anabaena*), Actinobacteridae (*Frankia*), and Bacilli (*Paenibacillus*). Reads affiliated with the molybdenum nitrogenases from anaerobes (cluster III) were most closely related to Spirochaetes (*Treponema*), Clostridia (*Clostridium*, *Acetobacterium* and *Desulfosporosinus*), and Deltaproteobacteria (*Desulfovibrio*). No sequences of alternative nitrogenases (cluster II) and *nifH* paralogs (clusters IV and V) were found in the soil libraries.

A profile clustering network analysis was applied to gain better insight into the differences between the diazotrophic communities of the three medicinal plant rhizospheres (Figure 4). OTUs equally distributed among all three rhizospheres were neglected in this network. The rhizosphere profiles revealed more similar diazotrophic communities between *M. chamomilla* and *C. officinalis*, which were dominated by potential root nodule bacteria. NifH sequences of OTUs identified as genera *Ensifer*, *Rhizobium* and *Bradyrhizobium* were
found in significantly higher abundances in the rhizospheres of Asteraceae. Conversely, the rhizosphere of *S. distichum* was colonised in greater numbers by nitrogen-fixing Beta-, Gamma-, and Deltaproteobacteria. Significantly higher read counts were obtained for OTUs identified as *Ideonella*, *Dechloromonas*, *Azoarcus*, *Azospira* and *Azonexus*. For each medicinal plant, several specific OTUs were found within the nitrogen-fixing community.

In situ visualisation of bacterial rhizosphere colonisation

FISH-CLSM analyses revealed high rhizospheric colonisation. A high abundance of Alphaproteobacteria in the rhizosphere of medicinal plants grown under arid desert farming conditions was confirmed as shown for *M. chamomilla* with Alpha- and Betaproteobacteria-specific probes (Figure 5). Among the root associated bacteria, they were clearly dominant over Betaproteobacteria and were found as both single cells and in large colonies in close interaction with other undefined eubacteria.

Discussion

An immense diversity and high abundance of diazotrophic communities was detected in all investigated arid habitats, thus strongly supporting their important role in native and agricultural desert ecosystems. However, although the diazotrophic microbiota were characterised by a generally high diversity and abundance, statistically significant differences were found between both native and agriculturally used soil, between the different microhabitats endorhiza, rhizosphere and bulk soil, and between the medicinal crops grown in desert farms.

All microenvironments were inhabited primarily by proteobacterial nitrogen fixers, and the desert soil was noticeably dominated by non-symbiotic Rhizobiales. Similar results were reported by López-Lozano *et al.* (2012) for soil in the Chihuahuan Desert in Mexico investigated using *nifH* gene clone libraries. However, using deep sequencing we found a much higher diversity: NifH sequences from soils could be classified into 361 OTUs and rhizosphere reads into 400 OTUs at a genetic dissimilarity level of 8%. Moreover, pyrosequencing techniques for *nifH* gene sequencing allow for the analysis of more sequences than those analysed for the global study published two years before (Gaby and Buckley, 2011). The high NifH diversity was mainly focussing on bacteria; the only suggestion for archaeal nitrogen fixation in these unique desert habitats was found with Methanocella in the endorhiza, especially from C. officinalis. The nifH genes are widely found in many methanogens, but not all of them are capable of nitrogen fixation. A complete nif operon that enables the organism to undergo nitrogen fixation was recently detected in the genome of Methanocella conradii HZ254 (found as closest database match in this study) (Lü and Lu, 2012). However, the genome of the closely related species Methanocella paludicola SANAE only contains genes similar to *nifH* that are neither part of an operon with other *nif* genes nor associated with the nitrogen fixation function (Sakai et al., 2011). Through comparisons with the metagenomically reconstructed genome sequence of the Rice Cluster I archaeon RC-I_{MRE50} for which a full component of the genes for nitrogenase was found (Erkel *et al.*, 2006), Sakai et al. (2011) already discussed an inter-species physiological difference between the nitrogen fixation capabilities among the members of the order Methanocellales.

After long term organic desert agriculture, a considerable shift in the diazotrophic soil community towards both higher abundance and diversity was observed. The agricultural use of desert soil, especially by crop rotation with leguminous cover crops like alfalfa or clover, enhances the diversity and activity of the nitrogen-fixing underground community as well. Nitrogen-fixing microorganisms in deserts play an indispensable role for both plant development and growth, yet desert soils are characterised by harsh environmental conditions, e.g. extreme temperatures and desiccation, high soil salinity, low nutrient levels, high UV

radiation levels and physical instability caused by strong winds (Cary et al., 2010), that can be transformed into a more manageable environment by watering and cultivating plants. With the same primer pair, we calculated much higher abundances of nifH genes in the rhizospheres of the investigated medicinal plants in Egypt than Hai et al. (2009) in the rhizosphere of Sorghum bicolor grown in Burkina Faso. Only a fraction of the medicinal plant-associated nitrogen fixers were able to invade the root and successfully colonise the inner tissue. Abundances calculated for endorhizas totalled 58-71% of the appropriate rhizosphere, and the diversity of nitrogen-fixing microorganisms in the inner part of the root was noticeably lower. Although we expected a higher abundance of nitrogen fixers in desert soil, all habitats influenced by desert agriculture contained a higher amount of potential nitrogen fixers. However, native desert soil also showed an impressive diversity and relatively high abundance in contrast to other ecosystems, thus explaining the rare phenomenon of rapidly flowering desert ecosystems after rainfall. In contrast to previous studies describing desert microbial communities to be structured solely by abiotic processes (Cary et al., 2010), in addition we identified plants as important drivers for the functional diversity in arid soil ecosystems.

Most impressively, the high specificity for each plant species is at the functional level. While specific structures of microbial communities were previously described (rev. in Berg and Smalla, 2009), this was confirmed for the structure of *Arabidopsis* cultivars using amplicon libraries (Bulgarelli *et al.*, 2012). In this study, we found evidence for the specificity of the diazotrophic communities associated with the three plant species. In general, diazotrophic communities found in the medicinal plant-associated microenvironments (rhizosphere and endorhiza) were more similar between the two Asteraceae in comparison to the *Solanum*, and the *nifH* gene profiles revealed a higher abundance of Alphaproteobacteria associated with the roots of the Asteraceae. Conversely, the nightshade showed a higher proportion of Betaproteobacteria. Previous investigations of the total bacterial as well as fungal communities already revealed such similar colonisation patterns between M. chamomilla and C. officinalis compared to S. distichum (Köberl et al., 2013). Both Asteraceae are well-known annual medicinal plants and produce several flavonoids, which can explain their similar microbiomes. Although the blood pressure lowering effects of the African S. *distichum* were experimentally shown, its bioactive ingredients are not all identified (Bahgat et al., 2008). Nitrogen-fixing alphaproteobacterial genera were also massively represented in both soils where plants primarily acquire their associated microbial community (Berg and 2009). The question remains, however, as to where the Beta- and Smalla, Gammaproteobacteria originated as they were identified neither in the desert nor in agriculturally conditioned bulk soil. Transmission through seeds or pollen would be possible, as recent studies on pumpkin flowers uncovered that the surface of pollen grains is densely colonised by Beta- and Gammaproteobacteria (Fürnkranz et al., 2012). Plant seeds are well known carriers of seed-borne pathogens, but also of beneficial microorganisms (Hardoim et al., 2012). Altogether, we could support our hypothesis that high specificity is also visible in the functional diversity of plant-associated bacteria.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ibrahim Abouleish, winner of the Alternative Nobel Prize, and his family for their generous hospitality in Sekem. For their competent advice, we are grateful to Angela Hofmann (Cairo) and Christin Zachow (Graz). Furthermore, we thank Birgit Birnstingl-Gottinger (Hitzendorf), Kornelia Smalla and Johannes Hallmann (Braunschweig) for inspiring discussions, and Meg Starcher (Washington/Graz) for critically reading the manuscript. This study was supported by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund (C2/S1/190).

Supplementary information is available.

References

- Amann RI, Binder BJ, Olson RJ, Chisholm SW, Devereux R, Stahl DA. (1990). Combination of 16S rRNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes with flow cytometry for analyzing mixed microbial populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 56: 1919–1925.
- Bahgat A, Abdel-Aziz H, Raafat M, Mahdy A, El-Khatib AS, Ismail A et al. (2008). Solanum indicum ssp. distichum extract is effective against L-NAME-induced hypertension in rats. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 22: 693–699.
- Bais HP, Weir TL, Perry LG, Gilroy S, Vivanco JM. (2006). The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 57: 233– 266.
- Berg G, Smalla K. (2009). Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **68**: 1–13.
- Bragina A, Maier S, Berg C, Müller H, Chobot V, Hadacek F *et al.* (2011). Similar diversity of Alphaproteobacteria and nitrogenase gene amplicons on two related *Sphagnum* mosses. *Front Microbiol* **2**: 275.
- Bragina A, Berg C, Müller H, Moser D, Berg G. (2013). Insights into functional bacterial diversity and its effects on Alpine bog ecosystem functioning. *Sci Rep* **3**: 1955.
- Bulgarelli D, Rott M, Schlaeppi K, Ver Loren van Themaat E, Ahmadinejad N, Assenza F et al. (2012). Revealing structure and assembly cues for *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. *Nature* 488: 91–95.
- Cardinale M, Vieira de Castro J Jr, Müller H, Berg G, Grube M. (2008). *In situ* analysis of the bacterial community associated with the reindeer lichen *Cladonia arbuscula* reveals predominance of Alphaproteobacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **66**: 63–71.

- Cary SC, McDonald IR, Barrett JE, Cowan DA. (2010). On the rocks: the microbiology of Antarctic Dry Valley soils. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **8**: 129–138.
- Chao A, Bunge J. (2002). Estimating the number of species in a stochastic abundance model. *Biometrics* **58**: 531–539.
- Daims H, Brühl A, Amann R, Schleifer KH, Wagner M. (1999). The domain-specific probe EUB338 is insufficient for the detection of all bacteria: development and evaluation of a more comprehensive probe set. *Syst Appl Microbiol* **22**: 434–444.
- Erkel C, Kube M, Reinhardt R, Liesack W. (2006). Genome of Rice Cluster I archaea the key methane producers in the rice rhizosphere. *Science* **313**: 370–372.
- Farnelid H, Andersson AF, Bertilsson S, Al-Soud WA, Hansen LH, Sørensen S *et al.* (2011). Nitrogenase gene amplicons from global marine surface waters are dominated by genes of non-cyanobacteria. *PLoS One* 6: e19223.
- Farnelid H, Bentzon-Tilia M, Andersson AF, Bertilsson S, Jost G, Labrenz M *et al.* (2013). Active nitrogen-fixing heterotrophic bacteria at and below the chemocline of the central Baltic Sea. *ISME J* (in press).
- Felsenstein J. (1989). PHYLIP Phylogeny inference package (version 3.2). *Cladistics* **5**: 164–166.
- Fürnkranz M, Lukesch B, Müller H, Huss H, Grube M, Berg G. (2012). Microbial diversity inside pumpkins: microhabitat-specific communities display a high antagonistic potential against phytopathogens. *Microb Ecol* 63: 418–428.
- Gaby JC, Buckley DH. (2011). A global census of nitrogenase diversity. *Environ Microbiol* 13: 1790–1799.
- Gaby JC, Buckley DH. (2012). A comprehensive evaluation of PCR primers to amplify the *nifH* gene of nitrogenase. *PLoS One* **7**: e42149.

- Hai B, Diallo NH, Sall S, Haesler F, Schauss K, Bonzi M *et al.* (2009). Quantification of key genes steering the microbial nitrogen cycle in the rhizosphere of sorghum cultivars in tropical agroecosystems. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**: 4993–5000.
- Hardoim PR, Hardoim CC, van Overbeek LS, van Elsas JD. (2012). Dynamics of seed-borne rice endophytes on early plant growth stages. *PLoS One* **7**: e30438.
- Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Berg G. (2011). Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health. *PLoS One* **6**: e24452.
- Köberl M, Ramadan EM, Adam M, Cardinale M, Hallmann J, Heuer H *et al.* (2013). *Bacillus* and *Streptomyces* were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **342**: 168–178.
- Kropf S, Heuer H, Grüning M, Smalla K. (2004). Significance test for comparing complex microbial community fingerprints using pairwise similarity measures. J Microbiol Methods 57: 187–195.
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H *et al.* (2007). ClustalW and ClustalX version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* **23**: 2947–2948.
- López-Lozano NE, Eguiarte LE, Bonilla-Rosso G, García-Oliva F, Martínez-Piedragil C, Rooks C *et al.* (2012). Bacterial communities and the nitrogen cycle in the gypsum soils of Cuatro Ciénegas Basin, Coahuila: a Mars analogue. *Astrobiology* 12: 699–709.
- Loy A, Maixner F, Wagner M, Horn M. (2007). probeBase an online resource for rRNAtargeted oligonucleotide probes: new features 2007. *Nucleic Acids Res* **35**: D800–D804.
- Lü Z, Lu Y. (2012). Complete genome sequence of a thermophilic methanogen, *Methanocella conradii* HZ254, isolated from Chinese rice field soil. *J Bacteriol* **194**: 2398–2399.
- Luske B, van der Kamp J. (2009). Carbon sequestration potential of reclaimed desert soils in Egypt. Louis Bolk Instituut & Soil and More International. http://orgprints.org/16438/1/2192.pdf.

- Manz W, Amann R, Ludwig W, Wagner M, Schleifer KH. (1992). Phylogenetic oligodeoxynucleotide probes for the major subclasses of proteobacteria: problems and solutions. *Syst Appl Microbiol* 15: 593–600.
- Marasco R, Rolli E, Ettoumi B, Vigani G, Mapelli F, Borin S *et al.* (2012). A drought resistance-promoting microbiome is selected by root system under desert farming. *PLoS One* **7**: e48479.
- McKay DL, Blumberg JB. (2006). A review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of chamomile tea (*Matricaria recutita* L.). *Phytother Res* **20**: 519–530.
- Martínez L, Caballero-Mellado J, Orozco J, Martínez-Romero E. (2003). Diazotrophic bacteria associated with banana (*Musa* spp.). *Plant Soil* **257**: 35–47.
- Oldroyd GE. (2013). Speak, friend, and enter: signalling systems that promote beneficial symbiotic associations in plants. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **11**: 252–263.
- Orr CH, James A, Leifert C, Cooper JM, Cummings SP. (2011). Diversity and activity of free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria and total bacteria in organic and conventionally managed soils. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **77**: 911–919.
- R Development Core Team. (2011). R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. http://www.r-project.org.
- Raymond J, Siefert JL, Staples CR, Blankenship RE. (2004). The natural history of nitrogen fixation. *Mol Biol Evol* 21: 541–554.
- Rösch C, Mergel A, Bothe H. (2002). Biodiversity of denitrifying and dinitrogen-fixing bacteria in an acid forest soil. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68: 3818–3829.
- Sakai S, Takaki Y, Shimamura S, Sekine M, Tajima T, Kosugi H *et al.* (2011). Genome sequence of a mesophilic hydrogenotrophic methanogen *Methanocella paludicola*, the first cultivated representative of the order Methanocellales. *PLoS One* **6**: e22898.

- Schwieger F, Tebbe CC. (1998). A new approach to utilize PCR-single-strand-conformation polymorphism for 16S rRNA gene-based microbial community analysis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 64: 4870–4876.
- Shannon CE. (1997). The mathematical theory of communication. 1963. *MD Comput* 14: 306–317.
- Smoot ME, Ono K, Ruscheinski J, Wang PL, Ideker T. (2011). Cytoscape 2.8: new features for data integration and network visualization. *Bioinformatics* **27**: 431–432.
- Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M, Kumar S. (2007). MEGA4: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. *Mol Biol Evol* 24: 1596–1599.
- Ukiya M, Akihisa T, Yasukawa K, Tokuda H, Suzuki T, Kimura Y. (2006). Antiinflammatory, anti-tumor-promoting, and cytotoxic activities of constituents of marigold (*Calendula officinalis*) flowers. *J Nat Prod* 69:1692–1696.
- Wallner G, Amann R, Beisker W. (1993). Optimizing fluorescent *in situ* hybridization with rRNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes for flow cytometric identification of microorganisms. *Cytometry* 14: 136–143.
- White JR, Nagarajan N, Pop M. (2009). Statistical methods for detecting differentially abundant features in clinical metagenomic samples. *PLoS Comput Biol* **5**: e1000352.
- Yang J, Kloepper JW, Ryu CM. (2008). Rhizosphere bacteria help plants tolerate abiotic stress. *Trends Plant Sci* 14: 1–4.
- Zani S, Mellon MT, Collier JL, Zehr JP. (2000). Expression of *nifH* genes in natural microbial assemblages in Lake George, New York, detected by reverse transcriptase PCR. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66: 3119–3124.
- Zehr JP, McReynolds LA. (1989). Use of degenerate oligonucleotides for amplification of the *nifH* gene from the marine cyanobacterium *Trichodesmium thiebautii*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **55**: 2522–2526.

- Zehr JP, Turner PJ. (2001). Nitrogen fixation: nitrogenase genes and gene expression. In: Paul, JH (ed). Methods in microbiology. Academic Press: New York, pp 271–285.
- Zehr JP, Jenkins BD, Short SM, Steward GF. (2003). Nitrogenase gene diversity and microbial community structure: a cross-system comparison. *Environ Microbiol* **5**: 539–554.

Titles and legends to Figures

Figure 1 Abundances of *nifH* genes in bulk soils, rhizosphere, and endorhiza of medical plants detected by qPCR. Wb = desert soil, Sb = agricultural soil; Mc = *M. chamomilla*, Co = *C. officinalis*, Sd = *S. distichum*; Re = endorhiza, rhizosphere has no further designation. Averages of *nifH* gene copy numbers per gram soil or fresh weight as log_{10} and confidences are shown. Significant differences between samples (p ≤ 0.05) are indicated by different letters.

Figure 2 Taxonomic classification of NifH sequences in bulk soils and associated with the rhizosphere of medical plants obtained by 454 amplicon sequencing. Wb = desert soil, Sb = agricultural soil, Mc = *M. chamomilla*, Co = *C. officinalis*, Sd = *S. distichum*. NifH amino acid sequences were classified at class (a) and genus (b) level. From each medical plant, four independent replicate samples were investigated separately. PCR products of soil replicates were pooled to one composite sample per soil type. Clusters containing less than 1% of quality sequences were not designated. Multi-coloured charts at the legend are shown for each soil or rhizosphere type correspondingly.

Figure 3 Phylogenetic composition of diazotrophic communities in desert (Wb, squares) and agricultural soil (Sb, circles). Each library comprised 5 217 high quality NifH sequences clustered at 8% dissimilarity. Neighbour-joining phylogenetic tree was constructed with both one representative sequence per each OTU and the closest database match (accession numbers in brackets). A partial sequence of the light-independent photochlorophyllide reductase subunit L (BchL) from *Chlorobaculum tepidum* (AAG12203) was used as an out-group. Reliability of the tree topology was evaluated by bootstrap analysis with 100 re-samplings (bootstrap values > 50% are indicated as black circles). Sequences were affiliated to the

canonical *nifH* clusters I and III. Numbers of sequences in each cluster are indicated in a heat map. OTUs containing less than 1% of the normalised data set were not phylogenetically designated. The scale bar indicates 0.2 amino acid substitutions per site.

Figure 4 Profile clustering network analysis of NifH sequence libraries of rhizosphere samples from *M. chamomilla*, *C. officinalis* and *S. distichum* at a dissimilarity level of 8%. The abundance values for OTUs with a mean read change between plants of more than 1% of the normalised data set were used. If the ratio of mean OTU read numbers exceeded 2, the OTUs were regarded as altered and assigned to the respective profile. Node sizes of OTUs correspond to the relative abundance of the total data set; nodes matching to abundances of 0.5% and 10% were added as reference points. Distributions between plants are displayed by widths of connection lines. Significances ($p \le 0.05$) are indicated by coloured node borders: red node borders indicate significances between connected and all not linked profiles, green is used for significances between *M.* and *Calendula*, orange for significances between *Calendula* and *Solanum*, and blue for significances between *Matricaria* and *Solanum*; nodes with black borders showing no significant differences. Black node labels indicate a similarity to the taxonomic node label (closest database match) of \ge 95%, whereas gray node labels have a similarity < 95%.

Figure 5 *In situ* visualisation of the bacterial colonisation in the rhizosphere of *M. chamomilla*. Volume rendering (a), corresponding XY, XZ, YZ projections (b), and a threedimensional reconstruction model (c) of confocal laser scanning microscopy stacks. (a-b) yellow = Alphaproteobacteria, pink = Betaproteobacteria, red = other eubacteria, cyan = root tissue (c) green = Alphaproteobacteria, blue = Betaproteobacteria, red = other eubacteria, beige = root tissue. Scale bar = 30 μ m.



Figure 1



Figure 2









Figure 4



Figure 5

Supplementary Information

Table S1 Custom primers including 454 pyrosequencing adaptors (bold), linkers (italic) and sample specific tags (underlined).

Name	Primer sequence
nifH1_MID21	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGCGTAGACTAGTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID22	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAG <u>TACGAGTATG</u> TGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID23	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAG <u>TACTCTCGTG</u> TGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID24	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAG <u>TAGAGACGAG</u> TGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID25	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAG <u>TCGTCGCTCG</u> TGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID26	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACATACGCGTTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID27	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACGCGAGTATTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID28	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACTACTATGTTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID29	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACTGTACAGTTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID30	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGACTATACTTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID31	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGCGTCGTCTTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH1_MID32	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGTACGCTATTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA
nifH2_454	CTATGCGCCTTGCCAGCCCGCTCAGADNGCCATCATYTCNCC

	Quality	Clusters ^c (OTUs)			Chao1 ^d (OTUs)			Coverage (%)			Shannon ^e (H')		
Sample ^a	reads ^b	0%	4%	8%	0%	4%	8%	0%	4%	8%	0%	4%	8%
Wb	5 217	2 487	543	118	18 564	1 050	193	13.4	51.7	61.1	6.20	4.77	1.87
Sb	5 217	3 228	881	290	22 195	1 680	509	14.5	52.4	56.9	7.17	5.41	3.92
Mc1	553	435	230	120	3 990	613	186	10.9	37.5	64.5	5.84	4.77	3.92
Mc2	553	390	206	96	3 479	410	137	11.2	50.2	70.1	5.51	4.48	3.58
Mc3	553	434	226	103	3 834	558	155	11.3	40.5	66.6	5.82	4.68	3.70
Mc4	553	450	263	124	5 292	677	210	8.5	38.8	59.1	5.87	4.92	3.83
Co1	553	415	217	101	2 642	495	146	15.7	43.8	69.2	5.73	4.61	3.67
Co2	553	452	245	111	6 057	633	202	7.5	38.7	55.1	5.88	4.78	3.69
Co3	553	414	210	91	2 209	448	115	18.7	46.9	78.9	5.71	4.49	3.45
Co4	553	422	219	97	3 942	831	166	10.7	26.3	58.4	5.72	4.60	3.62
Sd1	553	425	207	86	4 417	421	168	9.6	49.2	51.2	5.73	4.44	3.26
Sd2	553	446	240	118	3 506	806	281	12.7	29.8	42.0	5.88	4.80	3.89
Sd3	553	431	221	97	4 481	609	162	9.6	36.3	59.8	5.66	4.23	3.30
Sd4	553	476	227	105	5 159	586	190	9.2	38.8	55.3	6.03	4.74	3.74

Table S2 Richness estimates and diversity indices obtained at 0%, 4% and 8% amino acid dissimilarity for NifH sequence libraries of bulk soil and rhizosphere samples.

^aWb = desert soil, Sb = agricultural soil, Mc = M. chamomilla, Co = C. officinalis, Sd = S.

distichum. Numbers indicate the independent replicate sample.

^bquality reads were normalised to the same number of sequences.

^crarefaction curves are depicted in the Supplementary Figure S3.

^dnonparametric richness estimator based on the distribution of singletons and doubletons.

^ea higher number indicates more diversity.

	Desert Soil ^a	ļ	Agricultural	Closest database matches	Similarity
Alphaproteobacteria	001		001		(70)
Rhizohium	93.7%		40.9%	Rhizobium sp. $(GO241353)$	99-100%
Aarobacterium	00.170		12.9%	A tumefaciens (F.1822995)	100%
Methylocystis			38.2%	Methylocystis sp. (EU934433)	100%
Bradyrhizobium	3.4%		5.1%	B elkanii (AB501133)	95%
Bradynnizobiann	0.470		0.170	B_i ianonicum (GO289576)	99%
Mesorhizohium	1.6%			M loti (AB367742)	98%
Methylocella	1.070		2.9%	M palustris (A.1563948)	98%
Bacilli			2.0 /0		0070
Paenibacillus			41 5%	P brasilensis (EL1294253)	96%
			41.070	$P_{aenihacillus sn} (\Delta 1223992)$	95%
Cvanobacteria					0070
Anabaena			100%	A azotica (DQ294218)	100%
	Matricaria	Calendula	Solanum	Closest database matches	Similarity
	chamomilla ^a	officinalis ^a	distichum ^a	(GenBank accession number)	(%)
Alphaproteobacteria					
Rhizobium	8.2-9.9%	8.2-28.5%	≤21.2%	Rhizobium sp. (GQ241353)	99-100%
Agrobacterium	≤17.1%	≤5.6%		A. tumefaciens (FJ822995)	96%
Ensifer	23.9-36.8%	18.1-57.1%	3.2-51.2%	E. adhaerens (JX081993)	97-100%
Methylocystis		≤3.0%	≤5.3%	Methylocystis sp. (AF378718)	99%
Bradyrhizobium	19.4-56.1%	18.0-39.0%	25.6-69.6%	B. japonicum (GQ289574)	95-97%
				Bradyrhizobium sp. (JX079649)	95-98%
				B. japonicum (GQ289566)	95%
Azospirillum	≤3.9%		≤11.5%	A. amazonense (GU256445)	100%
Betaproteobacteria					
Ideonella	≤58.6%	36.0-77.0%	22.2-93.5%	<i>Ideonella</i> sp. (AY231580)	97-99%
Burkholderia		11.0-34.7%	≤2.9%	<i>Burkholderia</i> sp. (JN247661)	98%
Derxia	≤47.8%	5.3-15.7%	≤3.6%	<i>D. gummosa</i> (AB089484)	100%
Dechloromonas	≤19.0%		1.9-65.3%	Dechloromonas sp. (AJ563286)	100%
				Dechloromonas sp. (JX154811)	100%
				Dechloromonas sp. (JX154844)	98%
Azoarcus		≤22.7%	2.6-9.2%	A. communis (U97116)	99%
				<i>Azoarcus</i> sp. (EF158389)	100%
Azospira			≤6.7%	<i>A. oryzae</i> (U97115)	98%
Zoogloea	≤100%	≤5.5%		Z. oryzae (AB201045)	98%
Azonexus			≤3.3%	A. hydrophilus (EF626686)	99%
Gammaproteobacteria					
Azomonas	100%		64.3-100%	A. macrocytogenes (AY644349)	99%
Deltaproteobacteria					
Geoalkalibacter			100%	G. ferrihydriticus (DQ660332)	98%
Bacilli					
Paenibacillus	≤100%			P. brasilensis (EU294253)	98%
				Paenibacillus sp. (AJ223992)	95%

Table S3 Relative composition of bacterial classes identified in the NifH sequence libraries of soils and medicinal plant rhizospheres at genus level.

^aclusters with less than 1% of quality sequences were not designated.



Figure S1 *nifH* PCR-SSCP profiles from desert and agricultural soil as well as the rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medical plants *M. chamomilla*, *C. officinalis* and *S. distichum*. Std.: 1 kb DNA ladder. Closest database matches of the following bands were identified: 1. *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*, 90% similarity to GenBank accession number GQ289576; 2. *Paenibacillus terrae*, 95% similarity to CP003107; 3. *Methanocella conradii*, 96% similarity to CP003243; 4. *Paenibacillus polymyxa*, 96% similarity to HM146187; 5. *Nostoc* sp., 93% similarity to BA000019; 6. *Nostoc punctiforme*, 90% similarity to CP001037; 7. *Anabaena* sp., 92% similarity to HQ836215; 8. *Rhizobium* sp., 95% similarity to FN666268; 9. *Anabaena* sp., 95% similarity to L04499; 10. *Burkholderia xenovorans*, 89% similarity to EF158805.



Figure S2 Comparison analysis of PCR-SSCP profiles of the *nifH* gene patterns in bulk soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medical plants. (a) Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) tree. Numbers indicate independent replicate samples. The dendrogram was generated with GelCompar II using Pearson correlation and an optimisation of 0%. (b) Multidimensional scaling (MDS) ordination plot based on Pearson similarity matrix. Colours correspond to squares in the tree.



Figure S3 Rarefaction analyses for NifH sequence libraries of bulk and rhizosphere soil samples. Wb = desert soil, Sb = agricultural soil, Mc = *M. chamomilla*, Co = *C. officinalis*, Sd = *S. distichum*. For the medical plants, curves are presented from four indipendent replicate samples per species. OTUs are shown at amino acid distance levels of 0%, 4% and 8%.

Book Chapter I

In: Pesticides in the modern world – pests control and pesticides exposure and toxicity assessment, Stoytcheva M, editor (2011) pp 3–26 InTech, Rijeka, Croatia

Using ecological knowledge and molecular tools to develop effective and safe biocontrol strategies

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Bettina Roßmann¹, Charles Staver³, Michael Fürnkranz¹, Birgit Lukesch¹, Martin Grube⁴ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

²SEKEM and Heliopolis University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt

³Bioversity International, Banana and Plantain Section, Montpellier, France ⁴University of Graz, Institute of Plant Sciences, Austria

Using Ecological Knowledge and Molecular Tools to Develop Effective and Safe Biocontrol Strategies

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Bettina Roßmann¹, Charles Staver³, Michael Fürnkranz¹, Birgit Lukesch¹, Martin Grube⁴ and Gabriele Berg¹

1. Introduction

Today's farming systems undermine the well-being of communities in many ways: farming has destroyed huge regions of natural habitats, which also implies a loss of species and their ecosystem services (Sachs et al., 2010). Plant protection measures also causes problems for human health (Horrigan et al., 2002), and agriculture is responsible for about 30% of greenhouse-gas-emission (IPCC, 2007). Furthermore, emerging, re-emerging and endemic plant pathogens continue to challenge our ability to safeguard plant growth and health worldwide (Miller et al., 2009). Therefore, one of the major challenges for the 21st century will be an environmentally sound and sustainable crop production.

Microbial inoculants containing microorganisms with beneficial plant-microbe interactions have a great potential to contribute to this objective (Berg, 2009; Bhattacharjee et al., 2008). Over the past 150 years, research has demonstrated repeatedly that bacteria and fungi have an intimate interaction with their host plants and are able to promote plant growth as well as to suppress plant pathogens (Compant et al., 2005; Lugtenberg & Kamilova, 2009; Weller et al., 2002; Weller, 2007; Whipps, 2001). All plant-associated microenvironments, especially the rhizosphere, are colonized in high abundances by antagonistic microbes (Berg et al., 2005a). Between 1 and 35% of the microbial inhabitants showed antagonistic capacity to inhibit the growth of pathogens *in vitro* (Berg et al., 2002, 2006). The proportion of isolates, which express plant growth promoting traits is much higher in general, and was found up to 2/3 of the cultivable population (Cattelan et al., 1999; Fürnkranz et al., 2009; Lottmann et al., 1999). Diverse microbial inoculants, which were selected from this promising indigenous potential, are already on the market. In recent years, the popularity of microbial inoculants has increased substantially, as extensive and systematic research has enhanced their effectiveness and consistency (Berg, 2009).

New molecular and microscopic techniques are one reason for progress in biocontrol research. These techniques have enhanced our understanding about the plant and especially

²SEKEM and Heliopolis University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

³Bioversity International, Banana and Plantain Section, Montpellier, France

⁴University of Graz, Institute of Plant Sciences, Austria

the rhizosphere as a microbial ecosystem and resulted into more effective screening strategies for bioactive microbes. In this chapter we will discuss these points first in general and in a second part with three representative examples.

2. Molecular and microscopic tools in biocontrol research

Molecular and microscopic tools can be used to study the ecology of single plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) or biological control agent (BCA) strains or to analyse the structure and function of the target microbial community. In a first step we will analyse the use of methods for single strains (Table 1). Here, molecular fingerprints using repetitive elements in the genome (Rademaker & de Bruijn, 1997) can be used at several levels of biocontrol research. While the functions of many of these repetitive sequence elements are still unknown, they have proven to be useful as the basis of several powerful tools for use in microbial ecology. The repetitive, sequence-based PCR or rep-PCR DNA fingerprint technique uses primers targeting several of these repetitive elements and PCR to generate unique DNA profiles or 'fingerprints' of individual microbial strains (Ishii & Sadowsky, 2009). In screening strategies, these fingerprints can be applied to differentiate strains at population level and to select only unique isolates (Berg et al., 2006; Faltin et al., 2004). In a later stage, these highly reproducible fingerprints can be used for identity check and quality control. Genome sequencing also offers a tool to study PGPRs in great detail. Strains of Pseudomonas fluorescens, one of the dominant and cosmopolitan plant-associated species (Weller, 2007), were the first sequenced strains (Paulsen et al., 2005). Genomic information allowed the analysis of the mode of action, detailed investigations of interactions as well as optimisation of fermentation and formulation processes (rev. in Gross & Loper, 2009). De Bruijn et al. (2007) used genome mining to discover unknown gene clusters and traits that are highly relevant in the life style of P. fluorescens SBW25. Proteomic and transcriptomic studies are interesting to study the function of BCAs. For example, Garbeva et al. (2011) studied transcriptional and antagonistic responses of Pseudomonas fluorescens Pf0-1 to phylogenetically different bacterial competitors (Bacillus, Brevundimonas and Pedobacter), which demonstrated that Pf0-1 shows a species-specific response to bacterial competitors. In another transcriptomic study published by Hassan et al. (2010), a whole genome oligonucleotide microarray was developed for P. fluorescens Pf-5 and used to assess the consequences of a gacA mutation: GacA significantly influenced transcript levels of 10% of the 6147 annotated genes in the Pf-5 genome including genes involved in the production of hydrogen cyanide, pyoluteorin and the extracellular protease. Transcriptomic studies can also lead to new insights into plant responses on BCAs: Pseudomonas-primed barley genes indicated that, as is the case in dicots, jasmonic acid plays a role in host responses (Petti et al., 2010). A new tool is metabolomics, which allow the analysis of metabolites in situ. This is not only a technique to answer questions about the activity ad planta, it is also important for registration procedures, which are still a high hurdle on the way to the market. Frimmersdorf et al. (2010) used a metabolomic approach to show how Pseudomonas aeruginosa adapts to various environments. In addition, analysis of the mobilome of strains can result in interesting findings for biocontrol research as shown for P. fluorescens Pf-5 by Mavrodi et al. (2009), in which mobile genetic elements contain determinants that contribute to Pf-5's ability to adapt to changing environmental conditions and/or colonize new ecological niches. Studying the colonisation of plants has been greatly facilitated by the application of fluorescent proteins which are used as vital markers and reporter genes (rev. in Bloemberg, 2007). These new insights have changed our understanding about

colonisation; many of the strains analysed showed an endophytic life style (Chin-A-Woeng et al., 1997; Zachow et al., 2010), and the "root shield", which was hypothesized in former times, was rarely found in contrast to single cells and micro-colonies. Raman-FISH combines stable-isotope Raman spectroscopy and fluorescence *in situ* hybridization for the single cell analysis of identity and function (Huang et al., 2007a). This potential has been demonstrated through the discriminant functional analysis of Raman spectral profiles (RSP) obtained from the soil and plant-associated bacterium *P. fluorescens* SBW25; results suggests that SBW25 growth in the phytosphere is generally neither carbon-catabolite-repressed nor carbon-limited (Huang et al., 2007b).

5

Molecular tools were also used to analyse target habitats of biocontrol studies (Table 1). Cultivation-based methods to analyse plant-associated bacteria only address the culturable fraction, which are thought to represent only a small proportion (0.1 to 10%) of the total bacteria present in soil and in the rhizosphere (Amann et al., 1995). The analysis of nucleic acids directly extracted from plant microenvironments opened the chance to study a much broader spectrum of microbes (Table 1). Most frequently ribosomal RNA gene fragments are amplified from total community DNA and subsequently analysed by fingerprinting techniques: Terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP), single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP), denaturing/temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (D/TGGE) using universal/specific primers (Schwieger & Tebbe, 1998; Smalla et al., 2007). Application of these fingerprinting techniques resulted in important findings such as plantspecific microbial communities (Smalla et al., 2001), the impact of cultivars on microbial communities (Milling et al., 2004) or the structure of endophytic communities (Rasche et al., 2006). Fingerprinting techniques are often used to analyse the structure of plant-associated communities and can also be used to study functional aspects. For example, Briones et al. (2002) found cultivar-specific differences for ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) in rice rhizospheres by a multiphasic approach including DGGE of the amoA gene, analysis of libraries of cloned amoA, fluorescently tagged oligonucleotide probes targeting 16S rRNA of

Objective/Level	Isolates: BCAs and pathogens	Microbial communities		
Molecular fingerprints	Rep-PCR (BOX)	T-RFLP, SSCP, D/TGGE using universal/specific primers		
Genomic information	Genome sequencing	Metagenome		
Functions Functional diversity	Transcriptomics (RNA- based) Proteomics (Protein-based)	Metatranscriptome Metaproteome		
Bioactive compounds	Metabolome	Metabolome		
Adaptation/evolution	Mobilome	Metamobilome		
Visualisation/activity	GFP/DsRed labelled strains, CLSM Raman spectroscopy and fluorescence <i>in situ</i> hybridization (FISH)	FISH-CLSM		

Table 1. Molecular and microscopic tools in biocontrol research.

AOBs as well as metabolism rates obtained by the 15N dilution technique. Other techniques have a great impact on our functional understanding; this was shown for example for transcriptome profiling (Mark et al., 2005; Yuan et al., 2008), microarrays (Sanguin et al., 2006; Weinert et al., 2011) *in vivo* expression technology and differential fluorescence induction promoter traps as tools for exploring niche-specific gene expression (Rediers et al., 2005), new methods for the *in situ* analysis of antifungal gene expression using flow cytometry combined with green fluorescent protein (GFP)-based reporter fusions (de Werra et al., 2008), barcode pyrosequencing (Gomes et al., 2010), and ultra deep sequencing (Velicer et al., 2006). Stable isotope probing (SIP) used to determine bacterial communities assimilating each carbon source in the rhizosphere of four plant species resulted in plant species specific patterns (Haichar et al., 2008). Metagenomic approaches have been established to analyse the plant-soil interface (Erkel et al., 2006; rev. in Leveau, 2007).

3. Using ecological knowledge to screen and evaluate biocontrol agents

The advanced techniques discussed above should be integrated into strategies to screen and evaluate biocontrol agents (Fig. 1). Of primary importance is the life cycle of the pathogen. This can result in new targets for biocontrol; one example is the impact of zoospores on pathogenic oomycetes, which are primary targets for suppression (de Bruijn et al., 2007; Raaijmakers et al., 2010). Furthermore, it is also important to understand the target microenvironment of plants. Plant specificity is one critical point but also knowledge about the structure and function of the microbial communities. There are strategies to select BCAs from the indigenous antagonistic potential as well as to use ubiquitous, cosmopolitan BCAs (Zachow et al., 2010). If a BCA is selected, an evaluation strategy is needed to assess their potential for commercialization.



Fig. 1. Integration of ecological knowledge into screening and evaluation strategies.

Knowledge about the effect of BCAs under greenhouse and field conditions presents the basis for this evaluation. However, often inconsistent effects make the decision difficult. Detailed analyses of plant-microbe and pathogen-microbe interactions under different environmental conditions can help to optimize the biocontrol effect under practical conditions. Another aspect, which should be integrated in an early phase of evaluation, is

biosafety. Many BCAs fail here due to problems with human or environmental health. Due to the fact that the whole program to investigate toxicology is time-consuming and expensive, alternative test systems should be used, e.g. the *Caenorhabditis elegans* assay (Zachow et al., 2009) or Duckweed (*Lemna minor*) as a model plant system for the study of human microbial pathogenesis (Zhang et al., 2010).

4. Examples for screening and evaluation strategies

4.1 Strategy to control soil-borne pathogens on medical plants under organic conditions in Egypt

On the SEKEM farms in Egypt desert land was converted into arable land, and biodynamic agriculture is operated for over 30 years now (www.sekem.com). Today SEKEM is carrying out organic agriculture on more than 4100 hectares and has the largest market for organic products outside Europe and North America. They produce organic foods, spices, tea, cotton textiles and natural remedies. However, the cultivation especially of medical plants is more and more affected by soil-borne phytopathogens, which lead to significant yield losses. The objective of our study was to develop a specific biocontrol strategy for desert farming.

An important factor was to find out, whether and how the highly specialized natural microbial communities of the desert soil are affected by agriculture and watering. To examine the impact of organic agriculture on bacterial diversity and community compositions in desert soil, soil from a SEKEM farm in comparison to the surrounding desert soil were assessed by a pyrosequencing-based analysis of partial 16S rRNA gene sequences. When appropriate primers are chosen, in a pyrosequencing analysis with short reads the microbial diversity is represented almost as reliably as with near-full-length sequences (Will et al., 2010). Fragments encompassing the V4-V5 region of the 16S rRNA gene provide estimates comparable to those obtained with the nearly complete fragment (Youssef et al., 2009). In desert soil 19244 and in agricultural soil 33384 quality sequences with a read length of \geq 150 bp were recovered. Using different data bases, 83.0% of all quality sequences could be classified below the domain level, in the range of the percentage of classified 16S rRNA gene sequences of other pyrosequencing-based studies (Lauber et al., 2009; Lazarevic et al., 2009; Will et al., 2010). The computed Shannon indices of diversity (H') (Shannon, 1997) were much higher for agricultural soil than for desert soil (H' at a dissimilarity level of 20%: SEKEM soil 4.29; desert soil 3.54); this indicates a higher bacterial diversity in soil due the agricultural use of the desert. A comparison of rarefaction analyses with the number of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) estimated by the Chao1 richness estimator (Chao & Bunge, 2002; Will et al., 2010) revealed that at this genetic distance the surveying effort in both soils covered almost the full extent (over 97% in both soils) of taxonomic diversity. This was also shown by a clear saturation of both curves in the rarefaction analysis (data not shown). The 43673 classifiable sequences obtained from both soil types together were affiliated with 18 different phyla. Dominant groups were especially Proteobacteria (30.2%), Firmicutes (27.3%) and Actinobacteria (10.5%). These dominant phyla were present in both soils. In detail, Firmicutes were highly enriched in agricultural soil (from 11.3% in desert soil to 36.6% in SEKEM soil), Proteobacteria (46.0% in desert soil and 21.0% in SEKEM soil) and Actinobacteria (20.7% in desert soil and 4.6% in SEKEM soil) occurred in SEKEM in lower abundances than in the surrounding desert. In addition, in both soils Bacteroidetes (4.6% and 5.3%) and Gemmatimonadetes (1.4% and 1.9%) were present. Whereas Acidobacteria (7.9%) and Planctomycetes (1.1%) were only present in the agricultural soil, *Deinococcus-Thermus* (1.1%) was only detectable in the desert sand. These abundances of the phyla are coextensive with results from previously reported metaanalysis of bacterial community composition in soils and, despite the specific soil type of the desert, the composition covers rather well with studies of completely different soils (Hansel et al., 2008; Janssen, 2006; Lauber et al, 2009; Will et al., 2010). However, greatly different from all reported studies was the high abundance of Firmicutes. Janssen (2006) reported them to contribute only a mean of 2% (range 0 - 8%) in the total bacterial soil community. Most of the Firmicutes sequences were classified as belonging to the genus *Bacillus*; in the agricultural soil also the phylogenetically related genus *Paenibacillus* was found (5% of classified Firmicutes). In desert soil, *Ochrobactrum* was the most abundant genus within the (Alpha-)Proteobacteria (79% of classified Proteobacteria) and *Rhodococcus* among the Actinobacteria (90% of classified Actinobacteria). The Acidobacteria in the agricultural soil are affiliated only with subdivision 6.

Additionally to the pyrosequencing analysis, the composition of the bacterial as well as fungal community in the two different soil types was investigated by SSCP analysis of rRNA gene fragments (Bassam et al., 1991; Schwieger & Tebbe, 1998). Furthermore, the composition of the microbial community in rhizosphere and endorhiza of three different species of medical plants (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. and Solanum distichum Schumach. & Thonn.) grown under organic conditions on SEKEM farms were examined. According to the cluster analysis prepared on the basis of SSCP community fingerprints, the agricultural soil in bacterial as well as in fungal community composition strongly differed from the desert soil. As shown in the pyrosequencing analysis, in comparison to the desert in soil of the SEKEM farm an impressive diversity of bacteria, expressed as various bands in the gel, was found (data not shown). In the bacterial community of the desert soil, two dominant bacterial bands could be detected, which were also visible in all samples from the endorhiza of all three investigated medical plants. This shows that bacteria are taken up by the plants from the soil, and that soil is the main reservoir for biological control agents. The two dominant bands were identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis as Ochrobactrum sp. (closest database match O. grignonense) and Rhodococcus sp. (closest database match R. erythropolis). Further, nearly in all samples Bacillus sp. was found (closest database match B. subtilis). By SSCP analysis and also by the pyrosequencing approach, Ochrobactrum and Rhodococcus could be detected as dominant bacteria. However, both genera include opportunistic human pathogens (O. anthropi, R. equi). Several studies provided evidence that similar or even identical functions are responsible for beneficial interactions with plants and virulence in humans (Berg et al., 2011). For Ochrobactrum was already detected the production of plant growth hormones and siderophores and also an antifungal activity towards several phytopathogens was described (Chakraborty et al., 2009). Ochrobactrum was found in diverse environmental niches, like rhizosphere, soil, sediments and activated sludge (Berg et al., 2005b). Rhodococcus could also be found in a broad range of environments, including soil, water and eukaryotic cells. This genus includes also a phytopathogenic species causing leafy gall formation on a wide range of host plants, R. fascians (Goethals et al., 2001). The fungal community fingerprints included a quite high diversity in all microenvironments. As an example, SSCP profiles of fungal communities in rhizosphere and endorhiza are shown in Figure 2. A dominant band, which was found nearly in all samples, was identified as



Fig. 2. SSCP profiles of the fungal communities in rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medical plants. Four independent replicates per plant and microenvironment were loaded onto the gel. Std.: 1 kb DNA ladder.

Verticillium dahlae, which is one of the mainly occurring soil-borne phytopathogens on the SEKEM farms. In general, mainly potential plant pathogens were found within the fungal communities. The obligate root-infecting pathogen *Olpidium*, belonging to the fungal phylum Chytridiomycota, was found especially in the rhizosphere and endorhiza of *Matricaria chamomilla*. *Alternaria* and *Acremonium* were found primarily in the rhizosphere samples. According to the generated dendrograms, a clear plant specificity of the bacterial and fungal communities in the rhizosphere as well as in the endorhiza was found (Fig. 3). Furthermore, microenvironment-specific SSCP patterns of the bacterial and the fungal communities were detected (data not shown). There were significant differences between the rhizosphere and the endorhiza of the medical plants. In general, samples from the rhizosphere generated more bands than samples from the endorhiza of the medical plants, which indicate that a sub-set of rhizobacteria was able to invade the root.

The major problems in the cultivation of plants on SEKEM farms are caused by the soilborne pathogenic fungi *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb., *Rhizoctonia solani* J.G. Kühn and *Fusarium culmorum* (Wm.G. Sm.) Sacc. as well as by the soil-borne pathogenic bacterium *Ralstonia solanacearum*. Although grown in organic agriculture, which aims to minimize the impact on the environment by practices such as crop rotation, using pathogen resistant cultivars, and the use of organic manure (compost) instead of synthetic fertilizers (Schmid et al., 2011), they have an increasing importance. One reason is an intensive growing of a limited number



Fig. 3. UPGMA dendrograms of bacterial (A) and fungal (B) communities in rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medical plants. The dendrograms were generated from the SSCP community profiles with GelCompar II. The following settings were used: dendrogram type: unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA); similarity coefficient: band based: dice; position tolerances: optimization: 4%, position tolerance: 1%.

of crops in short rotations. Here, biocontrol agents should solve these problems and help to suppress soil-borne pathogens on a natural way. Although BCAs are already on the market, our biocontrol product will be optimized for desert farming - regarding soil, weather, pathogen species, etc. For this reason, autochthonous bacteria were isolated from rhizosphere and endorhiza of medical plants as well as from bulk soil collected in SEKEM farms, and were evaluated for their potential for biocontrol. In a first step, the dual-culture assay was used to find out the antagonistic potential towards the pathogenic fungi (Berg et al., 2002, 2005a). A total of 1589 bacterial isolates were screened for their ability to inhibit in vitro the growth of Verticillium dahliae, Rhizoctonia solani and Fusarium culmorum. Bacterial isolates obtained from the soil of the SEKEM farm exhibited a higher in vitro antagonistic potential towards soil-borne phytopathogenic fungi in comparison to the bacteria isolated from the desert soil (SEKEM 21.6 \pm 0.8%; desert 12.4 \pm 0.7%). From the agricultural soil 17.4% (27 isolates) demonstrated antagonism towards all three pathogens, from the desert soil 10.6% (21 isolates) were able to suppress the growth of all fungi tested. Already the desert soil harbours a high proportion of antagonists, which were augmented by organic agriculture in SEKEM soil. The soil from the farm seems to be supplied with antagonists in such an optimal way, that there was no detectable enrichment of antagonists in the rhizosphere and endorhiza of the investigated medical plants. In general, Matricaria *chamomilla* and *Solanum distichum* showed a better antagonistic potential than *Calendula officinalis*. Especially the endorhiza from *Matricaria chamomilla* harbours a high proportion of antagonists. Whereas in the soil and in the rhizosphere could be found most antagonistic bacteria towards *Fusarium culmorum*, in the endorhiza of the medical plants most antagonists were found towards *Verticillium dahliae*.

In a next step, the antagonistic mechanisms of all isolates, which showed an activity towards at least two of the investigated pathogenic fungi (162 isolates), were investigated *in vitro* with a special focus on fungal cell wall degrading enzymes (β -1,3-glucanase, chitinase and protease) (Chernin et al., 1995; Grube et al., 2009) and siderophore-production (Schwyn & Neilands, 1987). Production of chitinase could be detected for 8.0% of the antagonists; *Lysobacter enzymogenes* followed by all isolates of *Streptomyces* showed a high chitinolytic activity. Glucanase activity was shown for nearly all isolated antagonists (93.8%); only the isolates of the *Bacillus cereus* group were not able to degrade β -1,3-glucan. Casein degradation by protease could be shown at 80.9% (*Bacillus* sp. and *Lysobacter* sp.). The production of siderophores was shown for all antagonists except the isolates of *Paenibacillus* sp. (93.2%).

To avoid investigations with genetically similar strains, amplified rRNA gene restriction analysis (ARDRA) of the 16S rRNA gene with the restriction endonuclease HhaI (Zachow et al., 2008) and BOX polymerase chain reaction fingerprints (Berg et al., 2002; Rademaker & de Bruijn, 1997) of the antagonistic isolates were performed. A representative selection of promising biological control agents was identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing. The use of ARDRA of the 16S rRNA gene with the restriction enzyme HhaI led to the separation of isolates clustered into five groups (data not shown); within groups the similarity of the band patterns was 100% identical: Bacillus subtilis group, Bacillus cereus group, Paenibacillus, Streptomyces and Lysobacter. Except Lysobacter (only one isolate from the rhizosphere of Matricaria chamomilla) only gram-positive antagonists were found. All microenvironments were dominated by antagonists from the Firmicutes branch. Bacillus and Paenibacillus could be isolated from all habitats. Antagonistic isolates of the genus Streptomyces were found exclusively in desert soil. Especially within the large ARDRA cluster of the Bacillus subtilis group containing 123 isolates, analysis of the BOX PCR fingerprints showed a high genotypic diversity. At a cutoff level of 80%, they could be divided into 39 genotypic groups. The genus Paenibacillus could be divided into 11 BOX clusters, Streptomyces was subdivided in three genotypes. According to the ARDRA and BOX dendrograms, 46 preferably genotypically different strains were selected to test them on their antibacterial activity towards Ralstonia solanacearum (Adesina et al., 2007) and Escherichia coli. The cluster of the Bacillus cereus group was completely excluded for further investigations, because of some human pathogenic strains belonging to this taxonomic group. Most isolates of the genus Paenibacillus (identified as P. brasilensis and P. polymyxa) were able to inhibit in vitro the growth of E. coli (7 of 11 isolates), but these strains showed no antagonistic activity towards R. solanacearum. The growth of R. solanacearum was inhibited by 32.6% of the selected antagonists: most isolates of Streptomyces (3 of 4 isolates) and some strains of the Bacillus subtilis group (12 of 30 isolates).

Organic amendments like manure, compost and cover crops positively affected the disease suppressiveness of SEKEM soil. During decomposition of organic matter in soil, the ecosystem is subjected to oligotrophication. The ratio of oligotrophic to copiotrophic organisms changes during microbial succession, and this has been associated with general disease suppression (van Bruggen & Semenov, 2000; Garbeva et al., 2004). Our cultivation-

independent approaches showed an extraordinary high Firmicutes level in SEKEM soils. By cultivation and characterization, the antagonistic role of *Bacillus* and *Paenibacillus* (both Firmicutes) was identified. Both are well-known and potent in biocontrol (Berg, 2009; Schisler et al., 2004; Tupinambá et al., 2008). These gram-positive bacteria have a natural formulation advantage due to their ability to form durable, heat-resistant endospores (Emmert & Handelsman, 1999). *Lysobacter* was the only gram-negative genus identified (Park et al., 2008). This is in contrast to the majority of other studies, where members of the *Pseudomonas* genus play a major role (Haas & Défago, 2005; Weller et al. 2007). Due to the fact that the proportion of antagonistic strains in soil and root is already high, biocontrol strategies could aim to enhance the diversity of the antagonistic community by application of *Lysobacter*, *Pseudomonas* or *Serratia* strains. However, in our study we selected promising candidates, which will be tested *ad planta* in comparison to these often used antagonists.

4.2 Strategy to control Fusarium wilt in bananas in Uganda

12

The banana family Musaceae includes monocotyledonous plants of the genera Ensete, Musa and Musella. Most important is the genus Musa comprising 50 to 100 species and cultivars including those with edible fruits like dessert or cooking banana, species with inedible fruits like ornamental bananas or those used for fibres production (Li et al., 2010). In many countries in Africa, Latin America, Asia or the Caribbean, banana production is an important source of income. Banana is the fourth important staple food after rice, wheat and milk in Uganda, the country with the highest per capita consumption per year of cooking banana and the second largest producer after India in the world. Farmers have to deal with several problems as plant pests and diseases, climate change or soil depletion. Diseases caused by fungi, bacteria and viruses are the most limiting factors of high quality production. Fusarium wilt, caused by Fusarium oxysporum f.sp. cubense (Foc), is the most severe disease in banana plants, which leads to high yield losses (Ploetz, 2006). An infestation with the phytopathogen compromises the water and nutrient transport that can cause, in the worst case, the death of the plant. Foc belongs to the F. oxysporum species complex, which is distributed in a broad range of soils and causes serious symptoms on numerous host plants. Despite its ubiquitous occurrence, a morphological identification is difficult and is based primarily on the structure and abundance of asexual reproductive structures and on cultural characterizations (Fourie et al., 2011). The species is divided into more than 150 formae specialis and further subdivided in races, depending on the affected plant cultivars. F. oxysporum persists in soil as immobile chlamydospore until germinating by utilizing nutrients released from plant roots. The life cycle of the fungus commences with a penetration of the spore germ tube or the mycelium of the plants root tip. Further, wounds facilitate the endophyte an entrance of the potential host. When the mycelium entered the xylem vessel, it travels upwards through the plant. In later stages, microconidia are produced, which are distributed in the vessel system and germinate when their movement is stopped. This decreases water and nutrient transport, resulting in severe wilt and eventually death of the plant. Early symptoms of an infestation are reddish brown colouration of the xylem, a yellowing of old leaves and a beginning of wilt. In advanced stages, pseudostem coating leaves collapse and die. The pseudostem sometimes splits. Internally, xylem vessels of the roots and the rhizome turn reddish-brown as the fungus grows through the tissue (Aboul-Soud et al., 2004; Daly & Walduck, 2006). Different studies with bananas and banana plants in vitro and in vivo have shown that plants harbour fungal and bacterial organisms with antagonistic potential towards plant pathogens (Cao et al.,

2005; de Costa et al., 1997; Lian et al., 2008). However, an efficient strategy to control fungal pathogens especially *Foc* is still missing. In our study, we used molecular techniques to study banana-associated microbial communities in detail and focus on endophytes, which have a great potential for biocontrol of vascular diseases.

For screening of antagonists the rhizosphere, the endosphere and bulk soil of Ugandan banana plants were analysed. The term endosphere refers to the pseudostem of the plant, which is not lignified. Bananas grown in four different fields (variants) in Central Uganda characterized by different manure systems and/or agro-forest systems were sampled. In the first step, bacterial and fungal abundances in the microhabitats were examined. Surprisingly, the highest bacterial abundances with $\log_{10} 9.4 \pm 0.1$ g⁻¹ fw were calculated for the endosphere followed by the rhizosphere with $log_{10} 8.4 \pm 0.3$ g⁻¹ fw and soil with $log_{10} 7.7 \pm 0.3$ g⁻¹ fw from R2A medium. Similar values for all microhabitats ranging from $log_{10} 6.2 \pm 0.2$ g⁻¹ fw for rhizosphere followed by soil and endosphere with almost same abundances of $log_{10} 5.5 \pm 0.3$ g⁻¹ fw and $log_{10} 5.4 \pm 0.3$ g-1 fw were estimated for fungal isolates on synthetic nutrient-poor agar (SNA). A total of 1152 bacterial isolates from different media as R2A, MacConkey (for enrichment of Enterobacteriaceae) and King's B medium (for enrichment of Pseudomonas) and 586 fungi from SNA medium were randomly selected and screened in vitro for their antagonistic potential towards the pathogens. The target pathogen was also isolated from bananas in Uganda. Interestingly, different fungal species were identified: F. oxysporum f.sp. cubense, Fusarium chlamydosporum, and Colletotrichum musae. The latter are known as "low" pathogens; however, strains of all three species were integrated in the screening strategy. The antagonistic activity of bacteria or fungi towards the pathogen evaluated by the method of Berg et al. (2006) ranged from 3 - 6%. Altogether 37 highly active bacterial and 36 fungal strains were further characterized. ARDRA genotyping was able to distinguish bacteria on genus level into Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Burkholderia and Serratia. With repetitive BOX PCR a further characterization on population level was performed. Members of the genus Burkholderia were more diverse than those of Serratia (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. BOX analysis on species level of bacterial antagonists. First seven isolates were identified as *Burkholderia* species and the other seven as *Serratia marcescens*. For identification of isolates the following abbreviations were used: a) habitat with R for rhizosphere, S for soil and E for endosphere, b) number of variant from 1 to 4, c) medium isolated from MC for MacConkey agar, KB for King's B agar, R2A for R2A agar and SNA for synthetic nutrient-poor agar d) number of replicate from 1 to 4 and e) number of isolate from 1 to 14.

Additionally, the best antagonists were screened for their ability to produce lytic enzymes like glucanase or protease, which are known for their positive influence in combating fungal pathogens by enzymatic degradation of the cell wall (Kamensky et al., 2003). Further, the production of siderophores, short-chained quorum sensing molecules and the auxin indole-3-acetic-acid (IAA) was investigated, which are involved in plant growth promoting processes. The results indicated that 100% of the tested isolates produced an active protease, while only a single isolate, which was identified as *Bacillus indicus*, was able to degrade glucan. Nearly all strains (94.6%) produced siderophores but only 21.6% isolates, belonging to the genera *Pseudomonas* and *Burkholderia*, released quorum sensing molecules. Seven isolates were positively tested for production of IAA, all of them identified as *Serratia marcescens*. To characterize fungal isolates, morphological groups were identified. Sequencing analysis of the ITS region indicated, that the majority of isolates belong to the genera *Penicillium*, *Paecilomyces*, *Fusarium* and *Mortierella*. All of them include known biocontrol strains, some actually tested in *Musa* spp. like non-pathogenic *F. oxysporum* strains (Kidane, 2008).

Cultivation independent analyses include the fingerprint method SSCP, quantitative PCR (qPCR), metagenome analysis and confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) in combination with fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH). Using SSCP fingerprints, a high specificity was shown for each microenvironment of banana, particularly for the endosphere. The patterns obtained from the bacterial community using universal primers were highly diverse, especially for rhizosphere and soil. This is a typical picture for environmental samples, especially for soil. A detection of bacterial species ranges up to 100 most dominant ones. This problem can be solved by using of more specific primers, e.g. for Pseudomonas or Enterobacteriaceae. Using both in analyses, specific patterns for each habitat appeared. Surprisingly, comparing all fields with different treatments or environmental influence, bacterial, enteric and fungal community didn't show distinct patterns. This could be explained by a high specificity of banana-associated bacteria independent from the site. The Pseudomonas community was more sensitive, but each site showed an individual pattern. In our study, we found that Enterobacteriaceae were extraordinarily present in and around cultivated banana plants. Therefore, further investigations on the microhabitatspecific communities were performed using a metagenomic approach. The sequences (1944 - 23800) obtained after pyrosequencing were aligned with databases and identified on genus level. In Figure 5 taxa including more than 1% of the totally analysed community were presented. Each habitat harboured a specific arrangement of genera. In the two rhizosphere variants, more than 40% of the identified genera are members of the Enterobacter community, followed by Serratia, Pantoea and Klebsiella with almost 40% and some other genera making up less than 20%. The bacterial composition in the endosphere differed from the rhizosphere samples with a lower number of Enterobacter and higher presence of the genus Raoultella. The highest species richness was shown for the soil sample, with the dominant genus Pantoea with known plant growth promoting species (Bonaterra et al., 2005; Braun-Kiewnick et al., 2000). Serratia, Klebsiella and Enterobacter represented together more than 40% of the analysed species. The analysis illustrates that depending on the investigated microhabitat, different species dominated. For the majority of the listed genera, species with growth promoting abilities are described. In different parts of the plant, diverse species play a key role, like Enterobacter in rhizosphere or Pantoea in soil and endosphere. To complement pyrosequencing data, a further assessment of Pseudomonas and Enterobacteriaceae was performed with quantitative PCR. Similar results were measured for both communities; the highest copy numbers g-1 fresh material of enterics and pseudomonads were detected in endosphere with $\log_{10} 8.4 \pm 0.5$ for *Pseudomonas* and $\log_{10} 7.9 \pm 0.2$ for Enterobacteriaceae
followed by rhizosphere with $\log_{10} 7.2 \pm 0.6$ and $\log_{10} 6.8 \pm 0.4$ and last with $\log_{10} 6.3 \pm 0.8$ for enterics in soil. In the *Pseudomonas*-specific analysis, no data for soil were received due to values under the detection limit. With confocal laser scanning analysis (CLSM) detection of different bacterial classes as Alpha-, Beta- and Gammaproteobacteria was performed to illustration our data. Due to the fact, that the number of enterics was extraordinary high in prior analyses, the focus in microscopy was also set on *Enterobacteriaceae*. The microscopic analysis confirmed the previous results, with the detection of a high number of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the endosphere and also lower detection in rhizosphere.



Fig. 5. Genera of the Enterobacteriaceae community associated with banana plants. Two rhizosphere samples under influence of agro-forest (shaded = S) and not (non-shaded = NS) and one sample from soil and endosphere in comparison. DNA was amplified with enterics-specific primers and analysed by pyrosequencing and identification with the web server SnoWMAn 1.7. The pipeline used was BLAT, NCBI database was selected and included taxa covering more than 1%. Phylogenetic groups accounting for ≤ 1 % of all quality sequences are summarized in the artificial group others.

This multiphasic approach showed that the pseudostem of banana – the endosphere – is a unique microenvironment in plants. It is characterized by extremely high microbial abundances, a high diversity and specificity, but a low proportion of antagonistic strains. Enterics play a key role in the bacterial community; they are dominant and represent a cluster of antagonists. However, they also contain human and plant pathogenic species. The endosphere should be the target habitat for biocontrol strategies: the number of strains with a beneficial plant impact should be enhanced here. We have isolated promising strains of *Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Burkholderia* and *Serratia,* which are interesting candidates for *ad planta* experiments. However, it is necessary to pay attention to the enteric community in bananas, especially to the pathogens.

4.3 Strategy to control a multi-species disease in the Styrian oilseed pumpkin

Styrian oil pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo* L. subsp. *pepo* var. *styriaca* Greb.) is a pumpkin variety that bears its name according to its origin of cultivation that is the Austrian district Styria. The specialty of this cultivar is the absence of a wooden seed shell that facilitates the production of pumpkin seed oil. Beside the culinary aspect of this dark green oil it is

famous as a very healthy nutritional supplement containing high levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids, antioxidants, vitamins A, B1, B2, B6, C, D, E and counteracts diseases of bladder and prostate.

In recent years, dramatic yield losses of Styrian oil pumpkin were reported in Styria due to black rot of pumpkins caused by Didymella bryoniae (Auersw.) Rehm, anamorph Phoma cucurbitacearum (Fr.) (Huss et al., 2007). The ascomycete has a broad host range within the Cucurbitaceae and causes symptoms on vegetative plant parts known as gummy stem blight (Keinath et al., 1995). It spreads from temperate to tropical regions of the world (Sitterly & Keinath, 1996). Fruits, leaves and flower scars are invaded by the pathogen and it can also be seed-borne (Lee et al., 1984; Ling et al., 2010; de Neergaard, 1989; Sitterly & Keinath, 1996). By cultivation-independent SSCP fingerprinting of the fungal ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region in combination with DNA sequencing and BLAST analysis (Altschul et al., 1997), it was detected as well in roots of oil pumpkin (data not shown). This underlines the potential establishment of the pathogen even in soils (Bruton, 1998). The analysis of the phenotypic and genotypic variability of the pathogen across different oil pumpkin fields in Styria resulted in a remarkable high morphological versatility in contrast to a low genetic diversity (Zitzenbacher, pers. communication). Styrian oil pumpkins are also affected by bacterial pathogens Pectobacterium carotovorum subsp. carotovorum and subsp. atrosepticum, Pseudomonas spp. and Xanthomonas cucurbitae causing soft rot of pumpkins and leaf diseases (Huss, 2011). The transport of these bacterial phytopathogens by the fungus was observed in vitro (Zitzenbacher, pers. communication) suggesting synergistic interactions between them in the course of co-infections.

In order to manage microbial diseases of Styrian oil pumpkin based on autochthonous bacterial and fungal antagonists, initial studies to discover the microbial diversity associated with this host plant were conducted. Roots, female flowers and fruit pulp from three different oil pumpkin cultivars ("Gleisdorfer Ölkürbis", "Gleisdorfer Diamant" and "GL Maximal") at a field site in Styria were collected. Root samples were taken at three time points (before flowering, time of flowering, fruits well developed). Bacterial genera Pseudomonas and Bacillus that are known for their plant beneficial interactions (Haas & Défago, 2005) were analysed by SSCP analysis. Data revealed a greater impact of the microhabitat on community structure for Pseudomonas, whereas the plant stage had a stronger impact for Bacillus populations. Female flowers as possible gates for bacterial and fungal infections were analysed in more detail. For Bacillus and Pseudomonas and ascomycete communities, no effect of the plant cultivar on population structure was observed. However, in the flower, the communities are well-structured. FISH-CLSM studies revealed a dense bacterial colonisation of pollen grains that act as propagation vehicles between pistils especially for Alphaproteobacteria (Fig. 6) and shaped in this way the bacterial community structure of the oil pumpkin anthosphere.

To obtain oil pumpkin-associated microorganisms for testing their antagonistic properties against *D. bryoniae* and bacterial pathogens, bacterial and fungal strains were isolated from oil pumpkin cultivars and microhabitats as described above. Endophytes were cultivated from roots and fruit pulp. In addition, seed borne microbial strains were obtained from aforementioned varieties by the isolation from roots, stems and leaves from plants that seeds were surface sterilized and grown under gnotobiotic conditions. Finally 2320 isolates (1748 bacteria and 572 fungi) were subjected to dual culture assays against *D. bryoniae* A-220-2b to test their antagonistic potential against this pathogen. Of tested bacteria, 7.3% inhibited growth, whereas 12.4% of observed fungi showed either growth inhibition or overgrowth of *D. bryoniae* (Fig. 7).



Fig. 6. FISH-stained bacteria colonising pollen grains located on pistils of oil pumpkin (GL Opal) visualized by CLSM. A) Alphaproteobacteria (in yellow) and not taxonomically classified bacteria (in red) labelled with ALF968-Cy5 and EUB338MIX-Cy3. B) Alphaproteobacteria labelled with ALF968-Cy5 (yellow), Firmicutes labelled with LGC354MIX-FITC (pink) and taxonomically undefined bacteria (in red) labelled with EUB338Mix-Cy3. C,D) 3D rendered image (Imaris software) of overall bacterial communities (in red) labelled with EUB338MIX-Cy3 and Alphaproteobacteria (red and green) labelled with ALF968-Cy5.



Fig. 7. Amount of oil pumpkin-associated bacterial and fungal isolates positively or negatively tested for *in vitro* antagonism against *D. bryoniae* A-220-2b.

Potential antagonists (128 bacteria and 71 fungi) were subsequently screened *in vitro* for effects on growth inhibition of *Pectobacterium carotovorum* subsp. *atrosepticum* 25-2, *Pseudomonas viridiflava* 2d1 and *Xanthomonas cucurbitae* 6h4 to find broad-spectrum antagonists. Altogether, 32% of fungal as well as 49% of bacterial *D. bryoniae* antagonists were positively tested against at least one, 34% of tested prokaryotes against at least two and 6% of investigated bacterial strains against all three bacterial phytopathogens, whereas no fungal *D. bryoniae* antagonist was effective against more than one bacterial pathogen (Fig. 8).



Fig. 8. Percentage of fungal and bacterial *D. bryoniae* antagonists positively tested against at least one, two or all three bacterial pathogens *Pectobacterium carotovorum* subsp. *atrosepticum* 25-2, *Pseudomonas viridiflava* 2d1 *and Xanthomonas cucurbitae* 6h4.

Broad-spectrum antagonists that have the potential to suppress D. bryoniae as well as at least two bacterial phytopathogens of oil pumpkin were characterized genotypically by ARDRA. This resulted in a grouping of 43 bacterial isolates into four different genera: Pseudomonas, Paenibacillus, Serratia and Lysobacter. As a relative high number of isolates belong to Paenibacillus and Lysobacter they were further analysed by BOX PCR (Rademaker & de Bruijn, 1997) to get insight into the intra-genera diversities. Within the group of Paenibacillus a negligible variability between BOX patterns was observed in contrast to strains of Lysobacter that were divided into five groups. Finally five potential broad-spectrum antagonists were chosen for further analysis: one representative for Pseudomonas, Paenibacillus and Serratia and two representatives from the Lysobacter cluster. Partial sequencing of 16S rRNA genes with subsequent BLAST analysis (Altschul et al., 1997) was performed for their identification and the following species could be affiliated to respective strains: Pseudomonas chlororaphis P34, Paenibacillus polymyxa PB71, Serratia plymuthica S13, Lysobacter antibioticus L175 and L. gummosus L101. To learn more about the mode of antagonism of chosen broad-spectrum antagonists against D. bryoniae, dual culture assays in which growth inhibition of D. bryoniae A-220-2b by either soluble or volatile antimicrobial compounds secreted by the five test strains was assessed were performed. Results suggest a high capability of broad-spectrum antagonists to synthesize bioactive compounds: sterile culture supernatants from P. chlororaphis P34, L. gummosus L101 and P. polymyxa PB71 as well as volatile organic compounds (VOCs) excreted from these bacteria and S. plymuthica S13 as well suppressed growth of the fungus significantly compared to control treatments (ANOVA; LSD, p < 0.05; data not shown).

Performances of broad-spectrum antagonists in terms of promoting plant growth and health will facilitate the selection of bacterial strains that will be analysed for the production of a biological strengthener for Styrian oil pumpkin. Studies with the model organism *C. elegans* (Zachow et al., 2009) will give insight into the potential pathogenicity of remaining test strains. The manufacture of the final product will further depend on the finding of an appropriate formulation procedure that guarantees a high stability of the ultimate BCAs/PGPRs.

5. Conclusion

Advanced ecological knowledge about plant-associated microorganisms and interactions of the biocontrol agent(s) with abiotic and biotic factors support the development of efficient biocontrol strategies. As shown in three examples, specific strategies have to be developed adapted to the life cycle of the pathogen and the autochthonous microbial communities in the target habitat. The latter varied strongly dependent on the plant species, microenvironment and climate.

6. Acknowledgement

The project regarding biocontrol in the desert was funded by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund. We would like to thank our co-workers of the Libra Company and the SEKEM farms for good cooperation, and the founder of SEKEM – Ibrahim Abouleish – for inspiring discussions. The banana project in Uganda was funded by the Federal Ministry of Finance (BMF) of the Republic of Austria through the Austrian Development Agency (ADA). Here, we thank our colleagues in Uganda: Sam Mpiira and John Baptist Tumuhairwe (Kampala) for help with the sampling. The Styrian pumpkin project was funded by the Austrian State (Lebensministerium) and the regional government of Styria. We want to thank Johanna Winkler (Gleisdorf) for providing us oilseed pumpkin seeds, Eveline Adam, Sabine Zitzenbacher (Graz) for assistance with field trials and pathogens, Athanassios Mavridis (Göttingen) and Herbert Huss (Raumberg-Gumpenstein) for providing pathogens. From our institute we would like to thank Massimilliano Cardinale, Christin Zachow and Henry Müller for their relevant support.

7. References

- Aboul-Soud, M.A., Yun, B.W., Harrier, L.A. & Loake G.J. (2004). Transformation of *Fusarium oxysporum* by particle bombardment and characterisation of the resulting transformants expressing a GFP transgene. *Mycopathologia* 158, 475-482
- Adesina, M.F., Lembke, A., Costa, R., Speksnijder, A. & Smalla K. (2007). Screening of bacterial isolates from various European soils for *in vitro* antagonistic activity towards *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Fusarium oxysporum*: site-dependent composition and diversity revealed. *Soil Biol Biochem* 39, 2818-2828
- Altschul, S.F., Madden, T.L., Schäffer, A.A., Zhang, J.H., Zhang, Z., Miller, W. & Lipman, D.J. (1997). Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Res* 25, 3389-3402
- Amann, R.I., Ludwig, W. & Schleifer, K.H. (1995). Phylogenetic identification and *in situ* detection of individual microbial cells without cultivation. *Microbiol Rev* 59, 143-169

- Bassam, B.J., Caetano-Anolles, G. & Gresshoff, P.M. (1991). Fast and sensitive silver staining of DNA in polyacrylamid gels, *Anal Biochem* 196, 80-83
- Berg, G., Roskot, N., Steidle, A., Eberl, L., Zock, A. & Smalla, K. (2002). Plant-dependent genotypic and phenotypic diversity of antagonistic rhizobacteria isolated from different *Verticillium* host plants. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68, 3328-3338
- Berg, G., Krechel, A., Ditz, M., Sikora, R.A., Ulrich, A. & Hallmann, J. (2005a). Endophytic and ectophytic potato-associated bacterial communities differ in structure and antagonistic function against plant pathogenic fungi. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 51, 215-229
- Berg, G., Eberl, L. & Hartmann, A. (2005b). The rhizosphere as a reservoir for opportunistic human pathogenic bacteria. *Environ Microbiol* 7, 1673-1685
- Berg, G., Opelt, K., Zachow, C., Lottmann, J., Götz, M., Costa, R. & Smalla, K. (2006). The rhizosphere effect on bacteria antagonistic towards the pathogenic fungus *Verticillium* differs depending on plant species and site. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 56, 250-261
- Berg, G. (2009). Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 84, 11-18
- Berg, G., Zachow, C., Cardinale, M. & Müller, H. (2011). Ecology and human pathogenicity of plant-associated bacteria, In: *Regulation of biological control agents*, Ehlers, R.U., 175-189, Springer, Dordrecht
- Bhattacharjee, R.B., Sing, A. & Mukhopadyay, S.N. (2008). Use of nitrogen-fixing bacteria as biofertilizer for non-legumes: prospects and challenges. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 80, 199-209
- Bloemberg, G.V. (2007). Microscopic analysis of plant-bacterium interactions using auto fluorescent proteins. *Eur J Plant Pathol* 119, 301-309
- Bonaterra, A., Camps, J. & Montesinos, E. (2005). Osmotically induced trehalose and glycine betaine accumulation improves tolerance to dessication, survival and efficacy of the postharvest biocontrol agent *Pantoea agglomerans* EPS125. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 250, 1-8
- Braun-Kiewnick, A., Jacobsen, B.J. & Sands, D.C. (2000). Biological control of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *syringae*, the causal agent of basal kernel blight of barley, by antagonistic *Pantoea agglomerans*. *Phytopathology* 90, 368-375
- Briones, A.M., Okabe, S., Umemiya, Y., Ramsing, N.B., Reichardt, W. & Okuyama, H. (2002). Influence of different cultivars on populations of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria in the root environment of rice. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68, 3067-3075
- van Bruggen, A.H.C. & Semenov, A.M. (2000). In search of biological indicators for soil health and disease suppression. *Appl Soil Ecol* 15, 13-24
- de Bruijn, I., de Kock, M.J., Yang, M., de Waard, P., van Beek, T.A. & Raaijmakers, J.M. (2007). Genome-based discovery, structure prediction and functional analysis of cyclic lipopeptide antibiotics in *Pseudomonas* species. *Mol Microbiol* 63, 417-428
- Bruton, B.D. (1998). Soilborne diseases in *Cucurbitaceae*: pathogen virulence and host resistance, In: *Cucurbitaceae* '98, McCreight, J.D., 143-166, ASHS Press, Alexandria
- Cao, L., Qiu, Z., You, J., Tan, H. & Zhou, S. (2005). Isolation and characterization of endophytic streptomycete antagonists of Fusarium wilt pathogen from surfacesterilized banana roots. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 247, 147-152

- Cattelan, A.J., Hartel, P.G. & Fuhrmann, J.J. (1999). Screening for plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria to promote early soybean growth. *Soil Sci Soc Am J* 63, 1670-1680
- Chakraborty, U., Chakraborty, B.N., Basnet, M. & Chakraborty, A.P. (2009). Evaluation of *Ochrobactrum anthropi* TRS-2 and its talc based formulation for enhancement of growth of tea plants and management of brown root rot disease. J Appl Microbiol 107, 625-634
- Chao, A. & Bunge, J. (2002). Estimating the number of species in a stochastic abundance model. *Biometrics* 58, 531-539
- Chernin, L., Ismailov, Z., Haran, S. & Chet, I. (1995). Chitinolytic *Enterobacter agglomerans* antagonistic to fungal plant pathogens. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 61, 1720-1726
- Chin-A-Woeng, T.F.C., de Priester, W., van der Bij, A. & Lugtenberg, B.J.J. (1997). Description of the colonization of a gnotobiotic tomato rhizosphere by *Pseudomonas fluorescens* biocontrol strain WCS365, using scanning electron microscopy. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact* 10, 79-86
- Compant, S., Duffy, B., Nowak, J., Clement, C. & Barka, E.A. (2005). Use of plant growthpromoting bacteria for biocontrol of plant diseases: principles, mechanisms of action, and future prospects. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71, 4951-4959
- de Costa, D.M., Amaradasa, B.S. & Wegiriya, R.N.B.P.M.R.C.L. (1997). Anatgonists of *Colletotrichum musae* associated with banana fruit skin. *J Natn Sci Coun Sri Lanka* 25, 95-104
- Daly, A. & Walduck, G. (2006). Fusarium wilt of bananas (Panama disease) (Fusarium oxysporum f.sp. cubense). Agnote 151, Available from: https://transact.nt.gov.au/ebiz/dbird/TechPublications.nsf/1717DB3D7CD580C0 6925723C004EA6DD/\$file/786.pdf?OpenElement
- Emmert, E.A. & Handelsman, J. (1999). Biocontrol of plant disease: a (gram-) positive perspective. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 171, 1-9
- Erkel, C., Kube, M., Reinhardt, R. & Liesack, W. (2006). Genome of rice cluster I archaea the key methane producers in the rice rhizosphere. *Science* 313, 370-372
- Faltin, F., Lottmann, J., Grosch, R. & Berg, G. (2004). Strategy to select and assess antagonistic bacteria for biological control of *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn. *Can J Microbiol* 50, 811-820
- Fourie, G., Steenkamp, E.T., Ploetz, R.C., Gordon, T.R. & Viljoen, A. (2011). Current status of the taxonomic position of *Fusarium oxysporum formae specialis cubense* within the *Fusarium oxysporum* complex. *Infect Genet Evol*, In press
- Frimmersdorf, E., Horatzek, S., Pelnikevich, A., Wiehlmann, L. & Schomburg, D. (2010). How *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* adapts to various environments: a metabolomic approach. *Environ Microbiol* 12, 1734-1747
- Fürnkranz, M., Müller, H. & Berg, G. (2009). Characterization of plant growth promoting bacteria from crops in Bolivia. J Plant Dis Protect 116, 149-155
- Garbeva, P., van Veen, J.A. & van Elsas, J.D. (2004). Microbial diversity in soil: selection of microbial populations by plant and soil type and implications for disease suppressiveness. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 42, 243-270
- Garbeva, P., Silby, M.W., Raaijmakers, J.M., Levy, S.B. & Boer, W.D. (2011). Transcriptional and antagonistic responses of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Pf0-1 to phylogenetically different bacterial competitors. *ISME J*, In Press
- Goethals, K., Vereecke, D., Jaziri, M., van Montagu, M. & Holsters, M. (2001). Leafy gall formation by *Rhodococcus fascians*. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 39, 27-52

- Gomes, N.C., Cleary, D.F., Pinto, F.N., Egas, C., Almeida, A., Cunha, A., Mendonça-Hagler, L.C. & Smalla, K. (2010). Taking root: enduring effect of rhizosphere bacterial colonization in mangroves. *PLoS ONE* 5, e14065
- Gross, H. & Loper, J.E. (2009). Genomics of secondary metabolite production by *Pseudomonas* spp. *Nat Prod Rep* 26, 1408-1446
- Grube, M., Cardinale, M., de Castro, J.V. Jr., Müller, H. & Berg, G. (2009). Species-specific structural and functional diversity of bacterial communities in lichen symbioses. *ISME J* 3, 1105-1115
- Haas, D. & Défago, G. (2005). Biological control of soil-borne pathogens by fluorescent pseudomonads. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 3, 307-319
- Haichar, F.Z., Marol, C., Berge, O., Rangel-Castro, J.I., Prosser, J.I., Balesdent, J., Heulin, T. & Achouak, W. (2008). Plant host habitat and root exudates shape soil bacterial community structure. *ISME J* 2, 1221-1230
- Hansel, C.M., Fendorf, S., Jardine, P.M. & Francis, C.A. (2008). Changes in bacterial and archaeal community structure and functional diversity along a geochemically variable soil profile. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 74, 1620-1633
- Hassan, K.A., Johnson, A., Shaffer, B.T., Ren, Q., Kidarsa, T.A., Elbourne, L.D., Hartney, S., Duboy, R., Goebel, N.C., Zabriskie, T.M., Paulsen, I.T. & Loper, J.E. (2010). Inactivation of the GacA response regulator in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Pf-5 has farreaching transcriptomic consequences. *Environ Microbiol* 12, 899-915
- Horrigan, L., Lawrence, R.S. & Walker, P. (2002). How sustainable agriculture can address the environmental and human health harms of industrial agriculture. *Environ Health Perspect* 110, 445-456
- Huang, W.E., Stoecker, K., Griffiths, R., Newbold, L., Daims, H., Whiteley, A.S. & Wagner, M. (2007a). Raman-FISH: combining stable-isotope Raman spectroscopy and fluorescence *in situ* hybridization for the single cell analysis of identity and function. *Environ Microbiol* 9, 1878-1889
- Huang, W.E., Bailey, M.J., Thompson, I.P., Whiteley, A.S. & Spiers, A.J. (2007b). Single-cell Raman spectral profiles of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* SBW25 reflects *in vitro* and *in planta* metabolic history. *Microb Ecol* 53, 414-425
- Huss, H., Winkler, J. & Greimel, C. (2007). Der Pilz *Didymella bryoniae* schädigt steirischen Ölkürbisanbau: Fruchtfäule statt Kernöl. *Der Pflanzenarzt* 60, 14-16
- Huss, H. (2011). Krankheiten und Schädlinge im Ölkürbisbau. Der fortschrittliche Landwirt 3, 30-33
- IPCC (2007). Fourth assessment report of the intergouvernmental panel on climate change, In: *Climate Change* 2007, Cambridge University Press, Available from: www.ipcc.ch
- Ishii, S. & Sadowsky, M.J. (2009). Applications of the rep-PCR DNA fingerprinting technique to study microbial diversity, ecology and evolution. *Environ Microbiol* 11, 733-740
- Janssen, P.H. (2006). Identifying the dominant soil bacterial taxa in libraries of 16S rRNA and 16S rRNA genes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72, 1719-1728
- Kamensky, M., Ovadis, M., Chet, I. & Chernin, L. (2003). Soil-borne strain IC14 of *Serratia plymuthica* with multiple mechanisms of antifungal activity provides biocontrol of *Botrytis cinerea* and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* diseases. *Soil Biol Biochem* 35, 323-331
- Keinath, A.P., Farnham, W. & Zitter, T.A. (1995). Morphological, pathological, and genetic differentiation of *Didymella bryoniae* and *Phoma* spp. isolated from cucurbits. *Phytopathology* 85, 364-369

- Kidane, E.G. (2008). Management of Fusarium wilt diseases using non-pathogenic Fusarium oxysporum and silicon, Doctoral Thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg
- Lauber, C.L., Hamady, M., Knight, R. & Fierer, N. (2009). Pyrosequencing-based assessment of soil pH as a predictor of soil bacterial community structure at the continental scale. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75, 5111-5120
- Lazarevic, V., Whiteson, K., Huse, S., Hernandez, D., Farinelli, L., Østerås, M., Schrenzel, J.
 & François, P. (2009). Metagenomic study of the oral microbiota by Illumina high-throughput sequencing. *J Microbiol Methods* 79, 266-271
- Lee, D., Mathur, S.B. & Neergaard, P. (1984). Detection and location of seed-borne inoculum of *Didymella bryoniae* and its transmission in seedling of cucumber and pumpkin. *J Phytopathol* 109, 301-308
- Leveau, J.H.J. (2007). The magic and menace of metagenomics: prospects for the study of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Eur J Plant Pathol* 119, 279-300
- Li, L.F., Häkkinen, M., Yuan, Y.M., Hao, G. & Ge, X.J. (2010). Molecular phylogeny and systematics of the banana family (Musaceae) inferred from multiple nuclear and chloroplast DNA fragments, with a special reference to the genus *Musa*. *Mol Phylogenet Evol* 57, 1-10
- Lian, J., Wang, Z. & Zhou, S. (2008). Response of endophytic bacterial communities in banana tissue culture plantlets to Fusarium wilt pathogen infection. J Gen Appl Microbiol 54, 83-92
- Ling, K.S., Wechter, W.P., Somai, B.M., Walcott, R.R. & Keinath, A.P. (2010). An improved real-time PCR system for broad-spectrum detection of *Didymella bryoniae*, the causal agent of gummy stem blight of cucurbits. *Seed Sci Technol* 38, 692-703
- Lottmann, J., Heuer, H., Smalla, K. & Berg, G. (1999). Influence of transgenic T4-lysozymeproducing plants on beneficial plant-associated bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 29, 365-377
- Lugtenberg, B. & Kamilova, F. (2009). Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 63, 541-556
- Mark, G.L., Dow, J.M., Kiely, P.D., Higgins, H., Haynes, J., Baysse, C., Abbas, A., Foley, T., Franks, A., Morrissey, J. & O'Gara, F. (2005). Transcriptome profiling of bacterial responses to root exudates identifies genes involved in microbe-plant interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102, 17454-17459
- Mavrodi, D.V., Loper, J.E., Paulsen, I.T. & Thomashow, L.S. (2009). Mobile genetic elements in the genome of the beneficial rhizobacterium *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Pf-5. *BMC Microbiol* 9, 8
- Miller, S.A., Beed, F.D. & Harmon, C.L. (2009). Plant disease diagnostic capabilities and networks. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 47, 15-38
- Milling, A., Smalla, K., Xaver, F., Maidl, K., Schloter, M. & Munch, J.C. (2004). Effects of transgenic potatoes with an altered starch composition on the diversity of soil and rhizosphere bacteria and fungi. *Plant Soil* 266, 23-39
- de Neergaard, E. (1989). Histological investigations of flower parts of cucumber infected by *Didymella bryoniae. Can J Plant Pathol* 11, 28-38
- Park, J.H., Kim, R., Aslam, Z., Jeon, C.O. & Chung, Y.R. (2008). Lysobacter capsici sp. nov., with antimicrobial activity, isolated from the rhizosphere of pepper, and emended description of the genus Lysobacter. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 58, 387-392
- Paulsen, I.T., Press, C.M., Ravel, J., Kobayashi, D.Y., Myers, G.S., Mavrodi, D.V., DeBoy, R.T., Seshadri, R., Ren, Q., Madupu, R., Dodson, R.J., Durkin, A.S., Brinkac, L.M.,

Daugherty, S.C., Sullivan, S.A., Rosovitz, M.J., Gwinn, M.L., Zhou, L., Schneider, D.J., Cartinhour, S.W., Nelson, W.C., Weidman, J., Watkins, K., Tran, K., Khouri, H., Pierson, E.A., Pierson, L.S., Thomashow, L.S. & Loper, J.E. (2005). Complete genome sequence of the plant commensal *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Pf-5. *Nat Biotechnol* 23, 873-878

- Petti, C., Khan, M. & Doohan, F. (2010). Lipid transfer proteins and protease inhibitors as key factors in the priming of barley responses to Fusarium head blight disease by a biocontrol strain of *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 10, 619-627
- Ploetz, R.C. (2006). Fusarium wilt of banana is caused by several pathogens referred to as *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. *cubense*. *Phytopathology* 96, 653-656
- Raaijmakers, J.M., de Bruijn, I., Nybroe, O. & Ongena, M. (2010). Natural functions of lipopeptides from *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas*: more than surfactants and antibiotics. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 34, 1037-1062
- Rademaker, J.L.W. & de Bruijn, F.J. (1997). Characterization and classification of microbes by rep-PCR genomic fingerprinting and computer-assisted pattern analysis, In: DNA markers: protocols, applications and overviews, Caetano-Anollés, G. & Gresshoff, P.M., 151-171, John Wiley & Sons, New York
- Rasche, F., Velvis, H., Zachow, C., Berg, G., van Elsas, J.D. & Sessitsch, A. (2006). Impact of transgenic potatoes expressing antibacterial agents on bacterial endophytes is comparable to effects of soil, wildtype potatoes, vegetation stage and pathogen exposure. *Can J Microbiol* 43, 555-566
- Rediers, H., Rainey, P.B., Vanderleyden, J. & de Mot, R. (2005). Unraveling the secret lives of bacteria: use of *in vivo* expression technology and differential fluorescence induction promoter traps as tools for exploring niche-specific gene expression. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 69, 217-261
- Sachs, J., Remans, R., Smukler, S., Winowiecki, L., Andelman, S.J., Cassman, K.G., Castle, D., De Fries, R., Denning, G., Fanzo, J., Jockson, L.E., Leemans, R., Lehmann, J., Milder, J.C., Naeem, S., Nziguheba, G., Palm, C.A., Pingali, P.L., Reganold, J.P., Richter, D.D., Scherr, S.J., Sircely, J., Sullivan, C., Tomich, T.P. & Sanchez, P.A. (2010). Monitoring the world's agriculture. *Nature* 466, 558-560
- Sanguin, H., Remenant, B., Dechesne, A., Thioulouse, J., Vogel, T.M., Nesme, X., Moënne-Loccoz, Y. & Grundmann, G.L. (2006). Potential of a 16S rRNA-based taxonomic microarray for analyzing the rhizosphere effects of maize on *Agrobacterium* spp. and bacterial communities. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72, 4302-4312
- Schisler, D.A., Slininger, P.J., Behle, R.W. & Jackson, M.A. (2004). Formulation of *Bacillus* spp. for biological control of plant diseases. *Phytopathology* 94, 1267-1271
- Schmid, F., Moser, G., Müller, H. & Berg, G. (2011). Functional and structural microbial diversity in organic and conventional viticulture: organic farming benefits natural biocontrol agents. *Appl Environ Micobiol* 77, In press
- Schwieger, F. & Tebbe, C.C. (1998). A new approach to utilize PCR-single-strandconformation polymorphism for 16S rRNA gene-based microbial community analysis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 64, 4870-4876
- Schwyn, B. & Neilands, J.B. (1987). Universal chemical assay for the detection and determination of siderophores. *Anal Biochem* 160, 47-56
- Shannon, C.E. (1997). The mathematical theory of communication. 1963. *MD Comput* 14, 306-317

- Sitterly, R.W. & Keinath, A.P. (1996). Gummy stem blight, In: *Compendium of cucurbit diseases*, Zitter, T.A., Hopkins, D.L. & Thomas, C., 27-28, APS Press, St. Paul
- Smalla, K., Wieland, G., Buchner, A., Zock, A., Parzy, J., Kaiser, S., Roskot, N., Heuer, H. & Berg, G. (2001). Bulk and rhizosphere soil bacterial communities studied by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis: plant-dependent enrichment and seasonal shifts revealed. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 67, 4742-4751
- Smalla, K., Oros-Sichler, M., Milling, A., Heuer, H., Baumgarte, S., Becker, R., Neuber, G., Kropf, S., Ulrich, A. & Tebbe, C.C. (2007). Bacterial diversity of soils assessed by DGGE, T-RFLP and SSCP fingerprints of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA gene fragments: do the different methods provide similar results? J Microbiol Methods 69, 470-479
- Tupinambá, G., da Silva, A.J., Alviano, C.S., Souto-Padron, T., Seldin, L. & Alviano, D.S. (2008). Antimicrobial activity of *Paenibacillus polymyxa* SCE2 against some mycotoxin-producing fungi. *J Appl Microbiol* 105, 1044-1053
- Velicer, G.J., Raddatz, G., Keller, H., Deiss, S., Lanz, C., Dinkelacker, I. & Schuster, S.C. (2006). Comprehensive mutation identification in an evolved bacterial cooperator and its cheating ancestor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103, 8107-8112
- Weinert, N., Piceno, Y., Ding, G.C., Meincke, R., Heuer, H., Berg, G., Schloter, M., Andersen, G. & Smalla, K. (2011). PhyloChip hybridization uncovered an enormous bacterial diversity in the rhizosphere of different potato cultivars: many common and few cultivar-dependent taxa. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 75, 497-506
- Weller, D.M., Raaijmakers, J.M., Gardener, B.B. & Thomashow, L.S. (2002). Microbial populations responsible for specific soil suppressiveness to plant pathogens. Annu Rev Phytopathol 40, 309-348
- Weller, D.M. (2007). *Pseudomonas* biocontrol agents of soilborne pathogens: looking back over 30 years. *Phytopathology* 97, 250-256
- de Werra, P., Baehler, E., Huser, A., Keel, C. & Maurhofer, M. (2008). Detection of plantmodulated alterations in antifungal gene expression in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* CHA0 on roots by flow cytometry. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 74, 1339-1349
- Whipps, J. (2001). Microbial interactions and biocontrol in the rhizosphere. J Exper Bot 52, 487-511
- Will, C., Thürmer, A., Wollherr, A., Nacke, H., Herold, N., Schrumpf, M., Gutknecht, J., Wubet, T., Buscot, F. & Daniel, R. (2010). Horizon-specific bacterial community composition of German grassland soils, as revealed by pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. *Appl Environ Micobiol* 76, 6751-6759
- Youssef, N., Sheik, C.S., Krumholz, L.R., Najar, F.Z., Roe, B.A. & Elshahed, M.S. (2009). Comparison of species richness estimates obtained using nearly complete fragments and simulated pyrosequencing-generated fragments in 16S rRNA genebased environmental surveys. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75, 5227-5236
- Yuan, Z.C., Liu, P., Saenkham, P., Kerr, K. & Nester E.W. (2008). Transcriptome profiling and functional analysis of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* reveals a general conserved response to acidic conditions (pH 5.5) and a complex acid-mediated signaling involved in *Agrobacterium*-plant interactions. *J Bacteriol* 190, 494-507
- Zachow, C., Tilcher, R. & Berg, G. (2008). Sugar beet-associated bacterial and fungal communities show a high indigenous antagonistic potential against plant pathogens. *Microb Ecol* 55, 119-129
- Zachow, C., Pirker, H., Westendorf, C., Tilcher, R. & Berg, G. (2009). The *Caenorhabditis elegans* assay: a tool to evaluate the pathogenic potential of bacterial biocontrol agents. *Eur J Plant Pathol* 125, 367-376

- Zachow, C., Fatehi, J., Cardinale, M., Tilcher, R. & Berg, G. (2010). Strain-specific colonization pattern of *Rhizoctonia* antagonists in the root system of sugar beet. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 74, 124-135
- Zhang, Y., Hu, Y., Yang, B., Ma, F., Lu, P., Li, L., Wan, C., Rayner, S. & Chen, S. (2010). Duckweed (*Lemna minor*) as a model plant system for the study of human microbial pathogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 5, e13527

Book Chapter II

In: Genomics I – humans, animals and plants, iConcept Press Ltd, editors (2013) In press iConcept Press, Brisbane, Australia

Biocontrol strategies and next generation sequencing: organic desert agriculture in Egypt

Martina Köberl¹, Ruth Schmidt¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Anastasia Bragina¹, Henry Müller¹ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Austria

²Faculty of Agriculture, Ain Shams University, SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Egypt

Biocontrol Strategies and Next Generation Sequencing: Organic Desert Agriculture in Egypt

Martina Köberl Institute for Environmental Biotechnology Graz University of Technology, Austria

Ruth Schmidt Institute for Environmental Biotechnology Graz University of Technology, Austria

> Elshahat M. Ramadan Faculty of Agriculture Ain Shams University, Egypt SEKEM Heliopolis University, Egypt

Anastasia Bragina Institute for Environmental Biotechnology Graz University of Technology, Austria

Henry Müller Institute for Environmental Biotechnology Graz University of Technology, Austria

Gabriele Berg Institute for Environmental Biotechnology Graz University of Technology, Austria



1 Introduction

Biological control of plant pathogens as well as plant growth promotion with microorganisms has been studied intensively over the past decades and is becoming a realistic alternative to chemical pesticides and fertilisers in sustainable agriculture (Weller, 2007; Berg, 2009). Presently, numerous microbial inoculants have been successfully commercialised and are currently marketed, dependent on their mode of action and effects, as biopesticides, plant strengtheners, biofertilisers, and phytostimulators (Berg, 2009). In screenings for new biological control agents (BCAs), additionally to cultivation and selection of strains, molecular methods are often included to analyse target habitats of biocontrol studies. Usually, "classical" community fingerprints performed by single-strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP), denaturing/temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (D/TGGE) or terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP) are performed which base on particular nucleotide sequences PCR-amplified from total community DNA extracted from plant microenvironments (Köberl *et al.*, 2011b). However, detection limits of these techniques prevent the coverage of the overall microbial diversity within one habitat. Especially the rhizosphere, which is often targeted by biocontrol studies, is colonised by extremely high abundant and diverse microbial populations (van Loon, 2007; Raaijmakers *et al.*, 2009).

New molecular tools for metagenomic approaches, such as next generation high-throughput DNA sequencing (454 pyrosequencing or Illumina sequencing), revolutionised microbial detection by providing a greater depth and detection of low abundant and rare species (Hudson, 2008). Deep-sequencing techniques allow new insights into microbial community composition in different environments and extend our understanding of co-occurrence and interaction within the examined microbiome. This knowledge can be implemented in biological control strategies to improve screening strategies for finding potential BCAs. The knowledge about taxonomic and/or functional microbial patterns in target habitats can be used for comparative analyses between different conditions or treatments. For instance, how the behaviour of a specific microbial community is being affected by the presence of pathogens or different field treatments.

In the following chapter, the preparation of samples for amplicon sequencing and step by step data processing is explained from raw data to taxonomic community compositions displayed by principal coordinate analyses (PCoA) and profile clustering networks. Different databases, pipelines and software packages are employed during the data analysis. To assess influencing factors on ecosystem functions of microbial communities, three deep-sequencing studies are presented, which were included in a project develop of a specific biocontrol strategy for sustainable agriculture in desert ecosystems:

- 1. Influence of 30 years of organic agriculture on the total bacterial community of native desert soil in Egypt.
- 2. Phylogenetic diversity of bacteria within the order Bacillales in desert soil from Sinai.
- 3. Assessing the influence of introduced BCAs on indigenous microbial communities.

2 A Biocontrol Strategy for Sustainable Agriculture in Desert Ecosystems

On Sekem farms, which are located in the North-eastern desert region of Egypt, sandy desert was converted into cultivated, arable land. Organic/biodynamic agriculture has been operated since more than 30 years (www.sekem.com). Nowadays, Sekem is carrying out organic agriculture on more than 6,000 hectares and has the largest market for organic products outside Europe and North America. The Egyptian fair trade company produces organic food, herbal teas, phyto-pharmaceuticals as well as non-edible products such as cotton textiles. However, within recent years, soil-borne phytopathogens caused significant yield losses, mainly in medical plants. Major pathogens comprise different taxonomic groups, e.g. fungi (*Verticillium dahliae* Kleb., *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn, *Fusarium culmorum* [Wm. G. Sm.] Sacc.), bacteria (*Ralstonia solanacearum*) and nematodes (*Meloidogyne incognita* [Kofoid and White] Chitwood) (Faltin *et al.*, 2004; Klosterman *et al.*, 2009; Messiha *et al.*, 2009; Neher, 2010; Tunali *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, the objective of the study was to develop a specific biocontrol strategy against these soil-borne pathogens for desert farming on the basis of ecological knowledge (Köberl *et al.*, 2011b).

2.1 Influence of 30 Years of Organic Agriculture on the Total Bacterial Community of Native Desert Soil in Egypt

Finding out whether and how the highly specialised natural microbial communities of the desert soil are affected by agriculture and watering was an important issue within this study. To examine the impact of organic agriculture on bacterial diversity and community compositions in desert soil, soil from a Sekem farm and surrounding desert soil was sampled. Differences were assessed by a pyrosequencing-based analysis of partial 16S rRNA gene sequences. To analyse the taxonomic composition of the soil bacterial community, the hypervariable V4-V5 region of the 16S rRNA gene (Escherichia coli positions 515 to 927) was amplified in a nested PCR approach. Fragments encompassing this region provide estimates comparable to those obtained with the nearly complete gene fragment (Youssef et al., 2009; Will et al., 2010). The first PCR with the primer pair 27f/1492r (Lane, 1991) was followed by the second round of amplification using the Unibac-II-515f and Unibac-II-927r primers (Zachow et al., 2008) which contained the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors, linkers and sample specific tags (Table 1). The reaction mixture for the first PCR (20 µl) contained 1× Taq-&Go™ Ready-to-use PCR Mix (MP Biomedicals, Solon, USA), 0.25 µM of each primer and 1 µl of template DNA (95 °C, 5 min; 30 cycles of 95 °C, 30 s; 57 °C, 30 s; 72 °C, 90 s; and elongation at 72 °C, 5 min). The second PCR was performed by using 1× Taq-&GoTM Ready-to-use PCR Mix, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.4 μM of each primer and 2 μl of template DNA (95 °C, 5 min; 32 cycles of 95 °C, 20 s; 54 °C, 15 s; 72 °C, 30 s; and elongation at 72 °C, 10 min). Respective PCR products from four samples each habitat were pooled in equal volumes and purified by emploving the Wizard[®] SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, USA) (Köberl et al., 2011a & 2011b). Pyrosequencing libraries were generated by LGC Genomics (Berlin, Germany) using the Roche 454 GS-FLX+ TitaniumTM sequencing platform.

Name	Primer sequence
Unibac-II-515f_MID13	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGCATAGTAGTGGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-515f_MID14	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGCGAGAGATACGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-927r_454	CTATGCGCCTTGCCAGCCCGC <i>TCAG</i> CCCGTCAATTYMTTTGAGTT

Table 1: Universal primers including 454 pyrosequencing adaptors (bold), linkers (italic) and sample specific tags (underlined).

Primer sequences were cropped and reads shorter than 150 bp and low quality reads (quality threshold 20) were removed from the pyrosequencing-derived data sets. In desert soil 19,244 and in agricultural soil 33,384 quality sequences with a read length of \geq 150 bp were recovered. Data were adjusted considering the same number of sequences per sample using the open source software package QIIME (http://giime.sourceforge.net), which allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data (Caporaso et al., 2010). From the equalised data set an operational taxonomic unit (OTU) table at a sequence divergence of 3%, corresponding to species level (Schloss & Handelsman, 2006; Will et al., 2010), was constructed using the data processing steps aligner and complete linkage clustering of the ribosomal database project (RDP) pyrosequencing pipeline (http://pyro.cme.msu.edu) (Cole et al., 2009). Rarefaction curves as well as Shannon (Shannon, 1997) and Chao1 (Chao & Bunge, 2002) indices were calculated based on data of the complete linkage clustering (data not shown) (Köberl et al., 2011a). A profile clustering network analysis was performed in order to highlight single OTUs with considerable differences between desert and agricultural soil. The network analysis was carried out with OTUs exhibiting a read change between the soils of more than 0.5% of the normalised data set. If the ratio of OTU read numbers for desert and agricultural soil exceeded 2, the OTUs were regarded as considerably altered and assigned to the respective clusters (abundant in desert soil or agricultural soil). Representative sequences of the OTUs were aligned with reference RNA sequences from NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) database (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) using the nucleotide basic local alignment and search tool (blastn). Visualisation of the network was carried out using Cytoscape 2.8.2 (http://cytoscape.org).

According to the network analysis, the highest alterations were found for OTUs identified as *Ochrobactrum* sp. (closest database match *O. grignonense*, 99% similarity to NR_028901) and *Rhodococcus* sp. (closest database match *R. qingshengii*, 99% similarity to NR_043535). Both genera were much more abundant in desert than in agricultural soil (Fig. 1). Bacteria of these genera are known for their ambivalent interaction with eukaryotes. While showing plant growth promotion effects on plants (Trivedi *et al.*, 2007; Chakraborty *et al.*, 2009), they can cause opportunistic infections in humans. Several studies provided evidence that similar or even identical functions are responsible for the beneficial interactions with plants and virulence in other eukaryotic hosts (Berg *et al.*, 2005 & 2011). For instance, *Rhodococcus qingshengii*, found as closest database match highly enriched in desert soil, is known to survive under extremely harsh conditions and moreover is capable of degrading carbendazim efficiently (Xu *et al.*, 2007). Carbendazim is one of the most widely used benzimidazole fungicides in the control of agricultural and forestry diseases. This fungicide can harm the liver and endocrine system of animals. Even at low concentrations it shows mutagenic and teratogenic effects (Mazellier *et al.*, 2003). Up to date, only a few bacterial strains with the ability to degrade carbendazim have been documented (Holtman & Kobayashi, 1997; Zhang *et al.*, 2005; Xu *et al.*, 2006 & 2007). Microbial metabolism has been

reported as the main mechanism of eliminating or minimising contamination by carbendazim (WHO, 1993). However, *R. qingshengii* is also known as opportunistic pathogen for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) causing appearance of pseudo-membranes on internal organs, i.e. spleen, liver, heart and others (Avendaño-Herrera *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1: Profile clustering network analysis of bacterial OTUs at a dissimilarity level of 3%. The abundance values for OTUs with a read change between soils of more than 0.5% of the normalised data set were used. If the ratio of OTU read numbers for desert and agricultural soil exceeded 2, the OTUs were regarded as considerably altered and assigned to the respective profile. Each OTU is connected to either an "abundant in desert soil" or "abundant in agricultural soil" node in the network. Node sizes of OTUs correspond to the relative abundance change between the states. Nodes matching to changes of 0.5% and 15% of the data set were added as reference points. Black node borders indicate a similarity to the taxonomic node label (closest reference RNA sequences of the NCBI database) of \geq 97%, whereas nodes with red borders have a similarity <97%.

In the network analysis presented in Fig. 1 *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* (99% similarity to NR_041455; belonging to the *Bacillus subtilis* group), which is known for its high biological control properties (Emmert & Handelsman, 1999; Arguelles-Arias *et al.*, 2009; Yuan *et al.*, 2012), appear more distinct in agricultural soil. Several genotypically different isolates of this group were also obtained by a parallel cultivation dependent approach (Köberl *et al.*, 2011a). All of them showed activity towards the soil-borne pathogenic fungi *Verticillium dahliae* V25, *Rhizoctonia solani* AG4, and *Fusarium culmorum*

E1. Some of them exhibited an additional activity towards the soil-borne pathogenic bacterium Ralstonia solanacearum and a nematicidal activity towards Meloidogyne incognita. Surprisingly, among the Bacillus subtilis group, isolates with identical BOX PCR fingerprints (similarity in the dendrogram >80%) could be detected in desert soil as well as in the agricultural soil, and also in rhizosphere and endorhiza of the medical plants. Some other OTUs identified as *Bacillus* spp. were also found in higher abundance in the agricultural than in desert soil (closest database matches *B. odysseyi*, *B. koreensis* and *B. niabensis*). On the other hand Bacillus spp. nearest related to B. decolorationis, B. pocheonensis and B. niacini were mainly found in the native desert soil. A shift among the Bacillus community due the agricultural use of the desert was observed. In literature, B. decolorationis could be found in damaged parts of mural paintings and was discussed to cause the biodeteriorated discoloration. Genotypically identical isolates were found in mural painting sites of the Servilia tomb of the Roman necropolis at Carmona in Spain and the Saint-Catherine chapel of Castle Herberstein in Austria (Heyrman et al., 2003). Sequencing reads closely related to B. pocheonensis were recovered in 8.5 fold higher abundance in desert soil than in agricultural soil from the Sekem farm. B. pocheonensis was described to live in moderately acidic to neutral soils (pH 6.3-7) (Ten et al., 2007; Yadav et al., 2011). Agricultural soil at the Sekem farm is alkaline (pH 8.4) (Luske & van der Kamp, 2009). By indirect correspondence analysis (CA biplot) based on bacterial SSCP fingerprints, pH was determined besides water supply as mainly influencing environmental factor shaping the bacterial soil communities (Köberl et al., 2011a). B. pocheonensis and also B. niacini were recently identified as plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) of rice grown in moderately acidic soils (Yadav et al., 2011). In the desert, plants have a very short period of time to develop. Assumedly, plants need PGPRs for germination and growth.

Another interesting fact is that members of the *Herbaspirillum* group, some of them known as N-fixing PGPRs, only occurred in desert soil. Owing to compost treatment, agricultural soils are saturated with nitrogen. These facts could explain that this important functional group had a lower abundance in field soil (Köberl *et al.*, 2011a). However, the *Herbaspirillum* species found as closest database match (*H. rhizosphaerae*, 99% similarity to NR_043621) do not possess the ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen (Jung *et al.*, 2007). In general, several extremophilic bacterial groups, e.g. *Rubellimicrobium* (closest database match *R. aerolatum*, 97% similarity to NR_044469) were found to disappear from the desert soil by agricultural use. But on the other hand, bacterial communities in agricultural soil showed a higher diversity and a better ecosystem function for plant health (Köberl *et al.*, 2011a).

Data from the pyrosequencing analysis exhibited substantial congruence with results obtained from classical molecular techniques. The two highly altered genera, *Ochrobactrum* and *Rhodococcus*, were also identified as dominant inhabitants of the desert soil from SSCP gels of 16S rRNA genes (Fig. 2). Interestingly, both genera were also present in plant samples, especially in the endorhiza of three different medical plants *Matricaria recutita* L., *Calendula officinalis* L. and *Solanum distichum* Schumach. & Thonn., which were cultivated under organic farming conditions on a Sekem farm. These results show that bacteria from soil were enriched via plant roots and were taken up within the inner tissue of the roots. Root exudates and the response of microorganisms to the latter as well as to root morphology were shown to shape the microbial communities of the root (Berg & Smalla, 2009). In this study, a clear plant specificity of the bacterial as well as fungal (data not shown) communities was found. In comparison to the desert soil, owing to cultivation and compost treatment, agricultural soil exhibited an impressive diversity of bacteria (Köberl *et al.*, 2011a & 2011b). However, plants selected some strains already present in native desert soil.



Figure 2: 16S rRNA PCR-SSCP profiles of the bacterial communities in desert and agricultural soil, and additionally in rhizosphere and endorhiza of three different species of medical plant (*Matricaria recutita* L., *Calendula officinalis* L. and *Solanum distichum* Schumach. & Thonn.) grown under organic farming conditions on a Sekem farm. Std.: 1 kb DNA ladder. The following bands were identified as: 1. *Ochrobactrum grignonense*, 99% similarity to NR 028901 and 2. *Rhodococcus qingshengii*, 99% similarity to NR 043535.

2.2 Phylogenetic Diversity of Bacteria within the Order Bacillales in Desert Soil from Sinai

According to the results obtained by network analysis of the total bacterial community (Figure 1), bacteria of the order Bacillales within the phylum Firmicutes were identified as interesting group, shifting their community structure in case of agricultural use of the desert. For deep analysis of the Bacillales taxonomic composition in native desert soil, amplification of the 16S rRNA genes was performed using a nested PCR approach with the universal primer pair 27f/1492r (Lane, 1991) and the Bacillales specific primers BLS342F (Blackwood et al., 2005) and BACr833 (Fu et al., 2011). Primers for the second PCR carried the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors, linkers and sample specific tags (Table 2). The reaction mixture for the first PCR (10 µL) contained 1× Taq-&Go[™] Ready-to-use PCR Mix (MP Biomedicals, Solon, USA), 0.1 µM of each primer and 1 µL of template DNA (95 °C, 5 min; 30 cycles of 95 °C, 30 s; 57 °C, 30 s; 72 °C, 90 s; and elongation at 72 °C, 5 min). The second PCR (30 μ L) was performed by using 1× Taq-&Go[™] Ready-to-use PCR Mix, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 µM of each primer and 1 µL of template DNA (95 °C, 5 min; 28 cycles of 95 °C, 45 s; 60 °C, 60 s; 72 °C, 45 s; and elongation at 72 °C, 5 min). PCR products of three independent replicate samples from the Sinai desert were pooled in equal volumes and purified by the Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, USA). Pyrosequencing was performed by Eurofins MWG (Ebersberg, Germany) using the Roche 454 GS-FLX+ TitaniumTM platform.

Name	Primer sequence
BLS342F_MID26	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACATACGCGTCAGCAGTAGGGAATCTTC
BACr833_454	CTATGCGCCTTGCCAGCCCGC <i>TCAG</i> CTAACACTTAGCACTCAT

Table 2: Bacillales specific primers including 454 pyrosequencing adaptors (bold), linkers (italic) and sample specific tags (underlined).

Primers were cropped from obtained sequencing reads, quality filtering was performed (minimum average exponential quality score 20) and sequences were trimmed by length (\geq 200 bp). To construct a phylogenetic tree, filtered amplicon sequences (7,041 quality reads) were aligned and clustered into OTUs at a dissimilarity level of 3% (Schloss & Handelsman, 2006; Will et al., 2010) by employing the of the tools aligner and complete linkage clustering RDP pyrosequencing pipeline (http://pyro.cme.msu.edu) (Cole et al., 2009). Rarefaction, Shannon (Shannon, 1997) and Chao1 (Chao & Bunge, 2002) indices were calculated based on the complete linkage clustering data. Taxonomic affiliation of representative sequences of OTUs was defined by alignment with reference RNA sequences from NCBI database using blastn algorithm (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). Clusters containing <10 sequences were not phylogenetically designated. Neighbour-joining phylogenetic tree was constructed using PHYLIP software package version 3.69 (http://evolution.genetics.washington.edu/phylip/ getme.html) (Felsenstein, 1989) and visualised in MEGA4 (http://megasoftware.net) (Tamura et al., 2007). A heat map showing the number of sequences for each OTU was added.

Quality sequences were arranged into 197 OTUs with 3% dissimilarity cut-off. Comparison of observed OTUs with the number of OTUs estimated by the Chao1 index revealed that 79% of estimated richness was recovered at this genetic level. Clustering at genus and family level (5% and 10% dissimilarity) (Schloss & Handelsman, 2006; Will *et al.*, 2010) reached 94% and 100%, respectively. At species level (3% dissimilarity), computed Shannon diversity index (H') was 3.27.

Neglecting clusters containing less than 10 sequences, mainly Bacillales of the families Bacillaceae (genera Bacillus and Lysinibacillus) and Planococcaceae (genera Planomicrobium and Sporosarcina) were encountered (Fig. 3). Additionally, genus Macrococcus of the family Staphylococcaceae was found to a small extent. The largest cluster in the analysed Bacillales community comprised 2,144 sequences (30% of the total data set). For this cluster, Bacillus pocheonensis (99% similarity to NR 041377) was identified as the closest database match. B. pocheonensis was already found as highly abundant inhabitant of desert soil by the network analysis of the total bacterial community (Fig. 1). In general, soil from the Sinai desert revealed a high diversity within the genus *Bacillus*. Besides *B. pocheonensis*, sequences closely related to B. benzoevorans (98% similarity to NR_044828), B. odysseyi (97% similarity to NR 025258) and B. niacini (99% similarity to NR 024695) were found in high abundance. B. niacini is an ubiquitous soil bacterium. Previous culture-independent studies demonstrated that ~15% of all Bacillus 16S rRNA gene sequences directly extracted from soils worldwide were affiliated to this species (Felske et al., 2004). Spores of B. niacini were already isolated from various extreme environments: the interior of granite rocks collected in the Sonoran desert in Arizona (Fajardo-Cavazos & Nicholson, 2006) or from spacecraft assembly facilities (SAFs), clean rooms considered as extreme selective environments with controlled air circulation, strict hygienic practices and a number of sterilants, such as H₂O₂ vapor and UV radiation, applied (Link et al., 2004; Kempf et al., 2005). Thus, B. niacini and also B. odysseyi



Figure 3: Phylogenetic composition of the Bacillales community in soil from the Sinai desert. Analysed amplicon library comprised 7,041 high quality 16S rRNA gene sequences clustered at 3% dissimilarity. Neighbour-joining phylogenetic tree was constructed with both one representative sequence per each OTU and the nearest reference sequences (accession numbers in brackets). *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (NR_043182) was used as out-group. Reliability of the tree topology was evaluated by bootstrap analysis with 100 re-samplings (bootstrap values not shown). Numbers of sequences in each cluster are indicated in a heat map. Scale bar: substitutions per site.

are discussed to play a potential role in interplanetary transfer of life. *B. odysseyi* was firstly isolated from the surface of the Mars Odyssey spacecraft. La Duc *et al.* (2004) noticed a remarkable resistance of these spores to harsh environmental conditions, such as desiccation, H_2O_2 , UV and gamma radiation. Considering the phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA sequences, *B. odysseyi* and also the most closely related species *B. massiliensis* are assigned to the same cluster as the genus *Lysinibacillus*. Recently, Jung *et al.* (2012) proposed that *B. odysseyi* and also *B. massiliensis* should be transferred to the genus *Lysinibacillus*.

Additionally to the endospore-forming Bacillaceae (Bacillus and Lysinibacillus), endosporeforming Planococcaceae of the genus Sporosarcina were found in the Sinai desert soil. Several Sporosarcina spp. are known as inhabitants of contaminated soils. For instance, Sporosarcina ureae prefers to live in alkaline soils contaminated with urine (Chomarat et al., 1990) or Sporosarcina ginsengisoli not only tolerates even very high concentrations of arsenic, it is also capable for biomineralisation based remediation of As(III) contaminated soils (Achal et al., 2012). Among the Planococcaceae also the nonspore forming genus *Planomicrobium* was found. Nevertheless, this genus was frequently isolated from extreme environments, especially from habitats with low temperatures like cold deserts (Mayilraj et al., 2005), Antarctic sea ice (Junge et al., 1998) or glaciers (Zhang et al., 2009), but have been also found in marine mud and intertidal beach sediments (Engelhardt et al., 2001; Dai et al., 2005; Jung et al., 2009). P. alkanoclasticum is able to degrade hydrocarbons, which result from activities related to the petrochemical industry (Engelhardt et al., 2001). The genus Macrococcus belongs to the family of Staphylococcaceae and members of this genus were formerly falsely classified as *Staphylococcus* spp. Beside the 16S rRNA gene sequence differences, Macrococcus spp. feature generally larger cells (2.5-4 times larger in diameter compared to S. aureus) mostly without cell wall teichoic acids (except M. caseolyticus) and a smaller genome (approximately 1,500-1,800 bp) with a higher GC-content than Staphylococcus. In general, macrococci are known to be associated with animals and animal products such as milk and meat. *Macrococcus equipercicus* was firstly isolated from the skin of horses and ponies (Kloos *et al.*, 1998; Kwok & Chow, 2003). Unlike staphylococcal species, macrococci do not cause human or animal diseases, but recently a multidrug-resistant Macrococcus caseolyticus was isolated from chicken skin. The strain harboured a plasmid (pMCCL2), which carries a transposon containing a probable primordial form of a *Macrococcus* methicillin resistance gene complex ($mecIRA_m$) of the notorious human pathogen methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). This was the first finding of a plasmid-encoding methicillin resistance gene (Baba et al., 2009; Tsubakishita et al., 2010).

2.3 Assessing the Influence of Introduced BCAs on Indigenous Microbial Communities

In the ecological study, based on genomic fingerprints and antagonistic potential, 45 unique strains were selected of which 89% belonged to the *Bacillus/Paenibacillus* cluster (Köberl *et al.*, 2011a). *Bacillus subtilis* was the main cultivated species from farm samples. In contrast, efficient antagonists from the surrounding desert soil were mainly *Streptomyces* strains. Under arid conditions, Gram-positive, sporeforming bacteria dominated the indigenous antagonistic potential. This is in contrast to humid areas, where Gram-negative bacteria like *Pseudomonas* are responsible for the indigenous antagonistic potential of plants (Haas & Défago, 2005). From a hierarchical screening, three promising strains were selected for evaluation on the field: (1) *Streptomyces subrutilus* Wb2n-11 isolated from desert soil from Sinai, (2) *Bacillus subtilis* subsp. *subtilis* Co1-6 obtained from the rhizosphere of *Calendula officinalis*, and (3) *Paenibacillus polymyxa* Mc5Re-14 isolated from the endorhiza of *Matricaria recutita*. These Gram-

positive strains were tested for their plant growth promoting effect *ad planta* in comparison to two Gramnegative strains which are already described as biocontrol agents (Wolf *et al.*, 2002; Kai *et al.*, 2007; Zachow *et al.*, 2010): (4) *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* P69 isolated from the rhizosphere of *Brassica napus*, and (5) *Serratia plymuthia* 3Re4-18 from the endorhiza of *Solanum tuberosum*. Although originating from plant-associated microenvironments, BCAs, if applied to plant roots in sufficient numbers, may perturb indigenous microbial populations (Scherwinski *et al.*, 2006 & 2008). Therefore, unwanted, unspecific actions of the introduced beneficial microorganisms against non-target organisms have to be assessed (Berg *et al.*, 2011). To this end, knowledge concerning the microbial ecology of the target habitats is necessary for reasonable risk assessment studies relating to the release of beneficial microorganisms. As only a small proportion of the microorganisms can be analysed by common cultivation techniques, DNA-based, pyrosequencing techniques can be used to overcome the limitations of cultivation techniques.

To analyse the impact of the selected BCAs on the indigenous microbial communities of fieldgrown chamomile (*Matricaria recutita* L.), one-month old seedlings were root-dipped into bacterial suspensions and planted to a field at Adleya farm/Sekem in a randomised plot trial. A barcoded pyrosequencing approach was used for characterisation of soil bacterial communities associated with *Matricaria recutita*. The V4-V5 hypervariable region of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene was amplified with the set of eubacterial primers Unibac-II-515f/Unibac-II-927r (Zachow *et al.*, 2008) containing the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors, linkers and sample specific tags (Table 3). Amplification was performed in 20 µl reactions containing 5-100 ng DNA template, $1 \times \text{Taq-}\&\text{Go}^{TM}$ Ready-to-use PCR Mix (MP Biomedicals, Solon, USA), 3 mM MgCl₂ and 0.5 µM of forward and reverse primer. Reaction conditions consisted of an initial denaturation at 95 °C for 2 min, followed by 34 cycles of 95 °C for 20 s, 65 °C for 15 s, and 72 °C for 29 s, with a final extension of 72 °C for 10 min. PCR products from four samples of the same treatment were purified using the Wizard[®] SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, USA) and quantified using a NanoDropTM photometer (Peqlab, Erlangen, Germany). Subsequently, amplicons of each treatment were pooled together in an equimolar ratio and subjected to pyrosequencing using Roche 454 GS-FLX+ TitaniumTM platform executed by Eurofins MWG (Ebersberg, Germany).

Name	Primer sequence
Unibac-II-515f_MID27	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACGCGAGTATGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-515f_MID28	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACTACTATGTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-515f_MID29	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACTGTACAGTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-515f_MID30	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGACTATACTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-515f_MID31	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGCGTCGTCTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC
Unibac-II-927r_454	CTATGCGCCTTGCCAGCCCGCTCAGCCCGTCAATTYMTTTGAGTT

Table 3: Custom primers including 454 pyrosequencing adaptors (bold), linkers (italic) and sample specific tags (underlined).

Raw sequencing reads were demultiplexed, quality and length filtered using RDP's pyrosequencing pipeline (Cole *et al.*, 2009). Primers were cropped and all sequence reads shorter than 150 bp, with a minimum average quality score <20 and with any ambiguous characters were discarded. A total of 16,007 quality-filtered sequences were recovered. Due to different numbers of sequences among the samples, data were normalised to the same number of sequences (1,858 quality reads) using an in-house developed Perl script (10 times random re-samplings followed by subset formation). Further downstream analysis of normalised data was achieved using the QIIME (Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology) toolkit (Caporaso et al., 2010). Bacterial sequences were clustered into OTUs using 3%, 5% and 20% dissimilarity thresholds with UCLAST (Edgar et al., 2010) and the most abundant sequence from each OTU was selected as a representative sequence for that OTU. Taxonomy was assigned by using a QIIME-based wrapper of the RDP classifier program (Wang et al., 2007) against the RDP core set (Cole et al., 2007 & 2009) using an 80% confidence threshold for taxonomic assignment. Rarefaction analysis and estimation of alpha-diversity was performed using Chao1 (Chao & Bunge, 2002), Shannon (Shannon, 1997) and observed OTU metrics at 3%, 5% and 20% dissimilarity. Beta-diversity was examined using weighted UniFrac distances (Lozupone & Knight, 2005) between samples sub-sampled 20 times, with replacement, at a depth of 100 sequences per sample. This method takes phylogenetic relationships between community members in account, incorporating the abundances of phylotypes into the pairwise community comparisons (Eilers et al., 2010). The compositional similarity of all samples was visualised in a three-dimensional principal coordinate system (PCoA) based on previously calculated jackknifed principal coordinates. To reveal the most abundant taxa in different areas of the PCoA plot, taxonomic classification of 20% genetic distance was included.

Rarefaction analysis was performed to an extent of diversity coverage (Fig. 4). Assessment of richness revealed that pyrosequencing effort attained 35.8-46.5% of estimated richness at a genetic distance of 3% (Table 4). At the genetic distances of 5% and 20% amplicon libraries covered 41.7-49.7% and 56.6-88.8% of estimated richness, respectively. Taxonomic composition of bacterial communities (Fig. 5) was similar at phylum level comprising Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes and Actinobacteria as the most dominant phyla. However, the phylum Verrucomicrobia was only present in the sample from the treatment with *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* P69 (= DSM14405¹), considering only taxa covering more than 1% of quality sequences. In other *ad planta* studies, this strain was found to have an indirect positive interaction with their host plants by altering fungal communities (Schmidt et al., 2012). Acidobacteria were observed in samples treated with Bacillus subtilis Co1-6, Stenotrophomonas rhizophila P69 and Serratia plymuthica 3Re4-18. At genus level, Rhizobium (phylum Proteobacteria), Pseudoxanthomonas (phylum Proteobacteria), Pseudomonas (phylum Proteobacteria), Flavobacterium (phylum Bacteroidetes) and Arthrobacter (phylum Actinobacteria) represented the most abundant genera showing a slightly different composition according to different treatments. Alpha-diversity of the amplicon libraries was characterised by Shannon index (H') for 3%, 5% and 20% dissimilarity levels. Slight differences between treatments were revealed by the comparison of the index values (Table 4).

At genus level, beta-diversity showed a higher similarity between samples treated with *Bacillus subtilis* Co1-6 and *Serratia plymuthica* 3Re4-18 compared to the other treatments (dendrogram not shown). A jackknifed UniFrac three-dimensional PCoA biplot was constructed in order to visualise relationships among samples based on differences in taxonomic diversity (Fig. 6). Samples were clearly separated implying a difference in bacterial community composition. Results of the pyrosequencing analysis revealed that the treatments with potential BCAs had an influence on the native communities inhabiting the rhizosphere of plants. These community shifts may have positive effects on plant growth and health, harvest yield as well as on the composition of secondary metabolites of medical plants.

Genetic	Treatment	No. of	Chao1	Coverage	Shannon
distance	sample	OTUs	(OTUs)	(%)	(H')
3%	Wb2n-11	557	1,443	38.6	5.14
	Co1-6	596	1,280	46.5	5.32
	Mc5Re-14	729	1,928	37.8	5.66
	P69	559	1,209	46.2	5.23
	3Re4-18	546	1,525	35.8	5.37
5%	Wb2n-11	433	871	49.7	4.80
	Co1-6	477	998	47.8	5.00
	Mc5Re-14	560	1,342	41.7	5.26
	P69	435	930	46.8	4.90
	3Re4-18	419	973	43.1	5.01
20%	Wb2n-11	81	143	56.6	2.85
	Co1-6	76	86	88.8	3.05
	Mc5Re-14	90	134	67.4	2.87
	P69	92	120	76.9	3.11
	3Re4-18	89	100	88.6	3.20

Table 4: Richness estimates and diversity indices for 16S rRNA gene amplicon libraries of rhizospere samples of *Matricaria recutita* L. The number of sequences of each sample was normalised to 1,858. Genetic distances represent the taxonomic levels of species (3%), genera (5%) and phyla (20%).



Figure 4: Rarefaction analysis of the 16S rRNA gene amplicon libraries of rhizosphere samples of *Matricaria recutita* L. Rarefaction curves were calculated at (A) 3%, (B) 5% and (C) 20% genetic distance levels, corresponding to the taxonomic levels of species, genera and phyla, respectively. Different treatments are depicted by coloured lines.



Figure 5: Taxonomic classification of bacterial communities associated with *Matricaria recutita* L. Pyrosequencing reads were classified at phylum (A) and genus (B) level against RDP core set within QIIME pipeline with an 80% confidence threshold. Taxa below 1% of relative abundance are included in "Other". Multi-coloured charts at the legend are shown for each sample correspondingly.



Figure 6: Comparison of the microbial communities of *Matricaria recutita* L. rhizosphere by jackknifed principal coordinate analysis. The biplot illustrates the compositional similarity between samples based on weighted UniFrac. Taxa coordinates are indicated by grey orbs with size as a function of relative abundance. To confine the biplot, the number of the displayed taxa was restricted to 5. The positions of the points are the average for the jackknifed replicates generated by QIIME and are shown with ellipses representing the interquartile range (IQR) in each axis. Larger ellipses represent more diverse communities. Colours correspond to the different treatments.

3 Conclusion

New molecular tools for metagenomic appraoches have not only a deep impact on human medicine and environmental ecology; they also promote applied research fields like environmental biotechnology. In our study we have shown that pyrosequencing techniques can be integrated at various stages of biocontrol research – from screening to risk assessments. Profiling of 16S rRNA genes is a relatively quick way to get an impression about the taxonomic composition of a metagenomic sample. However, it is still difficult to discover the whole plant-associated microbial diversity, especially rare species. We found out that the depth of an amplicon sequencing analysis and the corresponding detection rate can be drastically improved by the use of more specific primers (like it was shown for the Bacillales community in section 2.2). Nevertheless, one should always take into account potential technical biases, for instance associated with the annealing of PCR primers in metagenomic templates. Beside 454 pyrosequencing, several other platforms for amplicon massive sequencing strategies are available and probably very soon all these powerful platforms will be replaced by new alternatives reaching even much higher levels of sequencing. Amplicon sequencing approaches can also be applied to investigate functional communities, such as the nitrogen-fixing (nifH gene) community, to get an insight into the functional interactions between beneficial microorganisms and their host plants. To gain a broader overview about genetic composition and functional capacity of a microbial community, alternatively to amplicon sequencing which is usually based on one gene, metagenomic shotgun sequencing focusing on the whole genome and metatranscriptomic sequencing can be applied and involved in biological control research. An understanding of the microbial ecology of the target habitats of biocontrol as well as of interactions and effects of BCAs will lead to more consistent effects of BCAs. Because currently, in particular theirs inconsistency in the field constitutes the main hurdle for commercialisation.

Acknowledgement

The chapter includes results from two EU supported projects: a RDI (Research Development and Innovation) project funded by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund (C2/S1/190) and an UNCHAIN (University Chair on Innovation) project funded by the European Commission – Tempus IV (JP-00241-2008). We would like to thank Ibrahim Abouleish and his family for great hospitality in Sekem. Furthermore, many thanks we wish to give to our co-workers from the Sekem companies and the Heliopolis University, especially to Angela Hofmann for competent advices, Amr Mostafa, Fekria Mohamed, Ibrahim El Yamany, Ahmed Abdel El Salam and Hosssam Said for fieldwork, and Mahmoud Saber, Christophe Floride and Hassan Abouessa for their support. Kornelia Smalla, Johannes Hallmann (JKI Braunschweig) and Birgit Birnstingl-Gottinger (Sekem Energy GmbH Hitzendorf) we would like to thank for inspiring discussions, Rudolf Bauer (KF University Graz) for his advice regarding the medical plants, and Christin Zachow (TU Graz) for her helpful support in practical questions.

References

Achal, V., Pan, X., Fu, Q., & Zhang, D. (2012). Biomineralization based remediation of As(III) contaminated soil by Sporosarcina ginsengisoli. Journal of hazardous materials, 201–202, 178–184.

- Arguelles-Arias, A., Ongena, M., Halimi, B., Lara, Y., Bans, A., Joris, B., & Fickers, P. (2009). Bacillus amyloliquefaciens GA1 as a source of potent antibiotics and other secondary metabolites for biocontrol of plant pathogens. Microbial Cell Factories, 8, 63.
- Avendaño-Herrera, R., Balboa, S., Doce, A., Ilardi, P., Lovera, P., Toranzo, A. E., & Romalde, J. L. (2011). Pseudomembranes on internal organs associated with Rhodococcus qingshengii infection in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Veterinary Microbiology, 147, 200–204.
- Baba, T., Kuwahara-Arai, K., Uchiyama, I., Takeuchi, F., Ito, T., & Hiramatsu, K. (2009). Complete genome sequence of Macrococcus caseolyticus strain JSCS5402, reflecting the ancestral genome of the human-pathogenic stapylococci. Journal of Bacteriology, 191, 1180–1190.
- Berg, G. (2009). Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 84, 11–18.
- Berg, G., & Smalla, K. (2009). Plant species and soil type cooperatively shape the structure and function of microbial communities in the rhizosphere. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 68, 1–13.
- Berg, G., Eberl, L., & Hartmann, A. (2005). The rhizosphere as a reservoir for opportunistic human pathogenic bacteria. Environmental Microbiology, 7, 1673–1685.
- Berg, G., Zachow, C., Cardinale, M., & Müller, H. (2011). Ecology and human pathogenicity of plant-associated bacteria. In Regulation of biological control agents (Ehlers, R. U., ed.) Dordrecht: Springer (pp. 175–189).
- Blackwood, C. B., Oaks, A., & Buyer, J. S. (2005). Phylum- and class-specific PCR primers for general microbial community analysis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71, 6193–6198.
- Caporaso, J. G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F. D., Costello, E. K., Fierer, N., Pentildea, A. G., Goodrich, J. K., Gordon, J. I., Huttley, G. A., Kelley, S. T., Knights, D., Koenig, J. E., Ley, R. E., Lozupone, C. A., McDonald, D., Muegge, B. D., Pirrung, M., Reeder, J., Sevinsky, J. R., Turnbaugh, P. J., Walters, W. A., Widmann, J., Yatsunenko, T., Zaneveld, F., & Knight, R. (2010). QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nature Methods, 7, 335–336.
- Chakraborty, U., Chakraborty, B. N., Basnet, M., & Chakraborty, A. P. (2009). Evaluation of Ochrobactrum anthropi TRS-2 and its talc based formulation for enhancement of growth of tea plants and management of brown root rot disease. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 107, 625–634.
- Chao, A., & Bunge, J. (2002). Estimating the number of species in a stochastic abundance model. Biometrics, 58, 531-539.
- Chomarat, M., de Montclos, M., Flandrois, J. P., & Breyssee, F. (1990). Isolation of Sporosarcina ureae from a bronchial biopsy in a child with cystic fibrosis. European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases, 9, 302–303.
- Cole, J. R., Chai, B., Farris, R. J., Wang, Q., Kulam-Syed-Mohideen, A. S., McGarrell, D. M., Bandela, A. M., Cardenas, E., Garrity, G. M., & Tiedje, J. M. (2007). The ribosomal database project (RDP-II): introducing myRDP space and quality controlled public data. Nucleic Acids Research, 35, D169–D172.
- Cole, J. R., Wang, Q., Cardenas, E., Fish, J., Chai, B., Farris, R. J., Kulam-Syed-Mohideen, A. S., McGarrell, D. M., Marsh, T., Garrity, G. M., & Tiedje, J. M. (2009). The ribosomal database project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis. Nucleic Acids Research, 37, D141–D145.
- Dai, X., Wang, Y. N., Wang, B. J., Liu, S. J., & Zhou, Y. G. (2005). Planomicrobium chinense sp. nov., isolated from coastal sediment, and transfer of Planococcus psychrophilus and Planococcus alkanoclasticus to Planomicrobium as Planomicrobium psychrophilum comb. nov. and Planomicrobium alkanoclasticum comb. nov. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 55, 699–702.

Edgar, R. C. (2010). Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics, 26, 2460–2461.

- Eilers, K. G., Lauber, C. L., Knight, R., & Fierer, N. (2010). Shifts in bacterial community structure associated with inputs of low molecular weight carbon compounds to soil. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 42, 896–903.
- Emmert, E. A., & Handelsman, J. (1999). Biocontrol of plant disease: a (Gram-)positive perspective. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 171, 1–9.
- Engelhardt, M. A., Daly, K., Swannell, R. P., & Head, I. M. (2001). Isolation and characterization of a novel hydrocarbondegrading, Gram-positive bacterium isolated from intertidal beach sediment, and description of Planococcus alkanoclasticus sp. nov. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 90, 237–247.
- Fajardo-Cavazos, P., & Nicholson, W. (2006). Bacillus endospores isolated from granite: close molecular relationships to globally distributed Bacillus spp. from endolithic and extreme environments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 72, 2856–2863.
- Faltin, F., Lottmann, J., Grosch, R., & Berg, G. (2004). Strategy to select and assess antagonistic bacteria for biological control of Rhizoctonia solani Kühn. Canadian Journal of Microbiology, 50, 811–820.
- Felsenstein, J. (1989). PHYLIP Phylogeny inference package (version 3.2). Cladistics, 5, 164-166.
- Felske, A. D., Tzeneva, V., Heyrman, J., Langeveld, M. A., Akkermans, A. D., & De Vos, P. (2004). Isolation and biodiversity of hitherto undescribed soil bacteria related to Bacillus niacini. Microbial Ecology, 48, 111–119.
- Fu, J., Mueller, H., de Castro, J. V. Jr., Yu, C., Cavaco-Paulo, A., Guebitz, G. M., & Nyanhongo, G. S. (2011). Changes in the bacterial community structure and diversity during bamboo retting. Biotechnology Journal, 6, 1262–1271.
- Haas, D., & Défago, G. (2005). Biological control of soil-borne pathogens by fluorescent pseudomonads. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 3, 307–319.
- Heyrman, J., Balcaen, A., Rodriguez-Diaz, M., Logan, N. A., Swings, J., & De Vos, P. (2003). Bacillus decolorationis sp. nov., isolated from biodeteriorated parts of the mural paintings at the Servilia tomb (Roman necropolis of Carmona, Spain) and the Saint-Catherine chapel (Castle Herberstein, Austria). International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 53, 459–463.
- Holtman, M. A., & Kobayashi, D. Y. (1997). Identification of Rhodococcus erythropolis isolates capable of degrading the fungicide carbendazim. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 47, 578–582.
- Hudson, M. E. (2008). Sequencing breakthroughs for genomic ecology and evolutionary biology. Molecular Ecology Resources, 8, 3–17.
- Jung, M. Y., Kim, J. S., Paek, W. K., Styrak, I., Park, I. S., Sin, Y., Paek, J., Park, K. A., Kim, H., Kim, H. L., Tindall, B. J., & Chang, Y. H. (2012). Description of Lysinibacillus sinduriensis sp. nov., and transfer of Bacillus massiliensis and Bacillus odysseyi to Lysinibacillus as Lysinibacillus massiliensis comb. nov. and Lysinibacillus odysseyi comb. nov. with emended description of the genus. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 62: 2347–2355.
- Jung, S. Y., Lee, M. H., Oh, T. K., & Yoon, J. H. (2007). Herbaspirillum rhizosphaerae sp. nov., isolated from rhizosphere soil of Allium victorialis var. platyphyllum. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 57, 2284–2288.
- Jung, Y. T., Kang, S. J., Oh, T. K., Yoon, J. H., & Kim, B. H. (2009). Planomicrobium flavidum sp. nov., isolated from a marine solar saltern, and transfer of Planococcus stackebrandtii Mayilraj et al. 2005 to the genus Planomicrobium

as Planomicrobium stackebrandtii comb. nov. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 59, 2929–2933.

- Junge, K., Gosink, J. J., Hoppe, H. G., & Staley, J. T. (1998). Arthrobacter, Brachybacterium and Planococcus isolates identified from antarctic sea ice brine. Description of Planococcus mcmeekinii, sp. nov. Systematic and Applied Microbiology, 21, 306–314.
- Kai, M., Effmert, U., Berg, G., & Piechulla, B. (2007). Volatiles of bacterial antagonist inhibit mycelial growth of the plant pathogen Rhizoctonia solani. Archives of Microbiology, 187, 351-360.
- Kempf, M. J., Chen, F., Kern, R., & Venkateswaran, K. (2005). Recurrent isolation of hydrogen peroxide-resistant spores of Bacillus pumilus from a spacecraft assembly facility. Astrobiology, 5, 391–405.
- Kloos, W. E., Ballard, D. N., George, C. G., Webster, J. A., Hubner, R. J., Ludwig, W., Schleifer, K. H., Fiedler, F., & Schubert, K. (1998). Delimiting the genus Staphylococcus through description of Macrococcus caseolyticus gen. nov., comb. nov. and Macrococcus equipercicus sp. nov., and Macrococcus bovicus sp. nov. and Macrococcus carouselicus sp. nov. Internal Journal of Systematic Bacteriology, 48, 859–877.
- Klosterman, S. J., Atallah, Z. K., Vallad, G. E., & Subbarao, K. V. (2009). Diversity, pathogenicity, and management of Verticillium species. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 47, 39–62.
- Köberl, M., Müller, H., Ramadan, E. M., & Berg, G. (2011a). Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health. PLoS One, 6, e24452.
- Köberl, M., Ramadan, E. M., Roßmann, B., Staver, C., Fürnkranz, M., Lukesch, B., Grube, M., & Berg, G. (2011b). Using ecological knowledge and molecular tools to develop effective and safe biocontrol strategies. In Pesticides in the modern world – pests control and pesticides exposure and toxicity assessment (Stoytcheva, M., ed.) Rijeka: InTech (pp. 3–26).
- Kwok, A. Y., & Chow, A. W. (2003). Phylogenetic study of Stapylococcus and Macrococcus species based on partial hsp60 gene sequences. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 53, 87–92.
- La Duc, M. T., Satomi, M., & Venkateswaran, K. (2004). Bacillus odysseyi sp. nov., a round-spore-forming bacillus isolated from the Mars Odyssey spacecraft. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 54, 195–201.
- Lane, D. J. (1991). 16S/23S rRNA sequencing. In Nucleic acid techniques in bacterial systematic (Stackebrandt, E., & Goodfellow, M., eds.) Chichester: John Wiley & Sons (pp. 115–175).
- Link, L., Sawyer, J., Venkateswaran, K., & Nicholson, W. (2004). Extreme spore UV resistance of Bacillus pumilus isolates obtained from an ultraclean spacecraft assembly facility. Microbial Ecology, 47, 159–163.
- Lozupone, C. A., & Knight, R. (2005). UniFrac: A new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 71, 8228–8235.
- Luske, B., & van der Kamp, J. (2009). Carbon sequestration potential of reclaimed desert soils in Egypt. Louis Bolk Instituut & Soil and More International. Available from http://orgprints.org/16438/1/2192.pdf
- Mayilraj, S., Prasad, G. S., Suresh, K., Saini, H. S., Shivaji, S., & Chakrabarti, T. (2005). Planococcus stackebrandtii sp. nov., isolated from a cold desert of the Himalayas, Inidia. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 55, 91–94.
- Mazellier, P., Leroy, É., De Laat, J., & Legube, B. (2003). Degradation of carbendazim by UV/H₂O₂ investigated by kinetic modelling. Environmental Chemistry Letters, 1, 68–72.

- Messiha, N. A. S., van Bruggen, A. H. C., Franz, E., Janse, J. D., Schoeman-Weerdesteijn, M. E., Termorshuizen, A. J., & van Diepeningen, A. D. (2009). Effects of soil type, management type and soil amendments on the survival of the potato brown rot bacterium Ralstonia solanacearum. Applied Soil Ecology, 43, 206–215.
- Neher, D. A. (2010). Ecology of plant and free-living nematodes in natural and agricultural soil. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 48, 371–394.
- Raaijmakers, J. M., Paulitz, T. C., Steinberg, C., Alabouvette, C., & Moënne-Loccoz, Y. (2009). The rhizosphere: a playground and battlefield for soilborne pathogens and beneficial microorganisms. Plant and Soil, 321, 341–361.
- Scherwinski, K., Wolf, A., & Berg, G. (2006). Assessing the risk of biological control agents on the indigenous microbial communities: Serratia plymuthica HRO-C48 and Streptomyces sp. HRO-71 as model bacteria. Biocontrol, 52, 87– 112.
- Scherwinski, K., Grosch, R., & Berg, G. (2008). Effect of bacterial antagonists on lettuce: active biocontrol of Rhizoctonia solani and negligible, short-term effects on nontarget microorganisms. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 64, 106–116.
- Schloss, P. D., & Handelsman, J. (2006). Toward a census of bacteria in soil. PLoS Computational Biology, 2, e92.
- Schmidt, C. S., Alavi, M., Cardinale, M., Müller, H., & Berg, G. (2012). Stenotrophomonas rhizophila DSM14405^T promotes plant growth probably by altering fungal communities in the rhizosphere. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 48, 947–960.
- Shannon, C. E. (1997). The mathematical theory of communication. 1963. M D Computing, 14, 306–317.
- Tamura, K., Dudley, J., Nei, M., & Kumar, S. (2007). MEGA4: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 24, 1596–1599.
- Ten, L. N., Baek, S. H., Im, W. T., Larina, L. L., Lee, J. S., Oh, H. M., & Lee, S. T. (2007). Bacillus pocheonensis sp. nov., a moderately halotolerant, aerobic bacterium isolated from soil of a ginseng field. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 57, 2532–2537.
- Trivedi, P., Pandey, A., & Sa, T. (2007). Chromate reducing and plant growth promoting activities of psychrotrophic Rhodococcus erythropolis MtCC 7,905. Journal of Basic Microbiology, 47, 513–517.
- Tsubakishita, S., Kuwahara-Arai, K., Baba, T., & Hiramatsu, K. (2010). Staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec-like element in Macrococcus caseolyticus. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 54, 1469–1475.
- Tunali, B., Obanor, F., Erginbas, G., Westecott, R. A., Nocol, J., & Chakraborty, S. (2012). Fitness of three Fusarium pathogens of wheat. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 81, 596–609.
- van Loon, L. C. (2007). Plant responses to plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. European Journal of Plant Pathology, 119, 243-254.
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G. M., Tiedje, J. M., & Cole, J. R. (2007). Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 73, 5261–5267.
- Weller, D. M. (2007). Pseudomonas biocontrol agents of soilborne pathogens: looking back over 30 years. Phytopathology, 97, 250–256.
- WHO (1993). Environmental health criteria 149 Carbendazim. In International programme of chemical safety. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available from http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc149.htm

- Will, C., Thürmer, A., Wollherr, A., Nacke, H., Herold, N., Schrumpf, M., Gutknecht, J., Wubet, T., Buscot, F., & Daniel, R. (2010). Horizon-specific bacterial community composition of German grassland soils, as revealed by pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 76, 6751–6759.
- Wolf, A., Fritze, A., Hagemann, M., & Berg, G. (2002). Stenotrophomonas rhizophila sp. nov., a novel plant-associated bacterium with antifungal properties. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 52, 1937–1944.
- Xu, J. L., Gu, X. Y., Shen, B., Wang, Z. C., Wang, K., & Li, S. P. (2006). Isolation and characterization of a carbendazimdegrading Rhodococcus sp. djl-6. Current Microbiology, 53, 72–76.
- Xu, J. L., He, J., Wang, Z. C., Li, W. J., Tang, S. K., & Li, S. P. (2007). Rhodococcus qingshengii sp. nov., a carbendazimdegrading bacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 57, 2754–2757.
- Yadav, S., Kaushik, R., Saxena, A. K., & Arora, D. K. (2011). Diversity and phylogeny of plant growth-promoting bacilli from moderately acidic soil. Journal of Basic Microbiology, 51, 98–106.
- Youssef, N., Sheik, C. S., Krumholz, L. R., Najar, F. Z., Roe, B. A., & Elshahed, M. S. (2009). Comparison of species richness estimates obtained using nearly complete fragments and simulated pyrosequencing-generated fragments in 16S rRNA genebased environmental surveys. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 75, 5227–5236.
- Yuan, J., Raza, W., Huang, Q., & Shen, Q. (2012). The ultrasound-assisted extraction and identification of antifungal substances from B. amyloliquefaciens strain NJN-6 suppressing Fusarium oxysporum. Journal of Basic Microbiology, 52, 721–730.
- Zachow, C., Tilcher, R., & Berg, G. (2008). Sugar beet-associated bacterial and fungal communities show a high indigenous antagonistic potential against plant pathogens. Microbial Ecology, 55, 119–129.
- Zachow, C., Fatehi, J., Cardinale, M., Tilcher, R., & Berg, G. (2010). Strain-specific colonization pattern of Rhizoctonia antagonists in the root system of sugar beet. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 74, 124–135.
- Zhang, D. C., Liu, H. C., Xin, Y. H., Yu, Y., Zhou, P. J., & Zhou, Y. G. (2009). Planomicrobium glaciei sp. nov., a psychrotolerant bacterium isolated from a glacier. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 59, 1387–1390.
- Zhang, G. S., Jia, X. M., Cheng, T. F., Ma, X. H., & Zhoa, Y. H. (2005). Isolation and characterization of a new carbendazim-degrading Ralstonia sp. strain. World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology, 21, 265–269.

Additional Publication I

IOBC/WPRS Bulletin (2012) **78**: 391–395

Biological control agents for combating soil-borne pathogens in Egypt

Martina Köberl¹, Christin Zachow¹, Henry Müller¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Rudolf Bauer³ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

²SEKEM and Ain Shams University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt ³University of Graz, Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Austria

Biological control agents for combating soil-borne pathogens in Egypt

Martina Köberl¹, Christin Zachow¹, Henry Müller¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Rudolf Bauer³, Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria, email: martina.koeberl@tugraz.at; ²SEKEM and Ain Shams University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt; ³University of Graz, Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Austria

Abstract: SEKEM is an Egyptian initiative and a Fair Trade company, where biodynamic agriculture is carried out for more than 30 years. Medicine, which is produced from ecologically grown medical plants, was developed and is available world-wide. However, the cultivation of plants is more and more affected by soil-borne pathogens, which leads to significant yield losses. An environmentally friendly and sustainable solution of the problem is the introduction of biological control agents (BCA). Through the introduction of BCAs, the vitality and the natural biodiversity of the soil can be restored. To develop a specific biocontrol strategy for the SEKEM farms, microorganisms were isolated from rhizosphere and endorhiza of medical plants (*Matricaria chamomilla, Calendula officinalis* and *Solanum distichum*) as well as from Egyptian soil, and were screened for their antagonistic potential towards the soil-borne phytopathogens. Promising biocontrol strains were genotypically characterized and identified.

Key words: biocontrol, biological control agents, medical plants

Introduction

The major problems in the cultivation of medical plants in SEKEM farms are caused by the soil-borne pathogens *Fusarium culmorum* (Wm.G. Sm.) Sacc., *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn and *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. Although grown in organic agriculture, which aims to minimize the impact on the environment by practices such as crop rotation, using pathogen resistant cultivars, and the use of organic manure (compost) instead of synthetic fertilizers, they have an increasing importance. One reason is an intensive growing of a limited number of crops in short rotations. Biocontrol using naturally occurring antagonists as BCAs, which are able to effectively colonize plants and promote growth of healthy plants by various mechanisms, offers a sustainable solution in plant protection (Berg, 2009).

The objective of this project is to develop a biocontrol strategy against soil-borne pathogens. The product will be optimized for Egyptian conditions – regarding soil, weather, pathogen species, etc. For this reason, the microorganisms were isolated from Egyptian sample materials collected from the rhizosphere or endorhiza of plants and characterized for their antagonistic activity.

Material and methods

Sampling strategy

The samples were obtained from the Adleya farm in SEKEM from three different species of medical herbs: *Matricaria chamomilla* L., *Calendula officinalis* L. and *Solanum distichum*

Schumach. & Thonn. Furthermore, soil samples from the farm and in the surrounding desert were selected. From each plant and each soil four independent replicates were taken.

Isolation of microorganisms in search for antagonists

To isolate from the rhizosphere and from the soil 5 g of roots/soil and 45 ml of NaCl [0.85 %] were mixed for 5 min on the vortex. After a brief settling, the supernatant was used for dilution and plating on R2A (for bacteria) and TSM (*Trichoderma* selective medium; Elad & Chet, 1983). For the isolation from the endorhiza, 5 g material of roots were surface-sterilized with NaOCl [4 %] for 5 min, then the roots were washed three times with sterile Aqua dest. After 10 ml sterile NaCl [0.85 %] were added the roots were homogenized using mortar and pestle and as previously the supernatant was used for dilution and plating on R2A and TSM. R2A (Roth) is a nutrient-poor medium, where an optimal biodiversity of bacteria can be achieved. The TSM plates specifically are designed for the enrichment of *Trichoderma*. These fungi live as mycoparasites and are known for their good antagonistic potential. All plates were incubated at room temperature.

Analysis of the antagonistic potential of the isolated microorganisms

The isolates obtained were screened in dual-culture *in vitro* assays (Berg et al., 2002) for their antagonistic potential towards *Rhizoctonia solani*, *Verticillium dahliae* and *Fusarium culmorum*. The bacterial isolates were tested on WA (Waksman agar) and the fungal isolates on PDA (potato dextrose agar). Each isolate was tested twice independently.

Genotypic characterization by ARDRA and identification of antagonistic bacteria

From selected isolates bacterial DNA was prepared following the protocol of Berg et al. (2002). ARDRA (amplified rDNA restriction analysis) of the 16S rRNA gene with the restriction endonuclease *Hha*I was used to group isolates at the genus level. The evaluation of the 2 % agarose gel was performed with the software GelCompar II (Applied Maths). Representative isolates of each ARDRA cluster were identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis.

Results and discussion

Microbial abundance in rhizosphere, endorhiza and soil

The rhizosphere of all three medical plants was highly colonized by bacteria: the colony-forming units (CFU) per gram fresh weight ranged from $2.4*10^8$ to $3.7*10^8$ g⁻¹ fw (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Abundances of bacteria and fungi in the different microhabitats. The bacterial data were ascertained on R2A and the fungal on TSM. Averages of the viable counts per gram of sample as log_{10} and standard deviations are shown.
In contrast, in the endorhiza statistically significantly lower CFUs were detected. The bacterial abundance was higher in soil from the SEKEM farm than in desert soil. The isolation of fungi was carried out on TSM. There were indeed isolated numerous fungi, which were not *Trichoderma*, but through the antibiotics and fungicides in the medium a strong selection occurred. From the desert soil and the endorhiza of the plants no fungi could be isolated on TSM.

Antagonistic potential towards soil-borne phytopathogens

Altogether 1007 isolates (680 bacterial and 327 fungal) were tested regarding their antagonistic activity. Of the bacterial isolates, 10.6 % showed an antagonistic activity against *V. dahlia*, 9.9 % against *R. solani*, and 14.0 % had an antagonistic potential against *F. culmorum*. The highest proportion of bacterial antagonists was found in the endorhiza from *Matricaria chamomilla*, followed by the soil, which was sampled on the Adleya farm in SEKEM. Among the fungal isolates only a few of them showed antagonistic abilities: 3.1 % against *V. dahliae*, 1.5 % against *R. solani* and only 0.6 % against *F. culmorum*.

Genotypic characterization and identification of antagonistic bacteria



Figure 2. Dendrogram of the strongest bacterial antagonists derived from the ARDRA of the 16S rDNA with *Hha*I. This dendrogram was created with GelCompar II, following settings were used: dendrogram type: unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA); similarity coefficient: band based: dice; position tolerances: optimization: 4 %, position tolerance: 1 %.

A selection of the bacterial antagonists (37 isolates) with high antagonistic activity was characterized genotypically in detail. By ARDRA of the 16S rDNA using the restriction enzyme *Hha*I, the isolates could be clustered into four groups, within them the similarity of the band patterns is to 100 % identical (Fig. 2).

By sequence alignment of the partially sequenced 16S rDNA with the NCBI database, three isolates of the large ARDRA-cluster were identified as *Bacillus* sp. The bacteria in the cluster with only desert soil isolates are *Streptomyces* sp. and the other clusters could be identified as *Paenibacillus* sp. and *Lysobacter* sp. All of the identified antagonists were already described as biocontrol agents. For example, *Bacillus* species are well-known as BCAs, for example with *Bacillus subtilis* several biological pesticides are already in use (Schisler et al., 2004). Also for *Paenibacillus polymyxa* an antagonistic potential against a wide range of mycotoxin-producing fungi such as *Fusarium culmorum* has already been described (Tupinamba et al., 2008). And among the genus *Lysobacter* for example for *Lysobacter capsici* has already been detected a wide antimicrobial activity (Park et al., 2008). However, the biocontrol effect and mode of action is strain-specific (Berg, 2009), therefore the promising isolates obtained from the Egyptian samples will be tested *ad planta*.

Acknowledgements

This project is funded by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund. We thank the LIBRA Company in SEKEM for the cooperation and a special cordial thanks to Prof. Dr. Ibrahim Abouleish.

References

- Berg, G. 2009: Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 84: 11-18.
- Berg, G., Roskot, N., Steidle, A., Eberl, L., Zock, A. & Smalla, K. 2002: Plant-dependent genotypic and phenotypic diversity of antagonistic rhizobacteria isolated from different *Verticillium* host plants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68: 3328-3338.
- Elad, Y. & Chet, I. 1983: Improved selective media for isolation of *Trichoderma* spp. or *Fusarium* spp. Phytoparasitica 11: 55-58.
- Köberl, M. 2010: Analyse von Arzneipflanzen-assoziierten Mikroorganismen: Biodiversität und antagonistisches Potenzial gegen bodenbürtige Phytopathogene. Master thesis, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria.
- Park, J.H., Kim, R., Aslam, Z., Jeon, C.O. & Chung, Y.R. 2008: *Lysobacter capsici* sp. nov., with antimicrobial activity, isolated from the rhizosphere of pepper, and emended description of the genus *Lysobacter*. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 58: 387-392.
- Schisler, D., Slininger, P., Behle, R. & Jackson, M. 2004: Formulation of *Bacillus* spp. for biological control of plant diseases. Phytopathology 94: 1267-1271.
- Tupinamba, G., da Silva, A.J., Alviano, C.S., Souto-Padron, T., Seldin, L. & Alviano, D.S. 2008: Antimicrobial activity of *Paenibacillus polymyxa* SCE2 against some mycotoxin-producing fungi. J. Appl. Microbiol. 105: 1044-1053.

Additional Publication II

In: Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) for sustainable agriculture, Proceedings of the 2nd Asian PGPR Conference, Reddy MS, Wang Q, editors (2011) pp 199–206
 China Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China

Plant-specific selection of drought-resistant biological control agents against soil-borne pathogens

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Kornelia Smalla³ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

²SEKEM and Heliopolis University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt ³Julius Kühn-Institute – Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics, Braunschweig, Germany

Plant-specific selection of drought-resistant biological control agents

against soil-borne pathogens

Martina Köberl¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Kornelia Smalla³, Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria, ²SEKEM and Heliopolis University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt, ³Julius Kühn-Institute – Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics, Braunschweig, Germany

Abstract

Desert agriculture is a strongly growing field of land use. However, emerging problems with soil-borne pathogens limit the yield. Biological control agents (BCAs), which are able to suppress soil-borne pathogens, are promising candidates for plant protection but for desert application specific, drought-resistant strains are required. Here we report a stepwise selection procedure of BCAs from one of the most prominent organic desert farms SEKEM in Egypt. In a first step, we characterized the bacterial and fungal communities of the target habitat - the rhizospheres and endorhiza of medical plants (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L. and Solanum distichum Schumach. & Thonn.). The bacterial communities were highly different – for the plant species as well as for both investigated microenvironments. The fungal community was less discriminative but characterized by phytopathogens. In a cultivation-dependent approach, isolates from all parts were obtained and characterized by their anti-phytopathogenic potential against fungi (Fusarium culmorum. Rhizoctonia solani. Verticillium dahliae), bacteria (Ralstonia solanacearum) and nematodes. In parallel, genotypic diversity was analysed by ARDRA and BOX-PCR. Both procedures resulted in the selection of 46 unique, broad-spectrum antagonists. However, their diversity was low: 89% of the selected strains belonged to the Bacillus/Paenibacillus cluster. Bacillus subtilis (subsp. subtilis and *spizizenii*) was the main species identified in cultures and also a dominant band in soil, rhizosphere and endorhiza in microbial fingerprints. Furthermore, using a metagenomic approach, it was shown that Firmicutes and especially Bacillus was enriched in SEKEM soil in comparison with the surrounding desert. In contrast, from the original desert soil, diverse antagonistic Streptomyces strains were selected.

Key words: desert farming; medical plants; antagonists

Introduction

On the Sekem farms in Egypt, desert land was converted into arable land, and organic (biodynamic) agriculture is operated for over 30 years now (www.sekem.com). Today, Sekem is carrying out organic agriculture on more than 6,000 hectares and has the largest market for organic products outside Europe and North America. They produce organic foods, spices, tea, cotton textiles and natural remedies.

Crop production, especially cultivation of medical plants is more and more affected by soil-borne phytopathogens, which lead to significant yield losses. The major problems are caused by the soil-borne pathogenic fungi Verticillium dahliae Kleb., Rhizoctonia solani Kühn and Fusarium culmorum (Wm.G. Sm.) Sacc. as well as by the soil-borne pathogenic bacterium Ralstonia solanacearum. Although grown in organic agriculture, which aims to minimise the impact on the environment by practices such as crop rotation, using pathogen resistant cultivars, and the use of organic manure (compost) instead of synthetic fertilisers (Schmid et al., 2011), they have an increasing importance. One reason is an intensive growing of a limited number of crops in short rotations. Here, BCAs should solve these problems and help to suppress soil-borne pathogens on a natural and sustainable way. The objective of the study was to develop a specific biocontrol product, which will be optimised for desert farming-regarding soil, weather, pathogen species, etc. Thus, autochthonous bacteria isolated from rhizosphere and endorhiza of medical plants as well as from bulk soil collected in Egypt were evaluated for their potential for biocontrol (Köberl et al., 2011).

Beside soil-borne pathogens, contamination and colonisation of plants with *Escherichia coli* pathovars caused infections in humans (van Elsas *et al.*, 2011). For example, in 2011 Germany reported one of the largest outbreaks of haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) and bloody diarrhoea caused by Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC), also commonly referred to as verocytotoxin-producing E. coli (VTEC) and enterohaemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) (Frank et al., 2011; Struelens et al., 2011). Between 2nd May and 15th June, 3,351 STEC cases, including 821 cases of HUS, were reported from 13 European Union (EU)/European Economic Area (EEA) Member States and 37 patients have died. Over 97% of STEC cases have been reported from Germany (ECDC, 2011). The search for the source and vehicle of the outbreak has been a long and arduous process. Initial epidemiological findings pointed to raw vegetables and salads as likely vehicles of infection, but extensive investigations identified sprouts produced at an organic farm in Lower Saxony. Also for the target pathogen E. coli, biocontrol is a possible and environmentally friendly alternative. To avoid the colonisation of crops and medical plants with E. coli, the introduction of naturally occurring microorganisms with antibacterial activity towards

those intestinal bacteria is a promising strategy (van Elsas *et al.*, 2011). For this reason, *E. coli* was additionally included in the selection procedure of drought-resistant BCAs.

Materials and Methods

Experimental design and sampling

Samples from agriculturally used soil were taken at the Sekem farm Adleya, located in the north-eastern desert region of Egypt near Bilbeis (30°22'88"N; 31°39'41"E). Plant growth completely depended on irrigation water coming from the Nile or from local ground water drillings; sprinkler and drip irrigation systems were used. The soil at Sekem was fertilised with compost that was produced on their own composting facility, where rice straw, water hyacinth, wood chips, organic waste, clay, chicken and cow manure was mixed to receive a final C/N ratio between 20 and 30. The compost was applied twice a year (May and September), during the preparation of the fields for the cropping seasons. The soil texture at the Sekem farm was classified by Luske & van der Kamp (2009) as loamy sand (pH 8.5) with an organic carbon content of 0.5% and a clay content of 3%. For microbial analysis, desert soil was collected in the Sinai desert (1st sampling; 30°35'01"N; 32°25'49"E) and in the desert of Saqqara near Cairo (2nd sampling, 35°59'0"N; 41°2'0"E). The soil was characterised by a low moisture level; plants were very scarce (Luske & van der Kamp, 2009). At each site, four composite samples of soil in a horizon of $0 \sim 30$ cm depth were collected. Regarding agricultural soil, roots with adhering soil were obtained from three different species of medical plants (German chamomile [Matricaria chamomilla L.], pot marigold [Calendula officinalis L.] and Solanum *distichum* Schumach. & Thonn.) planted on the Adleya farm (30°22'88"N; 31°39'41"E). From each plant four independent composite samples consisting of $5 \sim$ 10 plants were taken. At the first sampling time (October 2009), Matricaria chamomilla and Calendula officinalis have been in the seedling stage, whereas the samples from the perennial *Solanum distichum* were taken from lignified plants. At the second sampling time (April 2010), all medical plants were in the flowering stage.

Isolation and selection of bacteria

To isolate bacteria from soil and rhizosphere 5 g of soil or roots with adhering soil were added to 45 ml of 0.85% NaCl and vortexed. For isolation from the endorhiza, 5 g of roots were surface-sterilised with 4% NaOCl for 5 min, then the roots were washed three times with sterile Aqua dest. After 10 ml sterile 0.85% NaCl was added the roots were homogenised using mortar and pestle. Cell suspensions were used for dilution and plating on R2A (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) in duplicates. Plates were incubated for 4 days at room temperature (RT) and colony forming units were counted to calculate the means of colonies (log₁₀ CFU) based on fresh weight (fw). If

possible, for each replicate 24 bacterial isolates were selected and subcultured on nutrient agar (NA). The isolates were purified and then stored at -70 °C in nutrient broth (NB) (Sifin, Berlin, Germany) containing 15% glycerol. Isolates were encoded using a combination of letters and numbers indicating: (1) soil type or plant species (Wb = desert soil; Sb = Sekem soil, Mc = *Matricaria chamomilla*, Co = *Calendula officinalis*, Sd = *Solanum distichum*), (2) replicate (1-4), (3) microenvironment (Re = endorhiza, rhizosphere and soil have no further designation), and (4) consecutive number of the isolate per replicate.

Screening for in vitro activity towards pathogens

Altogether, 1,212 bacterial isolates obtained were screened in dual-culture *in vitro* assays on Waksman agar (WA) (Berg *et al.*, 2002) for their antagonistic potential towards the phytopathogenic fungi *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. V25, *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn AG4, and *Fusarium culmorum* (Wm.G. Sm.) Sacc. E1. For *R. solani* and *F. culmorum* agar disks of 5 mm diameter with mycelia were directly cut out from PDA plates (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and placed between the streaks of four bacterial isolates. *V. dahliae* was grown in liquid culture in Czapek Dox broth (Duchefa, Haarlem, Netherlands) at 20°C. 200 µl of the suspension containing hyphal fragments were plated onto WA and after surface drying the bacterial isolates were placed on the same plate. Inhibition zones were measured after $4 \sim 7$ days of incubation at 20°C. Each isolate was tested twice independently.

A selection of 45 promising biocontrol strains with antagonistic activity towards pathogenic fungi was tested for antibacterial activity towards *Escherichia coli* OP50 and *Ralstonia solanacearum* 1609 and B3B. The activity of all isolates against both *R. solanacearum* strains was identical. *E. coli* was grown in tryptic soy broth (TSB) (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) at 30 °C and the bacterial suspension ($OD_{600} = 0.6 \sim 0.8$) was mixed with 1.5% LB agar (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) at a ratio 1:10. Bacterial antagonists were streaked onto those plates and after an incubation time of 3 days at RT presence or absence of inhibition zones surrounding the antagonists were assessed. For the screening towards *R. solanacearum* yeast peptone glucose (YPG) medium was used and Tetrazolium Violet (Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, USA) was added to the medium prior pouring (Adesina *et al.*, 2007).

In vitro screenings for direct plant growth promoting abilities

The 45 selected bacterial *in vitro* antagonists were tested for nitrogen fixation, ACC deaminase activity and phosphate solubilisation. For detection of N_2 fixation and ACC deaminase activity bacteria were transferred to Brown & Dilworth (BD) minimal medium (Brown & Dilworth, 1975) with and without the addition of 0.07% ACC solution as unique nitrogen source. After 2 weeks at RT their extent of growth was assessed as described by Fürnkranz *et al.* (2009). As positive control for the

bacterial growth BD medium with 0.07% NH₄Cl solution was used. P solubilisation was tested on National Botanical Research Institute's phosphate growth agar (NBRIP) (Fürnkranz *et al.*, 2009). Formation of clear halos was recorded 5 days after incubation at 20°C.

Results and Discussion

Cultivation and selection of strains

The rhizosphere of all three investigated medical plants was highly colonised by bacteria: \log_{10} CFU ranged from 7.8 ± 0.3 to 8.0 ± 0.2 g⁻¹ fw. In contrast, in the endorhiza significantly lower CFUs were detected: $\log_{10} 2.0 \pm 0.2$ to 3.7 ± 0.8 g⁻¹ fw. The highest colonised rhizosphere as well as endorhiza was detected for *S. distichum*, followed by *M. chamomilla*, and the lowest population density in both microenvironments was found for *C. officinalis*. The determined bacterial abundance was significantly higher in agricultural soil ($\log_{10} 7.7 \pm 0.4$ g⁻¹) in comparison to desert soil ($\log_{10} 4.6 \pm 0.6$ g⁻¹). From each of the four replicates per plant and microenvironment, 24 bacterial colonies were randomly selected for further characterisation.

Characterisation of the indigenous antifungal potential in vitro

All 1,212 selected bacterial strains were screened by dual testing regarding their antagonistic activity towards *Verticillium dahliae*, *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Fusarium culmorum*, which are known as main soil-borne fungal pathogens. In general, isolates obtained from *M. chamomilla* and *S. distichum* showed a higher *in vitro* antagonistic potential towards soil-borne phytopathogenic fungi than those from *C. officinalis* (Table1). Especially isolates from the endorhiza from *M. chamomilla* harboured a high proportion of antagonists. Whereas in the soil and in the rhizosphere bacterial antagonism was mainly directed towards *F. culmorum*, in the endorhiza of the medical plants antagonism was mainly found towards *V. dahliae*. Bacterial isolates obtained from the soil of the farm exhibited a higher antagonistic potential in comparison to the bacteria isolated from the desert soil (agricultural soil $21.6\% \pm 0.8\%$; desert soil $12.4\% \pm 0.7\%$).

Detection of antibacterial activity

According to unique genotypic patterns ascertained by employing amplified ribosomal RNA gene restriction analysis (ARDRA) with the restriction endonucleases *HhaI* and *PstI* and BOX-PCR genomic fingerprinting (data not shown), 45 genotypically different strains with antagonism towards fungal pathogens were selected to test them regarding their antibacterial activity towards *Escherichia coli* and *Ralstonia solanacearum*. Of these isolates 15.6% were able to inhibit *in vitro* the growth of *E. coli*. These were all isolates of the genus *Paenibacillus* (identified as *P*.

brasilensis, *P. polymyxa* and *P. kribbensis*). The growth of *R. solanacearum* was inhibited by 33.3% of the selected antagonists: most isolates of *Streptomyces* (3 of 4 isolates) and some strains of the *Bacillus subtilis* group (12 of 30 isolates). Interestingly, the antibacterial activity was very specific, i.e. there was no isolate with suppression of both bacterial species (Fig.1).

		Relative abundance of antagonists (%) ^a				
Origin	Microenvironment	V. dahliae	R. solani	F. culmorum		
Matricaria chamomilla	Rhizosphere	12.5±2.9	8.3 ± 0.7	13.0 ± 1.8		
	Endorhiza	19.9 ± 1.8	16.4 ± 2.3	18.8 ± 2.6		
Calendula officinalis	Rhizosphere	9.0 ± 0.5	7.1 ± 0.1	10.1 ± 3.1		
55	Endorhiza	4.2 ± 2.9	0.0 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 1.0		
Solanum distichum	Rhizosphere	13.7±2.3	13.8± 3.8	15.7 ± 0.0		
	Endorhiza	13.5 ± 5.1	10.4 ± 5.8	12.5 ± 5.8		
Soil	Agricultural Soil	20.0 ± 1.6	21.9 ± 2.2	22.6 ± 1.4		
	Desert Soil	11.1 ± 1.8	12.8 ± 0.6	13.4 ± 0.1		

 Table 1 Proportions of bacterial isolates antagonistic towards the soil-borne fungal pathogens

 Verticillium dahliae, Rhizoctonia solani and Fusarium culmorum

^aData are averages of 1^{st} and 2^{nd} sampling \pm confidences.



Figure1 Relative abundance and diversity of antagonists with additional antibacterial activity towards *E. coli* and *R. solanacearum*. Out of all strains, 45 genotypically different isolates with antifungal properties were tested and identified by partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Determination of plant growth promoting abilities

The selected 45 genotypically different antagonists were screened for direct PGP properties. Among all tested strains, 24.4% were declared as diazotrophs, all *Paenibacillus* spp. and *Streptomyces* spp. were able to grow on N-free medium. ACC degradation could be shown only for 4.4% strains (two isolates of *Bacillus subtilis*)

subsp. *spizizenii*). No isolate of the selected antagonists was able to solubilise phosphate.

Assessment of antagonistic strains

From 1,212 isolates, 45 selected antifungal strains were characterised more in detail. For half of the strains additional antibacterial activity was detected. Whereas the majority of strains showed antifungal activity towards all three target pathogens, antibacterial activity was exclusively found against one of the pathogens. According to the results, specific antagonists against pathogens but also broad spectrum antagonists were found. Two outstanding specific antagonists were identified towards the main soil-borne fungal pathogen Verticillium dahliae: Paenibacillus kribbensis Sb3-1 and Brevibacillus limnophilus Mc6-4. Activity against E. coli was exclusively found by Paenibacillus isolates from various origins, whereas Streptomyces isolates from desert soil but also *Bacillus* strains were active against the phytopathogen *R. solanacearum.* Beside some broad spectrum antagonists, which could be isolated from plant-associated environments from different plant species, also plant-specific BCAs were found. Surprisingly, isolates selected from desert soil belong to the most active isolates. One isolate of this group - Streptomyces subrutilus Wb2n-11 - was the most promising biocontrol candidate by rating all antagonistic properties. Further interesting candidates were Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis Co1-6 and Streptomyces peucetius Wb2n-2.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ibrahim Abouleish and his family as well as Angela Hofmann (Cairo) for great hospitality in Sekem, Birgit Birnstingl (Graz) for inspiring discussions, and Rudolf Bauer (Graz) for his advice regarding the medical plants. Furthermore, we want to thank Christin Zachow and Henry Müller (Graz) for their relevant theoretical and practical support. This project was partly funded by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund.

References

- Adesina, M. F., Lembke, A., Costa, R., Speksnijder, A., and Smalla, K. 2007. Screening of bacterial isolates from various European soils for *in vitro* antagonistic activity towards *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Fusarium oxysporum*: site-dependent composition and diversity revealed. Soil Biol Biochem., 39: 2818-2828.
- Berg, G., Roskot, N., Steidle, A., Eberl, L., Zock, A., and Smalla, K. 2002. Plant-dependent genotypic and phenotypic diversity of antagonistic rhizobacteria isolated from different *Verticillium* host plants. Appl Environ Microbiol., 68: 3328-3338.
- Brown, C. M., and Dilworth, M. J. 1975. Ammonia assimilation by *Rhizobium* cultures and bacteroids. J Gen Microbiol., 86: 39-48.

- ECDC (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control) 2011. Outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* in Germany (15 June 2011, 11:00). Available from: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/activities/sciadvice/Lists/ECDC%20Reviews/ECDC_DispForm.aspx?List=512ff74f%7 7d4%4ad8%b6d6%bf0f23083f30&ID=1113&RootFolder=%2Fen%2Factivities%2Fsciadvice%2FLists%2FEC DC%20Reviews via the Internet.
- van Elsas, J. D., Semenov, A. V., Costa, R., and Trevors, J. T. 2011. Survival of *Escherichia coli* in the environment: fundamental and public health aspects. ISME J 5: 173-183.
- Frank, C., Faber, M. S., Askar, M., Bernard, H., Fruth, A., Gilsdorf, A., Höhle, M., Karch, H., Krause, G., Prager, R., Spode, A., Stark, K., and Werber, D., on behalf of the HUS investigation team. 2011. Large and ongoing outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome, Germany, May 2011. Euro Surveill 16: pii=19878. Available: http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx?ArticleId=19878 via the Internet.
- Fürnkranz, M., Müller, H., and Berg, G. 2009. Characterization of plant growth promoting bacteria from crops in Bolivia. J Plant Dis Protect., 116: 149-155.
- Köberl, M., Ramadan, E. M., Roßmann, B., Staver, C., Fürnkranz, M., Lukesch, B., Grube, M., and Berg, G. 2011. Using ecological knowledge and molecular tools to develop effective and safe biocontrol strategies. In press in: Pesticides in the modern world, Book 5. M. Stoytcheva, ed. InTech, Rijeka.
- Luske, B., and van der Kamp, J. 2009. Carbon sequestration potential of reclaimed desert soils in Egypt. Louis Bolk Instituut & Soil and More International. Available: http://www.soilandmore.nl/userfiles/Carbon Sequestration Potential Report Final.pdf via the Internet.
- Schmid, F., Moser, G., Müller, H., and Berg, G. 2011. Functional and structural microbial diversity in organic and conventional viticulture: organic farming benefits natural biocontrol agents. Appl Environ Micobiol., 77: 2188-2191.
- Struelens, M. J., Palm, D., and Takkinen, J. 2011. Enteroaggregative, Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 outbreak: new microbiological findings boost coordinated investigations by European public health laboratories. Euro Surveill 16: pii=1989. Available: http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx?ArticleId=19890 via the Internet.

Additional Publication III

In: Biofertilizers and biofungicides (PGPR) for sustainable agriculture, Proceedings of the 3rd Asian PGPR Conference, Reddy MS et al., editors (2013) In press Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom

Indigenous PGPR and below-ground microbial communities of an organically managed desert agro-ecosystem

Martina Köberl¹, Ruth Schmidt¹, Elshahat M. Ramadan², Henry Müller¹, Kornelia Smalla³ & Gabriele Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria

²SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Ain Shams University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt

³Julius Kühn Institute – Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics, Braunschweig, Germany

Indigenous PGPR and below-ground microbial communities of an organically managed desert agro-ecosystem

M. Köberl¹, R. Schmidt¹, E. M. Ramadan², H. Müller¹, K. Smalla³ and G. Berg¹

¹Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology, Austria, ²SEKEM, Heliopolis University, Ain Shams University, Faculty of Agriculture, Cairo, Egypt, ³Julius Kühn Institute, Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics, Braunschweig, Germany.

Abstract

Microbial inoculants such as plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) with biocontrol activity provide an environmentally friendly and promising strategy for plant and stress protection. For application in desert ecosystems, specific, drought-resistant strains are required. Therefore, we selected promising candidates from one of the most popular organic desert farms Sekem in Egypt by a hierarchical screening procedure. Isolates were characterised by their anti-phytopathogenic potential towards fungi (Verticillium dahliae, Rhizoctonia solani, Fusarium culmorum), bacteria (Ralstonia solanacearum) and nematodes (Meloidogyne incognita). In general, the indigenous antagonistic potential was highly dominated by Gram-positive, spore-forming bacteria. Three most promising strains (Streptomyces subrutilus Wb2n-11, Bacillus subtilis Co1-6, Paenibacillus polymyxa Mc5Re-14) were selected for ad planta field applications on German chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.) in comparison to three Gram-negative strains (Pseudomonas fluorescens L13-6-12, Stenotrophomonas rhizophila P69, Serratia plymuthia 3Re4-18), which were already evaluated under humid conditions. The influence of bacterial inoculants on plant growth promoting effects was evaluated based on blossom harvest yield. Secondary metabolites of chamomile blossoms as well as structures of rhizosphere microbial communities were compared between different treatments. In parallel to the selection and evaluation of strains, bacterial and fungal communities of the target habitat - the rhizosphere and endorhiza of medicinal plants (Matricaria chamomilla L., Calendula officinalis L., Solanum distichum Schumach. & Thonn.) - were characterised in comparison to the surrounding field and desert soil. To get an insight into the community of the nitrogen-fixing PGPR, the *nifH* gene communities were deeply assessed by a pyrosequencing-based approach. Specificity could be observed for all investigated communities of each medicinal plant.

Keywords: desert farming; medicinal plants; soil-borne pathogens

Introduction

The organically managed Sekem farms extend over an area of 6,000 hectares in the North-eastern desert region of Egypt and have the largest market for organic products outside Europe and North America. The Egyptian fair trade company produces organic food, herbal teas, phyto-pharmaceuticals as well as non-edible products such as cotton textiles. However, within recent years, soil-borne phytopathogens caused significant yield losses. These pathogens comprise different taxonomic groups, e.g. fungi (*Verticillium dahliae* Kleb., *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn, *Fusarium culmorum* (Wm. G. Sm.) Sacc.), bacteria (*Ralstonia solanacearum*) and nematodes (*Meloidogyne incognita* (Kofoid and White) Chitwood). Therefore, the objective of this project in general is to develop a biological control strategy against these soil-borne pathogens suitable for the arid conditions of desert farming (Köberl et al., 2013b).

A polyphasic ecological study revealed a high abundance of Gram-positive, sporeforming bacteria under arid conditions in general and an overwhelming dominance among the indigenous antagonistic potential (Köberl et al., 2011). Based on genomic fingerprints and antagonistic potential, 45 unique strains were selected of which 89% belonged to the *Bacillus/Paenibacillus* cluster. *Bacillus subtilis* was the main cultivated species from farm samples. In contrast, efficient antagonists from the surrounding desert soil belong mainly to *Streptomyces*. Details about their antagonistic activities against soil-borne phytopathogens were described in Köberl et al. (2013a). From this hierarchical screening, three promising antagonists were selected for evaluation in the field: *Streptomyces subrutilus* Wb2n-11 isolated from desert soil from Sinai, *Bacillus subtilis* subsp. *subtilis* Co1-6 obtained from the rhizosphere of *Calendula officinalis*, and *Paenibacillus polymyxa* Mc5Re-14 isolated from the endorhiza of *Matricaria chamomilla*. These Gram-positive strains were tested for their plant growth promoting effect *ad planta* in comparison to three Gram-negative strains, which are already known for their beneficial plant-microbe interactions in humid soils (Lottmann and Berg, 2001; Wolf et al., 2002; Kai et al., 2007; Zachow et al., 2010): *Pseudomonas fluorescens* L13-6-12 isolated from the rhizosphere of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*), *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* P69 from the oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) rhizosphere, and *Serratia plymuthia* 3Re4-18 from the endorhiza of potato. First results about the impact of applied BCAs on the indigenous bacterial communities associated with roots of chamomile plants grown under organic management in Egypt were shown in Köberl et al. (2013b).

Within the scope of this paper, we present direct and indirect *in vitro* plant growth promoting abilities of all 45 genotypically different broad-spectrum antagonists isolated from arid areas and their tolerance to abiotic stresses of desert habitats.

Materials and Methods

Belowground communities were studied at the organic desert farm Sekem (www.sekem.com) in Egypt (30°22'88"N, 31°39'41"E) in comparison to surrounding desert soil (30°35'01"N, 32°25'49"E; 35°59'0"N, 41°2'0"E). Physico-chemical data of the soil is provided in Luske and van der Kamp (2009). Sampling strategy and isolation of bacteria are described in detail in Köberl et al. (2011). Based on *in vitro* antifungal potential and genomic diversity, 45 strains were selected (Köberl et al., 2011) and screened for their plant growth promoting abilities and tolerance to abiotic stress. Their affiliation to bacterial genera and isolation sources are summarised in Table 1.

Phylum	Genus	Rhizosphere		Er	ndorhi	za	Sc			
		Mc	Co	Sd	Mc	Co	Sd	Sekem	Desert	
Firmicutes	Bacillus	4	3	4	8		4	7	2	32
	Paenibacillus	2			2		1	1	1	7
	Brevibacillus	1								1
Actinobacteria	Streptomyces								4	4
Proteobacteria	Lysobacter	1								1
		8	3	4	10	0	5	8	7	45
16 16	1 11 0	<i>a</i> 1	1 1	<i>co</i> .	1. (7 1 C	(1	1 1		

Table 1. Genotypically unique antifungal isolates and their isolation sources.

Mc = *Matricaria chamomilla*, Co = *Calendula officinalis*, Sd = *Solanum distichum*.

Protease activity (casein degradation) was determined from clearing zones on skim milk agar (Berg et al., 2002). β -1,3-glucanase activity was tested by chromogenic azurinedyed, cross-linked (AZCL) substrates (Megazyme, Bray, Ireland). Formation of blue halos was recorded until 5 days after incubation at 20 °C. Chitinase activity (β -1,4-glucosamine polymer degradation) was tested on chitin minimal medium (Berg et al., 2002). Clearing zones were detected 7 days after incubation at 20 °C. The production of siderophores under Fe³⁺-limited conditions was analysed using the plate assay developed by Schwyn and Neilands (1987). The size of orange haloes formed around the streaks was measured after 3 days of incubation at 20 °C. Phosphate solubilisation was tested on National Botanical Research Institute's phosphate growth agar (NBRIP) (Fürnkranz et al., 2009). Formation of clear halos was recorded 5 days after incubation at 20 °C. Tolerance to abiotic stress was tested according to Marasco et al. (2012). Salt resistance was assessed by their growth on nutrient agar (NA) containing additionally 5%, 8% and 10% of NaCl. Tolerance to osmotic stress was evaluated by adding 10%, 15% and 20% of Poly-Ethylen-Glycol (PEG) to nutrient broth (Sifin, Berlin, Germany).

Results and Discussion

The isolate collection was screened for direct and indirect plant growth promoting abilities and resistance to abiotic stresses occurring in arid soils (Table 2). Because of the promising antifungal properties (Köberl et al., 2011, 2013a), a special focus was given to the fungal cell wall degrading enzymes. Production of chitinases could be detected for 18% of the total antagonist collection, especially Lysobacter enzymogenes Mc1-3 showed a high chitinolytic activity and also all Streptomyces isolates. Glucanase activity was shown for almost all antagonists (93%), only isolates identified as Bacillus endophyticus (Wb1-13 and Mc4-18) and *Brevibacillus limnophilus* Mc6-4 were not able to degrade β -1,3-glucan. Casein degradation by proteases could be shown for 69% of the strains (all isolates of the Bacillus subtilis group and Lysobacter enzymogenes). The production of siderophores was shown for almost all antagonists (89%) except three isolates of Paenibacillus spp. (Wb2-3, Mc5-5 and Mc2Re-16), Bacillus endophyticus Wb1-13 and Streptomyces subrutilus Wb2n-11. No isolate of the selected antagonists was able to solubilise inorganic phosphate. Concerning the tolerance to abiotic stress, 71% of the antagonist collection exhibited a high resistance to salt stress and 68% showed a remarkable tolerance to low water availability. Isolates of Bacillus revealed the predominant role in halotolerance and together with Brevibacillus in resistance to drought stress.

Genus	Isolates	Direc	t and i	ndirect	t PGP	activit	ties and	l tolera	ance to	abioti	c stres	s (%)
							5%	8%	10%	10%	15%	20%
		Prot	Gluc	Chit	Sid	P sol	NaCl	NaCl	NaCl	PEG	PEG	PEG
Bacillus	32	94	94	9	97	0	100	100	100	100	97	78
Paenibacillus	7	0	100	0	57	0	0	0	0	86	57	29
Brevibacillus	1	0	0	0	100	0	0	0	0	100	100	100
Streptomyces	4	0	100	100	75	0	50	0	0	nd	nd	nd
Lysobacter	1	100	100	100	100	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
total	45	69	93	18	89	0	76	71	71	95	88	68
D		01	1		. •		<u></u>	1			a · 1	

Table 2. Distribution of plant growth promoting potential according to bacterial genera.

Prot = protease activity; Gluc = glucanase activity; Chit = chitinase activity; Sid = siderophore production; P sol = phosphate solubilisation; nd = not determined.

While none of the antifungal strains showed all the assayed PGP activities, because no isolate was able to solubilise phosphate, 9% of the antagonists presented four of them. By rating all PGP properties, *Bacillus subtilis* Sb3-24 and *Bacillus atrophaeus* Sb3-13, both isolated from bulk agricultural soil, and *Bacillus subtilis* Mc3Re-13, isolated from the endorhiza of the chamomile, were identified as the most promising PGP antagonists. *Lysobacter enzymogenes* Mc1-3, isolated from the rhizosphere of the chamomile, was also positive tested for four PGP abilities, but in contrary to the *Bacillus* strains, revealed *Lysobacter* a low tolerance to abiotic stresses of desert ecosystems.

The three strains selected for field application based on their outstanding antagonistic potential *in vitro* also revealed promising PGP activities and stress tolerances. *Bacillus subtilis* Co1-6 exhibited, besides high drought and salt resistance, also production of siderophores as well as protease and glucanase activity. *Paenibacillus polymyxa* Mc5Re-14 had a lower tolerance to abiotic stresses in comparison to the *Bacillus* strain, but was also tested positive for siderophores and glucanase activity. *Streptomyces subrutilus* Wb2n-11 showed hydrolytic degradation of chitin and glucan.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ibrahim Abouleish and his family as well as Angela Hofmann for their generous hospitality in Sekem. The work was supported by the EU-Egypt Innovation Fund and the European Commission – Tempus IV.

References

Berg, G., Roskot, N., Steidle, A., Eberl, L., Zock, A., and Smalla, K. 2002. Plant-dependent genotypic and phenotypic diversity of antagonistic rhizobacteria isolated from different *Verticillium* host plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 68: 3328-3338.

Fürnkranz, M., Müller, H., and Berg, G. 2009. Characterization of plant growth promoting bacteria from crops in Bolivia. J Plant Dis Protect 116: 149-155.

Kai, M., Effmert, U., Berg, G., and Piechulla, B. 2007. Volatiles of bacterial antagonist inhibit mycelial growth of the plant pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*. Arch Microbiol 187: 351-360.

Köberl, M., Müller, H., Ramadan, E. M., and Berg, G. 2011. Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health. PLoS One 6: e24452.

Köberl, M., Ramadan, E. M., Adam, M., Cardinale, M., Hallmann, J., Heuer, H., Smalla, K., and Berg, G. 2013a. *Bacillus* and *Streptomyces* were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soil-borne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt. FEMS Microbiol Lett: In press.

Köberl, M., Schmidt, R., Ramadan, E. M., Bragina, A., Müller, H., and Berg, G. 2013b. Biocontrol strategies and next generation sequencing: organic desert agriculture in Egypt. In press in: Introduction to Sequence and Genome Analysis. iConcept Press Ltd, eds. iConcept Press, Brisbane.

Lottmann, J., and Berg, G. 2001. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of antagonistic bacteria associated with roots of transgenic and non-transgenic potato plants. Microbiol Res 156: 75-82.

Luske, B., and van der Kamp, J. 2009. Carbon sequestration potential of reclaimed desert soils in Egypt. Louis Bolk Instituut & Soil and More International. http://orgprints.org/16438/1/2192.pdf. Accessed 23 January 2013

Marasco, R., Rolli, E., Ettoumi, B., Vigani, G., Mapelli, F., Borin, S., Abou-Hadid, A. F., El-Behairy, U. A., Sorlini, C., Cherif, A., Zocchi, G., and Daffonchio, D. 2012. A drought resistance-promoting microbiome is selected by root system under desert farming. PLoS One 7: e48479.

Schwyn, B., and Neilands, J. B. 1987. Universal chemical assay for the detection and determination of siderophores. Anal Biochem 160: 47-56.

Wolf, A., Fritze, A., Hagemann, M., and Berg, G. 2002. *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* sp. nov., a novel plant-associated bacterium with antifungal properties. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52: 1937-1944.

Zachow, C., Fatehi, J., Cardinale, M., Tilcher, R., and Berg, G. 2010. Strain-specific colonization pattern of *Rhizoctonia* antagonists in the root system of sugar beet. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 74: 124-135.

Additional Publication IV

FEMS Microbiology Ecology (2012) 82: 472–481

Host-parasite interaction and microbiome response: effects of fungal infections on the bacterial community of the Alpine lichen *Solorina crocea*

Martin Grube¹, Martina Köberl², Stefan Lackner², Christian Berg¹ & Gabriele Berg²

¹Institute of Plant Sciences, Karl-Franzens-University, Graz, Austria ²Institute of Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Host-parasite interaction and microbiome response: effects of fungal infections on the bacterial community of the Alpine lichen *Solorina crocea*

Martin Grube¹, Martina Köberl², Stefan Lackner², Christian Berg¹ & Gabriele Berg²

¹Institute of Plant Sciences, Karl-Franzens-University, Graz, Austria; and ²Institute of Environmental Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria

Correspondence: Martin Grube, Institute of Plant Sciences, Karl-Franzens-University, Holteigasse 6, 8010 Graz, Austria. Tel.: +43 316 380 5655; fax: +43 316 380 9883; e-mail: martin.grube@uni-graz.at

Received 16 December 2011; revised 26 April 2012; accepted 25 May 2012. Final version published online 3 July 2012.

DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01425.x

Editor: Nina Gunde-Cimerman

Keywords

lichen symbiosis; host-parasite interaction; lichenicolous; microbiomes; pyrosequencing.

Abstract

The lichen symbiosis allows a self-sustained life under harsh environmental conditions, yet symbiotic integrity can be affected by fungal parasites. Nothing is known about the impact of these biologically diverse and often specific infections on the recently detected bacterial community in lichens. To address this question, we studied the arctic-alpine 'chocolate chip lichen' Solorina crocea, which is frequently infected by Rhagadostoma lichenicola. We sampled healthy and infected lichens at two different sites in the Eastern Alps. High abundances of Acidobacteria, Planctomycetes, and Proteobacteria were identified analyzing 16S rRNA gene regions obtained by barcoded pyrosequencing. At the phylum and genus level, no significant alterations were present among infected and healthy individuals. Yet, evidence for a differentiation of communities emerged, when data were analyzed at the strain level by detrended correspondence analysis. Further, a profile clustering network revealed strain-specific abundance shifts among Acidobacteria and other bacteria. Study of stability and change in host-associated bacterial communities requires a fine-grained analysis at strain level. No correlation with the infection was found by analysis of nifH genes responsible for nitrogen fixation.

Introduction

Lichen-forming fungi develop long-living thallus structures, which contain the symbiotic photoautotrophic algal partners in a mycelial shelter. The light-exposed joint organisms can be extremely robust to changing conditions in harsh natural environments. In these habitats, however, infections with specialized fungal parasites commonly occur. These lichen-inhabiting fungi have been recognized even before the nature of lichens was discovered to represent a fungal-algal symbiosis. Lichenicolous (= lichen-inhabiting) fungi are both taxonomically and biologically heterogeneous. Today more than 1800 species of lichenicolous fungi have been classified, but numerous lichenicolous fungi are still undescribed or recognized at species level (Lawrey & Diederich, 2003). The lifestyles of lichenicolous fungi range from parasitism to commensalism, and for some pathogens, preferences were shown for either the algal or fungal organism of the host symbiosis

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies

(Grube & Hafellner, 1990; De los Rios & Grube, 2000; Grube & de los Rios, 2001). Only few species progressively destroy the fungal structures of the lichens, whereas mild or localized infections are far more common. Interestingly, most of the species expressing mild infections and commensalic lifestyles are also highly specialized for their hosts. They form their reproductive structures only on their genuine host lichens.

Recent studies revealed the abundance of lichenassociated bacterial communities, which are now characterized in detail in their taxonomic and morphological structure (Cardinale *et al.*, 2006, 2008). All studies so far found evidence for host-specific bacterial communities (Grube *et al.*, 2009; Bates *et al.*, 2011; Hodkinson *et al.*, 2012). Yet, recent analyses also reveal effects of habitat parameters (Cardinale *et al.*, 2012), photobiont type, geography (Hodkinson *et al.*, 2012), and age of the thallus (Mushegian *et al.*, 2011; Cardinale *et al.*, 2012) on the composition of the bacterial communities. Fluorescent *in* *situ* hybridization combined with confocal laser scanning microscopy suggests a general predominance of Alphaproteobacteria in growing parts of lichens (Cardinale *et al.*, 2012), whereas other bacterial phyla may become more prevalent in older parts. The aging of a lichen thallus is apparent in microscopic sections by decreased vitality of algae and morphological changes, such as in fine structure. Similar effects are sometimes also observed in parts of lichen thalli that are parasitized by lichenicolous fungi. We hypothesized a response of the bacterial community as a consequence to the fungal infection.

The effect of a lichenicolous fungal infection on the lichen microbiome was studied with the common and widespread soil-inhabiting lichen Solorina crocea (L.) Ach., also known as chocolate chip lichen (Fig. 1). It is a characteristic species of late snowbeds and found on acidic soils in arctic-alpine habitat above the tree line. The thalli are unique and easy to recognize by the crystallized bright red pigment (solorinic acid) produced on the lower surface. The vernacular name chocolate chip lichen refers to the large brownish fruitbodies (ascomata), which recall the color and appearance of chocolate. Solorina crocea is frequently infested by the lichenicolous fungus Rhagadostoma lichenicola (de Not.) Keissl. (Sordariomycetes, Ascomycota). As a specialized biotroph of S. crocea, this parasite develops crowded blackish ascomata on the upper surface of host thallus (see Fig. 1) and a richly branched, dark mycelium below the fruitbodies. The mycelium extends unspecifically and locally in the functional layers of the nearby lichen thallus. No specific infection structures are formed with algal or fungal host cells (M. Grube, unpublished observations). The infec-



Fig. 1. The chocolate chip lichen *Solorina crocea* and its parasite *Rhagadostoma lichenicola* (black dots in right half of the image represent fruitbodies of the parasite). Zirbitzkogel (Image: W. Obermayer). Bar = 0.5 mm.

tions persist on the thalli, yet fertility of the lichen is apparently not affected by the lichenicolous fungus. We used a barcoded pyrosequencing approach with different primers combined with a statistical design to analyze the bacterial community associated with healthy and infected lichens from two different sites in the Eastern Alps.

Materials and methods

Experimental design and sampling procedure

Lichen samples of *S. crocea* were collected in June 2011 from two different sampling points in the Austrian district Styria: Wölzer Tauern (N47°16.212, E14°22.860, 1892 m) and Zirbitzkogel, Ochsenboden (N47°4.65, E14° 33.783, 2050 m). At each site, three independent composite samples of five thalli were collected from healthy lichens and three from lichens, which were infested with the pathogenic fungus *R. lichenicola*. The typical fruitbodies of the fungal pathogen were detected by visual inspection using a $10 \times$ hand lens in the field and then confirmed using a stereomicroscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). Because infections with this fungus occur locally on lobes of the host thalli, we sampled only thalli where multiple lobes were affected by the pathogen.

Total community DNA isolation

Total community DNA isolation was carried out with 2 g of each lichen sample. Samples were washed for 3 min with sterile 0.85% NaCl. The lichens were transferred into whirl packs and homogenized with 2 mL of 0.85% NaCl using mortar and pestle. From the liquid parts, 2 mL was centrifuged at high speed (16 000 g, 4 °C) for 20 min, and resulting microbial pellets were stored at -70 °C. Total community DNA was extracted using the Fast-DNA® SPIN Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Resulting DNA concentrations ranged from 130.4 to 279.0 ng μ L⁻¹. Metagenomic DNA samples were encoded using abbreviations indicating: (1) sampling location (W = Wölzer Tauern; Z = Zirbitzkogel), (2) independent replicate (W: A-F; Z: 1-3), and (3) status of infestation with the lichen pathogenic fungus R. lichenicola (healthy or infested).

Bacterial community analysis by 454 pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA genes

For the deep sequencing analysis of the lichen-associated bacterial community, the hypervariable V4-V5 region of the 16S rRNA gene (*Escherichia coli* positions 515–902) was amplified for pyrosequencing (Binladen *et al.*, 2007) using the primers Unibac-II-515f (Zachow *et al.*, 2008)

FEMS Microbiol Ecol 82 (2012) 472-481

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved and 902R (Hodkinson & Lutzoni, 2009), containing the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors, linkers, and sample-specific tags (Table 1). The reverse primer 902R was specifically designed by Hodkinson & Lutzoni (2009) to target bacteria, but exclude sequences derived from lichen photobionts (chloroplasts of algae and Cyanobacteria). The PCR was performed using a total volume of 30 µL containing 1× Taq&Go (MP Biomedicals, Eschwege, Germany), 1.5 mM of MgCl₂, 0.2 µM of each primer, and 1 µL of template DNA (95 °C, 2 min; 35 cycles of 95 °C, 20 s; 64 °C, 15 s; 72 °C, 24 s; and elongation at 72 °C, 10 min). PCR products of two independent PCRs were pooled and purified by employing the Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison). Pyrosequencing libraries were generated by GATC Biotech (Konstanz, Germany) using the Roche 454 GS-FLX+ TitaniumTM sequencing platform.

A taxonomy-based analysis was carried out with the web server SNOWMAN 1.11 (http://snowman.genome. tugraz.at). Primer sequences were cropped, and sequences shorter than 200 bp in length or of low quality (quality threshold 20) were removed from the pyrosequencingderived data sets. The following SNOWMAN settings were used: analysis type: BLAT pipeline; reference database: greengenes_24-Mar-2010; rarefaction method: MOTHUR; taxonomy: ribosomal database project (RDP); confidence threshold: 80%; include taxa covering more than: 1%. All analyses were performed with normalized data, considering the same number of sequences to all samples (1213 sequences per sample). For the normalization, STRAWBERRY PERL 5.12.3.0 (http://strawberryperl.com) and the Perl program selector of the PANGEA pipeline (Giongo et al., 2010) were used. To determine rarefaction curves, operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were identified at sequence divergences of 3% (species level), 5% (genus level), and 20% (phylum level) (Schloss & Handelsman,

2006; Will *et al.*, 2010), and curves were calculated using the tools aligner, complete linkage clustering, and rarefaction of the RDP pyrosequencing pipeline (http://pyro. cme.msu.edu) (Cole *et al.*, 2009). Shannon diversity (Shannon, 1997) and Chao1 richness (Chao & Bunge, 2002) indices were calculated based on the complete linkage clustering data.

Functional gene analysis by 454 pyrosequencing of *nifH* genes

Because fixation of atmospheric nitrogen is known as a key function in symbioses, we selected to analyze variation of nitrogenase genes as a functional marker. Nitrogenase genes are present in cyanobacteria, which commonly occur in the analyzed lichen species as a second autotrophic partner. The nitrogenase gene nifH was amplified according to a nested PCR protocol with primers designed by Zani et al. (2000). The reaction mixture of the first PCR (20 µL) was composed of 1× Taq&Go, 4 mM MgCl₂, 2 µM of the primers nifH4 and nifH3 (Zani et al., 2000), and 1 µL of template DNA (95 °C, 5 min; 30 cycles of 95 °C, 1 min; 55 °C, 1 min; 72 °C, 1 min; and elongation at 72 °C, 10 min). Amplicons served as templates for the second PCR (30 µL) with the primer pair nifH1 and nifH2 designed by Zehr & McReynolds (1989), which contained the 454 pyrosequencing adaptors, linkers, and sample-specific tags (Table 1). Therefore, 3 µL of DNA was added to 1× Taq&Go, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, and 0.2 µM of each primer (95 °C, 5 min; 30 cycles of 95 °C, 1 min; 55 °C, 1 min; 72 °C, 1 min; and elongation at 72 °C, 10 min). Obtained PCR products of the independent replicates were pooled to one healthy and one infested composite sample per location and purified using Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System. Pyrosequencing libraries were created by

Table 1. Custom primers including 454 pyrosequencing adaptors (bold), linkers (italic), and sample-specific tags (underlined)

Name	Primer sequence	References
Unibac-II-515f_MID13	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCA7CAGCATAGTAGTGGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID14	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGCGAGAGATACGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID29	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACTGTACAGTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID30	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGACTATACTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID31	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGAGCGTCGTCTGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID59	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGCGTACTCAGAGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID61	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGCTATAGCGTAGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	
Unibac-II-515f_MID62	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGTACGTCATCAGTGCCAGCAGCCGC	Zachow <i>et al.</i> (2008)
902r_454	CTATGCGCCTTGCCAGCCCGCTCAGGTCAATTCITTTGAGTTTYARYC	Hodkinson & Lutzoni (2009)
nifH1_MID23	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGTACTCTCGTGTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA	
nifH1_MID24	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGTAGAGACGAGTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA	
nifH1_MID25	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGTCGTCGCTCGTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA	
nifH1_MID26	CGTATCGCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGACATACGCGTTGYGAYCCNAARGCNGA	Zehr & McReynolds (1989)
nifH2_454	CTATGCGCCTTGCCAGCCCGC TCAGADNGCCATCATYTCNCC	Zehr & McReynolds (1989)

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved FEMS Microbiol Ecol 82 (2012) 472-481

GATC Biotech using the Roche 454 GS-FLX+ Titanium system.

Primer sequences were trimmed, amplicon sequences with low quality (average base quality score 20) or a read length shorter than 200 bp were removed, and remaining sequences were translated into their amino acid sequence using the tool FrameBot of RDP's FunGene Pipeline (http://fungene.cme.msu.edu/FunGenePipeline). All subsequent analyses were carried out on amino acid sequences, which were normalized to 7005 sequences per sample using again STRAWBERRY PERL 5.12.3.0 and the Perl program selector of the PANGEA pipeline (Giongo et al., 2010). Amino acid sequences were aligned and clipped at the same alignment reference position (~ 60 amino acids) using CLUSTALX 2.1 (Larkin et al., 2007). Farnelid et al. (2011) showed that fragments encompassing the 60 amino acids of the nifH gene starting directly downstream from the nifH1 primer provide estimates comparable to those obtained with the full-length fragment of 108 amino acids. OTUs were classified, and rarefaction curves were constructed based on the distance matrices of amino acid sequences at 0%, 4%, and 8% dissimilarity (Farnelid et al., 2011) using the tools mcClust and rarefaction of RDP's FunGene Pipeline. Diversity indices were ascertained based on the clustering data (Shannon, 1997; Chao & Bunge, 2002). Representative sequences at 92% similarity were selected for the following phylogenetic analysis (Farnelid et al., 2011), where clusters with < 10 sequences were not designated. Nearest relatives were retrieved using the search tool TBLASTN of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database (http://blast. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) with an E-value cutoff of 0.001.

Detrended correspondence and profile network clustering analysis

Detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) was used to detect differences in bacterial communities in healthy and infected lichen at the strain level. For this analysis, we used CANOCO 4.5 for Windows (Lepš & Smilauer, 2003) and defined OTUs at a dissimilarity level of 3%. The profile network analysis was carried out with those OTUs that showed a cumulative read change \geq 5 sequences between the states. Average values of OTU read numbers were calculated for healthy and infected states of the two localities in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. If the ratio of values for healthy and infected states exceeded 1.5, the OTUs were regarded as altered and assigned to the respective clusters (abundant in healthy or infected). We considered only those OTUs that showed the same pattern in both sampling sites. Visualization of the network was carried out in CYTOSCAPE 2.8.2 (http://www.cytoscape.org).

Results

Pyrosequencing-based 16S rRNA gene profiling of lichen-associated bacteria

Using primers excluding lichen photobionts such as Cyanobacteria and chloroplasts of algae (Hodkinson & Lutzoni, 2009), a deep sequencing study of the bacterial communities associated with healthy and Rhagadostomainfected S. crocea has been employed. Between 3221 and 1213 quality sequences per sample with a read length of \geq 200 bp were recovered, which were normalized to the lowest number of sequences to all samples. Of all quality sequences 88.2% could be classified below the domain level. The rarefaction analyses of the amplicon libraries are shown in Supporting Information. Comparisons of the rarefaction analyses with the number of OTUs estimated by the Chao1 index revealed that at phylum level, 69.6-96.0% of estimated richness was recovered (Table 2). The pyrosequencing efforts at genus and species level reached 49.3-80.9% and 46.3-61.8%, respectively. The computed Shannon indices of diversity (H') barely showed differences between samples. At a genetic distance of 3% (species level), Shannon values ranged from 4.22 to 4.86.

Taxonomic analysis (Fig. 2) revealed that all samples of S. crocea were dominated by the bacterial phylum Acidobacteria (between 42.4% and 66.4% of sequences). Further dominant phyla present in all samples were Planctomycetes (7.2-25.2%) and Proteobacteria (11.1-30.0%). In lower concentrations but also found in all samples were lichen-associated Actinobacteria (1.3-5.2%). Considering only phyla covering more than 1% of quality sequences, Bacteroidetes were only detectable in one of the infested samples from Wölzer Tauern (2.0%). Most Acidobacteria reads were affiliated with subdivision 1 (93% of classified Acidobacteria), 6% were identified as belonging to subdivision 3. Planctomycetes sequences were classified as genera Isosphaera and Gemmata (46% and 34% of classified Planctomycetes). Among the Proteobacteria, only 19% could be identified to the genus level. Sphingomonas and Novosphingobium (Alpha-) as well as Dyella (Gamma-) and Byssovorax (Deltaproteobacteria) were found. The classifiable Actinobacteria (only 6%) were identified as Nakamurella. From both sampling locations together, infested metagenomes included nine genera, whereas healthy lichens harbored only seven of them. Dyella and Nakamurella occurred only in some samples infested with the lichen pathogen.

Pyrosequencing-based *nifH* profiling of lichen-associated communities

To analyze whether the fungal infection could have an effect on a key functional gene in the *S. crocea* symbiosis,

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved 476

Table 2. Richness estimates and diversity indices for 16S rRNA gene and nifH gene amplicon libraries of Solorina crocea samples

	Quality			Rarefac									
	sequences	Shanne	on index*	* (<i>H'</i>)	(no. of	OTUs)		Chao1 [‡]	(no. of	OTUs)	Covera	age (%)	
16S rRNA gene													
Genetic dissimilarity		3%	5%	20%	3%	5%	20%	3%	5%	20%	3%	5%	20%
W_A-healthy	1213	4.22	3.76	1.62	261	190	36	528	336	45	49.5	56.6	80.0
W_F-healthy	1213	4.79	4.25	1.83	311	201	31	504	248	34	61.8	80.9	92.5
W_D-infested	1213	4.86	4.42	2.25	316	234	40	598	372	42	52.8	63.0	96.0
W_E-infested	1213	4.71	4.23	1.72	322	238	38	553	399	47	58.3	59.7	80.6
Z_1-healthy	1213	4.48	4.06	1.99	312	230	40	646	391	55	48.3	58.9	72.7
Z_3-healthy	1213	4.75	4.24	1.96	315	223	42	566	375	60	55.7	59.5	69.6
Z_2-infested	1213	4.78	4.16	1.63	294	206	47	488	372	64	60.2	55.3	73.4
Z_3-infested	1213	4.68	4.06	1.58	275	189	29	593	383	34	46.3	49.3	84.7
nifH gene													
Genetic dissimilarity		0%	4%	8%	0%	4%	8%	0%	4%	8%	0%	4%	8%
W_healthy	7005	3.53	3.06	2.16	1102	400	151	3853	658	285	28.6	60.8	52.9
W_infested	7005	2.78	2.41	1.80	831	310	123	3990	584	266	20.8	53.1	46.3
Z_healthy	7005	3.88	3.37	2.39	1259	432	181	5368	763	348	23.5	56.6	52.0
Z_infested	7005	3.92	3.24	2.55	1298	435	180	4067	782	355	31.9	55.6	50.7

*A higher number indicates more diversity.

[†]Results from the rarefaction analyses are also depicted in the Supporting Information.

[‡]Nonparametric richness estimator based on the distribution of singletons and doubletons.



Fig. 2. Nonphotobiont bacterial communities associated with healthy and infested *Solorina crocea* samples from Wölzer Tauern and Zirbitzkogel. Relative clone composition of major phyla and genera was determined by pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA gene from metagenomic DNA. Phylogenetic groups accounting for \leq 1% of all quality sequences are summarized in the artificial group 'Others'.

PCR amplicons of a fragment of the *nifH* gene were deep sequenced by a pyrosequencing approach. The number of quality reads with a read length of \geq 200 bp varied

among samples from 7005 to 10 788. To allow comparisons of diversity and richness, samples were normalized to the same number of sequences. The amino acid

FEMS Microbiol Ecol 82 (2012) 472-481

^{© 2012} Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved



Fig. 3. Taxonomic classification of *nifH* gene communities associated with healthy and infested *Solorina crocea* samples from Wölzer Tauern and Zirbitzkogel. Amino acid sequences of the *nifH* genes were classified at phylum (a) and genus (b) level. Clusters containing < 10 sequences were not phylogenetically designated.

sequences were classified into 123-181 OTUs with a similarity cutoff of 92%. At this genetic similarity level, the coverage of Chao1 estimated richness reached 46.3–52.9% (Table 2). In general, Shannon indices (*H'*) were higher for *S. crocea* samples originating from Zirbitzkogel than for those from Wölzer Tauern. Three cutoff levels (100%, 96%, and 92% amino acid similarity) were used for generating rarefaction curves (Supporting Information).

Of all quality amino acid sequences, 94.1% could be classified to the phylum level. All classifiable sequences were affiliated to the canonical nifH cluster I (Chien & Zinder, 1996; Zehr et al., 2003; Farnelid et al., 2011), which includes mainly Cyanobacteria, Alpha-, Beta-, and Gammaproteobacteria. Not surprisingly for lichens, all samples showed an overwhelming dominance of nifH amplicons related to Cyanobacteria (between 91.2% and 93.2% of sequences) (Fig. 3). The noncyanobacterial diazotrophs were all assigned to Proteobacteria (between 1.3% and 3.1% of sequences). Most of the closest hits of cyanobacterial reads revealed the genus Nodularia (73%). Further, Nostoc (11%), Anabaena (4%), and Richelia (1%) were found. Proteobacteria sequences were classified as Alpha- (98%) and Betaproteobacteria (2%). Samples from Wölzer Tauern were dominated by Bradyrhizobium, whereas Rhizobium was found only in samples from Zirbitzkogel. Ideonella occurred only in the lichen pathogen-infested composite sample from Zirbitzkogel. However, we did not find a distinct community shift or depletion of cyanobacterial *nifH* genes with the infections.

DCA using CANOCO and profile clustering network analysis

Detrended correspondence analyses using presence/ absence data of OTUs with a similarity cutoff of 97% indicate that strains are not randomly distributed in healthy and infected individuals of *S. crocea* (Fig. 4). The differences, however, are neither exclusive nor clear-cut. To gain better insight into the differences of healthy and infected lichens, we applied a profile clustering network analysis. This analysis revealed that several genetically distinct *Acidobacteria* are more abundant in infected samples (all belonging to *Acidobacteria* Gp 1) beside few *Proteobacteria*. *Bryocella elongata* and few other *Acidobacteria*,



Fig. 4. DCA (indirect unimodal gradient analysis) of OTUs at a dissimilarity level of 3% identified by pyrosequencing. Eigenvalues of first and second axis are 0.325 and 0.150, respectively; sum of all eigenvalues 1.100. Diamonds show the location of the 8 samples and circles the location of the OTUs in the biplot. The colors indicate its preference to healthy (green) and/or infected (red) thalli of *Solorina*.

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved



Fig. 5. Profile clustering network analysis of bacterial OTUs at a dissimilarity level of 3%. The relative abundance values for OTUs with a cumulative read change \geq 5 were used; if the ratio of values for healthy and infected states exceeded 1.5 in one sampling site, the OTUs were regarded as altered and assigned to the respective clusters. Only those OTUs that featured the same pattern in both sampling sites are shown. Henceforth, each OTU is connected to either an 'abundant in infested' or 'abundant in healthy' node in the network. Node sizes of OTUs correspond to the mean relative abundance change between the states, and a node matching to a change of 50 reads was added as reference point.

strains of *Planctomycetes*, *Geobacter* (*Proteobacteria*), and the green-algal photobiont *Coccomyxa* appear more distinct in healthy individuals according to the network analysis (Fig. 5).

Discussion

Abundances of bacterial groups in host-associated microbiomes are often indicated as bar charts of phyla, classes, families, or genera. This approach is followed also in studies of lichen-associated microbiomes (Mushegian *et al.*, 2011; Hodkinson *et al.*, 2012). Evaluation at this level gives a general insight into microbial ecology of a microhabitat and agrees well with the notion of ecological coherence at high taxonomic ranks (Philippot *et al.*, 2011). At the phylum level, no clear differences were observed between the bacterial microbiomes of healthy thalli of S. crocea and those infected by the specific pathogenic fungus R. lichenicola. In both categories, we found a high proportion of Acidobacteria (which may exceed 50% of the sequence reads), as well as other bacterial groups such as Planctomycetes and Proteobacteria. Differences in the composition of bacteria at the genus level were likewise not clearly consistent with the lichenicolous infection status. Only the analysis of raw data revealed more genera in the infected samples, notably in the samples from Wölzer Tauern. This site has a slightly different habitat history than the Zirbitzkogel site. The wind-swept ridge of the Wölzer Tauern site represents a secondary habitat after nearby construction of wind power generators, whereas the Zirbitzkogel site was not affected by recent human activities. These differences, nevertheless, disappear when normalized data are used for the representation of microbiome composition. We were then

^{© 2012} Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

looking for possible differences between healthy and infected thalli at the lowermost taxonomic level and analyzed the sequence data as individual OTUs at a dissimilarity level of 3%, using DCA. In contrast to the results from analyses at higher taxonomic levels, we found that strains indeed segregate between healthy or infected samples (Fig. 4). Probably, because fungal-infected thalli also include to some extent externally healthy thallus material, these differences between healthy and infected thalli are not clear-cut. Using network analysis, we assessed which bacterial strains increase their occurrence in healthy or infected thalli. Interestingly, the recently described Bryocella elongata (Acidobacteria) appeared to be more typical for healthy thalli. Bryocella elongata was originally isolated from a methanotrophic enrichment culture obtained from an acidic Sphagnum peat (Dedysh et al., 2012). A strain of Acidobacterium capsulatum was more frequent in infected thalli, yet a distinct strain of the same species occurred at slightly higher abundance in healthy lichens. Many others of these potential health-indicator strains could only be classified at the genus level because of insufficient information in public database for the time being. We suppose that these strains likely belong to vetunculturable and new species of Planctomycetes and Acidobacteria (Fig. 5).

Our results suggest that the lichen-associated bacterial community reacts to infections of the host lichen by lichenicolous fungi by bacterial shifts at the strain level. Similar results are also found in other studies, for example, on bacterial communities affected by invasive bacteria (Jousset *et al.*, 2011).

The biology of many lineages in these large bacterial phyla Planctomycetes and Acidobacteria is still poorly understood, but their abundance in lichens and the strain-specific shifts indicate their fine-tuned ecological adaptation to the lichen habitat. The prevalence of Acidobacteria in our data set is somehow in contrast with the results of previous microscopic studies where Alphaproteobacteria were the prominent bacteria (Cardinale et al., 2008; Grube et al., 2009). These analyses focused mainly on young thallus parts, whereas in this study, we analyzed whole thalli, including the older parts. A recent study by us showed that old parts of thalli differed clearly in the composition with bacterial phyla (Cardinale et al., 2012). A high number of Acidobacteria was recently also found in other analyses of lichen-associated microbiomes using whole thalli (Mushegian et al., 2011; Hodkinson et al., 2012). Acidobacteria of Gp1 made up a significantly higher proportion in central thallus parts of the rockinhabiting Xanthoparmelia species (Mushegian et al., 2011). The Gp1 lineage of Acidobacteria was also prevalent in our data set, irrespective of infection status. The second most abundant lineage of Acidobacteria in our

data set was Gp3. *Acidobacteria* are well known as soil inhabitants, and their slow growth and tolerance to desiccation are ideal preconditions for a sustained presence in lichen thalli. We therefore argue that *Acidobacteria* are increasingly abundant in aging thallus parts.

At the genus level, the most important groups of the facultatively aerobic *Planctomycetes* were *Isosphaera* and *Gemmata*. The overall ecology of these genera is poorly known, but they are an ubiquitous, abundant aspect in acidic soils and bogs and may have particular mechanisms conferring tolerance to osmotic stress (Jenkins *et al.*, 2002), which is also a requirement to persist in the lichen habitat.

In agreement with the overall similarity of microbial communities at high taxonomic levels in healthy and infected thalli, we did not find a major shift in the phylogenetic spectrum of nitrogenase nifH genes, which is a key functional gene of this lichen symbiosis. Most reads belonged to cyanobacteria, which are known to be commonly present as a second autotrophic partner in S. crocea. However, closest BLAST hits of cyanobacterial nifH genes were with Nodularia and not with Nostoc, although the latter would be expected from microscopic studies (often seen as a layer below the algal layer in the thalli). A posteriori alignment of the data (not shown) revealed that the difference to the second closest hit (Nostoc) is only by one nonsynonymous mutation in the gene. In view of the abundance of Nostoc in the lichen thalli compared with the most abundant reads, we argue that the closest assignment to Nodularia is arbitrary, and in fact sequences are from Nostoc. We suggest that unreflected assignment of coding gene reads to genera, using only the first closest BLAST hits, could be a potential source of error, especially as we cannot exclude determination errors in the databases.

Lichens are a valuable system to study microbiome structure and variation. The light-exposed thalli can usually be regarded as well-delimited miniature ecosystems shaped by the name-giving lichenized fungal species (Grube et al., 2009). We previously optimized analysis of these complex systems using a polyphasic approach (e.g. FISH and confocal laser scanning microscopy, fingerprinting: Cardinale et al., 2008; Grube et al., 2009). With the observation of shifts in lichen-associated bacterial communities at the strain level when exposed to biotic stress conditions, we conclude that functional dependencies in the lichen micro-ecosystem are finely tuned. It is known from other studies that related bacterial strains may differ in their effects on symbiotic relationships (e.g. Lehr et al., 2007). Rhagadostoma lichenicola is a highly specific lichenicolous fungus, which relies on the function and integrity of the host thallus. The pathogen does not rapidly degrade the host and apparently persists on the hosts for

years. The observed subtle changes of the associated bacterial microbiome in infected thalli agree well with this ecology.

Acknowledgements

We greatly appreciated the financial support of the Austrian Science Foundation (FWF, I799 to MG and P19098 to GB). Sincere thanks to Walter Obermayer (Graz) for the image of *Solorina crocea*.

References

- Bates ST, Cropsey GW, Caporaso JG, Knight R & Fierer N (2011) Bacterial communities associated with the lichen symbiosis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **77**: 1309–1314.
- Binladen J, Gilbert MT, Bollback JP, Panitz F, Bendixen C, Nielsen R & Willerslev E (2007) The use of coded PCR primers enables high-throughput sequencing of multiple homolog amplification products by 454 parallel sequencing. *PLoS ONE* 2: e197.
- Cardinale M, Puglia AM & Grube M (2006) Molecular analysis of lichen-associated bacterial communities. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **57**: 484–495.
- Cardinale M, Vieira deCastroJ Jr, Müller H, Berg G & Grube M (2008) *In situ* analysis of the bacteria community associated with the reindeer lichen *Cladonia arbuscula* reveals predominance of *Alphaproteobacteria*. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **66**: 63–71.
- Cardinale M, Steinová J, Rabensteiner J, Berg G & Grube M (2012) Age, sun and substrate: triggers of bacterial communities in lichens. *Environ Microbiol Rep* **4**: 23–28.
- Chao A & Bunge J (2002) Estimating the number of species in a stochastic abundance model. *Biometrics* **58**: 531–539.
- Chien YT & Zinder SH (1996) Cloning, functional organization, transcript studies, and phylogenetic analysis of the complete nitrogenase structural genes (nifHDK2) and associated genes in the archaeon *Methanosarcina barkeri* 227. J Bacteriol 178: 143–148.
- Cole JR, Wang Q, Cardenas E *et al.* (2009) The ribosomal database project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res* **37**: D141–D145.
- De los Rios A & Grube M (2000) Host parasite interfaces of some lichenicolous fungi in the Dacampiaceae (Dothideales, Ascomycota). *Mycol Res* **104**: 1348–1353.
- Dedysh SN, Kulichevskaya IS, Serkebaeva YM, Mityaeva MA, Sorokin VV, Suzina NE, Rijpstra WI & Damsté JS (2012) *Bryocella elongata* gen. nov., sp. nov., a member of subdivision 1 of the Acidobacteria isolated from a methanotrophic enrichment culture, and emended description of *Edaphobacter aggregans* Koch *et al.* 2008. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* **62**: 654–664.
- Farnelid H, Andersson AF, Bertilsson S, Al-Soud WA, Hansen LH, Sørensen S, Steward GF, Hagström Å & Riemann L (2011) Nitrogenase gene amplicons from global marine

surface waters are dominated by genes of non-cyanobacteria. *PLoS ONE* **6**: e19223.

- Giongo A, Crabb DB, Davis-Richardson AG *et al.* (2010) PANGEA: pipeline for analysis of next generation amplicons. *ISME J* **4**: 852–861.
- Grube M & de los Rios A (2001) Observations in *Biatoropsis* usnearum and other gall forming lichenicolous fungi using different microscopic techniques. *Mycol Res* **105**: 1116–1122.
- Grube M & Hafellner J (1990) Studien an flechtenbewohnenden Pilzen der Sammelgattung *Didymella* (Ascomycetes, Dothideales). *Nova Hedwigia* **51**: 283–360.
- Grube M, Cardinale M, de Castro JV Jr, Müller H & Berg G (2009) Species-specific structural and functional diversity of bacterial communities in lichen symbiosis. *ISME J* **3**: 1105–1115.
- Hodkinson BP & Lutzoni F (2009) A microbiotic survey of lichen-associated bacteria reveals a new lineage from the Rhizobiales. *Symbiosis* **49**: 163–180.
- Hodkinson BP, Gottel NR, Schadt CW & Lutzoni F (2012)
 Photoautotrophic symbiont and geography are major factors affecting highly structured and diverse bacterial communities in the lichen microbiome. *Environ Microbiol* 14: 147–161.
- Jenkins C, Kedar V & Fuerst JA (2002) Gene discovery within the planctomycete division of the domain Bacteria using sequence tags from genomic DNA libraries. *Genome Biol* **3**: RESEARCH0031.
- Jousset A, Schulz W, Scheu S & Eisenhauer N (2011) Intraspecific genotypic richness and relatedness predict the invasibility of microbial communities. *ISME J* 5: 1108–1114.
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP et al. (2007) ClustalW and ClustalX version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* 23: 2947–2948.
- Lawrey JD & Diederich P (2003) Lichenicolous fungi: interactions, evolution, and biodiversity. *Bryologist* **106**: 81– 120.
- Lehr NA, Schrey SD, Bauer R, Hampp R & Tarkka MT (2007) Suppression of plant defence response by a mycorrhiza helper bacterium. *New Phytol* **174**: 892–903.
- Lepš J & Smilauer P (2003) Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data Using Canoco. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Mushegian AA, Peterson CN, Baker CC & Pringle A (2011) Bacterial diversity across individual lichens. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 77: 4249–4252.
- Philippot L, Andersson SGE, Battin TJ, Prosser JI, Schimel JP, Whitman WB & Hallin S (2010) The ecological coherence of high bacterial taxonomic ranks. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **8**: 523–529.
- Schloss PD & Handelsman J (2006) Toward a census of bacteria in soil. *PLoS Comput Biol* **2**: e92.
- Shannon CE (1997) The mathematical theory of communication. 1963. *MD Comput* 14: 306–317.
- Will C, Thürmer A, Wollherr A, Nacke H, Herold N, Schrumpf M, Gutknecht J, Wubet T, Buscot F & Daniel R (2010) Horizon-specific bacterial community composition of German grassland soils, as revealed by

FEMS Microbiol Ecol 82 (2012) 472-481

^{© 2012} Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

Fungal infections and bacteria in Solorina

pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. *Appl Environ Micobiol* **76**: 6751–6759.

- Zachow C, Tilcher R & Berg G (2008) Sugar beet-associated bacterial and fungal communities show a high indigenous antagonistic potential against plant pathogens. *Microb Ecol* **55**: 119–129.
- Zani S, Mellon MT, Collier JL & Zehr JP (2000) Expression of *nifH* genes in natural microbial assemblages in Lake George, New York, detected by reverse transcriptase PCR. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **66**: 3119–3124.
- Zehr JP & McReynolds LA (1989) Use of degenerate oligonucleotides for amplification of the *nifH* gene from the marine cyanobacterium *Trichodesmium thiebautii*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **55**: 2522–2526.
- Zehr JP, Jenkins BD, Short SM & Steward GF (2003) Nitrogenase gene diversity and microbial community structure: a cross-system comparison. *Environ Microbiol* 5: 539–554.

Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Fig. S1. Rarefaction analyses for 16S rRNA gene amplicon libraries of *Solorina crocea* samples from Wölzer Tauern (a) and Zirbitzkogel (b).

Fig. S2. Rarefaction analyses for *nifH* sequence libraries of *Solorina crocea* samples.

Please note: Wiley-Blackwell is not responsible for the content or functionality of any supporting materials supplied by the authors. Any queries (other than missing material) should be directed to the corresponding author for the article.

169

Supplemental file

Fig. S1. Rarefaction analyses for 16S rRNA gene amplicon libraries of *Solorina crocea* samples from Wölzer Tauern (A) and Zirbitzkogel (B). Saturation curves are presented for non-photobiont bacteria associated with healthy and *Rhagadostoma lichenicola* infested lichens. OTUs are shown at genetic distance levels of 3%, 5% and 20%, corresponding to the taxonomic levels of species, genera and phyla.



Fig. S2. Rarefaction analyses for *nifH* sequence libraries of *Solorina crocea* samples. Curves are presented for healthy and *Rhagadostoma lichenicola* infested lichens collected at Wölzer Tauern and Zirbitzkogel. Phylotype clusters are identified at genetic dissimilarity of 0%, 4% and 8%.



Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all who contributed to the success of this thesis. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Gabriele Berg for giving me the opportunity for this doctoral thesis and providing the necessary scientific and financial backing. I am grateful for her continuous guidance and scientific support during my entire PhD studies.

I wish to give many thanks to Prof. Dr. Ibrahim Abouleish and his family as well as to Prof. Dr. Elshahat M. Ramadan and his team, without whom the project would not have been possible. I am thankful for the magnificent times and generous hospitality on the Sekem farm.

I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Kornelia Smalla from the Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics of the Julius Kühn Institute in Braunschweig for the short scientific research stay in her working group. Mohamed Adam, Dr. Johannes Hallmann, and Dr. Holger Heuer are acknowledged for their help in the nematode screening.

I also want to thank Prof. Dr. Martin Grube from the Institute of Plant Sciences of the Karl-Franzens-University for his preparedness to act as second expert referee of this thesis, as well as for the possibility of a scientific digression into the lichen microbiome. Prof. Dr. Rudolf Bauer from the Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences of the Karl-Franzens-University is gratefully acknowledged for his contribution as a member of the thesis committee.

Greatest thanks go to all my colleagues and friends from the Institute of Environmental Biotechnology. I have always appreciated the supportive and pleasant working environment, and I am grateful for all the fun times we had together. My special thanks go to Dr. Christin Zachow, Dr. Massimiliano Cardinale, Dr. Anastasia Bragina, and Dr. Henry Müller for their excellent support in practical and theoretical matters. I appreciate your time and all of your helpful advice. Furthermore, I want to thank our former master student Ruth Schmidt for her essential contributions to the Sekem project, and I am grateful to Barbara Fetz, Melanie Marek, Cornelia Rainer, and Monika Schneider-Trampitsch for their help in the laboratory, especially during the sample workups.

Finally, I want to express my gratitude to my dear parents, my grandmothers, and my boyfriend Michael for their constant support and for always believing in me. Lastly, special thanks go to my two brothers, especially to Erwin whose fighting spirit and perseverance have always inspired me.

Curriculum Vitae

Personal

Name	Martina Koeberl
Date of Birth	March 29 th , 1984
Place of Birth	Bad Ischl, Upper Austria
Citizenship	Austrian

Education

05/2010 - 10/2013	PhD Studies in Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology PhD in Natural Sciences 10/2013
	Doctoral Thesis "The microbiome of medicinal plants and its potential for biocontrol and promotion of plant growth and quality" under the supervision of UnivProf. Dr.rer.nat. Gabriele Berg, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology
11/2008 - 04/2010	Master Studies in Molecular Microbiology, University of Graz Master of Science 04/2010
	Master Thesis "Analyse von Arzneipflanzen-assoziierten Mikroorganismen: Biodiversität und antagonistisches Potenzial gegen bodenbürtige Phytopathogene" under the supervision of UnivProf. Dr.rer.nat. Gabriele Berg, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology
10/2003 - 11/2008	Bachelor Studies in Molecular Biology, University of Graz Bachelor of Science 11/2008
09/1998 - 06/2003	Commercial High School, Bad Aussee

Career

since 05/2010	University Assistant, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology
01/2010 - 04/2010	Student Assistant, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology
09/2009 - 02/2010	Student Research Fellow, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology

Publication List

Journal Articles

Köberl M, Ramadan EM, Adam M, Cardinale M, Hallmann J, Heuer H, Smalla K, Berg G (2013) *Bacillus* and *Streptomyces* were selected as broad-spectrum antagonists against soilborne pathogens from arid areas in Egypt. FEMS Microbiol Lett 342: 168-178. ISSN 1574-6968

Grube M, Köberl M, Lackner S, Berg C, Berg G (2012) Host-parasite interaction and microbiome response: effects of fungal infections on the bacterial community of the Alpine lichen *Solorina crocea*. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 82: 472-481. ISSN 1574-6941

Köberl M, Zachow C, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Bauer R, Berg G (2012) **Biological control agents for combating soil-borne pathogens in Egypt**. IOBC/WPRS Bulletin 78: 391-395. ISSN 1027-3115

Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Berg G (2011) **Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health**. PLoS One 6: e24452. ISSN 1932-6203

Book Chapters

Köberl M, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Bragina A, Müller H, Berg G (2013) **Biocontrol strategies and next generation sequencing: organic desert agriculture in Egypt**. In: Genomics I – humans, animals and plants. iConcept Press Ltd, editors; iConcept Press, Brisbane, Australia: In press. ISBN 978-192-222-703-4, 978-147-755-491-3

Köberl M, Ramadan EM, Roßmann B, Staver C, Fürnkranz M, Lukesch B, Grube M, Berg G (2011) Using ecological knowledge and molecular tools to develop effective and safe biocontrol strategies. In: Pesticides in the modern world – pests control and pesticides exposure and toxicity assessment. Stoytcheva M, editor; InTech, Rijeka, Croatia: 3-26. ISBN 978-953-307-457-3

Conference Proceedings Articles

Köberl M, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Müller H, Smalla K, Berg G (2013) **Indigenous PGPR and below-ground microbial communities of an organically managed desert agroecosystem**. In: Biofertilizers and biofungicides (PGPR) for sustainable agriculture, Proceedings of the 3rd Asian PGPR Conference. Reddy MS et al., editors; Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom: In press.

Köberl M, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, Berg G (2011) **Plant-specific selection of droughtresistant biological control agents against soil-borne pathogens**. In: Plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) for sustainable agriculture, Proceedings of the 2nd Asian PGPR Conference. Reddy MS, Wang Q, editors; China Agricultural Science and Technology Press, Beijing, China: 199-206. ISBN 978-751-160-611-2

Oral Presentations in Conferences/Meetings as Invited Speaker

<u>Köberl M</u>, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Cardinale M, Müller H, Smalla K, Berg G (2013) **Indigenous PGPR and below-ground microbial communities of an organically managed desert agro-ecosystem**. In: 3rd Asian PGPR Conference. Manila, Philippines: 21.-24.04.2013; in Abstract Book "3rd Asian conference on plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) and other microbials": 34-35.

<u>Köberl M</u>, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Cardinale M, Müller H, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) **Microbial inoculants active under arid desert farming conditions in Egypt**. In: BIODESERT International Conference. Hammamet, Tunisia: 16.-19.12.2012; in Abstract Book "Microbial resource management for agriculture in arid lands": 11.

<u>Köberl M</u>, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) **Sun and bacteria – a biocontrol strategy for sustainable agriculture in desert ecosystems**. In: 2nd BIODESERT International Workshop. Hammamet, Tunisia: 17.-19.03.2012; in Abstract Book "Plantmicrobe symbiosis": Conference 1.

Oral Presentations in Conferences/Meetings

<u>Köberl M</u>, Ramadan EM, Müller H, Bragina A, Smalla K, Berg G (2013) **The microbiome of medicinal plants: investigated in an organically managed desert agro-ecosystem**. In: Symposium "The Edible Microbiome". Graz, Austria: 14.06.2013

<u>Köberl M</u>, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Bragina A, Müller H, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) Next generation sequencing in biocontrol research: belowground communities in organic desert agro-ecosystems. In: 4th ÖGMBT Annual Meeting. Graz, Austria: 17.-19.09.2012; in Abstract Book "4th ÖGMBT Annual Meeting": 15-16.

Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, <u>Berg G</u> (2012) **Biologische Kontrolle bodenbürtiger Pathogene in der Wüstenlandwirtschaft**. In: Annual Meeting of the DPG Working Group Biological Control of Plant Disease. Einbeck, Germany: 15.-16.03.2012

<u>Köberl M</u>, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, Berg G (2011) **Plant-specific selection of droughtresistant biological control agents against soil-borne pathogens**. In: 2nd Asian PGPR Conference. Beijing, China: 21.-24.08.2011; in Proceedings Book "Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) for sustainable agriculture": 199-206.

Oral Presentations in Colloquia/Seminars

<u>Köberl M</u>, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) **A biocontrol strategy for sustainable agriculture in desert ecosystems**. In: Lecture "Plant Interactions with Microorganisms", University of Graz, Institute of Plant Sciences. Graz, Austria: 21.06.2012

<u>Köberl M</u>, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Roßmann B, Staver C, Fürnkranz M, Lukesch B, Grube M, Berg G (2012) **A biocontrol strategy for sustainable agriculture in desert ecosystems**. In: Graduate Seminar of the NAWI Graz Doctoral School of Molecular Biosciences and Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology. Graz, Austria: 03.05.2012 Grube M, <u>Köberl M</u>, Lackner S, Berg C, Berg G (2012) Host-parasite interaction and microbiome response: effects of fungal infections on the bacterial community of the Alpine lichen *Solorina crocea*. In: Graduate Seminar of the NAWI Graz Doctoral School of Molecular Biosciences and Biotechnology, Graz University of Technology. Graz, Austria: 12.01.2012

Köberl M, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, <u>Berg G</u> (2011) **Production of enhanced biological control agents for combating soil-borne pathogens in Egypt**. In: Symposium, SEKEM. Bilbeis, Egypt: 19.11.2011

<u>Köberl M</u>, Berg G (2011) **Biological control agents for medical plants: strategy for desert farming under organic conditions**. In: Lecture "Plant Interactions with Microorganisms", Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology. Graz, Austria: 21.06.2011

<u>Schmid F</u>, <u>Köberl M</u>, Berg G (2011) **Biologischer Pflanzenschutz – Biokontrolle: Mikroorganismen im biologischen Pflanzenschutz**. In: Elective Subject "Gentechnik bei Pflanzen" of the BG/BRG Carneri Graz, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology. Graz, Austria: 23.03.2011

<u>Köberl M</u>, Berg G (2011) **Sustainable agriculture in the desert? A biocontrol strategy for the SEKEM farms in Egypt**. In: Scientific Colloquium, Julius Kühn Institute – Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Epidemiology and Pathogen Diagnostics. Braunschweig, Germany: 01.02.2011

<u>Köberl M</u>, Berg G (2011) **Sustainable agriculture in the desert? A biocontrol strategy for the SEKEM farms in Egypt**. In: Seminar "Environmental Microbiology", Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology. Graz, Austria: 20.01.2011

Köberl M, Berg G (2010) Commercial production of enhanced bio-control agents for combating soil borne pathogens in Egypt. In: Symposium, SEKEM. Bilbeis, Egypt: 08.04.2010

Poster Presentations

<u>Köberl M</u>, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Müller H, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) **Medical plant associated microbial communities and their potential for biocontrol in desert agriculture**. In: COST Action FA1103 (Endophytes in biotechnology and agriculture) Working Group 1-4 Meeting. San Michele all'Adige, Italy: 14.-16.11.2012; in Abstract Book "Endophytes: from discovery to application": 32.

Schmidt R, <u>Köberl M</u>, Bauer R, Ramadan EM, Müller H, Berg G (2012) **Implementation of pyrosequencing in biological control strategies for organic agriculture in Egypt**. In: COST Action FA1103 (Endophytes in biotechnology and agriculture) Working Group 1-4 Meeting. San Michele all'Adige, Italy: 14.-16.11.2012; in Abstract Book "Endophytes: from discovery to application": 48.

<u>Köberl M</u>, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Bragina A, Müller H, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) Next generation sequencing in biocontrol research: belowground communities in organic desert agro-ecosystems. In: 4th ÖGMBT Annual Meeting. Graz, Austria: 17.-19.09.2012; in Abstract Book "4th ÖGMBT Annual Meeting": 64-65.

<u>Schmidt R</u>, Köberl M, Bauer R, Ramadan EM, Müller H, Berg G (2012) **Pyrosequencingbased assessment of biological control strategies for organic agriculture in Egypt**. In: 4th ÖGMBT Annual Meeting. Graz, Austria: 17.-19.09.2012; in Abstract Book "4th ÖGMBT Annual Meeting": 69-70.

Köberl M, Schmidt R, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, Berg G (2012) Endophytic biological control agents against soil-borne pathogens for desert agriculture. In: COST Action FA1103 (Endophytes in biotechnology and agriculture) Workshop. Reims, France: 28.-30.03.2012; in Abstract Book "Current aspects of European endophyte research": 27.

Köberl M, <u>Müller H</u>, Ramadan EM, Berg G (2011) **Desert farming promotes bacterial diversity and natural biocontrol in soil and rhizosphere in Egypt**. In: Rhizosphere 3 International Conference. Perth, Australia: 25.-30.09.2011; in Electronic Abstract Book "Rhizosphere 3": Poster rhizoAbstract00484.

<u>Köberl M</u>, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Smalla K, Berg G (2011) **Desert farming benefits from microbial potential in arid soils and promotes diversity and plant health**. In: 6th DocDay of the NAWI Graz Doctoral School of Molecular Biosciences and Biotechnology. Graz, Austria: 15.07.2011; in Abstract Book "6th DocDay": Poster 10.

<u>Köberl M</u>, Zachow C, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Bauer R, Berg G (2010) **Microbial communities on medical plants and their potential for biotechnology**. In: 2nd ÖGMBT Annual Meeting. Vienna, Austria: 27.-29.09.2010; in Abstract Book "Molecular and applied biosciences Austria 2010": 84.

Video Presentations

<u>Köberl M</u>, Zachow C, Müller H, Ramadan EM, Bauer R, Berg G (2010) **Biological control agents for combating soil-borne pathogens in Egypt**. In: 11th Meeting of the IOBC/WPRS Working Group Biological Control of Fungal and Bacterial Plant Pathogens. Graz, Austria: 07.-10.06.2010; in Abstract Book "Climate change: challenge or threat to biocontrol?": 159.

Academic Theses

Köberl M (2013) The microbiome of medicinal plants and its potential for biocontrol and promotion of plant growth and quality. Doctoral Thesis, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology.

Köberl M (2010) Analyse von Arzneipflanzen-assoziierten Mikroorganismen: Biodiversität und antagonistisches Potenzial gegen bodenbürtige Phytopathogene. Master Thesis, NAWI Graz, Graz University of Technology, Institute for Environmental Biotechnology.

STATUTORY DECLARATION

I declare that I have authored this thesis independently, that I have not used other than the declared sources/resources, and that I have explicitly marked all material which has been quoted either literally or by content from the used sources.

09. 09. 2013

Date

Hertina Kolarl

Signature